# A Snapshot of Marine Research in Shark Bay (Gathaagudu)

Literature Review and Metadata Collation (1949 – 2020)



 White-spotted jellytish (*Pcpt/otriza gunetae*)

 ver wrizweed seagress (*Amphibolis antarcisca*)

 at 'Haridon Bight, Shark Bay (Gathaagud):

 (Photo: Matthew Frase)

#### A Snapshot of Marine Research in Shark Bay (Gathaagudu): Literature Review and Metadata Collation (1949-2020)

This literature review and accompanying metadata synthesis describes published work on the marine environment of Shark Bay across various western science disciplines over seven decades. A total of 775 pieces of literature have been included in this document. The accompanying metadata synthesis contains 962 entries. This resource forms part of the Western Australian Marine Science Institution's (WAMSI) Shark Bay Science Plan and contributes to the regional understanding and knowledge of the Shark Bay marine environment.

#### Ownership of Intellectual property rights:

Unless otherwise noted, copyright (and any other intellectual property rights, if any) in this publication is owned by the Western Australian Marine Science Institution; Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions; Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development; and The University of Western Australia.

**Copyright:** © Western Australian Marine Science Institution. All rights reserved. Unless otherwise noted, all material in this publication is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia Licence. (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/ au/deed.en)

#### Legal Notice:

The Western Australian Marine Science Institution advises that the information contained in this publication comprises general statements based on scientific research. The reader is advised and needs to be aware that such information may be incomplete or unable to be used in any specific situation. This information should therefore not solely be relied on when making commercial or other decisions. This document represents the western science knowledge gathered in Shark Bay (Gathaagudu). It is a testament to the huge number of researchers who have spent days, months and years investigating and better understanding this area. We also acknowledge the depth of Indigenous Knowledge held by Malgana people as we step into a collaborative science future together.

WAMSI Research Director Dr Jenny Shaw

WAMSI and its partner organisations take no responsibility for the outcome of decisions based on information contained in this, or related, publications.

#### Publication date: September 2020

Metadata: https://catalogue.aodn. org.au/geonetwork/srv/en/metadata. show?uuid=5aed1b92-3759-4b87-84e7-1590ecb2f195

**Citation:** Sutton A.L. and Shaw J.L. (2020) A Snapshot of Marine Research in Shark Bay (Gathaagudu): Literature Review and Metadata Collation (1949-2020). Prepared for the Western Australian Marine Science Institution, Perth, Western Australia. 180pp.

#### **Author Contributions:**

Alicia Sutton uncovered the publications and drafted the content of the report. Jenny Shaw had report oversight and both contributed to the structuring, editing and finalising of the report.

#### **Corresponding author and Institution:**

Jenny Shaw (Western Australian Marine Science Institution, Perth, Western Australia).

**Funding Sources:** This project is an initiative of the Western Australian Marine Science Institution, with funding support from the state government as part of the Western Australian Blueprint for Marine Science and the Shark Bay Priorities project. The Shark Bay Literature Review and Metadata Collation has been supported in-kind by a Steering Group including WAMSI partners: UWA, DPIRD and DBCA.

**Report and metadata URL:** <u>www.wamsi.org.</u> <u>au/shark-bay-literature-review</u>

ISBN: 978-0-9872761-4-8

#### Front cover image:

Modified image of a pixel composite mosaic of a time series of satellite observations of Shark Bay (2017. Surface Reflectance 25m Geomedian 2.0.0. Geoscience Australia, Canberra. <u>http://pid.geoscience.gov.au/dataset/</u> <u>ga/120374</u>

# **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations and acronymsi			
Acknowledgementsii			
Executive summary	iii		
1. Introduction	1		
1.1 Background	.1		
1.2 This review and information sources	.2		
1.2.1 Scope	.3		
1.2.2 Information sources	.3		
1.2.3 Layout	.3		
2. Shark Bay World Heritage Area	4		
3. Ecological assets.	9		
3.1 Environmental conditions	.10		
3.1.1 Hydrology	.10		
3.1.2 Oceanography	.10		
3.1.3 Water quality	.15		
3.1.4 Sediment quality	.15		
3.1.5 Geology	.16		
3.1.6 Bathymetry	.18		
3.2 Ecosystem processes	.18		
3.2.1 Biological connectivity	.18		
3.2.2 Marine heatwave	.20		
3.2.3 Coastal zone processes	.21		
3.3 Benthic communities	.25		
3.3.1 Seagrass communities	.25		
3.3.2 Macroalgal communities	.31		
3.3.3 Coral reef communities	.31		
3.3.4 Microbial and microbialite communities	.32		
3.3.5 Mangrove communities	.34		
3.3.6 Sponge communities	.34		
3.4 Planktonic communities	.35		
3.4.1 Phytoplankton	.35		
3.4.2 Zooplankton	.35		
3.5 Faunal communities (non-commercial)	.35		
3.5.1 Invertebrate communities	.35		
3.5.2 Finfish communities	.39		
3.5.3 Elasmobranchs	.41		
3.5.4 Marine reptile communities	.43		
3.5.5 Seabirds and shorebirds	.46		
3.5.6 Marine mammal communities	.46		
3.6 Commercially fished species	54		
3.6.1 Scalefish	54		
3.6.2 Pink snapper	54		
3.6.3 Blue swimmer crabs	.56		

3.6.4 Prawns	
3.6.5 Scallops	
3.6.6 Cockles	
3.6.7 Aquaculture	
3.6.9 Fishing method impacts	
3.6.10 Recreational fishing	
4. Examples of documented Malgana uses,	
occupation and management of Shark Bay	65
4.1 Archaeological history	
4.1.1 Occupation	
4.1.2 Culturally important sites	
4.2 Pearling and other industries	
4.3 Traditional hunting and fishing	
4.4 Conservation management and ranger programs	
5. Social drivers	69
5.1 Social amenity	
5.1.1 Historical maritime values	
5.1.2 Recreational water-based activities	
5.1.3 Landscapes and visual amenity	
5.1.4 Educational and scientific values	
5.2 Public health	
6. Economic drivers	
6. Economic drivers         6.1 Fisheries	<b>73</b>
6. Economic drivers         6.1 Fisheries         6.1.1 Early beginnings	<b>73</b> 
6.1.2 Current day fisheries.	
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 80
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 81 82 82
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 82 82 82 82 82 82
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> <li>6.9.1 Guano</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> <li>6.9.1 Guano</li> <li>6.9.2 Gypsum</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> <li>6.9.1 Guano</li> <li>6.9.2 Gypsum</li> <li>6.9.3 Heavy mineral sands</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.4 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> <li>6.9.1 Guano</li> <li>6.9.2 Gypsum</li> <li>6.9.4 Oil and gas</li> </ul>	73 
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> <li>6.9.1 Guano</li> <li>6.9.2 Gypsum</li> <li>6.9.4 Oil and gas</li> <li>6.9.5 Salt</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80
<ul> <li>6. Economic drivers</li> <li>6.1 Fisheries</li> <li>6.1.1 Early beginnings</li> <li>6.1.2 Current day fisheries</li> <li>6.2 Aquaculture</li> <li>6.3 Shipping and maritime</li> <li>6.4 Tourism</li> <li>6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism</li> <li>6.4.2 Historical tourism</li> <li>6.4.3 Indigenous tourism</li> <li>6.5 NGOs</li> <li>6.6 Aboriginal Corporations</li> <li>6.7 Agriculture</li> <li>6.8 Pastoralists and graziers</li> <li>6.9 Mining and logging</li> <li>6.9.1 Guano</li> <li>6.9.2 Gypsum</li> <li>6.9.3 Heavy mineral sands</li> <li>6.9.6 Shell deposit extraction</li> </ul>	73 74 74 75 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80

7.	Th	reats and external drivers	.85
	7.1	Climate change	.86
		7.1.1 Observed trends in Shark Bay region	.86
		7.1.2 Projections for Shark Bay	.86
		7.1.3 Climate Vulnerability Index	.86
	7.2	Water quality	.87
		7.2.1 Nutrients	.87
		7.2.2 Sedimentation	.87
		7.2.3 Heavy metals	.87
		7.2.4 Oil spills	.88
	7.3	Introduced marine pests and diseases	.88
	7.4	Other anthropogenic pressures	.88
		7.4.1 Tourism	.88
		7.4.2 Fishing pressure	.88
		7.4.3 Coastal development	.89
		7.4.4 Mining, oil and gas	.89
8.	Ma	anagement and administrative agencies	90
	8.1	Conservation management	.91
		8.1.1 Overview	.91
		8.1.2 Management plan responsibilities	.91
		8.1.3 Managing and monitoring ecological assets within Shark Bay Marine Reserves	.91
		8.1.4 Permits and licences	.92
	8.2	Fisheries management	.92
		8.2.1 Overview	.92
		8.2.2 Management plan responsibilities	.93
		8.2.3 Permits and licences	.94
	8.3	Shark Bay World Heritage Advisory Committee	.94
	8.4	Local Government	.94
	8.5	Adaptive management	.95
9. Tenure and		nure and legislation	96
	9.1	Existing tenure	.97
		9.1.1 State and Commonwealth waters	.97
		9.1.2 Marine protected areas	.97
		9.1.3 World Heritage Area	.97
		9.1.4 Terrestrial parks and reserves	.98
		9.1.5 Pastoral leases	.98
		9.1.6 Native title	.98
	9.2	State legislation	.98
		9.2.1 Conservation and Land Management Act 1984	.98
		9.2.2 Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016	.98
		9.2.3 Environmental Protection Act 1986	.99
		9.2.4 Aquatic Resources Management Act 2016	.99
		9.2.5 Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972	.99
		9.2.6 Shark Bay Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act 1983	.99
		9.2.7 Other State Acts	.99

9.3 Commonwealth legislation	.99
9.3.1 Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (EPBC Act)	.99
9.3.2 Underwater Cultural Heritage Act 2018	.100
9.3.3 Native Title Act 1993	.100
9.3.4 Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006	.100
9.3.5 Fisheries Management Act 1991	.100
9.4 International treaties and agreements	.101
9.4.1 World Heritage Convention	.101
9.4.2 Climate agreements	.101
9.4.3 International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships	.102
9.4.4 United Nations Convention for the Law of the Sea	.102
9.4.5 CITES	.102
9.4.6 The Convention on Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna	.102
9.4.7 Migratory species	.102
9.5 Listed species	.102
9.5.1 Protected species (Commonwealth legislation)	.102
9.5.2 Protected species (State legislation)	.107
9.5.3 International species agreements	.110
10. Research groups, data and monitoring programs	.115
10.1 Research groups and project websites	.116
10.1.1 Seagrass Research-Kendrick Lab (UWA)	.116
10.1.2 Shark Bay Ecosystem Research Project- Heithaus Lab (FIU)	.116
10.1.3 Blue Carbon and Seagrass Research- Lavery Lab (ECU)	.116
10.1.4 The Shark Bay Dolphin Project	.116
10.1.5 Shark Bay Dolphin Research	.116
10.2 Databases and accessibility	.117
10.3 Monitoring programs	.118
10.4 Metadata synthesis	.123
11. References	.126

#### **Figures and Tables**

Figure 1	Shark Bay Priorities schema outlining the processes that will result in the WAMSI Shark Bay Science Plan
Figure 2	The marine environment encompassed within the Shark Bay World Heritage Area
Figure 3	Mean summer sea surface temperature climatology map for Shark Bay
Figure 4	Mean winter sea surface temperature climatology map for Shark Bay
Figure 5	Mean bottom salinity (ppt), showing the outflow of dense water from Shark Bay for July 2009
Figure 6	Benthic environment of Hamelin Pool showing sedimentary and organosubstrate classification
Figure 7	Bathymetry of Shark Bay
Figure 8	Shark Bay marine habitats (2016 Preliminary data)
Figure 9	Confidence estimates for Shark Bay marine habitats (2016 Preliminary data)
Figure 10	Seagrass taxa diversity across Shark Bay
Figure 11	Coverage of dense and sparse seagrass meadows in Shark Bay in 2010
Figure 12	Coverage of dense and sparse seagrass meadows in Shark Bay in 2016
Figure 13a	Location of dense and isolated stands of mangroves in Shark Bay in 2019
Figure 13b	Detailed view of the percent cover of mangroves at each location
Figure 14	Current aquaculture licence sites in Shark Bay59
Figure 15	Boat-based and shore-based recreational fishing activity in Shark Bay
Figure 16	Pink Snapper Recreational Fishing Management Areas in Shark Bay63
Figure 17	Spatial extent of the Shark Bay Beach Seine and Mesh Net Managed Fishery77
Figure 18	Spatial extent of the Shark Bay Scallop Managed Fishery78
Figure 19	Spatial extent of the Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery79
Figure 20	Common ecological assets researched at Shark Bay123
Figure 21	Literature outputs for Shark Bay since 1949124
Figure 22	Categories of literature outputs used in the WAMSI Shark Bay Literature Review
Figure 23	Local, national and international institutions and agencies that have produced a
Table 1	Most recent estimates of social and economic outcomes of the main commercial fisheries operating in Shark Bay76
Table 2	Commonwealth listed species under the EPBC Act 1999 occurring, or potentially occurring, within Shark Bay
Table 3	State listed species identified for Shark Bay as determined by DBCA NatureMap and Threatened and Priority Fauna List
Table 4	CITES listed species occurring, or potentially occurring, in Shark Bay
Table 5	Commonwealth listed migratory species identified for Shark Bay using the
	EPBC Protected Matters Search Tool
Table 6	Databases containing information and data relevant to Shark Bay
Table 7	Current, or recently completed, monitoring programs in Shark Bay118

# Abbreviations and acronyms

ACAP	Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels
AFMA	Australian Fisheries Management Authority
AFZ	Australian Fishing Zone
AIMS	Australian Institute of Marine Science
ANZECC	Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council
AODN	Australian Ocean Data Network
ARMCANZ	Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand
Bonn	Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals
CALM	Conservation and Land Management
CAMBA	China-Australia Migratory Bird Agreement
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation
CVI	Climate Vulnerability Index
DBCA	Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions
DPIRD	Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development
DPLH	Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage
DWER	Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
EBFM	Ecosystem Based Fisheries Management
FPA	Environmental Protection Authority
FPBC	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation
FILI	Elorida International I Iniversity
FRDC	Fisheries Research and Development Corporation
IMAS	Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies
	Institute for Marine Observing System
	Integrated Ivianine Observing Oystern
	International Onion for Conservation of Nature
	Japan-Australia Migratory Bird Agreement
JAIVISTEC	Japan Agency for Marine-Earth Science and Technology
MARPUL	International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships
MINK	Marine Nature Reserve
MPA	Marine Protected Area
MSC	Marine Stewardship Council
NESP	National Environmental Science Program
NRM	Natural Resource Management
ROKAMBA	Republic of Korea-Australia Migratory Bird Agreement
SBMR	Shark Bay Marine Reserves
SBWHA	Shark Bay World Heritage Area
SST	Sea surface temperature
UAV	Unmanned aerial vehicle
UNCLOS	United Nations Convention for the Law of the Sea
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UWA	The University of Western Australia
VIMS	Virginia Institute of Marine Science
WA	Western Australia
WAFIC	Western Australian Fishing Industry Council
WAMSI	Western Australian Marine Science Institution

## Acknowledgements

This document is testament to the huge number of researchers who have spent days, months and years in Shark Bay investigating and better understanding the science of this area. Your inquiry, dedication, discovery and publication of information has resulted in an extensive set of material for this unique and complex system. We would also like to acknowledge those scientists and others who not only provided their research but contributed to the accompanying metadata collation.

The Steering Group of Gary Kendrick (UWA), Gary Jackson (DPIRD) and Alan Kendrick (DBCA) oversaw this project from the outset. Each has a passion for the area and a longstanding professional commitment to protect this special place. Additional expertise from Luke Twomey (WAMSI), Aleta Johnston (WAMSI) and Gina Lincoln (WAMSI/Mosaic Environmental) was valued and added to the document.

It was Alicia Sutton (WAMSI/Carijoa) however, who uncovered the huge number of publications and skillfully translated and synthesised the knowledge into meaningful text. Her unflagging enthusiasm and attention to detail has ensured that this document is a valuable resource that will be used by many into the future. It is a credit to her skill and perseverance. Additional reviews were carried out by Mervi Kangas (DPIRD), Arani Chandrapavan (DPIRD), Shaun Wilson (DBCA), Kelly Waples (DBCA) and Luke Skinner (DBCA). Cheryl Cowell (DBCA/ Shark Bay World Heritage Advisory Committee/ Shark Bay Shire) was always able and willing to provide information whenever needed. Maps were provided by DPIRD and DBCA. Paul Day (Carijoa) provided some additional assistance with metadata collation and Paul Orange (DPIRD) uncovered early Fisheries data.

The Shark Bay Priorities Project partnered with the World Heritage Advisory Committee. Their support throughout this process has been invaluable.

Many others have contributed to producing this document with advice, suggestions and provision of materials including maps, figures and photographic images. We very much appreciate and gratefully acknowledge your contributions. Thank you all.

This work represents western science knowledge gathered on Gathaagudu, the traditional Country of the Malgana people. We pay our respects to their elders past, present and emerging.

#### Jenny Shaw

Research Director WAMSI



Carbla Point stromatolites (Photo: H. Nakrem/ courtesy SBWHA)

## **Executive summary**

#### **Shark Bay**

Shark Bay is the largest semi-enclosed bay in Australia encompassing 14,000km<sup>2</sup> bordered by a chain of barrier islands. Most of the Eastern and Western Gulfs of the Bay are included within the Shark Bay Marine Park (State waters), with the innermost portion of the Eastern Gulf protected by the Hamelin Pool Nature Reserve. Shark Bay is renowned for the Wooramel Seagrass Bank, one of the largest and most diverse seagrass meadows in the world, stromatolites of the hypersaline Hamelin Pool, the largest dugong population in the world and a diverse array of marine life including sharks and rays and a famous population of bottlenose dolphins.

The Shark Bay World Heritage Area (SBWHA) spans 22,000km<sup>2</sup> and 1500km of coastline, with up to 66% of the area covering the marine environment. The Shark Bay Marine Park and Hamelin Pool Nature Reserve are also included within the boundaries of the SBWHA. The SBWHA was inscribed in 1991 because of its outstanding universal value, which satisfied four International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) natural criteria (VII, VIII, IX, X). Some of the features satisfying these criteria include the Wooramel Seagrass Bank, one of the largest and most diverse seagrass meadows in the world, and the stromatolites of the hypersaline Hamelin Pool, which are comparable to the fossil record. The SBWHA also boasts an extensive array of marine life including sharks, rays, turtles, dugongs and cetaceans, as well as scenic coastal beauty at locations such as Zuytdorp Cliffs and Peron Peninsula.

#### **Purpose of document**

In 2011, Shark Bay was negatively impacted by a marine heatwave that caused widespread losses to seagrass meadows and negative flowon effects for associated species. Shark Bay is also a World Heritage Area (WHA) with values that, if lost from climate change and other anthropogenic pressures, could jeopardise its listing as a WHA. This has sparked a need to better understand the ecological resilience of Shark Bay in relation to extreme events and climate change.

Several calls have been made for a multidisciplinary and international science program to address priority research areas that could support integrated management decisions for Shark Bay. The Western Australian Marine Science Institution (WAMSI) has addressed these calls by developing a Shark Bay Science Plan in collaboration with a range of stakeholders. This literature review on Shark Bay, and accompanying metadata synthesis, will contribute to the WAMSI Shark Bay Science Plan by providing the background knowledge for formulating priority areas of research. It also addresses the need for a resource describing all work in Shark Bay over various disciplines. This document will be particularly useful for researchers, managers, and all those interested in Shark Bay and the extensive research that has been undertaken over multiple decades.

#### **Breadth of review**

A total of 775 pieces of literature were included in this document. A large portion of this review includes a synthesis of ecological assets including environmental conditions, ecosystem processes, benthic communities, planktonic communities, faunal communities and fisheries. The majority of research at Shark Bay has focused on bottlenose dolphins and fisheries, followed by microbial communities, seagrass communities and ecosystem-wide research (predation, foraging). To be more comprehensive, the review also includes information on Indigenous interests, social and economic drivers (tourism and fisheries are key drivers), threats and external drivers, current management and planning, and also legislative and administrative arrangements. Citations are listed at the end of this document. The citations, contact author, synthesis and metadata availability can be found at www.wamsi.org.au/ shark-bay-literature-review.

# **1. Introduction**

Amphibolis antarctica (wire weed) on shelly sediments in the hypersaline waters of L'Haridon Bight (Photo: Rachel Austin)

#### **1.1 Background**

Shark Bay is located at Australia's most westerly point in a marine transition zone between tropical and temperate Indian Ocean waters (25.7834°S, 113.2988°E). It is the largest semi-enclosed bay in Australia encompassing 14,000km<sup>2</sup> bordered by a chain of barrier islands. Most of the Eastern and Western Gulfs of the Bay are included within the Shark Bay Marine Park (State waters), with the innermost portion of the Eastern Gulf protected by the Hamelin Pool Nature Reserve. An additional Shark Bay Marine Park is located in Commonwealth waters immediately west of Bernier, Dorre and Dirk Hartog Islands. Shark Bay is renowned for the Wooramel Seagrass Bank, one of the largest and most diverse seagrass meadows in the world, stromatolites of the hypersaline Hamelin Pool, the largest dugong population in the world and a diverse array of marine life including sharks and rays and a famous population of bottlenose dolphins.

In 2011, Shark Bay was negatively impacted by a marine heatwave that sustained prolonged temperature anomalies of 2-4°C along the WA coastline. The heatwave caused widespread losses to seagrass meadows which had flow-on effects through the food chain and for species that relied on the meadows for shelter and nurseries.

There was a workshop held at The University of Western Australia (UWA) in early 2011 to address the then present scientific knowledge of Shark Bay. This resulted in a special issue of Marine and Freshwater Research on 'Science for the management of subtropical embayments: examples from Shark Bay and Florida Bay' released in 2012 which specifically called for a multidisciplinary and international science program focused on ecological resilience in Shark Bay (Kendrick *et al.* 2012).

In June 2018, a WAMSI/UWA workshop on 'Adapting to ecosystem change in the Shark Bay World Heritage Site' was held with 70 science and industry experts to identify gaps in knowledge and address whether current management strategies were adequate for responding to future extreme events and climate change (www.wamsi.org.au/shark-bayworkshop). Again, there was a clear call for collaboration among disciplines and institutions to identify and address priority research areas that could support integrated management decisions.

Outcomes from the June workshop were used in Climate Vulnerability Index (CVI) workshops that carried out rapid assessments of the exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity of Shark Bay World Heritage values (September 2018) and economic, social and cultural values (June 2019) to climate change.

WAMSI has addressed calls for a collaborative approach to tackle ecosystem change in Shark Bay and is developing a comprehensive science plan in partnership with a range of stakeholders. The WAMSI Shark Bay Science Plan will outline priority areas of research needed to help sustainably manage the marine environment of Shark Bay.

### 1.2 This review and information sources

This literature review on Shark Bay and the accompanying WAMSI Shark Bay metadata synthesis found at <u>www.wamsi.org.au/sharkbay-literature-review</u> (see section 10.4) will contribute to the WAMSI Shark Bay Science Plan by identifying scientific knowledge gaps in the marine environment and providing the background knowledge for determining priority areas of research (Fig. 1).

This review and accompanying metadata synthesis also addresses the need for a resource that describes all research work conducted in Shark Bay over various disciplines. Discussions with Traditional Owners in 2019 indicated that there was a keen interest in understanding the breadth of work that has been conducted. During a workshop later in the year, Malgana Elders, the Malgana Land and Sea Management Reference Group, Malgana rangers from both the DBCA, and the Malgana Land and Sea Management Program, were provided with a comprehensive list and synthesis of literature and associated metadata information.



Figure 1 Shark Bay Priorities schema outlining the processes that will result in the WAMSI Shark Bay Science Plan.

#### 1.2.1 Scope

The spatial scope of the review is the marine environment within the boundaries of the SBWHA, though some relevant information is provided for coastal and terrestrial environments and waters adjacent to the boundary. The review is largely focused on marine ecological assets, but also includes Indigenous interests, social and economic drivers, and other relevant information to form a comprehensive resource for Shark Bay.

#### 1.2.2 Information sources

The information provided in this document was obtained via two pathways; contacting key researchers and searching the literature.

Forty-five key researchers were formally contacted by letter, or asked in face-to-face meetings, to provide any published research/ data (peer reviewed and grey literature) pertaining to Shark Bay. Researchers were also asked to provide associated metadata information, such as if data was freely available, where the data was held and contact details. A total of 35 responses were received, of which 18 provided requested lists of research and data.

A thorough search of the literature was undertaken in order to build upon the information received from key researchers. Firstly, the combination of search terms used in library databases and online search engines related to a predefined list of ecological assets, such as many of those outlined in section 3, e.g. mangrove AND Shark Bay, shark AND Shark Bay etc. Following this, more general searches were conducted using solely the term 'Shark Bay', as well as other location names, including but not limited to 'Faure Sill', 'Dirk Hartog Island' and 'Gascoyne', in order to identify any ambiguous literature or literature that did not fit within the pre-defined headings. Searches of both the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) Fisheries library and Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions (DBCA) library were conducted. Relevant literature was formally requested if necessary.

Overall, the information gathered for this literature review came from published scientific papers, published and unpublished reports, theses and, to a small extent, websites such as the Shark Bay World Heritage Area website and government websites for tenure and lease information.

#### 1.2.3 Layout

The headings and subheadings used in this document are themes derived from a combination of DBCA defined ecological values (see Kendrick *et al.* (2016)) and DPIRD Ecosystem Based Fisheries Management (EBFM) categories (see Fletcher *et al.* (2010)). Themes were then modified as necessary depending on the literature derived.

It is recognised that some of the knowledge presented in this document is suited to multiple themes and, as such, some information is repeated under more than one sub-heading.

# 2. Shark Bay World Heritage Area

Cape Peron, Francois Peron National Park (Photo: Sheree Scarborough) The SBWHA spans 22,000km<sup>2</sup> and 1500km of coastline, with up to 66% of the area covering the marine environment (Fig 2). The SBWHA is inclusive of Dirk Hartog, Dorre and Bernier Islands and extends south along the coastline to include Hamelin Pool and Zuytdorp Nature Reserve and cliffs. The salt mines at Useless Loop and Inlet were operating prior to World Heritage listing and are excluded from the boundary of the SBWHA, as is the Town of Denham.



Figure 2 The marine environment encompassed within the Shark Bay World Heritage Area.

Shark Bay was inscribed on the World Heritage List in 1991 because of its 'Outstanding Universal Value'. To be included on the World Heritage List, a site needs to meet one of ten selection criteria; six cultural criteria and four natural criteria. The SBWHA satisfies all four natural criteria, which include:

#### Natural Criteria VII- to contain superlative natural phenomena or areas of exceptional natural beauty and aesthetic importance.

Examples:

- Hamelin Pool has the most diverse and abundant formations of stromatolitic microbialites in one place, and formations are comparable to the fossil record
- Wooramel Seagrass Bank is one of the few marine areas dominated by carbonate sediments not associated with reef building corals and has one of the largest and the most diverse seagrass meadows in the world
- Faure Sill and high evaporation have produced the hypersaline environment of Hamelin Pool and L'Haridon Bight, which in turn is responsible for wide sweeping beaches consisting entirely of *Fragum* shells
- Zuytdorp Cliffs, Dirk Hartog Island, Heirisson and Bellefin Prongs provide exceptional

coastal scenery, including the strongly contrasting colours of Peron Peninsula

- Diverse landscapes of peninsulas, islands, bays, lagoons and birridas
- Marine fauna are abundant and include dugongs, dolphins, sharks, rays, turtles and fish
- A rich flora creates extensive annual wildflower displays

Natural Criteria VIII- to have outstanding examples representing major stages of earth's history, including the record of life, significant ongoing geological processes in the development of landforms, or significant geomorphic or physiographic features.

#### Examples:

- Hamelin Pool has the most diverse and abundant formations of stromatolitic microbialites in one place, and formations are comparable to the fossil record
- Wooramel Seagrass Bank is one of the few marine areas in the world dominated by limestone sands formed by the precipitation of calcium carbonate from hypersaline water, rather than from reef building corals
- Faure Sill and high evaporation have produced the hypersaline environment of Hamelin Pool and L'Haridon Bight, which in turn is responsible for wide sweeping beaches consisting entirely of *Fragum* shells

Natural Criteria IX- to have outstanding examples representing significant ongoing ecological and biological processes in the evolution and development of terrestrial, fresh water, coastal and marine ecosystems and communities of plants and animals.

#### Examples:

- Distinct oceanic, metahaline and hypersaline zones due to the development of banks and sills which, in turn, have created three distinct biotic zones
- Hamelin Pool is a reversed estuary containing hypersaline waters
- Marine organisms have developed physiological adaptations to tolerate hypersaline conditions, such as the bivalve *Fragum erugatum*, which have created extensive and rare Holocene deposits, lithified sediments, supratidal flats and meromictic blue ponds
- Extensive seagrass meadows (i.e. Wooramel Seagrass Bank) have caused modification of the physical environment through formation of banks and sills from carbonate deposits, which has influenced water currents
- Shark Bay has one of the largest and most diverse seagrass meadows in the world and is a seagrass-based ecosystem that influences nutrient cycling, hydrological conditions and food chains, and provides important habitat and nursery grounds
- Marine species such as pink snapper and venerid clams have high genetic variability
- Hamelin Pool has the most diverse and abundant formations of stromatolitic microbialites in one place, and formations are comparable to the fossil record

- High species diversity due to location in a transition zone between temperate and tropical marine ecological provinces e.g. 323 fish species; 218 bivalve species; 80 coral species; 12 seagrass species
- Islands and peninsulas contain isolated fauna habitats and populations, such as the rufous hare-wallaby and banded hare-wallaby
- Diverse plant communities due to location in a transition zone between the Southwestern Botanical Province dominated by *Eucalyptus* species and the Eremean Province dominated by *Acacia* species
- Numerous temperate terrestrial fauna are at their northern range limits, including species of reptiles, amphibians and birds, and numerous arid reptiles and amphibians are at their coastal end ranges
- Tree heath vegetation south of the Freycinet Estuary has examples of 'gigantism' and has diverse plant and animal communities, including ~35% of Australia's total bird species

Natural Criteria X- to contain the most important and significant natural habitats for in-situ conservation of biological diversity, including those containing threatened species of outstanding universal value from the point of view of science or conservation.

#### Examples:

- Shark Bay is located in a transition zone between the Southwestern Botanical Province and the Eremean Province which has created a diverse biota consisting of endemic vascular plants, endemic reptiles, new species and range extensions for many species
- Five globally threatened mammals are found in Shark Bay in what could be the only or major populations remaining; the burrowing bettong (now classified as Near Threatened), rufous hare wallaby, banded hare wallaby, the Shark Bay mouse and the western barred bandicoot
- An 11,000 strong population of dugongs; one eighth of the world's population

- Humpback whales and southern right whales use Shark Bay during migration
- A population of now famous bottlenose dolphins live in Shark Bay and are visited and studied
- Provides an important habitat for green and loggerhead turtles; the area is a significant nesting area for loggerhead turtles
- An abundance of sharks and rays are present in Shark Bay, including manta rays which are considered globally threatened



Cape Peron, Shark Bay (Photo: DBCA)

Stingrays, Heron Island, Shark Bay (Photo: iStock.com/eriktrampe)

#### 3.1 Environmental conditions

#### 3.1.1 Hydrology

#### 3.1.1.1 Water sources and water budgets

The Wooramel River is the greatest source of freshwater discharge directly into Shark Bay, followed by the Gascoyne River further north near Carnarvon. Stable isotopes and salinity concentrations of water samples have been used to trace water sources in the Bay and estimate water budgets for the Eastern Gulf and Hamelin Pool (Price *et al.* 2012). Evaporation was estimated to account for half of the water volume lost from Hamelin Pool each year. Combined with restricted tidal fluctuations across Faure Sill, the water volume of the Pool is estimated to be replaced every 6-12 months.

#### 3.1.1.2 Groundwater and surface run-off

Groundwater was investigated intensively in Hamelin Pool in the 1980s, and included documenting locations of groundwater input, measuring salinities, examining bacteria and investigating the production of iron-sulphide minerals (Burne and Hunt 1990).

Measurements of increased salinity in winter months and decreased salinity in summer months has provided some evidence for the intrusion of groundwater around the margins of Hamelin Pool (Suosaari *et al.* 2016a). Analytical modelling has also been used to quantify groundwater influx into Hamelin Pool (Abreu Araujo 2015).

Based on modelling of future climate scenarios, it is likely that run-off from winter rainfall will decrease for the Wooramel River catchment (Mpelasoka and Rustomji 2012).

#### 3.1.1.3 Flooding

The flow of the Wooramel River into the Eastern Gulf of Shark Bay is not constant and only flows during flood events associated with cyclones or winter storms (Nott 2011; Mpelasoka and Rustomji 2012). The episodic flooding of the river, and the associated input of nutrients, could be one explanation for why seagrass

communities adjacent to the Wooramel River have higher phosphorus concentrations compared with other meadows in the Bay (Fraser *et al.* 2012). An extreme flooding event occurred from December 2010 to February/ March 2011, which caused flood plumes with significant suspended sediment loads to spread up to 15km from the mouth of the Wooramel River. Reduced light conditions persisted for at least three months (Walker et al. 2012). This flooding event coupled with the 2011 marine heatwave are both believed to have played a role in the widespread loss of seagrass in Shark Bay, particularly for seagrasses close to the Wooramel River (Fraser et al. 2014; Thomson et al. 2015a). Such flooding events can cause increased sedimentation over seagrass meadows and also reduce photosynthetic activity due to reduced light levels.

If flooding of the Wooramel River was to increase under future climate change projections, the increased sediment load could be expected to negatively impact the seagrass at Faure Sill and, in turn, impact upon ideal growth condition for stromatolites in Hamelin Pool (Mpelasoka *et al.* 2012; Mpelasoka and Rustomji 2012).

#### 3.1.2 Oceanography

Oceanic circulation is restricted within Shark Bay due to the presence of large barrier islands to the east and north of the Bay, length and shallowness of embayments and the presence of seagrass banks and sills.

During the summer months, southerly winds help to drive the seasonal Capes Current northward, which intrudes cooler waters into the western entrance of the Bay and sees a gradient to warmer temperatures in the inner gulfs (Pattiaratchi and Hetzel 2018) (Fig. 3).

During the winter months when southerly winds are weaker, the dominant southward flowing Leeuwin Current pushes warmer waters into the entrances of the Bay, which sees a gradient to cooler waters in the inner gulfs (Pattiaratchi and Hetzel 2018) (Fig. 4). Large areas of Shark Bay are hypersaline due to evaporation exceeding rainfall by as much as ten times and, given this, Shark Bay is classified as an inverse estuary (Hetzel *et al.* 2013). A distinctive north-south gradient in salinity of 35-60psu is observed from the mouth of Shark Bay to Hamelin Pool due to the shallow depth of the Faure Sill restricting water exchange (Fig. 5). The tidal conditions of the region represent a mix between dominant diurnal and semi-diurnal regimes (Pattiaratchi and Hetzel 2018).

#### 3.1.2.1 Shark Bay Outflow

The Shark Bay Outflow refers to the outflow of high salinity waters from Shark Bay to the continental shelf via deep channels.

The main outflow of high salinity water (and associated biological material) occurs through the Geographe Channel in the north, with the Naturaliste Channel between Dirk Hartog and Dorre Islands also facilitating significant outflow (Woo *et al.* 2006; Hetzel *et al.* 2010; Hetzel *et al.* 2012; Hetzel 2013; Hetzel *et al.* 2018). Less dense, low salinity surface water flows into Shark Bay via Geographe and Naturaliste Channels, while high density, high salinity water exits along the seabed through these same channels (Nahas 2004; Nahas *et al.* 2005).

These density-driven bottom currents play a major role in water exchange between Shark Bay and the ocean, and while outflow is enhanced during periods of low tidal mixing (Hetzel 2013), outflow is persistent through all stages of the tide, particularly for the Geographe Channel (Hetzel *et al.* 2018).

The high salinity waters flowing through the deep channels to the continental shelf form a distinct water mass (21.2-22.9°C and up to 36.1 ppt) that mixes with the Leeuwin Current and flows poleward (Hanson *et al.* 2005; Woo *et al.* 2006; Pattiaratchi and Woo 2009).

#### 3.1.2.2 Mixing and transport

Wind or tide alone can be enough to mix the water column in the shallow regions of Shark Bay (< 15 m; not necessarily for shallow waters restricted by sills and banks), whereas both forces are needed to fully mix deeper channel waters (> 15 m) (Hetzel *et al.* 2013; Hetzel 2013; Hetzel *et al.* 2015). Burling *et al* (2003) used non-linear modelling to describe the tidal regime of Shark Bay in more detail, and Hunt and D'Adamo (1998) released drogues in surface and bottom waters to examine flushing of Monkey Mia lagoon across ebb and flood tidal cycles.

Modelling the release of neutrally buoyant pollutants also showed that wind enhanced dilution plays an important role in the hydrodynamic process within Monkey Mia (Luketina *et al.* 1998).

Hopeless Reach has also been examined in more detail and is found to be vertically well mixed in summer and stratified in winter (Burling *et al.* 1999). Hopeless Reach receives a steady discharge of salt from Hamelin Pool, largely though Herald Loop, given the restriction to water exchange across the shallow Faure Sill.



Figure 3 Mean summer sea surface temperature climatology map for Shark Bay. Map was created by Yasha Hetzel for this review using the dataset from Wijffels *et al.* (2018). N.B. there is a difference in the temperature scale for Figures 3 and 4.

12



Figure 4 Mean winter sea surface temperature climatology map for Shark Bay. Map was created by Yasha Hetzel for this review using the dataset from Wijffels *et al.* (2018). N.B. there is a difference in the temperature scale for Figures 3 and 4.



Figure 5 Mean bottom salinity (ppt), showing the outflow of dense water from Shark Bay for July 2009. Map was created by Yasha Hetzel using a numerical model (Hetzel *et al.* 2013)

#### 3.1.3 Water quality

Water quality monitoring to establish baselines has been conducted for Monkey Mia (Trayler and Shepherd 1993), the wider Eastern Gulf (Pedretti *et al.* 1998), and Hamelin Pool (Ahearn 2019).

In the late 1980s, significantly contaminated interstitial water and seawater was detected at Monkey Mia, which was implicated in the death and disappearance of dolphins at Monkey Mia, though not conclusively proven (EPA WA 1989). Ongoing monitoring of nutrients and pathogens at Monkey Mia since 1989 have typically shown relatively stable concentrations (DBCA 2019b), though unexplained elevated concentrations of nitrogen and phosphorus were recorded in 2016.

Nutrient availability and fluxes in the water column examined for Shark Bay reveal a similar finding to sediments in that phosphorus is limited in the hypersaline waters of Shark Bay (Smith and Atkinson 1983; Smith and Atkinson 1984; Atkinson 1987; Pedretti *et al.* 1998). Phosphorus concentrations were below detection limits (<0.02  $\mu$ M) for 65/70 sites sampled across Faure Sill, Wooramel Delta and surrounds in 2011 (Walker *et al.* 2012). Nitrogen is not typically limited due to the level of nitrogen fixation occurring in the system.

Dissolved organic material in the water column is found to be mostly derived from seagrass sources, but also terrestrial, planktonic and macroalgal sources within Shark Bay (Cawley *et al.* 2012).

Chlorophyll *a* concentrations (0.4-2.6ug/L) in the water column were found to be within the typical ranges of oceanic waters (Pedretti *et al.* 1998). A particular examination of an intertidal sand flat found that water mass flooding over the course of a few hours resulted in a progressive decline of chlorophyll *a* concentrations in the water column, which impacted on sestonic food availability (Peterson and Black 1991). Some attention has been given to cadmium, which absorbs onto iron oxide particles in the water column and is then ingested by bivalves (Lawrance 1985; McConchie *et al.* 1988; Francesconi 1989; McConchie and Lawrance 1991).

Seawater temperature measured at Redcliff Bay, Hamelin Pool, Denham and Sandy Point has shown a slow increasing trend since monitoring began in 1985 (DBCA 2019b).

#### 3.1.4 Sediment quality

Investigations since the 1980s have revealed that sediments in Shark Bay are generally limiting in phosphorus. Phosphorus and iron concentrations in sediments are found to decrease from oceanic to hypersaline environments, whereas organic carbon and total nitrogen are found to increase further into the Bay (Atkinson 1987; Atkinson 1990). Of total phosphorus, an estimated 90% of inorganic phosphorus is thought to be tied up in shells and shell fragments, whereas only 10-15% of organic phosphorus is estimated to be available in the Bay (Atkinson 1990).

However, local-scale examination of nutrients in sediments does not necessarily reflect the same large-scale gradient patterns (Fraser *et al.* 2012; Walker *et al.* 2012). Nutrient concentrations in sediments were found to be more variable across Faure Sill and Wooramel Bank region in 2011, and not strongly correlated with salinity. Concentrations of total P ranged from  $3.1 - 25.3\mu$ g Pg<sup>1</sup> with higher concentrations identified closer to the Wooramel Delta and Faure Island, and higher nitrogen concentrations found at Faure Sill in comparisons to adjacent areas.

In relation to sediments of seagrass meadows, available inorganic nitrogen and phosphorus was linked to microbial activity across a salinity and phosphorus gradient from Guichenault Point to L'Haridon Bight (Fraser *et al.* 2018). Microbial communities from these sediments were dominated by the phyla Proteobacteria, but also contained Bacteroidetes, Planctomycetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria and Cyanobacteria. Two distinct sediment populations/ chemogeographic regions were identified across Shark Bay based on an analysis of hydrocarbons (Dunlop and Jefferies 1985).

Benthic photosynthesis and oxygen demand in permeable carbonate sediments was found to be influenced by boundary layer flow, and the flushing created from this flow was found to be important for oxygen uptake in coral sands (Rasheed *et al.* 2004).

In Hamelin Pool, an obligately halophilic (tolerable of high salt concentrations) representative of the purple sulfur bacteria, *Chromatium vinosum*, is found to occupy organic rich intertidal sediments (Bauld *et al.* 1986).

#### 3.1.5 Geology

The geology of Shark Bay has been comprehensively described (Davies 1970b; Playford 1990; Playford *et al.* 2013), and many studies have focused on carbonate sediments and the formation of barriers and banks that helped to form hypersaline basins.

#### 3.1.5.1 Sedimentary environment

Shark Bay has been placed into context in an examination of shelf sediments from the North West Shelf to the South West Shelf (Collins *et al.* 2014). Shark Bay wide studies have included a discussion of the geomorphology and history of carbonate sedimentation during the Pleistocene (Logan *et al.* 1970), and a detailed description of the sedimentary environment of Shark Bay, describing the outer calcareous eolianite barrier, inlets and submerged banks (Logan and Cebulski 1970).

Diagenesis, the change of sediments into sedimentary rock, has been investigated for carbonate sediments and quaternary carbonate sequences in Shark Bay (Logan 1974b; Logan *et al.* 1974b). Benthic formaniferans are thought to play a role in diagenesis pathways, and as a starting point, the benthic foraminiferan assemblages have been examined at Carbla Beach (Wood 2019). Location specific sedimentary studies within Shark Bay have included a description of the geomorphic features and stratigraphy of the McLeod Evaporite Basin (Logan 1974a), a description of the composition of shallow marine silurian carbonates from the Gascoyne Platform (El-Tabakh *et al.* 2004), and a description of the features of algal-laminated sediments in Gladstone embayment (Davies 1970a).

#### 3.1.5.2 Hypersaline basins

The development of large barrier banks of carbonate sediments, and the facilitation of bank formation by seagrass meadows, has gradually reduced tidal flow over time and created the hypersaline basins seen today in Shark Bay (Hamelin Pool and Freycinet Harbour) (Davies 1970b; Hagan and Logan 1974).

Faure Sill is the shallow seagrass bank reducing tidal flow into Hamelin Pool and has evolved from pre-Holocene topography shaping the initial sedimentation, seagrasses trapping sediments and sea-level fluctuations across time (Bufarale 2014; Bufarale and Collins 2015a).

In order to better understand the relationship between the Faure Channel-Bank Complex and Wooramel Delta, shallow seismic data, lithostratigraphic analysis and radiocarbon dating was used to investigate the internal architecture, facies, chronology, bank onset and growth history of Faure Sill (Bufarale and Collins 2015b).

Hamelin Pool and L'Haridon Bight are bordered by a Holocene coquina ridge system, and the architecture of these sedimentary rocks, composed of bivalves that have accreted during the last 5000 years due to sea level regression, have been investigated using cores and geophysical imaging (Jahnert *et al.* 2012) (Fig. 6).

Other geological features that have been investigated within hypersaline basins of Shark Bay include the prograding tidal-supratidal flat of Nilemah Embayment (Brown and Woods 1974), bank and wave-built platform formation in inlets of the Edel province (Read 1974a; Read 1974b), and the tidal flat of Hutchinson Embayment (Hagan and Logan 1975).



Figure 6 Benthic environment of Hamelin Pool showing sedimentary and organosubstrate classification (taken from Jahnert and Collins (2012) with permission).

#### 3.1.6 Bathymetry

Shark Bay is relatively shallow, averaging 10-20 m and ranging from less than 1 m to ~30 m (in the northern region of the Bay) (Fig. 7). The Eastern and Western Gulfs have average water depths of ~12 m. The shallowness of Faure Sill restricts water flow into Hamelin Pool, which significantly contributes to the hypersaline conditions.

The land-sea interface along the Wooramel coastline has not been accurately mapped and is difficult to discern due to the very low shoreline gradient, variable tidal flat development and many tidal creeks leading into mangrove habitat (Eliot *et al.* 2012).

Hamelin Pool was used as a test site for deriving depth and substrate characteristics from multispectral data (Bierwirth *et al.* 1993) and, more recently, fluid lensing technology on drones has been used to generate centimetre scale 2D spatial resolutions and 3D bathymetry models of stromatolite reefs (Chirayath and Earle 2016).

Faure Sill was also used as a test case for whether HICO (Hyperspectral Imager for the Coastal Ocean) imagery could be used to detect changes in bathymetry over time (McKinna *et al.* 2012; Garcia *et al.* 2014). Detectable changes using HICO-derived depth was as low as 0.4 m, however, the imagery was less successful in waters deeper than 2 m.

#### 3.2 Ecosystem processes

#### 3.2.1 Biological connectivity

The biological connectivity of different species has primarily been assessed using genetics and estimates of recruitment and dispersal.

Within Shark Bay, genetic differences exist across sites for several species of clam, highlighting the importance of the bay as a location for genetic divergence of marine species (Johnson and Black 1990).

The first genetic study on pink snapper (*Chrysophrys auratus*) supported the suggestion of separate breeding populations within the Bay (Johnson *et al.* 1986). Subsequent genetic studies on snapper have also identified a complex stock structure within the Bay (Whitaker and Johnson 1998), and in comparison to surrounding central coast waters (Gardner *et al.* 2017). Within the Eastern Gulf specifically, no evidence was found to suggest the presence of more than one genetic stock (Baudains 1999) (see section 3.6.2 for more detail). Nahas *et al.* (2003) used a combination of data collection and numerical modelling to examine the dispersal of pink snapper eggs and larvae, which supported the existence of discrete spawning populations in Shark Bay.

The population genetic structure of the mulloway, *Argyrosomus japonicus*, has been studied across the State and included samples caught in Shark Bay fisheries (Farmer 2008).

Genetics of the stripey snapper, *Lutjanus carponotatus*, have also been sampled across 51 locations to assess whether connectivity via larval dispersal was related to extreme gradients in coastal hydrodynamics; a significant genetic subdivision was found between Shark Bay and all northern regions suggesting restricted connectivity (DiBattista *et al.* 2017).

Coral specimens of *Pocillopora* from Shark Bay and the wider WA coastline have been used to investigate genetic diversity, gene flow and local adaptations (Thomas *et al.* 2016; Thomas *et al.* 2017).

The seagrass population of *Posidonia australis* is considered to have low genetic diversity in comparison to more southerly locations along WA (Sinclair *et al.* 2016).

The genetic diversity and connectivity of the mangrove, *Avicennia marina*, along the WA coastline sees a division into seven discrete sub-populations, Shark Bay being one, where propagule dispersal is generally limiting (Binks *et al.* 2019).

Shark Bay has been included in a larger investigation into the genetic structure of green turtle populations and foraging grounds across Australasia (Jensen 2010). Genetic profiles of loggerhead turtles have been documented for Shark Bay populations and compared with profiles from Cape Range (Pacioni *et al.* 2012).



Figure 7 Bathymetry of Shark Bay.

The recruitment of invertebrates and fish to Shark Bay has primarily been related to environmental influences and the strength of the Leeuwin Current (Caputi 1993; Joll and Caputi 1995b; Caputi *et al.* 1996; Caputi *et al.* 1998; Lenanton *et al.* 2009a; Pearce *et al.* 2011; Caputi *et al.* 2019; Chandrapavan *et al.* 2019b).

#### 3.2.2 Marine heatwave

The marine heatwave that negatively impacted Shark Bay resulted from a strong 2010-2011 La Niña event in the Pacific Ocean driving an intensified Leeuwin Current, now termed the Ningaloo Niño (Feng *et al.* 2013).

The typical volume of water transported via the Leeuwin Current during the summer months is 2 Sv (2,000,000 m<sup>3</sup>/sec), whereas during February 2011, record strengths and a transport of 8 Sv was recorded along with relaxed southerly winds (Feng *et al.* 2013; Benthuysen *et al.* 2014). Water temperatures anomalies of 4-5°C warmer persisted for two weeks, and temperature anomalies of 2-4°C warmer persisted for two months.

Shark Bay is more susceptible to extreme temperatures given its shallow depths and sheltered embayment, though cooling from the seasonal Capes Current may alleviate temperatures near the entrances to the Bay (Hetzel 2014).

Causes, variability and predictability of the Ningaloo Niño continues to be investigated (Kataoka *et al.* 2018; Feng and Shinoda 2019). Hobday *et al.* (2018) provides a detailed characterisation of marine heatwave categories, which provides a consistent way to compare events across location and time while also increasing public awareness.

The effects of the 2011 marine heatwave were evident for benthic communities, fisheries and megafauna in Shark Bay.

#### 3.2.2.1 Benthic communities

Loss of seagrass *Amphibolis antarctica* leaves was recorded during and immediately after the heatwave (Fraser *et al.* 2014). This was followed by a 696 – 921 km<sup>2</sup> loss in spatial extent and thinning of dense meadows to sparse meadows of ~10% coverage; a reduction of 90% for some areas (Thomson *et al.* 2015a; Arias-Ortiz *et al.* 2018; Kendrick *et al.* 2019; Strydom *et al.* 2020). These losses occurred most extensively in the northern regions of Wooramel Bank and the Western Gulf.

Most of the seagrass loss occurred for the temperate species, A. antarctica, though some shoot density loss was also recorded for the temperate Posidonia australis (Kendrick et al. 2019), including 100% seed abortion during and one year after the marine heatwave (Sinclair et al. 2016). While Posidonia australis shoot densities have now shown recovery, A. antarctica has not, and early successional tropical species, such as Halodule uninervis, have become more common (Nowicki et al. 2017). It is predicted that temperate seagrasses will be lost from subtropical regions like Shark Bay as marine heatwaves increase in frequency and climate change accelerates (Hyndes et al. 2016).

The marine heatwave of 2011 was estimated to affect 30-100% of corals at Shark Bay depending on location (90-95% decline in coral cover near Bernier and Dorre Islands) (Moore *et al.* 2012; DBCA 2019b). Marine heatwaves are more likely to occur at subtropical reefs like Shark Bay during central pacific La Niña periods (Zhang *et al.* 2017).

With the exception of seagrasses and corals, the impacts of the 2011 heatwave on other benthic communities, such as soft sediment and infauna communities, is currently unknown.

#### 3.2.2.2 Fisheries

The 2011 marine heatwave caused short and long-term impacts on fisheries within Shark Bay (Caputi *et al.* 2014b), including fish and invertebrate deaths and variations in recruitment, growth rates and catch rates (Pearce *et al.* 2011).

Scallop recruitment is typically lower when water temperatures are higher in strong Leeuwin Current years (Joll and Caputi 1995b; Lenanton *et al.* 2009a), thus the 2011 marine heatwave caused record low recruitment during 2011-2013 resulting in a closure of the fishery between 2012-2014 (Caputi *et al.* 2019). Improvements were seen for scallop recruitment when cooler water temperatures returned in 2014.

Catch rates of blue swimmer crabs in Shark Bay decreased to 2% of the pre-heatwave abundance and the fishery was closed between April 2012 and October 2013 (Caputi *et al.* 2019).

The availability of time series data in assessing the impacts of the 2011 marine heatwave on fish stocks has been valuable in indicating future management responses in the face of more frequent marine heatwaves (Caputi *et al.* 2016).

Following the 2011 marine heatwave, assessments of future climate effects on Western Australia's marine environment were made utilising multiple IPCC model predictions tailored to specific regions and relevant spatial and temporal scales, including for Shark Bay (Caputi *et al.* 2015).

#### 3.2.2.3 Megafauna

The seagrass loss in Shark Bay associated with the 2011 marine heatwave impacted upon species that rely on a seagrass-based food web and/or ecosystem. Due to the k-selected traits of megafauna (long-lived, late to mature etc.), the effects of the 2011 marine heatwave were not immediately obvious.

Though a notable decline in dugong abundance was observed at Monkey Mia after the marine heatwave (Nowicki *et al.* 2019), dugong abundance for Shark Bay overall did not significantly decrease between 2007 and 2018 (Bayliss *et al.* 2019). However, the percentage of dugong calves did significantly decrease and there is indication of a collapse in breeding recruitment in 2012. The effects of this breeding collapse will not be detected in abundance estimates for decades.

Bottlenose dolphins at Monkey Mia were found to increase their foraging use of seagrass habitats after the 2011 marine heatwave (Miketa 2018), and evidence to date has shown that calving rates do not appear to be affected for dolphins at this location. Conversely, a significant decline in female reproductive rates has been observed for dolphins in the Western Gulf following the marine heatwave (Wild *et al.* 2019b).

A decline in green turtle abundance was also observed at Monkey Mia before and after the marine heatwave, and a reduction in the biomass of seagrass associated fishes was also linked to a 35% decline in pied cormorant densities, which preferentially forage in seagrass habitat (Nowicki *et al.* 2019). Those species with a more generalist diet, such as tiger sharks and loggerhead turtles, were found to be relatively resilient to the marine heatwave (Thomson *et al.* 2012b; Nowicki *et al.* 2019).

#### 3.2.3 Coastal zone processes

### 3.2.3.1 Landscape vulnerability due to climate change

The vulnerability of landforms to changing environmental conditions has been assessed for the coastline of Shark Bay, and much of the coastline is considered to have a low vulnerability to changing environmental conditions such as weather, oceanography and climate change (Eliot *et al.* 2012). Exceptions to this included the Carnarvon coastline between Point Quobba and Grey Point, which is rated as having a moderate to high vulnerability to change, and the coastline from Cape Inscription to Cape Bellefin in the Western Gulf, which is rated as having a moderate vulnerability to change.

Additional focus was placed on areas of planning interest, including Nanga, Denham, Little Lagoon, Monkey Mia and Carnarvon. Under present sea level conditions, a tropical cyclone could cause inundation of the Monkey Mia settlement. The Carnarvon region has a high risk of flooding from the Gascoyne River, which could cause significant inundation and erosion, impacting upon a suite of features such as tidal flats, mangal communities, foredunes, spits and sand islands.

Storm surge events and flooding have probably been a driver of coastal morphology at Shark Bay (Jo Christensen pers. comm.).

#### 3.2.3.2 Sea level and erosion

Sea level has played a significant role in shaping the unique formations seen in Shark Bay.

It is estimated that sea level has decreased by ~2 m over the last 4000-6000 years (Izuno *et al.* 2008; Collins and Jahnert 2014), which allowed for the accretion of bivalves to form the coquina ridge system that borders Hamelin Pool and L'Haridon Bight (Jahnert *et al.* 2012).

The higher sea levels during the last interglacial (marine isotope stage) allowed for more extensive coral reef development than observed for current conditions in Shark Bay (O'Leary *et al.* 2008).

The growth of the Faure Sill seagrass bank has been partly controlled by sea level fluctuations dating back to 8500 years BP (Bufarale 2014).

Sea level regression has allowed for the growth of stromatolites (1500-2300 years ago) and development of tidal flats (Izuno et al. 2008; Jahnert and Collins 2013; Collins and Jahnert 2014). Variations in sea level have created zonation patterns of microbialites (Burne and Johnson 2012), and sea level variation may partly explain the co-existence of the different microbialite mesostructures (stromatolites, thrombolites and cryptomicrobial deposits) in Shark Bay (Collins and Jahnert 2014). Sea level regression has exposed microbialite communities to erosion in the supratidal zones, which has resulted in microbialites extending seaward into the subtidal zones (Jahnert and Collins 2013; Collins and Jahnert 2014). This erosion has produced brecciated microbial deposits, which are broken fragments that have been recemented together. Looking to the future, sea level rise could lead to environmental instability, increased sediment transport, lower salinities and a subsequent decline in microbialite communities, which are considered highly susceptible to such environmental changes (Collins and Jahnert 2014).

The impacts of sea level rise have been investigated for Faure Sill and Hamelin Pool, and associated seagrass and microbialite communities. Under scenarios of 0.5m and 1m sea level rises, an increase in tidal range, current speed and stratification of the Hamelin Pool Basin was predicted from modelling the deepening of Faure Sill and Hamelin Pool (Taebi et al. in press). Under these scenarios, the intertidal zone is predicted to shift landward and decrease from 10km<sup>2</sup> to 5km<sup>2</sup> at Nilemah Embayment and from 20km<sup>2</sup> to 7km<sup>2</sup> and less at Hutchinson Embayment (Collins 2012). It is predicted that there would be a loss of stable microbial habitat with sea level rise, however, the adaptive capacity of microbialite communities is largely unknown.

As for seagrass meadows across Faure Sill, increased sea level will likely cause increased erosion of channels due to increased currents, but it may also allow for more colonisation due to increased water heights and a greater spread into Hamelin Pool under reduced salinity conditions (Walker *et al.* 2012; Taebi *et al.* in press).

For some mangrove communities in Shark Bay, a sea level rise of 50cm would be enough to inundate existing communities, which would likely result in mangroves shifting landwards (Semeniuk 1994).

Projected sea level rise would also place some areas at risk of foredune plain mobilisation, such as Monkey Mia (Eliot *et al.* 2012).

#### 3.2.3.3 Wave action

Large waves and subsequent inundation associated with cyclonic events are thought to have helped cause the deposition of cockle shell ridges in Hamelin Pool (Nott 2011). There is evidence for mega tsunamis transporting large calcrete blocks behind coastal cliffs and on islands of Shark Bay (Playford 2013).

Figure 8 Shark Bay marine habitats (2016 Preliminary data). This map was derived from published research undertaken to map the persistent seagrass extent across Shark Bay over time, in Strydom *et al.* (2020). All other marine habitats were mapped based on appropriate field data points and labelled as 'Other' in the Strydom *et al.* 2020 published version, as persistent seagrass was the focus of the research. This map now reveals the marine classes 'Other' potentially represented in 2016, and should be used as a guide as it is likely that most of these 'Other' marine classes will have low to moderate confidence, with the exception of seagrass, sand and mangroves which will have a higher confidence.





Figure 9 Confidence estimates for Shark Bay marine habitats (2016 Preliminary data).
# 3.3 Benthic communities

An overview of the diversity and distribution of benthic habitat is shown in Fig. 8 and Fig. 9, which are described in more detail in subsequent sections.

#### 3.3.1 Seagrass communities

## 3.3.1.1 Species diversity and distribution

Shark Bay has one of the largest and most diverse seagrass meadows currently known in the world. The significance of seagrass to the functioning of the ecosystem, particularly at Wooramel Bank and Faure Sill, is one of the reasons for Shark Bay being listed as a World Heritage Site.

While 12 tropical and temperate species of seagrass occur at Shark Bay, *Amphibolis antarctica* accounts for 85% of the ~4000km<sup>2</sup> of total seagrass extent (McMillan *et al.* 1983; Walker *et al.* 1988; Walker 1989; Walker 1990; Burkholder *et al.* 2013a) (Fig.10). A description of the different meadow types found in Shark Bay and the rest of the northwest coast of WA can be found in McMahon *et al.* (2017a).

Halodule uninervis, a favourite food of dugongs, is the most widespread tropical species in the Bay, and tolerates hypersaline conditions (64 ppt) in the inner Eastern Gulf and the anoxic conditions at the Wooramel River mouth (Walker *et al.* 1988; Masini *et al.* 2001; Walker *et al.* 2012; Burkholder *et al.* 2013a).

Since the original mapping of seagrass extent in 1983-85 (Walker *et al.* 1988), maps have been further refined (Bruce 1997; Bruce *et al.* 1997) and updated as more monitoring of meadows is completed (Arias-Ortiz *et al.* 2018; Strydom *et al.* 2020) (Fig. 11 and 12).

#### 3.3.1.2 Marine heatwave impacts

A robust understanding of seagrass extent in Shark Bay has been instrumental in assessing the loss of seagrass during and after the 2011 marine heatwave. While this isn't the only marine heatwave Shark Bay has experienced (Hobday *et al.* 2018), the 2011 heatwave was severe and a lot of attention since has focused on the significant losses to seagrass meadows and how this has impacted the functioning ecosystem. Loss of *A. antarctica* leaves were recorded during and immediately after the heatwave (and Wooramel flooding) (Walker *et al.* 2012; Fraser *et al.* 2014), and was followed by a 696 – 921km<sup>2</sup> loss in spatial extent and thinning of dense meadows to sparse meadows of ~10% coverage; a reduction of 90% for some areas (Thomson *et al.* 2015a; Arias-Ortiz *et al.* 2018; Kendrick *et al.* 2019; Strydom *et al.* 2020) (Fig. 11 and 12). These losses occurred most extensively in the northern regions of Wooramel Bank and the Western Gulf.

Most of the seagrass loss occurred for the temperate species, *A. antarctica*, though some shoot density loss was also recorded for the temperate *Posidonia australis* (Kendrick *et al.* 2019), including 100% seed abortion during and one year after the marine heatwave (Sinclair *et al.* 2016).

While *P. australis* shoot densities have now shown recovery, *A. antarctica* is recovering at a slower rate in localised areas (Kendrick pers. comm.) Early successional tropical species, such as *H. uninervis*, have become more common, although this species generally only covered <10% of the sediment, whereas *A. antarctica* covered >80% (Nowicki *et al.* 2017).

It is predicted that temperate seagrasses will be lost from subtropical regions like Shark Bay as marine heatwaves increase in frequency and climate change accelerates (Hyndes *et al.* 2016), though this prediction is only based on known seagrass physiological tolerances to temperature. Presently, local adaptation and phenological plasticity is being investigated in the temperate seagrass *P. australis* in Shark Bay to assess whether populations of this species at their northern range limit have adapted to higher temperatures (Kendrick pers. comm.).



Figure 10 Seagrass taxa diversity across Shark Bay from (a) both summer and winter sampling effort, and average abundances of seagrass species across Shark Bay; (b) *Amphibolis antarctica*; (c) *Posidonia* spp.; (d) *Cymodocea angustata*; (e) *Halophila ovalis*; (f) *Halophila spinulosa*; (g) *Halodule uninervis*; and (h) *Syringodium isoetifolium*. Positions of the symbols indicate sampling locations. Insets show frequency histograms of species richness (a) or percent cover (b–h) (taken from Burkholder et al (2013a) with permission).



Figure 10 continued.

#### Ecological assets



Figure 11 Coverage of dense and sparse seagrass meadows in Shark Bay in 2010, including DBCA seagrass monitoring sites. Seagrass coverage is based on input data used to determine change in seagrass extent over time published in Strydom *et al.* (2020).

#### Ecological assets



Figure 12 Coverage of dense and sparse seagrass meadows in Shark Bay in 2016, including DBCA seagrass monitoring sites. Seagrass coverage is based on input data used to determine change in seagrass extent over time published in Strydom *et al.* (2020).

## 3.3.1.3 Consumption of seagrass

Several studies have investigated the flow-on effects of seagrass loss from the 2011 marine heatwave on food webs and ecosystem functioning, and these will be addressed in more detail under the sections on Faunal Communities and Ecosystem Processes. Besides this, rates of consumption of seagrass by megafauna and fishes has been assessed in relation to nutrient content (Burkholder *et al.* 2012), the contribution and/or reliance on seagrass as a food source (Anderson 1994; Belicka *et al.* 2012), salinity gradients (Bell *et al.* 2019), and risk of predation from tiger sharks (Burkholder *et al.* 2013b).

# 3.3.1.4 Physiology

Salinity gradients have been the focus of seagrass physiological studies given the hypersaline nature of the inner gulfs and, overall, seagrass biomass, extent and productivity is lower in salinities greater than ~42‰ (Walker 1985; Walker and McComb 1990).

Epiphytes growing on the stems of *A. antarctica* show a decline in diversity, species richness and calcium carbonate on leaves as salinity increases (Harlin *et al.* 1985; Kendrick *et al.* 1988; Walker and Woelkerling 1988).

Nutrient content of seagrass leaves and sediments have also been examined across salinity gradients at Faure Sill and Wooramel Delta, and salinity gradients did not appear to drive nutrient content or limitation (Fraser *et al.* 2012; Walker *et al.* 2012).

Sulphide intrusion was found to be greater for seagrasses in high salinity zones (Cambridge *et al.* 2012).

The view that Shark Bay, and ecosystem production, are phosphorus limited has also been questioned (Smith and Atkinson 1984), as phosphorus limitation in sediments doesn't necessarily correspond with phosphorus limitation in seagrasses (Fraser *et al.* 2012; Burkholder *et al.* 2013a; Fraser *et al.* 2018). *Amphibolis antarctica*, in particular, seems to be efficient at utilising phosphorus in a generally nutrient depleted system and there seems to be an agreed view that there is enough recycling of nutrients in the system to maintain the high productivity of seagrass meadows in Shark Bay (Walker and McComb 1985; Walker and McComb 1988; Walker 1990; Burkholder *et al.* 2013a; Fraser *et al.* 2018).

Physiological studies have also extended to experimental assessments of thresholds to light and sediment burial stress for several tropical species of seagrass (Statton *et al.* 2018), an assessment of clonal diversity of *Halodule* seagrass from two locations in Shark Bay (McMahon *et al.* 2017b), and Identification of a hybrid *Posidonia* clone based on morphology (Sinclair *et al.* 2019).

# 3.3.1.5 Restoration

Knowledge on the physiology and consumption of seagrasses in Shark Bay has helped to inform research on seagrass restoration, particularly following the widespread losses from the 2011 marine heatwave.

A review of revegetation techniques undertaken by Statton *et al.* (2012) looked at whether techniques used in Florida Bay, US could be similarly used in Shark Bay.

A transplant experiment was conducted at Useless Loop in 2012 and found intense grazing from fish within 10 m from the edge of the *P. australis* meadow (Statton *et al.* 2015).

Species that bioturbate (rework the soil) in Shark Bay, such as the heart urchin, *Breynia desori*, were found to disturb and redistribute seeds of *P. australis* before they could establish, and such bioturbators are considered a major inhibitor of seed based restoration (Johnson *et al.* 2018).

# 3.3.1.6 Blue Carbon

The large extent and high biomass of seagrass meadows at Shark Bay has produced the world's largest carbon stock for a seagrass ecosystem (Arias-Ortiz *et al.* 2018). This highlights Shark Bay as globally important for carbon capture, storage and sequestration (Fourqurean *et al.* 2012a; Fourqurean *et al.* 2012b; Lavery *et al.* 2013; Serrano *et al.* 2016a; Serrano *et al.* 2016b; Arias-Ortiz *et al.* 2018; Serrano *et al.* 2019). For example, *P. australis* mat escarpments of up to 2.8 m thick are found at Big Lagoon, and formations like these can harbour some of the largest organic carbon sinks recorded across the globe (Serrano *et al.* 2016b).

## 3.3.2 Macroalgal communities

Taxonomy of macroalgal species in Shark Bay has been a primary focus of studies to date. Despite the general lack of hard substrate in Shark Bay, a total of 161 taxa of benthic macroalgae have been found on subtidal rock platforms, sandflats or on seagrasses and other algae as epiphytes (Huisman *et al.* 1990; Kendrick *et al.* 1990).

There have been 66 species of macroalgae epiphytes found on the seagrass *A. antarctica*, and this diversity decreases as salinity increases across the Bay (Kendrick *et al.* 1988).

Red algae, Rhodophyta, is the most dominant group in Shark Bay (Huisman *et al.* 1990; Kendrick *et al.* 1990), and specific studies have investigated the salinity tolerances and biogeographic affinities of the family Corallinaceae (Barry and Woelkerling 1995), and why the relatively newly described *Spongophloae* is a separate genus (Huisman *et al.* 2011).

More recently, the macroalgae species associated with the pneumatophores of mangroves has been documented, which included new records for Shark Bay and three new red algae records for WA (Huisman *et al.* 2015).

Aside from taxonomy related studies, Belicka (2012) assessed the contribution of macroalgae to the diets of resident animals using fatty acids and stable isotopes.

## 3.3.3 Coral reef communities

## 3.3.3.1 Taxonomy and distribution

Some of the earliest research efforts on corals in Shark Bay focused largely on taxonomy and documenting species occurrence and distribution.

Modern day coral communities are found predominantly in the Western Gulf (excluding hypersaline waters) and along Bernier and Dorre Islands as scattered communities rather than extensive reefs (Veron and Marsh 1988; Marsh 1990). Up to 80 species from 28 genera have been documented and the most common families are Dendrophylliidae and Acroporidae (DBCA 2019b).

Coral community composition has been surveyed since 1996 by the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions and predecessors (Bancroft 2009; DBCA 2019b). From this, coral cover (29.37 ± 3.14 %) has been estimated for Shark Bay and compared to other coral locations along the coastline of Western Australia (Speed *et al.* 2013; Gilmour *et al.* 2019).

Additional monitoring of corals has occurred in outer Shark Bay in order to establish baseline data to monitor changes over time (Miller *et al.* 2015; DBCA 2019b).

# 3.3.3.2 Reef development

To help inform why modern day reefs are as they are in Shark Bay, age-dating of reefs has been carried out at several locations around the bay, including Freycinet Harbour and Hamelin Pool. Findings show extensive reef development during the peak of the last interglacial period, ~120,000-130,000 years ago (Stirling *et al.* 1995; O'Leary *et al.* 2008), and modern coral reef assemblages are considered very comparable to these fossil reefs (Greenstein and Pandolfi 2008).

# 3.3.3.3 Physiology

Several studies have investigated some of the environmental conditions influencing corals at Shark Bay, but often as part of a statewide study of corals.

The corals at Shark Bay are exposed to a wide range of sea surface temperatures and have experienced heat stress events, such as marine heatwaves (Zinke *et al.* 2018). Such events are more likely to occur at subtropical reefs like Shark Bay during La Niña periods (Zhang *et al.* 2017).

Certain sites in Shark Bay are also impacted by damaging waves during storm events, however it is heat stress that was linked to most of the changes in coral cover (Gilmour *et al.* 2019).

The most damaging heat stress event was the marine heatwave of 2011, which was estimated to affect 30-100% of corals at Shark Bay depending on location (Moore *et al.* 2012). Coral cover near Bernier and Dorre Islands declined by 90-95% (DBCA 2019b).

Additional physiological studies have focused on *Pocillopora* specimens from Shark Bay and other locations, which have been used to investigate genetic diversity, gene flow and local adaptations (Thomas *et al.* 2016; Thomas *et al.* 2017). Similarly, genetic testing has revealed that the thermal stress-tolerant *Cyphastrea microphthalma* at Shark Bay is one of four genetic clusters identified across the North West Shelf of WA (Evans *et al.* 2019).

# 3.3.4 Microbial and microbialite communities

# 3.3.4.1 Significance

The living stromatolites found in the shallow, hypersaline waters of Shark Bay is one of the reasons the Bay was classified as a World Heritage site.

Hamelin Pool has the most diverse and abundant modern marine stromatolites of any one location, and formations are comparable to the fossil record. As such, the microbialite communities have been studied for more than 60 years (Skyring and Bauld 1990; Burns *et al.* 2009; Collins and Jahnert 2014).

In the face of a changing climate, the challenges for microbial communities in Shark Bay is discussed by Reinhold *et al.* (2019). A review of the biogeomorphological processes that impact on surficial CO<sub>2</sub> sequestration is also given by Morris *et al.* (2019), which provides a 3D biogemorphological mapping framework for Hamelin Pool that can be used to understand the impacts of sea level rise.

# 3.3.4.2 Distribution

These microbialite communities are found most extensively in Hamelin Pool, but can also be found at Rocky Point in L'Haridon Bight and Garden Point in the Henri Freycinet embayment (Jahnert and Collins 2013). An overview of the distribution of microbial mats and stromatolites in Shark Bay is given in some of the early works by Playford and Cockbain (1976) and Golubic (1985). More recently, the unique geographic distribution of morphologically distinct stromatolite structures has been mapped (Suosaari *et al.* 2016b).

A georeferenced sedimentary and organosubstrate map has been produced for Hamelin Pool and L'Haridon Bight using a combination of video transects, aerial surveys, coastal and marine ground truth traverses, digital orthophotos and samples, which shows the distribution of different microbialite communities, as well as other substrates (Fig. 6) (Collins and Jahnert 2014).

Hamelin Pool contains the largest modern stromatolite community in the world and microbial mats and stromatolites occupy most of the 135km stretch of intertidal and subtidal zones. In general, non-lithifying mats are distributed in the upper intertidal zone and lithifying mats are distributed in the lower intertidal to subtidal zone. Burne *et al.* (2012) also explored how variation in sea level influences zonation of microbialites across these zones.

Substantial efforts have gone into mapping the subtidal microbial deposits in Hamelin Pool which occupy ~ 300km<sup>2</sup>, an area ten times greater than occupied by intertidal mats (Jahnert and Collins 2011; Jahnert and Collins 2012).

# 3.3.4.3 Morphology

Microbial mats consist of layers of microbes which are structurally visible to the naked eye. Mats are typically dominated by cyanobacteria, but can also include bacterial, archaeal and eukaryote communities.

Microbial mats that do not develop carbonate build ups are known as non-lithifying mats and they can form extensive sheets (Wong *et al.* 2015; Suosaari *et al.* 2016b).

Microbial mats that do develop carbonate build up from precipitation and trapping of sediments and debris are known as microbialites; also referred to as stromatolite-forming, or lithifying mats (Logan 1961; Logan *et al.* 1974a; Playford and Cockbain 1976; Burne and Moore 1987). As the sediment layer becomes dense and lithified, the microbes move up to the surface to survive and create a new layer while leaving behind a cumulative record of microbial mat activity. These layers of rock are what forms a stromatolite, and this distinguishes stromatolites from the other three broadly described microbialite mesostructures: leiolites, thrombolites and dendrolites.

Stromatolites have been the focus of most studies in Shark Bay, though a recent study has documented the seasonal and ephemeral occurrences of modern dendrolitic microbial mats forming in the intertidal zone (Suosaari *et al.* 2018).

Microbial mats found at Shark Bay have been further characterised based on the morphology of the surface and internal fabrics (Logan 1961; Logan *et al.* 1974a; Playford and Cockbain 1976; Golubic 1985; Wong *et al.* 2015; Suosaari *et al.* 2016b), and subtidal microbial deposits were found to have distinctive morphologies and fabrics compared with intertidal deposits (Jahnert and Collins 2011).

## 3.3.4.4 Lithified formations

Studies on the growth and formation of stromatolites have been pivotal for gaining a better understanding of evolutionary history and modern day communities in Shark Bay. It is estimated that conditions became suitable for stromatolite growth in Hamelin Pool around 1500-2300 years ago based on growth rates between 1-5 mm per decade (Izuno *et al.* 2008; Collins and Jahnert 2014). For high energy environments, growth rates only just exceed erosion rates (Chivas *et al.* 1990).

Studies have examined the internal fabrics of several mat types extracted from stromatolites (Reid *et al.* 2003; Hagan 2014), however, the gross morphology of stromatolites is not controlled by the type of microbial mat (Hoffman 1976). Instead, morphology of stromatolites has been related to environmental influences and biological communities (Playford 1979; Giusfredi 2014; Suosaari *et al.* 2016a). The most recent studies to weigh in on this long-discussed debate provide evidence that when the physical geography allows for a high-energy environment, environmental controls largely determine morphology, and where this is a low-energy environment, biological communities largely determine morphology (Suosaari *et al.* 2019a; Suosaari *et al.* 2019b).

Some insight into how biological communities can influence morphology is given by Awramik and Riding (1988), who show that eukaryotes play a significant role in the formation and maintenance of subtidal columnar stromatolites, and by Hein *et al.* (1993), who shows how secretions from diatoms of the *Mastogloia* genus help to facilitate trapping and binding of grains for stromatolite growth. Evidence has also been provided for stromatolites orientating their growth towards the sun (Awramik and Vanyo 1986), presumably for maximum photosynthetic benefit of microbes.

The majority of studies on microbialite communities in Shark Bay have focused on microbial diversity. Microbial diversity has been compared and characterised for different locations (Bauld 1984; Jahnert and Collins 2013; Wong *et al.* 2016), mat types and stromatolite morphologies (Burns *et al.* 2004; Papineau *et al.* 2005; Goh *et al.* 2009; Goh *et al.* 2010; Garby *et al.* 2013; Pagès *et al.* 2014a; Wong *et al.* 2015; Babilonia *et al.* 2018; Wong *et al.* 2018), and even individual stromatolite layers (Pagès *et al.* 2015).

There has been specific focus on archaeal communities (Goh *et al.* 2006; Leuko *et al.* 2007; Leuko *et al.* 2008; Goh *et al.* 2011; Wong *et al.* 2017), eukaryotes (Edgcomb *et al.* 2014), diatoms (John 1990; John 1991; John 1993), heterotrophic bacteria (Moriarty 1983), flagellates (Al-Qassab *et al.* 2002) and viruses (White *et al.* 2018).

Diversity of microbes has also been assessed in relation to salinity gradients (Leuko *et al.* 2009; Pagès *et al.* 2014a; Wong *et al.* 2016).

Stromatolites and associated microbial mats have been investigated at a biochemistry level. Different mat types and microbial communities have undergone lipid profiling and isotopic analyses (Palmisano *et al.* 1989; Allen *et al.* 2010; Pagès *et al.* 2015). Ruvindy *et al.* (2016) used a metagenomic analysis to examine the metabolic pathways of microbial communities and Bauld *et al.* (1979), Bauld (1984) and Skyring (1984) measured rates of primary production and sulfate reduction for different mat types.

For smooth microbial mats in particular, the distribution of porewater solutes (iron, phosphate and sulfide) across day and night has been investigated (Pagès *et al.* 2014b), as has optical and pigment properties (D'Agostino *et al.* 2019; Fisher *et al.* 2019).

Leuko *et al.* (2011) specifically looked at the responses of the archaeon, *Halococcus hamelinensis*, to high levels of UV radiation, and D'Agostino *et al.* (2019) looked at UV screening compounds in mats.

The presence of quorum sensing (microbial communication allowing coordination of phenotypes across localized communities) has also been investigated for microbial mats (Charlesworth *et al.* 2019).

# 3.3.4.5 Non-lithified formations

Non-lithified microbial mats have not been as extensively studied as lithifying microbial mats. Allen *et al.* (2009; 2010) characterised communities using rDNA and lipid profiling and Wong *et al.* (2015) characterised communities at a discrete millimetre scale using tagged amplicon sequencing.

Suosaari *et al.* (2016b) described the distribution and communities of smooth and pustular mat types in the upper intertidal zone.

An insight into biogeochemical cycling and adaptive response of microbes of non-lithified mats was undertaken using metagenomics (Wong *et al.* 2018).

## 3.3.5 Mangrove communities

#### 3.3.5.1 Diversity and distribution

The white mangrove, *Avicennia marina*, is the only species of mangrove documented for Shark Bay. The mangrove occurs in dense and often isolated stands along ~30% of the coastline and is the southernmost location in WA where extensive mangrove growth can be found (~1500 ha) (Keighery and Muir 2008; Kendrick *et al.* 2009; Heithaus *et al.* 2011; Huisman *et al.* 2015) (Fig. 13).

Variations in the morphology of mangroves occurs across salinity gradients, and three distinct morphotypes have been identified within the Bay which are likely providing different functional roles (Rule *et al.* 2014).

Several studies have placed mangroves from Shark Bay into context with other communities around Australia (Kenneally 1982; Semeniuk 1994; Bridgewater and Cresswell 1999), including assessing the genetic diversity and connectivity of *A. marina* along the WA coastline (Binks *et al.* 2019) and assessing distribution in relation to coastal dynamics, habitat and salinity in order to predict the effects of sea level rise on mangroves (Semeniuk 1994).

## 3.3.5.2 Ecosystem services

Mangrove communities provide important ecosystem services and support a wealth of flora and fauna.

A range of fish and invertebrate species are found in mangrove habitat in Shark Bay, but this may be for the purposes of shelter and nursing given no evidence to date has shown mangrove production directly supporting these local populations through the food web (Heithaus *et al.* 2011).

A number of bird species are directly associated and, in some cases, confined to mangroves, and this has been explored by Johnstone (1990) for Shark Bay and other areas along WA.

The aerial roots of mangroves, known as pneumatophores, also provide a reliable surface for settlement of algal epiphytes, and 51 species have been found on pneumatophores from mangroves in the Bay (Huisman *et al.* 2015).

## 3.3.6 Sponge communities

Sponge communities have received little attention in comparison to other benthic communities, and their distribution and composition is not adequately understood. The use of sponges as tools by bottlenose dolphins has been the driving force of sponge related studies in the Bay.

The distribution of sponges was found to be relatively patchy based on presence in only 196 of the 1380 quadrats surveyed in a methodological study in the northern portion of the Western Gulf (Tyne *et al.* 2010). Of those 196 quadrats containing sponges, canonical sponges, *Echinodictyum mesenterinum*, which are used by dolphins, were found in 4% of quadrats (Tyne 2008; Tyne *et al.* 2012). Canonical sponges were only observed in water depths of > 10m, and bathymetric features such as slopes and channels were identified as reliable predictors of canonical sponge occurrence.

Other sponges that have been described from Shark Bay include one confirmed and several doubtful species records of the *Pione* genus (Fromont *et al.* 2005).

# 3.4 Planktonic communities

## 3.4.1 Phytoplankton

The phytoplankton community of Shark Bay has received limited and relatively localised attention.

Existing studies have focused on salinity gradients and nutrient availability as drivers of production (Hanson *et al.* 2005; Hanson *et al.* 2007), particularly in the solar salt ponds of Useless Inlet (Segal *et al.* 2006; Segal *et al.* 2009).

As salinity increases from outer Shark Bay to the hypersaline Hamelin Pool, the phytoplankton community transitions from an oceanic community to diatom dominated to dinoflagellate dominated in the hypersaline waters (Kimmerer *et al.* 1985; Hanson *et al.* 2005).

Heterotrophic flagellates have been specifically investigated off Denham with 41 species being identified, a new species being described, and range extension documented for many species not previously recorded in southern subtropical regions (Tong 1997).

# 3.4.2 Zooplankton

Studies on zooplankton communities are more prevalent for coastal and offshore waters outside of Shark Bay than inside.

Zooplankton abundance and species richness is reduced in hypersaline waters, and very few species are found here compared with more diverse communities in oceanic waters within the bay (Kimmerer *et al.* 1985).

Particular attention has been given to Cnidarians (Goy 1990; Gershwin 2014) and to the brine shrimp, *Artemia* sp., of the solar salt ponds, where their presence and consumption of particulate organic carbon in the water column benefits salt production (Bruce and Imberger 2009).

# 3.5 Faunal communities (non-commercial)

## 3.5.1 Invertebrate communities

Targeted studies on certain invertebrates are most common for Shark Bay, and are explained in more detail in the sections that follow. The exception to this is an investigation into the composition, richness, density and biomass of invertebrate fauna of seagrass meadows and bare sand habitat by Wells *et al.* (1985), where diversity and density was found to be greatest in seagrass beds as opposed to bare sand. Ecological assets



Figure 13a) Location of dense and isolated stands of mangroves in Shark Bay in 2019.

#### Ecological assets



Figure 13b) Detailed view of the percent cover of mangroves at each location, including DBCA mangrove monitoring sites.

#### 3.5.1.1 Molluscs

Bivalves have been the focus of most invertebrate studies in Shark Bay, however these have been location specific rather than for the understanding of broader patterns of distribution and diversity. At last count, over 218 species have been recorded (Slack-Smith 1990).

The diversity, abundance, growth and distribution of suspension feeding bivalves along intertidal flats has been examined (Peterson and Black 1987; Peterson and Black 1988), as has chlorophyll *a* concentrations in relation to their growth (Peterson and Black 1991), and how their presence does not seem to impact on the occurrence of other macroinfauna invertebrates on the flats (Black and Peterson 1988).

Clear patterns of zonation can be seen for sand-flat clams at Monkey Mia (Peterson 1991), and genetic differences exist across sites for several species of clam in the Shark Bay region, highlighting the importance of the Bay as a location for genetic divergence of marine species (Johnson and Black 1990).

More specifically, the biology of the cockle, *Fragum erugatum*, including its mutualistic relationship with photosynthetic zooxanthellae, has been explored given its ability to be one of two bivalves living in the hypersaline reaches of Shark Bay (Berry and Playford 1997; Morton 2000; Hickman 2003).

The internal tissues and organs of bivalves have been tested for different chemical elements, parasites and diseases. A range of bivalves, including pearl oysters, were assessed for cadmium concentrations, and while no strong correlations have been found with cadmium concentrations in surrounding seawater and sediments, cadmium accumulates in bivalves through ingestion of iron-oxide particles to which cadmium absorbs onto (McConchie et al. 1988; Francesconi 1989; McConchie and Lawrance 1991). The kidneys of the giant clam, Tridacna maxima, have been measured for arsenic containing sugar sulphates (Edmonds et al. 1982). Several bivalve species from Oyster Creek and further south within Shark Bay from the early 1990s were found to contain a range of parasites and diseases (Hine and Thorne 2000).

Besides bivalves, the ecology of the scavenging whelk, *Nassarius clarus*, has been the focus for Morton (2003), who investigated feeding behaviours along of the shores of Monkey Mia, and for Slack-Smith (2008), who examined salinity tolerances, diets and bivalve predation.

During a survey of fish species and benthos, Black *et al.* (1990) found that small gastropods dominated intertidal seagrass habitats and larger gastropods and bivalves dominated adjacent sand flats.

#### 3.5.1.2 Crustaceans

Most studies on crustaceans in Shark Bay have focused on decapods and range from studies on diversity to studies on singular species.

Jones (1990a) documented the diversity, distribution, habitat and previous records of 232 species of decapods from Shark Bay. Some of these previous records came from Haig (1965) who described 28 species of crabs from WA more broadly, including recordings from Shark Bay.

Documenting the biogeographic limits and describing the habitat characteristics of the soldier crab, *Mictyris occidentalis*, was aided by examining 72 sites in Shark Bay, where crabs were typically found in low energy environments, such as leeward of spit shores (Unno and Semeniuk 2009). The sentinel crab *Macrophthalmus japonicus* was also redescribed to *Macrophthalmus pistrosinus* based on specimens from Shark Bay (Barnes and Davie 2008).

Besides decapods, 16 species of barnacles from shores and shallow waters were collected and incorporated into an identification guide for the Bay (Jones 1990b).

## 3.5.1.3 Others

Living and fossilised specimens of the sand dollar, *Peronella lesueuri*, were analysed to assess the concentration and distribution of magnesium throughout the bodies of the organisms (Macqueen *et al.* 1974). Nematodes collected from loggerhead turtles have been documented and described (Lester *et al.* 1980; Berry and Cannon 1981). Nematodes have also been examined in commercial saucer scallops, where the presence of larval nematodes was considerable (Lester *et al.* 1980).

#### 3.5.2 Finfish communities

#### 3.5.2.1 Habitat associations

Given the extent and importance of seagrass meadows in Shark Bay, fish communities have been compared for seagrass and non-seagrass habitats.

Early work by Black *et al.* (1990) identified 58 species of fish from intertidal seagrass and adjacent sandflat habitat using beach seining. Travers and Potter (2002) found species richness and density of fishes to be higher in seagrass habitat when compared to bare sand. Similarly, more fishes (catches dominated by striped trumpeter, *Pelates sexlineatus*, and western butterfish, *Pentapodus vitta*) were caught in traps over seagrass areas compared to unvegetated areas, and depth and seagrass cover influenced species diversity (Heithaus 2004).

Fish abundance and distribution was sampled using trap surveys across Faure Sill, Wooramel Delta and east of the Peron Peninsula during 2011, where assemblages tended to be dominated by a few species, and the robustness of cover of canopy-forming seagrass being an important predictor of catch was supported (Walker *et al.* 2012).

Foraging impacts from herbivorous fishes on seagrass meadows is seagrass species dependent, and evidence suggests that seagrass beds may be shaped, in part, by the responses of herbivores to predation (Bessey *et al.* 2016). The holes and caves in scoured channels between seagrass meadows have also been identified as important for numerous reef fishes (Serrano *et al.* 2017).

The first study to examine fish in the hypersaline waters of Hamelin Pool using hand and tangle nets found six species from five families in a localised area in the southern end of the Pool (Mugil cephalus, Mylio latus, Amphitherapon caudavittatus, Craterocephalus pauciradiatus, Sillago schomburgkii and Sillago analis) (Lenanton 1977). A later study in Hamelin Pool in 2016 using baited remote underwater video systems (BRUVS), and spanning across multiple habitats and depths, found 66 species of fish from 38 families (Campbell 2017). There was a notable lack of herbivorous species compared with other locations in Shark Bay.

Forty-two species of fish were documented from mangrove habitat, and assemblages were distinct from sand and seagrass habitat and dominated by tropical and resident species, including the few-ray hardyhead, *Craterocephalus pauciradiatus* (52.5% of abundance) (King 2003).

A 1979 visual survey of fishes from South Passage, between Dirk Hartog Island and the mainland, documented 323 species and found that although most species were tropical, higher abundances were observed for the fewer cool temperate species present (Hutchins 1990). A later 2009 assessment of fish assemblages of South Passage and Blind Strait using baited remote underwater video systems identified 235 species (Clough 2011) and, through a gualitative comparison with 1979 findings, found some recreationally targeted fishes were less abundant. Findings from 2009 found reef habitats had a greater species richness than seagrass and sand habitats, and within reef habitats, living coral reefs supported a higher richness and abundance than limestone reefs.

The current finfish assessments made by DBCA are focused on communities associated with coral habitat inside and outside of the Shark Bay Marine Park. Though community composition within the marine park has remained stable, a decline has been observed for corallivores (coral dependant fishes) near Bernier and Dorre Islands following the loss of coral cover by approximately 90-95% as a result of 2011 marine heatwave (DBCA 2019b).

# 3.5.2.2 Large-scale community and population studies

The fish communities of Shark Bay have often been included in wider State studies and related to a suite of environmental and habitat characteristics.

Remote sampling of corals and fish in outer Shark Bay (and Ningaloo) in 2014 has been used to establish spatially replicated baseline data in order to monitor changes in community condition over time and attribute changes to major disturbances (e.g. temperature anomalies, cyclones) (Miller *et al.* 2015).

Ten years of data from commercial fishing, including relative abundance indices derived from catch rates, were used to assess the contributions of environmental factors and anthropogenic impacts on identifying the distribution of commercially important pelagic predators (tunas, marlins and mackerels) (Bouchet *et al.* 2017). Outer Shark Bay and adjacent waters were identified as a hotspot for pelagic fish, along with other locations throughout the Exclusive Economic Zone of WA.

Temperate and tropical fish communities along the coastline have been investigated to further understand the processes structuring communities along a latitudinal gradient (Ford and Roberts 2018), the role of co-occurring species in community organisation and resilience (Ford and Roberts 2019), and how geographical distance and environmental conditions influence the assemblage and community structure (Ford *et al.* 2017).

In terms of species-specific population studies, the biology and population genetic structure of the mulloway, *Argyrosomus japonicus*, has been studied across the state which included samples caught in Shark Bay fisheries (Farmer 2008).

Genetics of the stripey snapper, *Lutjanus carponotatus*, have also been sampled across 51 locations to assess whether connectivity via larval dispersal was related to extreme gradients in coastal hydrodynamics, and a significant genetic subdivision was found between Shark Bay and all northern regions suggesting restricted connectivity (DiBattista *et al.* 2017).

# 3.5.2.3 Diet

Selected species have formed the focus of dietary studies in Shark Bay. The dietary compositions of six abundant species from Monkey Mia, *Gerres subfasciatus*, *Upeneus tragula*, *Psammoperca waigiensis*, *Centrogenys waigiensis*, *Apogon victoriae*, *Apogon rueppellii*, were assessed in relation to mouth characteristics and vision (Linke *et al.* 2001). Mouth characteristics were also examined for *Sillago bassensis*, *Sillago vittata*, *Spratelloides robustus* and *Pseudorhombus jenynsii*, as well as habitat type, season and body size in relation to stomach contents (Schafer *et al.* 2002).

Diets of the adults and juvenile sparid, *Acanthopagrus latus*, differed depending on the type of habitat, where mangrove material, sesarmid crabs and small gastropods were common in the diet in mangrove habitats, and mytilid bivalves common in the diet for rocky habitats (Platell *et al.* 2007).

Lek *et al.* (2018) investigated the differences in diet of *Choerodon rubescens* and *Choerodon schoenleinii* across length classes, season and habitat type.

Though not directly diet related, two new trematode (Opecoelidae) species were found in the intestines and other organs of the flatfish *Pseudorhombus jenynsii* collected from Shark Bay (Bray 1990).

# 3.5.2.4 Biological oceanography

The Leeuwin Current is the dominant boundary current off the coast of WA and has a significant influence on the fish fauna of Shark Bay. Caputi *et al* (1996) used tidal and satellite-derived SST data to investigate the timing and strength of the Leeuwin Current and its influence on the recruitment of fish and invertebrate species. A review of the relationship between the Leeuwin Current and abundance of key scalefish species is presented by Lenanton *et al.* (2009b).

Otolith biochronologies have been used to investigate how the strength of the Leeuwin Current accounts for variance in annual growth patterns of marine fishes across 23 degrees of latitude, including Shark Bay, where stronger current flow during La Niña increased otolith growth in five species (Ong *et al.* 2018).

# 3.5.2.5 Methodology studies

Aside from in-water diver surveys, several different methods exist for capturing information on fish diversity and abundance.

Mid-water baited stereo-cameras were used to study spatial variation in pelagic fish and shark assemblages in Shark Bay, where observations of 248 pelagic fishes from 27 species and 10 families were made (Letessier *et al.* 2013).

Rova *et al.* (2007) investigated whether fish species from such camera footage could be identified using automated methods such as deformable template object recognition.

Sonar systems have also been explored as 'acoustic cameras' in their ability to produce images of different species at close range (Parsons *et al.* 2017).

In order to develop passive acoustic monitoring of vocalising fish species, acoustic recordings of several species were made along the WA coastline (Parsons *et al.* 2012a; Parsons *et al.* 2015). This included recording snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, in the Eastern and Western Gulfs of Shark Bay, however, little evidence was found to support vocalisation by snapper.

See section 3.6.9 for methodological studies relating to fisheries and bycatch.

## 3.5.3 Elasmobranchs

Given the prevalence of elasmobranchs in Shark Bay, case studies and research from the Bay are often included in global discussions on the ecological importance of elasmobranchs (Heithaus *et al.* 2010), the impact of exploiting elasmobranchs, and the impact elasmobranchs have on their prey (Ferretti *et al.* 2010). Tiger sharks have been the most extensively studied elasmobranch in Shark Bay.

# 3.5.3.1 Habitat, resource partitioning and competition

Visual surveys of elasmobranchs over sand flats in Shark Bay in 2006-2007 found 11 species of sharks and rays during the cold season and 21 species during the warm season (Vaudo and Heithaus 2009). Given this diversity, several studies have examined habitat partitioning and competition among species. A review of coastal elasmobranchs as prey, predators and competitors which incorporated Shark Bay examples is given by Vaudo and Heithaus (2011a).

A survey of elasmobranchs across four different habitats in Shark Bay found that shallow waters are partitioned among species, reducing competition, and that the mean number of species and catch rates was greatest in seagrass habitat (White and Potter 2004).

A further investigation into one ray (*Rhinobatus typus*) and three shark species (*Carcharhinus cautus*, *Negaprion acutidens*, *Rhizoprionodon acutus*) found that competition for food is low given the differences in their diet (White *et al.* 2004).

Conversely, while Vaudo and Heithaus (2011b) found that most species were dependant on a seagrass-based food web, they provided evidence that overlap in resources was high among the elasmobranch community, such as for *Himantura* sp and *Glaucostegus typus*, and that perhaps there was enough prey to reduce competition and sustain diversity.

Large sharks (including tiger sharks) were found to occupy a different isotopic/feeding niche to bottlenose dolphins, as well as to smaller sharks and rays (Heithaus *et al.* 2013)

## 3.5.3.2 Tiger sharks

## 3.5.3.2.1 Population and distribution

From seven years of tag and release fishing data, tiger sharks showed a consistent peak in catches during Sep–May and a trough during Jun–Aug, suggesting a preference for warmer waters (Heithaus 2001a; Wirsing *et al.* 2006).

Five tiger sharks from Shark Bay were fitted with satellite transmitters to explore long-term movements and evidence is provided for mixing across the Indian Ocean basin (Heithaus *et al.* 2007c).

#### 3.5.3.2.2 Habitat

Tiger sharks are found to prefer shallow habitats over deep habitats in Shark Bay, as well as shallow edge microhabitats over shallow interior microhabitats (Heithaus *et al.* 2006). Within those shallow habitats, tiger sharks appear to prefer seagrass habitats where their prey are most abundant (Heithaus 2001a; Heithaus *et al.* 2001; Heithaus *et al.* 2002a).

Despite this preference, tiger sharks at Monkey Mia were found to be relatively resilient to the seagrass die-off from the marine heatwave event in 2011, which is attributed to their more generalist diet (Nowicki *et al.* 2019).

# 3.5.3.2.3 Predator-prey interactions

Predator-prey interactions of tiger sharks form a strong focus in ecosystem research at Shark Bay (Dill *et al.* 2003b; Heithaus *et al.* 2007a; Wirsing *et al.* 2008b; Heithaus *et al.* 2009; Wirsing *et al.* 2010; Heithaus and Vaudo 2012; Heithaus *et al.* 2012).

There are three anti-predator behaviours observed in the marine environment that are also seen in the terrestrial environment: encounter avoidance, escape facilitation, and increased vigilance (Wirsing and Ripple 2011).

Predator-prey interactions have investigated the effect of predation and predation risk on loggerhead and green turtles (Heithaus *et al.* 2002b; Heithaus *et al.* 2005; Heithaus *et al.* 2007b), dugongs (Wirsing *et al.* 2007d; Wirsing *et al.* 2007c; Wirsing *et al.* 2007b; Wirsing *et al.* 2011), bottlenose dolphins (Heithaus 2001c; Heithaus 2001b; Heithaus and Dill 2002; Heithaus and Dill 2006), pied cormorants (Dunphy-Daly *et al.* 2010) and olive-headed sea snakes (Wirsing and Heithaus 2009).

The inclusion of prey availability was found to improve predictive models of abundance for tiger sharks in Shark Bay (Wirsing *et al.* 2007a).

The loss of top marine predators in an ecosystem, such as tiger sharks, can cause significant negative effects to ecological functioning (Heithaus *et al.* 2008a).

# 3.5.3.2.4 Diet

Sea snakes, dugongs, turtles and small elasmobranchs are common prey items for tiger sharks (Heithaus 2001a), and several studies have used stomach contents and stable isotopes to determine the diet of individuals.

Stomach contents from 84 tiger shark specimens showed overlap in male and female diets, but different diets for different ages (Simpfendorfer *et al.* 2001).

Stable isotopes of different body tissues have been assessed for individual specialisations or generalities, and age of tiger sharks is a factor to consider when observing variability in stable isotopes (Matich *et al.* 2010; Matich *et al.* 2011).

Tissues from tiger sharks collected at Shark Bay were also compared with east coast Australia individuals to examine variation across location, size and sex, and tiger sharks from Shark Bay showed a clear signature of a seagrass-based food web (Ferreira *et al.* 2017).

## 3.5.3.3 Other sharks

Less focus has been applied to sharks other than tiger sharks. Braccini and Taylor (2016) included sharks caught from Shark Bay in a WA wide study on spatial segregation patterns. More specific to Shark Bay, White *et al.* (2002) examined length at age and reproductive biology of the nervous shark, *Carcarhinus cautus.* 

Spatial and temporal patterns of whale sharks tagged in Ningaloo have shown movement to Shark Bay, particularly the northern extent of the Bay (Norman *et al.* 2014; Norman *et al.* 2016; Reynolds *et al.* 2017).

Although a more methodological focus, imaging sonar has been used to detect sharks in a study examining the factors affecting sonar detection and identification (Parsons *et al.* 2014). Sonar systems have also been explored as 'acoustic cameras' in their ability to produce images of species at close range, which included the lemon shark and sandbar shark from the Ocean Park Aquarium (Parsons *et al.* 2017).

# 3.5.3.4 Rays

Acoustic telemetry has been used to examine coarse-scale diel and seasonal movements of rays using the shallow sandflats of the Bay (Vaudo and Heithaus 2012).

Semeniuk and Dill (2004) have investigated the environmental conditions that may influence the degree of grouping during rest periods for cowtail stingrays and found that smaller groups were more common in lower light conditions, and that the behaviour of grouping seems to be effective for predator detection and response.

Further still, there is evidence to suggest that cowtail stingrays rest with reticulate whiprays as they receive an earlier warning of predator approach due to the faster response time of whiprays (Semeniuk and Dill 2006).

Manta rays (*Manta birostris*) have also been observed in the deeper oceanic waters of Shark Bay (> 10m) (Preen *et al.* 1997), and their continuous and confirmed distribution has been mapped from Shark Bay northwards using photo-ID catalogues and aerial surveys (Armstrong *et al.* 2019).

## 3.5.4 Marine reptile communities

## 3.5.4.1 Sea snakes

Sea snake populations have been in decline across the globe, and Shark Bay is recognised as an important habitat for sea snakes (Udyawer and Heupel 2017).

## 3.5.4.1.1 Diversity and distribution

Studies focusing on sea snake diversity and distribution have more often than not included Shark Bay in larger geographical investigations, rather than solely focusing on the Bay itself.

Early work by Smith (1974) produced a taxonomic key to different species of sea snake in WA, which included specimens described from Shark Bay.

Including specimens from Shark Bay and the rest of northern Australia, Nitschke *et al.* (2018) used mitochondrial phylogeographic techniques to show that sea snakes from the *Hydrophis* clade had weak population differences whereas *Aipysurus* and *Emydocephalus* species show clear geographic patterns. Udyawer and Heupel (2017) explored spatial and temporal patterns for sea snakes across the North West Shelf, and Shark Bay was noted as an important habitat for sea snakes.

The importance of Shark Bay is further reiterated by D'Anastasi *et al.* (2016b; 2016a) who conducted surveys across WA to clarify the distribution of sea snakes and documented the occurrence of two critically endangered species, *Aipysurus foliosquama* and *Aipysurus apraefrontalis*, in Shark Bay, further south than previously recorded. Sea snakes are commonly associated with seagrass meadows, sand over limestone, silt and sponge habitat.

The distribution of sea snakes has also been considered at a courser level during megafauna surveys of Ningaloo, Exmouth Gulf and Shark Bay (Hodgson 2007).

# 3.5.4.1.2 Ecology

Some ecological aspects have been investigated for two different sea snake species in Shark Bay.

Kerford (2005) examined habitat use, ecology, morphology and life history of the bar-bellied sea snake, Hydrophis elegans. Further, barbellied sea snakes trade food for safety when high tides expose them to predation by tiger sharks, and they will forage in seagrass habitat with scarce food options at high tide, but will forage exclusively over bare sand during low tide when conditions are more restrictive to sharks (Kerford et al. 2008). Following along the same line, the olive-headed sea snake has been shown to use certain seagrass microhabitats when tiger shark encounter rates are low and avoided meadow edges when encounter rates are high, suggesting snakes measure danger depending on predator density (Wirsing and Heithaus 2009).

## 3.5.4.1.3 Methodology studies

Sea snakes have formed part of the focus (along with other megafauna) for new or improved methodologies which have been tested in Shark Bay. Sonar systems have been used and assessed as 'acoustic cameras' and have produced images from 14 species at close range, which includes sea snakes (from the Ocean Park Aquarium setting) (Parsons *et al.* 2017). Kangas and Thomson (2004) have also explored new designs for reducing bycatch in trawl fishing in the Bay, of which sea snakes are considered.

# 3.5.4.2 Marine turtles

## 3.5.4.2.1 Green turtles

Green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) use Shark Bay as a foraging ground, while nesting takes place between Ningaloo and the Lacapede Islands. Information on green turtles is included in a review of marine turtles from WA (Limpus 2002), and Shark Bay was included in a larger investigation into the genetic structure of green turtle populations and foraging grounds across Australasia (Jensen 2010).

More specific to Shark Bay, important aspects of green turtle biology and ecology, such as sex ratios, size distributions, body condition and predation injuries are discussed in Heithaus *et al* (2005).

Health-related studies include confirming the presence of tumours (fibropapillomas) in a juvenile green turtle in the Bay, which was the first case for WA (Raidal and Prince 1996), and examining ten deceased specimens for plastic ingestion, of which parasite infestations were found but no plastics (Reinhold 2015).

Animal-borne video cameras have been attached to green turtles in order to learn more about their behaviours. Footage has revealed self-cleaning practices and diet preferences (Heithaus *et al.* 2002c), seasonal activity and foraging grounds (Thomson and Heithaus 2014), as well as interactions and behavioural dynamics between green turtles during encounters at limited and valuable habitat (Thomson *et al.* 2015b).

Video has been used to examine correlations between dive-surfacing patterns and behaviour of green turtles (Thomson *et al.* 2011), and some attention has been given to how deployment stress of animal-borne video recorders impacts green turtle behaviour (Thomson and Heithaus 2014). Other methodological studies include validating visual methods to accurately assess body condition (Thomson *et al.* 2009); the importance of accounting for variation in dive-surfacing patterns when analysing boat-based survey data (Thomson *et al.* 2013); relating dive records to depth and water temperature at foraging sites (Thomson *et al.* 2012a); using mid-water BRUVS to reveal habitat use around Dirk Hartog Island (Letessier *et al.* 2015); exploring the use of sonar systems as acoustic cameras (Parsons *et al.* 2017); and using aerial surveys to estimate abundance and distribution of both green and loggerhead turtles combined for Shark Bay and other northwest locations (Preen *et al.* 1997).

# 3.5.4.2.2 Loggerhead turtles

The Loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) population from Shark Bay has been included in a review of marine turtles from WA (Limpus 2002), and the wider Indian Ocean (Baldwin *et al.* 2003).

Genetic profiles have been documented for Shark Bay populations and compared with profiles from Cape Range further north (Pacioni *et al.* 2012).

Heithaus *et al* (2005) investigated the biology and ecology of loggerhead turtle populations specific to Shark Bay, such as sex ratios, size distributions, body condition and predation injuries.

Similar to green turtles, a range of methodologies have been employed to learn more about the behaviours and movements of loggerhead turtles. Animal-borne cameras have been used to reveal diet preferences and diving patterns (Heithaus *et al.* 2002c; Thomson *et al.* 2011). Tags have been used to assess large-scale movement and habitat use patterns of adult male loggerhead turtles (Olson *et al.* 2012), and an abundance of female loggerheads have been tagged from Dirk Hartog Island nesting beaches (Prince 1997).

Loggerhead movements to Shark Bay after nesting at Ningaloo have been tracked (Mau *et al.* 2012), and movement of loggerheads has been remotely tracked in Shark Bay using community-based conservation (Wirsing *et al.* 2004). Remote cameras have been trialled in monitoring nesting of loggerheads at the Turtle Bay rookery (Holley *et al.* 2012), and counts of turtle tracks and nesting success have been used to estimate the numbers of loggerheads nesting at the peak of each season at Turtle Bay (Reinhold and Whiting 2014).

Dive-surfacing patterns have been investigated in relation to analysing boat-based survey data and to correlate with depth and water temperatures at foraging grounds (Thomson *et al.* 2012a; Thomson *et al.* 2013).

Turtle Bay on Dirk Hartog Island is a major rookery for loggerhead turtles (Prince 1994), and together with nesting beaches at Shelter Bay and Dorre Island, Shark Bay supports approximately 70% of loggerheads found in WA (October to March).

Several biotic and abiotic factors affecting hatching and emergence success of loggerhead turtles have been investigated (Trocini *et al.* 2008).

Tedeschi *et al.* (2015b) examined multiple paternity of egg clutches and found no link between rates of multiple paternity and female population size. Given a changing climate and temperature dependent sex determination of turtle offspring, several studies have assessed the genetic responses of embryos to high temperatures in order to understand what could happen with rising temperatures (Tedeschi *et al.* 2015a; Tedeschi 2015; Tedeschi *et al.* 2016; Bentley *et al.* 2017).

Loggerhead specimens from Shark Bay have had incidences of parasitic trematodes (digeneans) and parasitic nematodes (Lester *et al.* 1980; Berry and Cannon 1981; Blair and Limpus 1982).

## 3.5.4.2.3 Predation

Tiger sharks are a major predator of marine turtles in Shark Bay. Turtles have been observed to change their behaviour and avoid feeding areas when there is a risk of tiger shark predation (Heithaus *et al.* 2008b). Green turtles in good body condition have been shown to select safer, lower quality foraging areas when tiger sharks are present, as opposed to turtles in poor body condition that select high risk areas for high quality foraging (Heithaus *et al.* 2007b).

Male loggerhead turtles are predated upon by tiger sharks more often than females and, overall, loggerhead turtles tend to have more injuries from tiger sharks then green turtles (Heithaus *et al.* 2002b; Wirsing *et al.* 2008a).

On land, feral cats fitted with data-logger/ radio-telemetry collars have been found to opportunistically predate on loggerhead turtle hatchlings (Hilmer *et al.* 2010).

# 3.5.4.2.4 Ecosystem

The links between marine turtles and seagrasses have formed some of the focus of ecosystem studies in Shark Bay.

The impacts of green turtles grazing on seagrass meadows has been investigated in several locations, including Shark Bay, where overfishing of sharks can increase green turtle populations and cause heavy grazing on seagrasses (Heithaus *et al.* 2014).

Burkholder *et al.* (2012) found that foraging turtles were more likely to consume faster growing seagrass species, but found no correlation with nutrient content of different seagrass species in Shark Bay.

Despite green turtles having a diet commonly comprised of macroplankton (cnidarians and ctenophores) as well as seagrass (Burkholder *et al.* 2011), the 2011 marine heatwave and associated seagrass loss caused a decline in green turtle abundance at Monkey Mia, but did not cause the same decline for loggerhead turtles which are adapted to a more generalist diet (Thomson *et al.* 2012b; Nowicki *et al.* 2019).

## 3.5.4.2.5 Management

In 2008, a marine turtle recovery plan was released for Western Australia, which included Shark Bay, and documented plans for the six species found in Western Australia waters (DEC 2008). Turtles are also managed as ecological values in the Shark Bay Marine Park by DBCA. In 2017, a decade-long recovery plan for marine turtles around Australia was released, which also included information from Shark Bay (Commonwealth of Australia 2017).

## 3.5.5 Seabirds and shorebirds

#### 3.5.5.1 WA wide

Records of seabirds and shorebirds in Shark Bay have often been included in studies encompassing more of the WA coastline.

Johnstone (1990) surveyed birds, including seabirds and shorebirds, from 83 blocks of mangroves between Cambridge Gulf and Shark Bay, and noted a range of ecological factors and specific mangrove associations.

An annotated checklist of 273 bird species from the Gascoyne region included seabirds and shorebirds from Shark Bay (Storr 1985).

The geographic range and status of seabirds and shorebirds have been documented for the southern Carnarvon Basin, which included Shark Bay (Johnstone *et al.* 2000).

Dunlop (2017) includes recordings from Shark Bay in an overview of using seabirds to monitor marine ecosystems in WA.

# 3.5.5.2 Shark Bay specific

An annotated checklist of birds species, including seabirds and shorebirds, around Shark Bay is provided by Storr (1990), and Birdlife WA and Birds Australia have both produced guides to birds of Shark Bay, giving an indication on how common or rare each species is (Birds Australia Western Australia Inc. 2006; Birdlife Western Australia 2018).

Aside from these checklists, there has been a focus on the islands and breeding populations of Shark Bay. Burbidge and Fuller (2000) presents information on the 16 species of birds that depend on the ocean for food (11 were true seabirds), and identifies 42 breeding sites on islands and islets, including Pelican Island which is a significant rookery for pelicans. Brown (2001) provides information on seabirds and breeding islands of Shark Bay, as well as other values, which contributed to Shark Bay being nominated for World Heritage listing. All birds have been surveyed on Peron Peninsula and Dirk Hartog Island (Davies and Chapman 1975). Faure Island has also received specific attention, where 44 out of 97 birds were found to depend on beaches, mangroves, mudflats and tidal flats for food (Dell and Cherriman 2008).

# 3.5.5.3 Species specific

Pied cormorants (*Phalacrocorax varius*) have been found to modify their diving behaviour when there is a high risk of predation by tiger sharks (Dunphy-Daly *et al.* 2010).

Further, seagrass is the preferred shallow water foraging habitat of pied cormorants, and when the density of tiger sharks increases, cormorants decrease their use of such shallow water habitats (Heithaus 2005). Due to the preference of seagrass habitats by pied cormorants, cormorant densities at Monkey Mia declined by 35% following seagrass die-off from the 2011 marine heatwave, which was linked to a significant reduction in the biomass of seagrass-associated fishes in the system (Nowicki *et al.* 2019).

The breeding populations of wedge-tailed shearwaters (*Ardenna pacifica*) have been specifically studied in Shark Bay and, back in the early 1970s, there was an estimated 600 breeding pairs spread across five breeding islands (Serventy 1972). It is believed the population on Slope Island was negatively affected by salt works and foxes.

## 3.5.6 Marine mammal communities

## 3.5.6.1 Dugongs

## 3.5.6.1.1 Distribution and population

Some of the earliest work on estimating population size, distribution, habitat use and relationships of dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) with water temperature came from Anderson (Anderson 1982; Anderson 1986).

Since 1989, aerial surveys of dugongs have been carried out every five years with the aim of estimating population abundance, documenting distribution, and assessing change across time (Marsh *et al.* 1994; Preen *et al.* 1997; Gales *et al.* 2004; Holley *et al.* 2006; Hodgson 2007; Hodgson *et al.* 2008; Bayliss *et al.* 2019). Overall, the dugong population in Shark Bay has remained relatively stable between 1989 and 2018 (Bayliss *et al.* 2019), though the percentage of calves decreased temporarily, following a likely collapse in breeding recruitment after the seagrass loss in 2011/12. One exception to this relatively stable abundance was when more dugongs were recorded in Shark Bay following Tropical Cyclone Vance in 1999, which was likely due to loss of foraging ground at Ningaloo Reef and Exmouth Gulf (Gales *et al.* 2004).

Distribution and movement patterns of dugongs have been determined from aerial surveys and remote tracking, and seasonal migration patterns are driven by sea surface temperature (Holley 2006; Holley *et al.* 2006).

South Cove near Gladstone National Park was identified as a potential mating ground for dugongs, where a range of mating behaviours were observed and documented (Anderson 1997).

# 3.5.6.1.2 Foraging

High abundances of foraging dugongs are sustained by extensive seagrass meadows in Shark Bay. Foraging habits have been documented for dugongs (Anderson 1986; Anderson 1998), and Burkholder *et al.* (2012) found a link with consuming faster growing seagrass species rather than a link with nutrient content. *Halophila spinulosa* growing in deeper waters has been suggested to sustain the long and deep diving behaviours of foraging dugongs (Anderson 1994).

## 3.5.6.1.3 Predation

Several studies have explored tiger shark predation on dugongs.

Dugongs are observed to change their behaviours when there is high risk of predation, such as spending more time in safe but lower quality feeding habitats (Wirsing *et al.* 2007d), avoiding shallow foraging grounds (Wirsing *et al.* 2007c), changing feeding tactics (Wirsing *et al.* 2007b), avoiding continuous rest periods (Wirsing and Heithaus 2012), and changing diving patterns (Wirsing *et al.* 2011). Besides tiger sharks, Anderson and Robert (1985) investigated the presence of killer whales east of Dirk Hartog Island in relation to dugong predation.

# 3.5.6.1.4 Conservation

While much of the research on dugongs has links to conservation, two pieces of literature have focused specifically on conservation efforts. With a slow growing population and threats from anthropogenic impacts, a conservation strategy was discussed for Australia's dugongs back in the late 1990s (Marsh *et al.* 1999), and a discussion also arose on the effectiveness of Marine Protected Areas in protecting dugongs along the WA coastline (Preen 1998).

# 3.5.6.1.5 Methodology studies

Aside from aerial surveys, a range of other methodologies have been used to try and characterise aspects of dugong biology.

Passive acoustic methods have been used to try and record calls of dugongs and sonar systems have been explored as 'acoustic cameras' in order to produce images of dugongs at close range (Parsons *et al.* 2012b; Parsons *et al.* 2013; Parsons *et al.* 2017).

Time-depth recorders have been used to describe the diving behaviours of dugongs, of which five diving types were characterised (Chilvers *et al.* 2004).

Observational techniques have been employed to characterise scar types on dugongs (which aids in photoidentification), behaviours, foraging and interactions with dolphins (Anderson and Anderson 1982; Anderson 1995).

Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) have also been tested as a new tool for monitoring dugongs (Hodgson *et al.* 2013).

# 3.5.6.2 Dolphins

## 3.5.6.2.1 Overarching studies

Research has been underway on the bottlenose dolphin population in Shark Bay for over thirty years with a strong focus on social behaviour. The majority of research has been conducted in the Eastern Gulf in the vicinity of

Monkey Mia and Red Cliff Bay, however there is a second and more recent body of research that has focused on the Western Gulf. There have been numerous overarching global reviews and discussions on cetaceans that have incorporated case studies or data on bottlenose dolphins from Shark Bay. These have included long-term decadal reviews of dolphin research (Connor et al. 2000a; Mann and Karniski 2017; Connor 2018), discussions on behaviour, tool use and social evolution (Connor et al. 1998; Mann 2006b; Sargeant and Mann 2009; Mann and Patterson 2013; Cords and Mann 2014; Mann and Singh 2015), a discussion on rationality in dolphins (Connor and Mann 2005), and reviews of data collection, analyses and methodologies (Mann 1999; Mann et al. 2000b; Mann and Würsig 2014; Stanton and Mann 2014b). The rest of the studies detailed below are of more specific relevance to Shark Bay.

## 3.5.6.2.2 Population demographics

The life history and behaviour of female bottlenose dolphins from the Eastern Gulf is described by Richards (1996) and includes home range, range overlap, sexual maturity, births, weaning, associations and male interactions.

Another encompassing body of research is presented in Krzyszczyk (2013) and includes ontogeny and functions of speckling, sexspecific survival rates (Krzyszczyk *et al.* 2013a), causes of mortality, behavioural and social development and an assessment of methodology for collecting samples of exhaled breath condensate.

The abundance, apparent survival and temporary emigration of Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins has also been investigated for the Western Gulf (Nicholson *et al.* 2012), and population data has been explored using a Hierarchical Bayesian version of Pollock's Closed Robust Design (Rankin *et al.* 2016b).

For Shark Bay overall, bottlenose dolphins continue to use natal home ranges into adulthood (Tsai and Mann 2012).

The factors that influence reproductive success of female bottlenose dolphins have primarily been investigated for the Eastern Gulf (Mann *et al.* 2000a). Evidence suggests that female calving success depends on both genetic inheritance and social bonds (Frère *et al.* 2010b), and that calf survival decreases with maternal age (Karniski *et al.* 2018).

Colouration of dolphins is found to change with age, and speckling can indicate reproductive status and/or condition (Krzyszczyk and Mann 2012).

Levels of inbreeding were higher than expected for the dolphins in the Eastern Gulf, and inbred females, and females with inbred calves, were found to have reduced fitness, such as lower calving success (Frère *et al.* 2010a).

Behavioural strategies for reducing inbreeding show that adult males out compete juveniles or females prefer adults, and females reduce association with male offspring during breeding (Wallen *et al.* 2017).

The reproductive success and survival rates of bottlenose dolphins were compared for the Eastern Gulf population, which is considered relatively stable, and Bunbury population (southwest WA), which is forecast to decline (Manlik *et al.* 2016).

# 3.5.6.2.3 Biology

## 3.5.6.2.3.1 Morphology and identification

Individual skin pigment patterns on dolphins can reliably distinguish individual bottlenose dolphins by using a photographic pigment matching technique (Bichell *et al.* 2018).

Stereo-laser photogrammetry was used to reveal morphological differences for *Tursiops aduncus* individuals from the Shark Bay and the South West (Mandurah and Bunbury) populations, which likely reflects regional adaptations to local water temperatures (van Aswegen *et al.* 2019).

# 3.5.6.2.3.2 Predation

Predation on bottlenose dolphins has largely been investigated in the Eastern Gulf of Shark Bay and examples of predation from the Bay are included in a global review investigating predation on odontocetes by sharks (Heithaus 2001b). Tiger sharks in Shark Bay were found to inflict up to 74% of scars on non-calves (Heithaus 2001c). Mothers and older calves were observed to exhibit a flight response to a juvenile great white shark swimming into their group (Connor and Heithaus 1996), and responses of a group to a non-lethal shark attack on a dolphin individual has been documented (Gibson 2006).

Witness interviews were used to describe events and behaviours of dolphins prior to and after a lethal attack by a tiger shark (Mann and Barnett 1999).

Habitat use by dolphins is also influenced by tiger shark predation and prey abundance (Heithaus and Dill 2006).

# 3.5.6.2.3.3 Vocalisations

Vocalisations have been studied for the bottlenose dolphins in the Eastern Gulf, and examples from Shark Bay have been included in a global study on origins and implications of vocal learning in bottlenose dolphins (Janik 1999).

In the Gulf, males have been found to produce a 'pop' vocalisation almost exclusively in the presence of consorted females (Connor and Smolker 1996; Vollmer *et al.* 2015).

Whistles have been heard by infants after periods of separation from their mothers (Smolker *et al.* 1993), and also by provisioned males at Monkey Mia who converged in their use of a particular whistle contour (Smolker and Pepper 1999).

# 3.5.6.2.3.4 Genetics

Genetics were used to discern three coastal populations of bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* spp.) off northwest Australia: Shark Bay, Coral Bay to Beagle Bay, and Cygnet Bay (Allen *et al.* 2016). These coastal populations were found to be genetically isolated from each other and from pelagic offshore dolphins sampled from the region of the Pilbara Trawl Fishery.

Within the Eastern Gulf, an investigation of population substructure suggests that female dolphins are more restricted in dispersal than males (Krützen *et al.* 2004b). Microsatellite loci have been characterised for dolphins in the Eastern Gulf (Krützen *et al.* 2001), and single nucleotide polymorphisms have been used to examine parentage and genetic relatedness (Foroughirad *et al.* 2019).

Genetic discoveries from Shark Bay were included in a wider study showing that phenotypic evolution is driven by the naturenurture interaction (Frère *et al.* 2011).

Other methodological studies involving dolphins from Shark Bay include using genetic markers to explore large-scale populationwide paternity and relatedness (Nater *et al.* 2009), and evaluating the usefulness of adaptive markers over neutral markers to guide conservation management (Manlik *et al.* 2019). Collecting DNA from dolphins has been discussed in relation to biopsy darting (Krützen *et al.* 2002), and for the less invasive method known as 'blow sampling' (Frère *et al.* 2010d).

# 3.5.6.2.3.5 Health

Bottlenose dolphins from Shark Bay have been found to suffer from seagrass-associated gastric impaction, which can cause emaciation and death (Krzyszczyk *et al.* 2013b).

A tattoo-like skin disease has been characterised for individuals in the Bay, and baseline data can be used to monitor changes in the prevalence of the disease and its use as a bioindicator (Powell *et al.* 2018; Powell *et al.* 2019).

Gaining knowledge on microbiomes and developing novel methods for obtaining samples from dolphins can be used to monitor health over time, and this is being done for bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay (Nelson *et al.* 2015; Nelson *et al.* 2019).

In the late 1980s, significantly contaminated water was implicated in the death and disappearance of dolphins at Monkey Mia, though not conclusively proven (EPA WA 1989).

## 3.5.6.2.4 Behaviour

Bottlenose dolphins from the Eastern Gulf exhibit multiple levels of sociality (Stanton and Mann 2014a). Multivariable techniques were used to identify social learning and socially learned foraging tactics (Sargeant and Mann 2009), and Gibson and Mann (2009) examined the method and sample size required to quantify social patterns. Null models have also been used to try and explain the social networks of dolphins from the Eastern Gulf (Rankin *et al.* 2016a).

Calf social networks have been used to predict survival of calves and juveniles (Stanton and Mann 2012). Sex segregation in social relationships has been identified for dolphins in the Eastern Gulf and there is evidence for a sex bias in fission-fusion dynamics (Connor *et al.* 2010; Galezo *et al.* 2018).

Non-random social avoidance is also apparent among dolphins in Shark Bay, and a framework has been developed to identify this behaviour in other dolphin populations (Strickland *et al.* 2017).

Different behavioural states can also influence patterns of association, where dolphins associate with different individuals depending on whether they are foraging, socialising etc. (Gero *et al.* 2005). Loyalty of individuals to an affiliation group can also change over time with different degrees of commitment to a group observed for dolphins from the Eastern Gulf (Sharara *et al.* 2009).

Behavioural development has been investigated for calves and juveniles in the Eastern Gulf (Krzyszczyk *et al.* 2017). Female dolphins are observed to continually improve in foraging performance well beyond physical and sexual maturity (Patterson *et al.* 2016).

Innovation in relation to dolphins (including those from Eastern Gulf) is defined by Sargeant and Mann (2007), who discuss approaches for distinguishing innovative behaviours. Innovative and creative behaviours in Shark Bay dolphins has also been discussed in relation to the influence of sexual and natural selection on these behaviours (Patterson and Mann 2015).

Behavioural patterns of dolphins have been examined in relation to past aquaculture activity in Shark Bay and dolphins were found to avoid or minimise their time spent in these areas (Mann and Janik 1999; Kemper *et al.* 2003; Watson-Capps and Mann 2005). A systematic evaluation of the effects of entanglement on dolphin behaviour is provided by Miketa *et al.* (2017).

The frequency and timing of consortships by male dolphins is indicative of female attractiveness, and evidence suggests males are more attracted to a female when her calf is a couple of years old or shortly after she has lost an infant (Connor *et al.* 1996).

Other studies on sexual behaviour have shown that males alter females behavioural ecology through sexual coercion (Wallen *et al.* 2016), and that 'mounting' is more common in malemale interactions and 'goosing' (rostrum to genital contact) is more often directed toward females (Furuichi *et al.* 2013).

Age and sex-specific patterns of aggression were documented through long-term behavioural studies and analysis of tooth rake marks in male and female bottlenose dolphins (Scott *et al.* 2005). Aggression between males, tooth rake marks and alliance behaviour is also found to vary spatially (Hamilton *et al.* 2019). Lee *et al.* (2019) has constructed a demographic profile of injury risk and examined the healing time of tooth rake injuries.

In order to better understand behavioural responses of bottlenose dolphins, activity budgets were estimated for 55 female dolphins in the Eastern Gulf, and focal follows were more reliable in estimating individual level budgets than surveys (Karniski *et al.* 2015).

# 3.5.6.2.4.1 Male social behaviour

A sizeable body of research has focused on Monkey Mia male dolphin alliances in the Eastern Gulf.

Connor and Krützen (2015) review 30 years of dolphin male alliance research including fission-fusion dynamics and alliance stability.

Three levels of alliance exist: 2-3 males in a first order alliance cooperate to consort females; four or more males in a second order cooperate to defend or steal females from other groups (Connor *et al.* 1992a; Connor *et al.* 1992b); and two or more second order alliances can team up occasionally to form a third order alliance (Connor *et al.* 2011). Super alliances have also been identified whereby second order alliances can include as many as 14 males (Connor *et al.* 1999; Connor *et al.* 2001). Shark Bay alliances have helped to develop a general model of alliance size (Whitehead and Connor 2005).

Alliance stability can change across seasons and years (Connor and Smolker 1995; Connor and Mann 2006), and alliance structure can even change with habitat within Shark Bay (Connor *et al.* 2017).

Alliance relationships are complex and they support the ecological theory of extreme brain size evolution in mammals (Connor and Krützen 2003; Connor 2004; Connor and Whitehead 2005; Connor 2007; Randić 2008; Connor 2010; Randić *et al.* 2012). Male consortships have also been compared with that of chimpanzees in a study on social organisation (Connor and Vollmer 2009).

Some of the observed behaviours of male affiliations include synchronous surfacing and social behaviour (Connor *et al.* 2006b). Males also keep their own vocal labels, which could play a role in recognising partners and competitors (King *et al.* 2018).

The relationship between male alliance membership and their reproductive success has been assessed (Krützen *et al.* 2004a), as well as how social bonds among peers and kinship influence the evolution and maintenance of male alliance formation (Krützen *et al.* 2003; Gerber *et al.* 2019).

# 3.5.6.2.4.2 Female social behaviour

Research on female dolphin relationships has been carried out in the Eastern Gulf on Monkey Mia dolphins.

Factors such as home ranges and degree of relatedness were examined to determine whether they drive associations between female dolphins (Frère *et al.* 2010c). 'Contact swimming' is most often observed for female dolphins rather than males, which may be a signal of cooperation between females (Connor *et al.* 2006a). Connor *et al.* (2005) presents a theoretical model of alliance formation for female (and male) dolphins based on rates that individuals interact in competition for resources. While female and males may form temporary associations, long term and more stable associations typically occur between same sex members, and females tended to have looser associations than males (Smolker *et al.* 1992).

Several studies have also focused on the relationships between mothers and calves, including social patterns and behavioural development (Mann 1997; Mann and Smuts 1999; Mann and Sargeant 2003; Mann *et al.* 2007; Gibson and Mann 2008; Stanto *et al.* 2011).

Behaviours have been assessed for an infantmother pair prior to and following entanglement of the calf (Mann *et al.* 1995), as well as a mother's behaviour with a deceased calf (Connor and Smolker 1990).

Variables that can predict calf mortality, such as swimming in infant position (in contact under the mother), were identified during the first 12 months of life based on the behavioural ecology of calves and their mothers (Mann and Watson-Capps 2005). Mothers have also been observed to change their diving behaviour more often around female calves than male calves (Miketa *et al.* 2018).

# 3.5.6.2.5 Foraging ecology

Several studies have investigated foraging techniques and behaviours by bottlenose dolphins in the Eastern Gulf. Dolphins have displayed 'fish-whacking' which involves hitting fish with flukes to stun them during feeding (Smolker and Richards 1988). Dolphins also use fluke slaps to scare fish hiding in seagrass; a behaviour termed 'kerplunking' (Connor *et al.* 2000b). Sargeant *et al.* (2005) examines the ecological, social and developmental factors relating to the rare foraging tactic of "Beach hunting". Environmental heterogeneity is shown to be of importance in creating foraging diversity, and should be considered in studies of social learning (Sargeant *et al.* 2006). Bottlenose dolphins are found to occupy a different isotopic/feeding niche to large sharks (incl. tiger sharks), as well as to smaller sharks and rays (Heithaus *et al.* 2013).

# 3.5.6.2.5.1 Tool use

Tool use is a foraging strategy of bottlenose dolphins and has been observed for dolphins in both the Eastern and Western Gulfs. The first description of sponging (dolphins carrying sponges on their rostrums) was given by Smolker *et al.* (1997) for the Eastern Gulf. Sponging is used during foraging and is believed to provide protection of the rostrum during benthic foraging activities. Sponging females display different behaviours to nonsponging females, such as diving for longer durations, foraging more often and spending more time alone (Mann *et al.* 2008).

Mitochondrial DNA analyses have been used to show that sponging is passed down within a single matriline, in what is known as cultural transmission (Krützen *et al.* 2005). Sponge foraging dolphins have exploited an empty niche (Patterson and Mann 2011; Krützen *et al.* 2014), and a social network analysis has been used to determine if spongers are culturally distinct from others in the population (Mann *et al.* 2012). An overall description of tool use and lifelong learning of tool use is given by Patterson (2012).

In the Western Gulf, sponging also occurs in females and is transmitted down through generations (Bacher 2008; Kopps *et al.* 2014b). Social transmission directly from mother to offspring is thought to drive sponge use (Wild *et al.* 2019a). There is evidence that this behaviour has influenced fine-scale genetic structure (Kopps *et al.* 2014a), though Bacher *et al.* (2010) provides evidence that mitochondrial gene variation is unlikely to be a viable alternative to cultural transmission when it comes to tool use. A recent discovery has found that males also exhibit sponge use and that it is a homophilous behaviour, whereby similar behaviour increases associations (Bizzozzero *et al.* 2019).

For both the Eastern and Western Gulfs, fatty acid signatures were used to show differences in diet between dolphin spongers and nonspongers (Krützen *et al.* 2014). The conditions under which sponging could be established and maintained is described by Kopps and Sherwin (2012). Given sponges are used as tools by dolphins, the ecological factors influencing the distribution of live sponge habitat and the occurrence of sponging has been investigated for Shark Bay (Tyne 2008; Tyne *et al.* 2010; Tyne *et al.* 2012).

Besides sponging, dolphins also engage in a rare behaviour known as 'conching' in both the Eastern and Western Gulfs, where dolphins carry conch shells on their rostrums (Allen *et al.* 2011). In the particular occurrences observed by Allen *et al.* (2011), fish were photographed inside the conch shell, indicating it could be another foraging tactic.

## 3.5.6.2.6 Marine heatwave

A comparison of bottlenose dolphin densities from pre (1997-2010) and post (2012-2014) seagrass die-off revealed a decrease in densities of close to 40% in the Eastern Gulf (Nowicki *et al.* 2019). Bottlenose dolphins in the Eastern Gulf were found to increase their use of seagrass habitats for foraging after the 2011 marine heat wave despite the decrease in seagrass extent and density (Miketa 2018; Nowicki *et al.* 2019).

As yet, calving rates following the 2011 marine heatwave do not appear to be affected in the Eastern Gulf (Miketa 2018). Conversely, in the Western Gulf, a significant decline in female reproductive rates was observed for resident bottlenose dolphins (Wild *et al.* 2019b).

# 3.5.6.2.7 Ecotourism and Monkey Mia provisioned dolphins

The provisioned dolphins at Monkey Mia are a popular tourist attraction, and the regularity and reliability of their visits have allowed for studies on their welfare and behaviour.

An early description of the habituated dolphins, their behaviours, and the potential for Monkey Mia to be a significant research site is given by Connor and Smolker (1985) and Edwards (1987).

Provisioned individuals are fed up to 1.5 kg of fish per day, and a study in the early 2000s found dolphins did not appear to strongly prefer certain species, sizes or states of fish (freshly caught or previously frozen) (Dill *et al.* 2003a). Some of the past behavioural changes observed for provisioned mother/calf pairs included a decline in the number of associations and time spent socialising (Mann 2006a).

The survivorship of calves born to provisioned females has shown an increase over time, however, behavioural development continues to be affected (Foroughirad and Mann 2013).

Over the years that provisioning has occurred at Monkey Mia, researchers have reviewed and suggested a number of management strategies to minimise the effects of provisioning of dolphins (Wilson 1996; Higham and Bejder 2008), such as on maternal care and reducing the incidence of risky interactions with humans (Mann and Kemps 2003; Smith *et al.* 2008).

Dolphin watching vessels operate in Shark Bay, and there is evidence to suggest that dolphin abundance declines when two vessels are operating, as opposed to one or none (Bejder *et al.* 2006b). Short- term behavioural changes have also been observed during experimental vessel approaches (Bejder *et al.* 2006a).

Given human-dolphin interactions have been occurring at Shark Bay since the 1960s, it has often been included as a case study when examining the wider impacts of these interactions on the dolphins (Samuels *et al.* 2003; Bejder 2005; Mann *et al.* 2018). A guide has also been produced to assist researchers in their decision making when embarking on ecotourism research (Bejder and Samuels 2003).

## 3.5.6.3 Whales

#### 3.5.6.3.1 Humpback whales

Humpback whales migrate past Shark Bay each year during their journey from feeding grounds in the Antarctic to tropical breeding grounds along the northwest of Australia. While there has been extensive research on this population, little of it has been focused on Shark Bay specifically. Early works by Chittleborough have improved knowledge on reproduction of males and females (Chittleborough 1954; Chittleborough 1955a; Chittleborough 1955b; Chittleborough 1958b), age and growth (Chittleborough 1959a), population overlap (Chittleborough 1959b), stock sizes and population dynamics from commercial whaling catches (Chittleborough 1957; Chittleborough 1958a; Chittleborough 1960; Chittleborough 1962; Chittleborough 1963; Chittleborough 1965).

Building on this historical work with additional survey data, estimates of population size for the migrating west coast population of humpbacks has been refined and updated across time (Bannister and Hedley 2001; Hedley *et al.* 2011a; Hedley *et al.* 2011b; Paxton *et al.* 2011b; Salgado Kent *et al.* 2012). Temporal and spatial movements of humpback whales have been determined from historical whaling records and more recent aerial and boat based surveys, and Shark Bay is noted as an important location for whales during migration (Jenner *et al.* 2001).

Burton (2001) undertook aerial surveys at Shark Bay and found an increase in numbers in the Bay compared to previous records and also provided geographical distribution patterns.

A series of aerial surveys were conducted off Shark Bay between 1976-1999 (Bannister and Hedley 2001) and again in 2005 (Paxton *et al.* 2011a) to determine whether population size was increasing.

The most probable depth for humpback whale presence off Shark Bay was modelled to be 90 m (Paxton *et al.* 2011a).

#### 3.5.6.3.2 Other whales

The presence of killer whales east of Dirk Hartog Island has been investigated in relation to dugong predation (Anderson and Robert 1985).

A stranded dead Shepherd's beaked whale was found on a beach in Shark Bay in 2008 and represents the northernmost record for this species, which is relatively data poor compared to other whale species (Holyoake *et al.* 2013).

# 3.6 Commercially fished species

#### 3.6.1 Scalefish

Stock assessments have been carried out for key indicator stocks of demersal scalefish from the Gascoyne Coast Bioregion.

Levels of fishing for pink snapper, goldband snapper and South Gascoyne stocks of spangled emperor were found to be acceptable whilst North Gascoyne stocks of spangled emperor were subjected to unacceptable levels of fishing (Marriott *et al.* 2012).

The tailor (*Pomamtomus saltatrix*) stock has also been assessed, which overlaps the Gascoyne Coast and West Coast Bioregions, and in 2013 the stock was considered to have a low risk for sustainability due to having low inherent vulnerability, a relatively high spawning stock and an increasing trend of recruitment since 2004 (Smith *et al.* 2013).

Stock structure has been examined for two demersal teleosts, red emperor (*Lutjanus sebae*) and rankin cod (*Epinephelis multinotatus*), and for tailor through analysing stable isotopes of otoliths from specimens collected at different locations along WA, including Shark Bay (Edmonds *et al.* 1999; Stephenson *et al.* 2001).

Whiting (mostly Sillago schomburgkii) are an important component of the catch taken by the Shark Bay Beach Seine and Mesh Net Managed Fishery which has operated since the 1930s (Lenanton 1978; Gaughan and Santoro 2019). Early work has detailed a suite of aspects of the whiting fishery, including historical records, different species fished, distribution, seasonality, gear effectiveness, and research programs (Lenanton 1969). The general biology of whiting, including diet has also been examined (Lenanton 1970). More recent work has examined the biology of two co-occurring whiting species from different locations in Shark Bay, including otoliths and aging, growth differences and environmental influences (Coulson et al. 2005).

Specimens of the tarwhine, *Rhabdosargus sarba*, have been collected from Shark Bay and compared with those from Perth coastal waters and the Swan River. Comparisons were made

for reproductive biology and hermaphroditism (Hesp and Potter 2003), the range of habitat types occupied, and to test the hypothesis that growth would be more rapid in the Swan River than Shark Bay or coastal Perth waters due to the higher productivity of an estuary system (Hesp *et al.* 2004a).

Similar biological studies have also been carried out for several *Choerodon* species in Shark Bay, where protogynous hermaphroditism, patterns of growth, maturity, and the habitats occupied by each species has been investigated (Fairclough 2005; Fairclough *et al.* 2008).

Other single species studies for Shark Bay have examined biological characteristics of the grass emperor (*Lethrinus laticaudis*), such as stock delineation, age, growth rate and reproductive biology to help inform a stock assessment model for the inner gulfs (Ayvazian *et al.* 2004).

The gonads of the yellowfin bream, *Acanthopagrus latus*, from across different age ranges and seasons has been examined to confirm the species was a protandrous hermaphrodite (Hesp *et al.* 2004b).

Spanish mackerel (*Scomberomorus commerson*) from Shark Bay, Abrolhos, Exmouth and Onslow are thought to originate from the same stock given the presence of permanent parasites in examined individuals (Lester *et al.* 2001).

## 3.6.2 Pink snapper

Pink snapper (*Chrysophrys auratus*) has been one of the most studied species in Shark Bay and many aspects of their general biology are reasonably well understood.

The population biology of pink snapper has been investigated in order to determine the cause of observed size differences of 0+ fish in the north and south portions of the Western Gulf (Tapp 2003).

The distribution and abundance of juvenile pink snapper and environmental influences on their distribution has been evaluated (Jackson *et al.* 2007). The population structure, growth, reproduction and biomass estimates of different stocks of pink snapper has been examined from both the Western and Eastern Gulfs (Jackson *et al.* 2007).

Life history characteristics are also found to vary at small spatial scales, less than tens of kilometres (Jackson *et al.* 2010).

Parasites have also been examined from pink snapper caught in the late 1980s, where the prevalence of trematode parasites was 5.4% and found to most frequently infect 5-8 year old snapper (Williams *et al.* 1993).

# 3.6.2.1 Reproductive biology

Egg production through to sexual dimorphism in adults has been examined for pink snapper.

The daily egg production method involves the collection of eggs in plankton surveys to estimate spawning biomass, and this method has been evaluated for its application and effectiveness across time (Jackson and Cheng 2001; Norriss *et al.* 2006; Jackson *et al.* 2012).

A combination of data collection and numerical modelling in examining the dispersal of pink snapper eggs and larvae have supported the existence of discrete spawning populations in Shark Bay (Nahas *et al.* 2003).

A descriptive key to identifying 19 developmental stages of preserved pink snapper eggs has also been produced to help inform investigations on reproductive biology (Norriss and Jackson 2002).

Mackie (2009) developed a macroscopic and microscopic staging system for pink snapper gonads and female spawning activity in order to improve accuracy of fecundity estimates.

As adults, pink snapper exhibit sexual dimorphism where males develop a prominent hump on the head to a greater extent than seen in females (Moran *et al.* 1999).

## 3.6.2.2 Stock structure

Stock structure of pink snapper has been examined using stable isotopes, genetics and tagging, all of which provide evidence for separate stocks of pink snapper within Shark Bay. Stable isotopic analyses from otoliths have revealed snapper are location specific within Shark Bay (Bastow *et al.* 2002), as well along the WA coast (Edmonds *et al.* 1999), and that the hypersaline waters of Shark Bay generate distinctive isotopic signatures. Analysis of stable isotopes has been combined with microchemical data to discriminate fish stocks and gain information on pink snapper nursery areas (Gaughan *et al.* 2002). Otoliths of pink snapper have also been analysed for concentrations of trace elements, which showed that concentrations were specific to the location of capture along the WA coast, including Shark Bay (Edmonds *et al.* 1989).

The first genetic study on pink snapper in Shark Bay supported the suggestion of separate breeding populations within the Bay (Johnson *et al.* 1986). Subsequent genetic studies have also identified a complex stock structure within the Bay (Whitaker and Johnson 1998), and in comparison to surrounding central coast waters (Gardner *et al.* 2017). Within the Eastern Gulf specifically, no evidence was found to suggest the presence of more than one genetic stock (Baudains 1999).

Around the same time genetics were being used to distinguish stocks, tagging was also being used to confirm the presence of separate pink snapper stocks within Shark Bay (Moran 1987). An assessment of the recapture of pink snapper tagged between 1982-1984 showed that a small number of snapper still used the area 15 years after tag and release and that, overall, data showed no mixing of snapper populations between the inner gulfs or between the ocean and inner gulfs (Moran et al. 2003). In another follow up assessment of this tagging data and more recent tagging efforts between 1990-2003, movement from tagging sites was highly restricted, particularly for juveniles and the data supported three management zones within Shark Bay (Norriss et al. 2012).

# 3.6.2.3 Fishing methods and management

Hand lines were primarily used to catch pink snapper in the Shark Bay region leading up to 1959 (Bowen 1961). Snapper traps were then trialled in 1959 and 1960. Due to potential negative effects of traps on snapper and their habitat, traps were removed from the fishery

> A Snapshot of Shark Bay Research (1949-2020)

from the early 1960s, completely out by 1987. The effects of fish trapping on the fishery was investigated by Moran and Jenke (1989).

Pink snapper stocks inside Shark Bay were shown to be overfished in the late 1990s due to pressure mostly from recreational fishing. Different management approaches were used to manage recreational fishing from 1997-2003 (Jackson *et al.* 2005).

The fishery has also been compared with the contrasting management strategies used for the recreational fishery of the closely related sea bream in Sagami Bay, Japan (Mitchell *et al.* 2008).

Research and management strategies for the recreational snapper fishery in Shark Bay were summarised for 15+ years by Jackson and Moran (2012), and decreases in fishing effort were observed as a consequence of management measures (Wise *et al.* 2012).

One significant and successful management strategy included the implementation of a harvest tag system in 2003 which limited the number of harvest tags available each year (Jackson *et al.* 2016). Fortunately, a combination of effective biological research and robust management of the snapper fishery has led to the recovery of the recreationally important stock (Christensen and Jackson 2014).

Given the recovery, a code of conduct for recreational fishers in Shark Bay was released with the purpose of promoting sustainable practices and responsible fishing to minimise impact and prevent another decline (Recfishwest 2018).

Given the importance of pink snapper as a recreational and commercial species, the management, and research used to improve management, continues to be reviewed over time (Jackson 2000; Jackson *et al.* 2002; Moran and Kangas 2003; Moran *et al.* 2005). This has included investigating the impacts of trawl fishing on juvenile snapper and modelling the different trajectories of mature biomass and setting a total allowable catch as a management strategy (Stephenson and Jackson 2005). The fishery has also been used as a case study for how to manage snapper during the spawning season in Shark Bay (Jackson 2012).

## 3.6.3 Blue swimmer crabs

Stock allocation and assessment techniques were developed for blue swimmer crab (*Portunus armatus*) stocks in WA, including Shark Bay (Bellchambers *et al.* 2005), and a summary of the biology, stock status and management of blue swimmer crabs (up to 2009) is given by Harris *et al.* (2012; 2014).

Stock rebuilding of the Shark Bay Crab Fishery and development of a preliminary harvest strategy was informed by new biological data on blue swimmer crabs in Shark Bay, including growth, spawning periodicity, and fishery independent measures of recruitment and spawning biomass (Chandrapavan 2018; Chandrapavan et al. 2018). Understanding the influence of water temperature and marine heatwaves on the fishery will also increase understanding for future planning and management, such as identifying that juvenile blue swimmer crabs are most susceptible to heat stress when temperatures are above 24°C during December and January (Chandrapavan et al. 2019a).

## 3.6.4 Prawns

An early history of the Shark Bay Prawn Fishery, including the development of the fishery and management, is given by Slack-Smith (1978).

The fishery, fishing practices, science and management has been compared with the comanagement of Exmouth Gulf prawn fishery in order to determine the best practices moving forward (Kangas *et al.* 2008).

The spawning-recruitment relationships for king (*Penaeus latisulcatus*) and tiger prawns (*Penaeus esculentus*) of Shark Bay is important for predicting future catches, and consideration should be given to the need for timely collection of stock and recruitment indices data, an understanding of the environmental effects on recruitment and the effects of fishing effort on the spawning stock (Caputi 1993; Caputi *et al.* 1998).

Stock recruitment relationships for the tiger prawn were assessed following a 50% decline in the Shark Bay fishery in the 1980s due to recruitment overfishing (Penn *et al.* 1995). A spatial model of the brown tiger prawn fishery was developed to enable a description of the fishery in line with the current management strategies, improve time series of recruitment indices and to estimate proportions of prawns migrating between regions (Hall and Watson 2000).

For the western king prawn a difference in the duration of spawning seasons is observed for locations along the WA coastline, including Shark Bay, which has been attributed to temperature effects on ovary development (Penn 1980).

The migration of western king prawns from offshore spawning grounds to inshore nursery grounds in Shark Bay was found to be influenced by nocturnal tidal flow and reduced flow with increasing depth interacting with vertical movements of the larvae (Penn 1975).

Daily logbooks have been used in the modelling of commercial prawn catch and effort data (Craine *et al.* 2005). This commercial catch and effort data together with independent catch and effort data has been used in geostatistical modelling to help improve management of the Shark Bay Prawn Fishery (Mueller *et al.* 2008a; Mueller *et al.* 2008c).

To better inform catch predictions of prawns, fishery independent survey indices have been compared with annual landing relationships (Caputi *et al.* 2014a).

# 3.6.5 Scallops

## 3.6.5.1 Spawning and recruitment

The life history of the saucer scallop (*Ylistrum balloti*) has been investigated at three sites along the Western Australian coastline, including Shark Bay, and spawning was found to begin shortly after gonads commenced rapid weight gain following a lunar cycle (Joll and Caputi 1995a).

The strength of scallop recruitment was also found to be significantly correlated with the Leeuwin Current during the spawning season (Joll and Caputi 1995b). The spawning-recruitment relationships for the Shark Bay Scallop Fishery is reviewed by Caputi *et al.* (1998) which recommended a need to further understand the environmental effects on recruitment. One such effect is the Shark Bay Outflow where the outflow of high salinity waters from Shark Bay to the continental shelf via deep channels could be flushing larvae out of the Bay (Hetzel *et al.* 2010).

Environmental factors have been investigated in relation to the variation in recruitment of scallops along WA, including Shark Bay, and whether or not assisted recovery measures can improve management in a changing environment (Chandrapavan *et al.* 2019b).

# 3.6.5.2 Management and fishing effort

A summary of the biology, stock status and management of saucer scallops (up to 2009) is given by Kangas *et al.* (2011).

Implementation of the Carnarvon Peron line in 1991 to prevent overharvesting of small-sized tiger prawns was evaluated in relation to spatial fishing effort distribution, and levels of effort for scallop fleets were considered in an attempt to minimise gear conflict and resource sharing issues (Kangas *et al.* 2012).

Experimental trials were conducted to determine repeat discard mortality rates of scallops (Chandrapavan *et al.* 2012b), and the best size for square mesh cod ends in order to improve selectivity of nets (Chandrapavan *et al.* 2012a).

To better predict scallop catches, fishery independent survey indices have been compared with annual landing relationships (Caputi *et al.* 2014a).

Catch predictions, resource sharing and management of scallops has also been improved through the use of geostatistical modelling (Mueller *et al.* 2005; Mueller *et al.* 2007; Mueller *et al.* 2008b; Mueller *et al.* 2008c; Mueller *et al.* 2012), which has most recently been suggested as a useful tool for 'hot spot' analyses to further improve management and catch predictions (Mueller *et al.* 2018).

#### 3.6.6 Cockles

The Shark Bay Developmental Cockle Fishery is a relatively new fishery and coming to the end of a second three-year exemption to develop the fishery (WAFIC 2018). The fishery targets venus shell clams, such as *Gomphina undulosa* and *Callista impar*, which are currently sold to a handful of commercial establishments. The fishery has had to undergo regular Department of Health water testing to meet Quality Assurance Standards.

# 3.6.7 Aquaculture

The sheltered nature of Shark Bay and the relatively low levels of pollutants from urban and industrial development allow for ideal aquaculture conditions. A map of current aquaculture sites is shown in Fig. 14.

The species currently cultured include the blacklip oyster (*Pinctada margaritifera*), wing oyster (*Pteria penguin*), rock oysters (*Saccostrea glomerata*, *Saccostrea cucullata*, *Saccostrea scyphophilla*), Akoya pearl oyster (*Pinctada fucata*), Shark Bay pearl oyster (*Pinctada albina*), endemic Veneridae clams/cockles (*Callista inpar*, *Gomphina undulosa*, *Callista planatella*, *Antigona lamellaris*, *Circe rivularis*, *Circe sulcate*, *Paphia crassisulca*, *Paphia semirugata*, *Pitar nancyae*), and a variety of sponges from the families Spongidae, Irinildae, Thorectidae, Hymedesmiliidae, Latrunculliidae, Mycalidae and Raspailiidae (DoF 2004; Pan Holdings Pty Ltd 2017; Gaughan and Santoro 2019). Trials are currently underway for the culture of native rock oyster species, *Saccostrea cucullata* and *Saccostrea scyphophilla* along the Wooramel Coast (Harvest Road Export Pty Ltd 2018).

Trials have previously occurred for an onshore pink snapper hatchery (DoF 2004).

A suite of species are considered as potential candidates for aquaculture in the conditions of Shark Bay, including finfish, aquarium fishes and marine invertebrates, but development of these cultures will depend on technological advances and market value (DoF 2004).

Diseases and parasites have been studied for a range of mollusc culture farms off Western Australia, including scallops off Shark Bay (Lester *et al.* 1980; Jones and Creeper 2006).

#### Ecological assets



Figure 14 Current aquaculture licence sites in Shark Bay.

# 3.6.8 Environmental influences on fisheries

The waters off the coast of WA are considered relatively nutrient poor due to the presence of the dominant Leeuwin Current. Conditions are suited to supporting high value invertebrate fisheries more so than highly productive finfish fisheries as observed for other boundary current systems (Lenanton *et al.* 1991).

The Leeuwin Current transports tropical waters southwards, and across the summer months of 2010/11, anomalously warmer waters were carried south causing a marine heatwave that impacted 2000km of the WA coastline. This caused short and long-term impacts on fisheries within Shark Bay (Caputi *et al.* 2014b), including fish and invertebrate deaths and variations in recruitment, growth rates and catch rates (Pearce *et al.* 2011).

Scallop recruitment is typically lower when water temperatures are higher in strong Leeuwin Current years (Joll and Caputi 1995b; Lenanton *et al.* 2009a), thus the 2011 marine heatwave caused record low recruitment during 2011-2013, resulting in a closure of the fishery 2012-2014 (Caputi *et al.* 2019). Improvements were seen for scallop recruitment when cooler water temperatures returned in 2014.

Catch rates of blue swimmer crabs in Shark Bay decreased to 2% of the pre-heatwave abundance and the fishery was closed between April 2012 and October 2013 (Caputi *et al.* 2019).

The availability of time series data in assessing the impacts of the 2011 marine heatwave on fish stocks has been valuable in indicating future management responses in the face of more frequent marine heatwaves (Caputi *et al.* 2016). Following the 2011 marine heatwave, assessments of future climate effects on Western Australia's marine environment were made utilising multiple IPCC model predictions tailored to specific regions and relevant spatial and temporal scales, including for Shark Bay (Caputi *et al.* 2015). Given the known examples in Shark Bay of scallop recruitment being negatively correlated and western king prawn catches being positively correlated with the strength of the Leeuwin Current (Joll and Caputi 1995b; Caputi *et al.* 1996; Lenanton *et al.* 2009a), fisheries-dependant data has been assessed for its effectiveness in detecting changes in the distribution and relative abundance of species in the face of climate change (Caputi *et al.* 2010).

Overall, climate change stressors such as increasing sea surface temperature, changes to the Leeuwin Current, rising sea levels and ocean acidification can impact upon fisheries and the functioning ecosystem in Shark Bay through affecting spawning and recruitment, range and distribution, community compositions and interactions, productivity and the establishment of introduced species (Gaughan and Santoro 2019).

# 3.6.9 Fishing method impacts

Trawling for scallops and prawns in Shark Bay started in the early 1960s and the practice has been assessed to determine the impact on soft bottom communities and fishes.

Trawling was found to have bycatch implications for fish species at different age and growth stages, such as observed for juvenile snapper and butterfish (Mant *et al.* 2006; Wakefield *et al.* 2007).

The impacts of trawling on fish and invertebrate abundance and diversity in Shark Bay has not previously been considered a significant issue, and environmental conditions are considered to have more of an influence on differences in faunal assemblages than trawl intensity (Kangas et al. 2006b; Kangas and Morrison 2013). Despite this, Shark Bay has recently been listed as a location that has a potential (not confirmed) risk to habitat due to high exposure and low protection from trawling, and may warrant further ecological risk assessments (Pitcher et al. 2019). Findings by Mazor et al. (2017) concurred with Shark Bay having a high exposure to trawling, but found the extensive spatial and temporal closures were enough to counteract the high exposure.
Currently, trawling is largely taking place over sand/shell habitat in the central bay, north Cape Peron and in northern areas of Denham Sound (Gaughan and Santoro 2019) (Fig. 18 and 19).

Experimental trials have compared the effectiveness of different square mesh panels and grid types in reducing trawl bycatch while retaining targeted species (Broadhurst *et al.* 2002; Kangas and Thomson 2004). Scientific observer programs have been trialled on commercial trawl fleets to monitor bycatch reduction device effectiveness (Kangas and Thomson 2004). Bycatch reduction devices are mandated in the Shark Bay trawl fishery.

Bycatch of listed species is required to be recorded in daily log books (Gaughan and Santoro 2019). Sea snakes are most commonly captured in prawn trawlers and the majority are said to be returned to the water alive. Turtles and elasmobranchs were occasionally captured in prawn trawl nets but this has reduced significantly with the implementation of bycatch reduction devices in the early 2000s. Class A vessels for scallop trawls typically have low incidence of protected species bycatch due to legislated mesh sizes and short duration of trawls. Hourglass traps are used in the Shark Bay Crab Managed Fishery which minimises the catch of protected species to negligible levels. The use of line fishing in the Gascoyne Demersal Scalefish Managed Fishery is considered to be highly selective and of negligible risk to protected species. Interactions with protected species from beach seine netting is also considered negligible as protected species, such as dugongs, turtles or dolphins are immediately released if accidentally captured.

#### 3.6.10 Recreational fishing

Recreational fishing in Shark Bay targets the Shark Bay Blue Swimmer Crab Resource, Gascoyne Demersal Scalefish Resource, and Gascoyne Inner Shark Bay Scalefish Resource, and includes both shore-based and boat-based fishing activity (Fig. 15).

Targeted species include blue swimmer crab, pink snapper, goldband snapper, other tropical snappers, emperors, mulloway, trevallies, mackerel, blackspot tuskfish, goldspotted rockcod, other cods and western butterfish (Taylor *et al.* 2018; Gaughan and Santoro 2019).

Recreational boat based fishing at Shark Bay has been included in three WA statewide surveys to estimate effort and catch for all fished species (2011/12, 2013/14 and 2015/16) (Ryan *et al.* 2013; Ryan *et al.* 2015; Ryan *et al.* 2017). These three surveys have also provided an opportunity to determine the average weight of key species (from 27,000 measured specimens) in order to convert recreational catch estimates to harvested weight and inform accurate weight length data for key species (Smallwood *et al.* 2017).

For the Shark Bay region, aerial surveys have collected data on the spatial distribution of recreational fishers to estimate fishing effort around Carnarvon and Shark Bay (Smallwood and Gaughan 2013).

The Eastern Gulf, Denham Sound and Freycinet Estuary have been major attractions for recreational fishers since the 1960s (Shaw 2000; Jackson and Moran 2012; Wise *et al.* 2012).



Figure 15 Boat-based and shore-based recreational fishing activity in Shark Bay.

#### Ecological assets



Figure 16 Pink Snapper Recreational Fishing Management Areas in Shark Bay.

Recreational boat-based fishers have been interviewed at boat ramps to gain a better understanding of fishing effort, catches, targeted species and popular fishing locations, which revealed pink snapper as the most popular catch and Freycinet Estuary as one of the most favoured locations (Sumner and Malseed 2001) (Fig. 15 and 16).

The recreational harvest of pink snapper and other snapper species was further estimated in order to determine how fishing effort changed with introduced management strategies (Sumner and Malseed 2002). More recently, updated estimates were derived for the annual recreational catch of pink snapper by boatbased fishers in the Denham, Monkey Mia and Nanga regions to determine the impact of removing management strategies in 2016 (Taylor *et al.* 2018).



Stromatolites at Carbla (Photo: Gary Warner, DBCA) 4. Examples of documented Malgana uses, occupation and management of Shark Bay

> Giant clam mantle, Dirk Hartog Island (Photo: Rachel Austin)

Indigenous values encompass a suite of natural, cultural, social, historical, language, livelihood and ecological values, and there is a wealth of knowledge from millennia of living in the Shark Bay environment that can greatly inform western knowledge.

Past research practices have not been formally structured to include and/or recognise Indigenous participation, traditional ecological knowledge or acknowledgement in written publications. Therefore, this section on Indigenous interests is by no means comprehensive. WAMSI acknowledges this gap in knowledge and together with the Malgana Traditional Owners, the Institution hopes to address this in the WAMSI Shark Bay Science Plan.

Malgana are the main focus in this section of the synthesis given their native title includes the immediate Shark Bay area and they are recognised as the first inhabitants of Shark Bay. Malgana people refer to their Country as 'Gathaagudu', which means 'two bays'.

An account of growing up and living in Shark Bay is given by Ada Mary Fossa, a 6th generation Indigenous resident of Shark Bay and Malgana Elder, in the book '*Stories, Laughter and Tears Through Bygone Years in Shark Bay*' (Fossa 2017).

#### 4.1 Archaeological history

#### 4.1.1 Occupation

Aboriginal people have occupied Shark Bay for up to 30,000 years based on materials collected from the Peron Peninsula (Bowdler 1990c; CALM 1996). Two periods of occupation are currently evident and include the late Pleistocene between 30,000-18,000 years ago, determined largely from emu egg shells, and the Holocene between 7000-6000 years ago, determined from Terebralia (mudwhelk) shell deposits (Bowdler 1990c; Bowdler 1990b; Bowdler 1990a). A vacation from the area between these time periods may have been linked to lower sea levels and limited freshwater during the cold glacial periods.

Excavations and collections have occurred at Eagle Bluff, Monkey Mia, the Silver Dollar site south of Denham and Zuytdorp Cliffs. The Silver Dollar site currently provides the oldest records of Aboriginal occupancy for Shark Bay, ~30,000 years before present (Bowdler 1990c).

Two rock shelters were excavated (test excavations only) at Monkey Mia in 1986 and charcoal remains were dated back to 620 and 1010 years before present (Bowdler 1995). Remains indicate a diet mainly comprised of marine organisms, and evidence suggests that dugongs and turtles may have only been exploited by Aboriginal people in the last 1000 years.

Middens dated ~ 4000 years before present were investigated along the Zuytdorp coast to determine the level of occupancy by Aboriginal people, which was suggested to only be occasional (Morse 1988).

Similarly, Eagle Bluff sites were estimated to be as old as ~4000 years before present (Bowdler 1999). Edel Land, including CrayFish Bay and Willyah Mia, is also a significant place for Malgana people, and the numerous middens and camps indicated the region provided reliable food sources.

Approximately 70-100 Malgana people currently live in Shark Bay, while ~300 and ~400 people live in Geraldton and Carnarvon, respectively (Federal Court of Australia 2018).

#### 4.1.2 Culturally important sites

Middens (pits for food waste) are the most common archaeological signature found in Shark Bay (Bowdler 1990c; McGann 1999). There have been 80 midden sites identified across the coastline of Shark Bay which show evidence of Malgana people living near and relying on the sea (Bowdler 1990c; Smith *et al.* 2006a; McCluskey 2008).

Other culturally important sites include quarries, rock shelters, artefact shelters, burials, stone arrangements and camps, including Willyah Mia. To date, about 130 registered Aboriginal heritage sites exist in Shark Bay.

The Lock Hospitals on Bernier and Dorre Islands, which were used between 1908-1918 for Aboriginal people believed to be ill, are also protected under the Aboriginal Heritage Act. Many people suffered and died at these hospitals and memorials have been established on the islands in recognition of this (McCluskey 2008).

#### 4.2 Pearling and other industries

Many Malgana people were heavily involved in the pearling industry throughout the 1860s-1930s, and detailed accounts of this history is given by Moore (1994) and McGann (1999). After the collapse of the pearling industry, Aboriginal people transitioned across to the fishing industry (McCluskey 2008).

Malgana people were also involved in other industries including guano mining, sandalwood harvesting and sheep shearing (Federal Court of Australia 2018).

#### 4.3 Traditional hunting and fishing

Some of the marine based foods hunted and collected by Malgana people include mullet, bluebone, whiting, snapper, oysters, mussels, crabs, prawns, scallops, cockles, little 'redies', black snapper seabird eggs (cormorants, seagulls and divers), turtle eggs, turtles and dugongs (Federal Court of Australia 2018).

Malgana people are able to hunt dugongs and turtles in Shark Bay, however written permission from DBCA is required before any hunting or gathering of any species takes place within a marine nature reserve (i.e. Hamelin Pool) or sanctuary area of the Shark Bay Marine Park, unless otherwise allowed for in relevant management plans (Department of Parks and Wildlife 2016).

Traditional fishing by Malgana people included the use of nets, hooks and spears and, today, also includes the addition of fishing lines (Federal Court of Australia 2018). Some of the most common fish caught include Mulgarda (mullet), Bulhamarda (black snapper), Kuramata (Spanish bream), Nungs (yellowtail/ spine tail), Ngulu (black trevally), Mulhagadara (whiting), Kerung (trumpeter), Irrumarri (bream), Ngagiya (flathead), Mardirra (pink snapper) and Wudgagarri (tailor).

Malgana people are still actively involved in the commercial fishing industry. Shark Bay was included in the Draft Aboriginal Fishing Strategy Report for WA (Franklyn QC 2003). This report presented a series of recommendations and allowances, including an exemption for the beche-de-mer (sea cucumber) fishery in Shark Bay, though little to no harvesting actually occurs and customary fishing across WA is considered negligible (DEH 2004a; DPIRD 2018b; Hart *et al.* 2018).

#### 4.4 Conservation management and ranger programs

Malgana people and DBCA have collaborated on a number of conservation related management projects, including clean-ups, dugong and turtle research and interpretive projects (Shire of Shark Bay 2019). Funding was also awarded for Malgana people to be involved in the state's Aboriginal Ranger Program for 2018 and 2019. The Round Two 2019 funding granted was \$1m and included eight new jobs and training for seven rangers.

One objective presented in the Gascoyne Aboriginal Land and Sea Management Strategy is to develop an Aboriginal Land and Sea Management Team within the Shark Bay Local Government that includes activities such as cultural resource management of dugongs, turtles and finfish as well as joint coordination of marine reserve management (Sentance and Rowe 2016). The aspirations outlined in the Plan for our Parks (Government of Western Australia 2019) is to work towards joint management of marine and terrestrial parks and reserves with Traditional Owners, and this includes Shark Bay.





#### **December 2019 WAMSI Workshop**

Supported by the WAMSI partnership, the historic meeting between Malgana Elders, the Malgana Land and Sea Management Reference Group, Malgana rangers from both the DBCA, and the Malgana Land and Sea Management Program, brought together western science and Aboriginal knowledge to contribute to the Shark Bay Science Plan. *(Photos: WAMSI)* 



### **5. Social drivers**

Denham Jetty (Photo: iStock.com/Kelvin Choi)

#### 5.1 Social amenity

A general overview of the social values of Shark Bay is given by Thomson-Dans (2008), including historical recounts, natural phenomena, landscapes and major attractions.

#### 5.1.1 Historical maritime values

The first recorded landing of Europeans in Western Australia was that of Dirk Hartog in 1616 (Stanbury 1986; Cooper 1997; Christensen 2008; McCluskey 2008; Christensen 2009). Seven more early explorers landed in Shark Bay, with the last recorded to be Henry Mangles Denham in 1858.

A comprehensive review of early maritime history is given by Christensen (2008) and is not repeated here. The review discusses the European discovery of Shark Bay between 1616-1772, the scientific explorations of the Baudin and Freycinet Expeditions between 1808-1818, and geographical reconnaissances and hydrographic surveys between 1822-1858.

A total of 14 shipwrecks have been recorded within the SBWHA (Henderson 1986; DoF 2004; McCluskey 2008). Three of these are officially recognised as historical shipwrecks, which includes the Zuytdorp (1712) located off Zuytdorp Cliffs, the Perserverant (1841) located northeast off Dirk Hartog Island and Gudrun (1901) located on the flats north of Cape Peron.

Associated with shipwrecks are the shipwreck survivors' camps found at Shark Bay. These include the Zuytdorp, Perserverant, North Star, Gudrun, Britisher and Macquarie survivors' camps, which were designated based on the finding of colonial artefacts.

Evidence of station landings are found at Hamelin Pool, Carrarang Peninsula and Wooramel River (Stanbury 1986).

Fry (1995) and Thomson-Dans (2008) both provide general recounts of the maritime history of Shark Bay. Other historical maritime values contributing to the early economy in Shark Bay, such as whaling, guano mining and pearling, are presented in section 6.1.1.

#### 5.1.2 Recreational water-based activities

Recreational fishing is the most popular water based activity for locals and visitors to Shark Bay (McCluskey 2008).

Line fishing is the most popular form of fishing, followed by ballooning and netting (CALM 1996; Smallwood and Gaughan 2013).

Popular shore-based (and small dinghy-based) fishing occurs at accessible locations such as Denham, Monkey Mia, Freycinet and Grey Point (Fig. 15) (Sumner and Malseed 2001; DoF 2004; Taylor *et al.* 2018). Boat based fishing largely occurs around Dorre and Bernier Islands, off the west coast of Dirk Hartog Island and along the coast to Zuytdorp Point (Fig. 15 and 16).

A 1998-99 estimate for total annual recreational fishing effort in Shark Bay revealed ~89,000 fisher days, with over 50% attributable to boats launched from public ramps at Nanga, Denham and Monkey Mia, 20% attributed to boats launched from beaches (e.g. Tamala Station) in the marine park and 25% for shore-based fishing (Sumner *et al.* 2002).

A 2016/17 study found the estimated total for boat-based recreational fishing to be 41,447 party hours for inner Shark Bay and within the Oceanic Management Zone (Taylor *et al.* 2018). Fishing effort was greatest between March and August, with May being the most popular.

Other popular water-based activities in Shark Bay include swimming, diving and boating (CALM 1996; McCluskey 2008).

Some of the favoured diving locations are also popular with recreational fishers (CALM 1996). Sanctuary Zones which would minimise this interaction include Gudrun Wreck, Mary Anne Island, Sandy Point and Surf Point Sanctuary Zones. Monkey Mia provides ideal conditions for water sports such as skiing, jet skis and windsurfers. To avoid conflict among users and to avoid damage to sensitive marine habitats, some areas in Shark Bay place restrictions on motorised watersports and boats.

#### 5.1.3 Landscapes and visual amenity

The natural coastal landscapes contribute immensely to the visual amenity of Shark Bay and addresses the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) World Heritage Criteria VII- to contain superlative natural phenomena or areas of exceptional natural beauty and aesthetic importance. There is limited coastal development outside of main towns, though salt mining infrastructure has impacted on aesthetics. Some of these natural landscapes include, but are not limited to:

- Shell Beach is made up of millions of white cockle shells spanning 60km long and 10m deep, and is one of only a few locations in the world where shells have replaced sand in such an extensive way.
- Francois Peron National Park provides a stark contrast between red cliffs and blue waters offering a series of lagoons for swimming. The location is popular among artists and photographers.
- Eagle Bluff is popular for its high cliff and expansive views across Denham Sound and Useless Loop. The location is good for marine wildlife viewing, including dugongs.
- Steep Point, within the Edel National Park, is the most westerly point of mainland Australia and has become a popular 'bucket list' attraction. The National Park also offers views of Zuytdorp Cliffs, which extend for 200km from the Murchison River to Pepper Point.
- Dirk Hartog Island offers a range of natural sceneries from cliffs to blowholes to calm beaches. Turtle Bay is located on the northern tip of the island and is a significant rookery for loggerhead turtles.

#### 5.1.4 Educational and scientific values

A historic account of the scientific research in the marine environment between 1951-1990 is given by Christensen (2008), who talks about the rise and development of research relating to population dynamics of whales, fisheries related species, sedimentation and biofacies, and biological survey expeditions (e.g. Expedition to Bernier and Dorre Islands).

Education is continually mentioned throughout the SBWHA Strategic Plan as a means to strengthen the respect and appreciation of the SBWHA (McCluskey 2008). Strategies include 'encourage wildlife interactions that maximise educational opportunities and foster support for wildlife conservation' and 'develop, and promote the provision of, accurate and consistent information about the World Heritage Property to visitors across all tenures'. Given the large area of Shark Bay and limited field staff to monitor and regulate activities, education of locals and visitors is key to maintaining the unique environmental values of the Bay (CALM 1996). For a long time the visitor centre at Monkey Mia was the only public education facility in Shark Bay, but today, the Shark Bay World Heritage Discovery and Visitor Centre can also be found in Denham. A number of interpretive signs have been erected at popular coastal locations and on walking trails to continue the educational experience in the field.

The Department of Transport's Marine Education group offers sea kayaking expeditions in Shark Bay to metropolitan and regional secondary schools throughout WA. The sea treks explore the coastlines, mangroves, tidal flats and offer the opportunity to see marine wildlife, visit the Ocean Park Aquarium and engage in an Indigenous cultural session. Curtin University offers an annual field trip to Shark Bay for students studying geology. The trip is hosted by Bush Heritage at Hamelin Station Reserve and students are able to explore coquina quarries and stromatolites as well as other geological features. The University of Western Australia have previously offered a field course in Evolutionary Biology of Marine Mammals which includes a two week field trip to Shark Bay. Murdoch University offers a 10-day Story Telling in Australia short course which includes a 10-day field trip to Monkey Mia, Pilbara and Karijini National Park.

The Shark Bay World Heritage Advisory Committee provides guidance on appropriate research projects in Shark Bay.

#### 5.2 Public health

Water quality has been measured at Monkey Mia foreshore since 1989 and includes testing for pathogens such as faecal Enterococci (DBCA 2019b). This is due to historical waste treatment in the area of Monkey Mia. The risk of pathogens is considered to be relatively low for the rest of Shark Bay and therefore not measured. The sampling design does not currently include control or reference sites and findings are compared to the Australia and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council, and the Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand 2000 guidelines (ANZECC/ARMCANZ). Enterococci concentrations have remained below guidelines levels and stable since 1989.

Under the Marine Biotoxin Monitoring and Management Plan, bivalves from Shark Bay are tested for contamination (WA Department of Health 2016).

## 6. Economic drivers

Dolphin (Piccolo) chasing fish in Monkey Mia shallows (Photo: Simon Allen)

#### 6.1 Fisheries

#### 6.1.1 Early beginnings

A collection of files from the Department of Fisheries relating to Shark Bay and spanning back to the early 1900s (also relating to the late 1800s) are held at the State Records Office of Western Australia. These records mostly relate to pearling (e.g. licences), but also include other fisheries and whaling.

#### 6.1.1.1 Pearling

Shark Bay was officially established as a pearling centre in 1870 though pearls had been taken since the 1850s (Cooper 1997; McGann 1999; Christensen 2008). Pearl oysters were easy to access as they grew on shallow banks.

Willyah Miah in Useless Inlet was the first and largest pearling camp established in Shark Bay, and other camps were set up at Denham (Freshwater Camp) and on Dirk Hartog Island and Peron Peninsula (Stanbury 1986). A detailed account of Willyah Miah, including the history of Indigenous and Asian labourers, involvement of women and children, the living and working conditions and site descriptions of numerous pearl shell middens is given by McGann (1999).

Pearling vessels became licensed in 1873 and the Shark Bay Pearl Fishing Act was first implemented in 1886, which only allowed lease and sublease holders to collect pearls and pearl oysters (Cooper 1997).

The pearling industry closed in 1892 due to overexploitation. Early fisheries reporting on the pearling industry in Shark Bay was the responsibility of William Saville-Kent between 1893-94, who was the first applied marine biologist in the region tasked with reporting on measures to help protect and maintain the long term sustainability of the pearling industry (Harrison 2005; Christensen 2008). Saville-Kent is also credited with pioneering a transplantation experiment to acclimatise *Pinctada maxima* to Shark Bay conditions (Fisheries Department 1949). The industry resumed again after WWI but declined again due to a dry market. The pearling industry did not recover to previous performances following a crash during the Great Depression in the early 1930s. The economic management of the pearling industry between 1860-1930 for the whole of WA is detailed by Moore (1994).

#### 6.1.1.2 Whaling

Whaling along the WA coast began in the late 1700s/early 1800s (Cooper 1997; Smith *et al.* 2006a) and occurred in the general Shark Bay region from then until the 1960s. Humpback whales, southern right whales and sperm whales were targeted in the Shark Bay region.

Whale processing factories were opened further north of Shark Bay at Norwegian Bay (1915) and Point Cloates (1949). It wasn't until 1949 that a whaling station opened at Babbage Island (Carnarvon) with funding from the Commonwealth Government (McCluskey 2008). Operations ceased in 1963 after an estimated 7852 humpbacks were killed, and the station was then purchased by Nor West Whaling and converted into a facility for processing prawns.

#### 6.1.1.3 Finfish fisheries

Fishing boats targeting snapper began in 1908 and primarily occurred around the western lying islands, the inner reaches of Shark Bay and off Carnarvon (Cooper 1997). Fishing boats would then return to Fremantle or Geraldton for unpacking and processing. Trap fishing for snapper was introduced in the 1950s but was eventually banned as the practice reduced the quality of the fish and, in turn, the market value.

Beach seine net fishing began in the early 1930s due to a failing pearl industry (Cooper 1997). The fishery was slow growing due to logistical constraints. The introduction of powered boats/jets in the 1970s revolutionised net fishing, which has continued to present day.

#### 6.1.1.4 Prawns

CSIRO and WA Fisheries Department conducted surveys in Shark Bay between 1952-1962 to assess the size of prawn stocks (Cooper 1997). In 1960, the Australian Pearling Company began commercial trawling, which went on to fail due to poor catches and inefficient management. Nor West Whaling then began processing prawns in 1963 in Denham, and by 1966, 16 trawlers were fishing for prawns.

#### 6.1.1.5 Other fishing

Commercial fishing for crayfish began in 1957 at South Passage (Cooper 1997). The fishery was deemed not sustainable by the end of 1960, but has since gradually returned.

Harvesting of oysters was found not to be a viable industry in Shark Bay (Cooper 1997).

Harvesting of scallops stemmed from the collection as a by-product of prawn trawling (Cooper 1997). In 1983, there was a turn-around in the market and the export of scallops became viable.

Green and loggerhead turtles were caught commercially between 1940-1960 in Shark Bay and exported to France (Cooper 1997).

#### 6.1.1.6 Fish processing factories

Two cannery and processing factories opened in Monkey Mia and Herald Bight in 1912 and 1933, respectively, but neither factory survived for long (Cooper 1997). There were only two other fish buyers and processors in Denham prior to 1938.

In 1944, commercial operations opened up to transport iced fish by road (Cooper 1997). Many net fishermen took part in catching, marketing and selling fish themselves using these fish trucks. Between 1971-1987, the Geraldton Fish Market at Denham became the main seafood buyer, even for net fishermen, and continued to handle a significant proportion of the fish caught in Shark Bay until recent times.

#### 6.1.2 Current day fisheries

Commercial fishing is one of the main industries operating in Shark Bay today, which was largely a result of the weakening pearl industry in the 1930s (Shire of Shark Bay 2017). The fisheries operating in the Bay, like any other fishery, are reliant on economic drivers such as market value and supply and demand, with invertebrates dominating most of the commercial catch. A breakdown of the economic aspects of key fisheries in Shark Bay is given in Table 1 (Gaughan and Santoro 2019).

The Gascoyne Demersal Scalefish Fishery, Shark Bay Beach Seine and Mesh Net Fishery (Fig. 17), Shark Bay Scallop Managed Fishery (Fig. 18) and Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fisheries (Fig. 19) have operated since the 1960s, and were soon followed by the Shark Bay Crab Managed Fishery. Economic drivers for each fishery are assessed annually and can be found in the annual State of the Fisheries reports (e.g. Gaughan and Santoro 2019).

The extent of economic activity directly related to commercial fishing activities, including for Shark Bay, and any flow-on effects into the wider WA economy was assessed in the 1990s (McLeod and McGinley 1994).

A socio-economic analysis was undertaken for the Shark Bay crab fishery in 2014/15 as a reference to compare against future performance (Daley and van Putten 2018). The criteria included gross value of production, profitability, supply chain resilience and employment and flow-on benefits. Adaptations over time were recommended in order to ensure the long-term economic sustainability of the fishery.

Daily logbooks and processor information were used to model commercial catch and effort for prawns and price data to assess periods of time when profitability was low (Hesp *et al.* 2017). Suggestions for improved revenue and profitability included expanding moon closure periods and spreading the number of fishing days later into the year.

A limited number of fishing charters operate out of Shark Bay (CALM 1996). These vessels operate from Monkey Mia and Denham and offer half to full day fishing and marine wildlife encounter opportunities, as well as live-aboards. Table 1 Most recent estimates of social and economic outcomes of the main commercial fisheries operating in Shark Bay.

Commercial Fishery	Shark Bay Prawn Resource	Saucer Scallop Resource	Shark Bay Blue Swimmer Crab Resource	Gascoyne Inner Shark Bay Scalefish Resource	Gascoyne Demersal Scalefish Resource *data presented is for the whole Gascoyne region
Target Species	Western king prawns Brown tiger prawns Other: endeavour and coral prawns	Saucer scallops	Blue swimmer crabs	Whiting Sea mullet Tailor Western yellowfin bream	Pink snapper Goldband snapper Other: tropical snappers, emperors, cods, mulloway, trevallies
Total catch for 2017	1608 t	460 t meat weight 2301 t incl. shell	443 t	156 t	133 t for pink snapper 144 t for other
Economic Value	\$26.4m (incl. incidental catches of coral prawns, cuttlefish, squid, octopus and bugs)	\$18.4m (including scallop catch from prawn fishing vessels)	\$3.08m	\$1-5m for SBBSMNF	\$1-5m
Employment	100 skippers and crew 37 processing and support staff	40 skippers and crew 90 crew employed in prawn fishery that can also take scallops	Trap sector 12 skippers and crew 30-35 processing staff Trawl sector 100 skippers and crew 35 processing and support staff	12 fishers	32-48 skipper and crew
Licences/ Operators	18	11	4	6 vessels for SBBSMNF	16
Date Assessed	2017	2017	2017	2017	2017
Source	Gaughan & Santoro 2019	Gaughan & Santoro 2019	Gaughan & Santoro 2019	Gaughan & Santoro 2019	Gaughan & Santoro 2019

SBBSMNF: Shark Bay Beach Seine and Net Fishery

Economic drivers



Figure 17 Spatial extent of the Shark Bay Beach Seine and Mesh Net Managed Fishery.

Economic drivers



Figure 18 Spatial extent of the Shark Bay Scallop Managed Fishery.



Figure 19 Spatial extent of the Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery.

#### 6.2 Aquaculture

Several licences exist for aquaculture in Shark Bay and are primarily located off the east coasts of the Peron Peninsula and Dirk Hartog Island, and off Denham (Makira and Ecologia Environmental Consultants 1997; Pan Holdings Pty Ltd 2017; Gaughan and Santoro 2019).

Most licences are for non *Pinctada maxima* invertebrate species, followed by finish, with Blue Lagoon Pearls leading the industry in Shark Bay with over 19 years of operation (Shire of Shark Bay 2017). A licence and hatchery for *P. maxima* pearl oyster seed is also located at Oyster Creek in Carnarvon.

Trials are currently underway for the culture of native rock oyster species, *Saccostrea cucullata* and *Saccostrea scyphophilla* along the Wooramel Coast (Harvest Road Export Pty Ltd 2018).

Trials have previously occurred for an onshore pink snapper hatchery (DoF 2004).

A suite of species are considered as potential candidates for aquaculture in Shark Bay, including finfish, aquarium fishes and marine invertebrates, but development of these cultures will depend on technological advances and market value (DoF 2004).

Other license holders for aquaculture include Tasmanian Seafoods, WA Ocean Park and a private holder.

Shark Bay is included in an assessment of the economic and technical feasibility of marine aquaculture, particularly edible oysters and finfish, for the Pilbara-Gascoyne coast (Australian Venture Consultants 2016a; Australian Venture Consultants 2016b). For edible oysters, the most suitable coastal site was located 12km north of Carnarvon. For the finfish species, yellowfin tuna, greater amberjack and mahi mahi, a site off the northeast coast of Bernier Island was considered most suitable for aquaculture.

#### 6.3 Shipping and maritime

Useless Loop is one of three deep water port facilities along the Gascoyne coast and services vessels, approximately 40 ships per year, exporting salt (McCluskey 2008; Gaughan and Santoro 2019). Other jetty and harbour facilities are located in Denham, Monkey Mia and Carnarvon and are used for commercial and recreational fishing and boating activities.

#### 6.4 Tourism

Tourism is one of the main industries sustaining the local economy of Shark Bay (McCluskey 2008), which was greatly facilitated by the sealing of the Denham-Hamelin Road in the 1980s, the construction of the Monkey Mia Resort in 1989 and the World Heritage listing in 1991.

Visitation has remained stable at 100,000-130,000 visitors annually since 1998 (Smith *et al.* 2006a; Smith *et al.* 2006b; McCluskey 2008; Tourism WA 2018), with winter months (June to August), particularly July school holidays, being most popular. The majority of visitors are first-time visitors, which is a pattern observed from Monkey Mia social surveys spanning back to 1988 (WATC 1988; CALM 2002a; CALM 2002b; CALM 2003; Smith and Newsome 2004), and Monkey Mia tends to form part of a multi-destination itinerary (Smith and Newsome 2004; Smith *et al.* 2006a).

A large proportion of visitors to Shark Bay are domestic (up to 72%) (Tourism WA 2018), followed by international visitors, and the majority are travelling with family or as a couple. One to three day stays have been a common trend observed across time (Smith and Newsome 2004; Smith *et al.* 2006a), though the most recent estimates for 2016-2018 average a stay of four nights (Tourism Research Australia 2018; Tourism WA 2018).

Most visitors planned visits or activities related to the marine or coastal environment, with Monkey Mia, Shell Beach, Denham and Hamelin Pool stromatolites being among the most popular places to visit (Reark Research 1995; Smith *et al.* 2006a). Viewing dolphins and dolphin interactions had the most participation from visitors at >90% (Reark Research 1995; Smith and Newsome 2004; Smith *et al.* 2006a).

Out of the tourism-related businesses operating in the Shark Bay region, the majority offer employment opportunities for one or more employees (Tourism Research Australia 2018). Marine-related tourism operators offer eco cultural tours, fishing charter tours, nature tours, diving tours and water sports.

#### 6.4.1 Nature-based and wildlife tourism

Stromatolite viewing in Hamelin Pool is a popular attraction and is considered a 'shortstop' site where visitors use the Hamelin Pool Marine Nature Reserve as a 'convenient break' whilst travelling to other locations within Shark Bay (McGuiness *et al.* 2016).

The bottlenose dolphin population and the provisioned dolphins at Monkey Mia are a main attraction for many tourists visiting Shark Bay, and Monkey Mia itself is estimated to attract more than 100,000 tourists each year.

The dolphin provisioning program at Monkey Mia is one of the longest running such programs worldwide. While the Malgana people have fished the waters of Shark Bay for millennia and interacted with the dolphins, the first reported interactions between dolphins and people occurred in the 1940s and 50s when local fishers were beach seine netting. Fishers first started feeding the dolphins back in the 1960s (CALM 1993; Smith et al. 2006a; Smith et al. 2006b). The first written reports of the human-dolphin interactions at Monkey Mia date back to the late 1970s and early 80s when seven dolphins were reported to visit the shallows near the shore and were hand fed by fishers and visitors to the caravan park on that site (Connor and Smolker 1985; Orams 1997).

As visitor numbers increased over the years, the amount of food provided to the dolphins increased, and this eventually resulted in visiting dolphins likely receiving their total daily food requirements from hand feeding alone. This was recognised as problematic for the long term health of the dolphins and the provisioning became regulated by the Shire and CALM (now DBCA) in 1989. From that time on, feeding was reduced to 1.5-2kg per day per dolphin and was managed by Shire rangers (CALM 1993). This was continued up until 1996 when CALM took over the management. The feeding of provisioned dolphins and interactions with dolphins from the shore or via commercial tour operators is currently managed by DBCA under a similar regime to that originated by the Shire and CALM. An adaptive management strategy has been used which has been able to respond to research on the dolphins and adjust management accordingly for the long term health of the dolphins and sustainability of the program (Foroughirad and Mann 2013). The program and its management is regularly reviewed and updated (Martinez and Orams 2018).

A social survey of residents and tourists of Shark Bay indicated that there was support for a balanced relationship between tourism and the environment, but residents placed greater emphasis on tourism development while tourists gave more weight to environmental protection (Dowling 1991).

Another survey of 244 visitors found that proximity and probability of an interaction with dolphins was highly valued, but that 80% would support management regulations to address welfare concerns if it meant trading off these parts of the dolphin encounter experience (Bach and Burton 2017). Though seeing dolphins in their natural environment was ranked as extremely important for a majority of visitors, up to 60% said they would still visit Shark Bay if dolphin viewing did not exist (n= 355), even if it was for a short duration (Stoeckl *et al.* 2005; Smith *et al.* 2006a).

The presence of dolphins also has a positive influence on businesses and tour operators. A 2004 estimate of regional expenditure found that between 20-42% is directly attributed to dolphin viewing and interactions (Stoeckl *et al.* 2005). An additional survey of tour operators found that while short term absence of dolphins would not affect business, if dolphins were not present for an entire season, this would have significant negative effects (Smith *et al.* 2006a).

A range of other activities have been promoted in Shark Bay since the Smith *et al.* (2006a) study in order to help safeguard against the potential loss of provisioned dolphins in Monkey Mia. See section 3.5.6.2.7 for more information on dolphin and tourism interactions.

Ocean Park Aquarium is estimated to attract ~48,000 visitors each year (Shire of Shark Bay 2017), and is permitted to capture marine life for inclusion in the aquarium. Other popular marine activities include whale watching, marine safari trips, snorkelling, diving, fishing charters, recreational fishing, sailing and windsurfing.

Among suggestions for new tourism activities and infrastructure from a business and economic conditions survey, were dive and snorkel trails as well as additional fishing jetties (Urbis 2019).

#### 6.4.2 Historical tourism

Historical tourism is also popular among tourists given the history of early European settlement days and the rich fishing history. Historical based attractions include the pearling camp 'Freshwater Camp' and the Old Pearler Restaurant and St Andrew's Church buildings which are made out of shell block.

#### 6.4.3 Indigenous tourism

There are over 130 Aboriginal heritage sites in Shark Bay. The Malgana people offer cultural walking tours to visitors, which includes treks through bushland and introductions to bush tucker and natural medicines (Shire of Shark Bay 2017). Wula Guda Nyinda Eco Cultural Adventures also operates out of Monkey Mia and provides visitors with a range of experiences that explore Aboriginal culture, history and tradition.

There is support to grow cultural tourism in the Gascoyne region by establishing a Cultural Tourism Corridor from Shark Bay and Carnarvon through to Mount Augustus by offering day and overnight experiences (Sentance and Rowe 2016).

#### 6.5 NGOs

Bush Heritage Australia and the Australian Wildlife Conservancy are two non-governmental organisations operating in Shark Bay. Bush Heritage Australia purchased the Hamelin Station Reserve in 2015 with the aim to conserve and restore the reserve in collaboration with the Malgana and Nanda Traditional Owners. Bush Heritage operates the Hamelin Outback Station Stay, a previous sheep station, which provides accommodation in shearers quarters and camp sites. Bush Heritage also supports a number of research partnerships, including the monitoring of fish and sea snake assemblages of Hamelin Pool and stromatolite research.

The Australian Wildlife Conservancy has managed Faure Island in Shark Bay since 1999. The Conservancy carries out feral herbivore, feral cat and fox controls, wildlife translocations and fire management on the island. As a result, Faure Island is declared feral animal free, and is used to protect, conserve and re-introduce nationally threatened mammals, such as the Shark Bay mouse, burrowing bettongs, bandedhare wallabies and western barred bandicoots. The island is also a significant breeding area for seabirds, particularly the pied cormorant, and has migratory stopovers for shorebirds.

#### 6.6 Aboriginal Corporations

The Yamatji Marlpa Aboriginal Corporation (YMAC) is the regional Native Title representative body for Indigenous groups in the Pilbara, Murchison and Gascoyne regions and provides assistance to Native Title holders and claimants. The YMAC also aims to ensure continuation of heritage and culture and to seek outcomes that provide a strong legacy for Yamatji and Pilbara people, such as active involvement in community, environment and economic development projects.

The Malgana Aboriginal Corporation is a Registered Native Title Body Corporate and is the representative body for the Malgana people. The Malgana Aboriginal Corporation is responsible for Native Title spanning ~28,800km<sup>2</sup> across the Shark Bay Region. The Nanda Aboriginal Corporation is a Registered Native Title Body Corporate and is the representative body for the Nanda people. The Nanda Aboriginal Corporation is responsible for Native Title spanning ~17,000km<sup>2</sup> from Shark Bay to Kalbarri.

The Yinggarda Aboriginal Corporation and Nganhurra Thanardi Garrbu Aboriginal Corporation are Registered Native Title Body Corporates and represents the Yinggarda, Baiyungu and Thalanyji people. The joint Gnulli Native Title claim under the responsibility of the two corporations covers ~71,354km<sup>2</sup>, and the Yinggarda Aboriginal Corporation is responsible for the area spanning from Shark Bay to the southern end of Lake Macleod and inland.

#### 6.7 Agriculture

No agricultural practices operate within the SBWHA, but extensive horticultural operations occur across Carnarvon and a small operation is established on the Wooramel River (McCluskey 2008).

#### 6.8 Pastoralists and graziers

Pastoral leases in and around the SBWHA were first given out in the 1860s in small land chunks which were later amalgamated to form stations: Dirk Hartog Island, Carrarang, Tamala, Nanga, Peron, Faure Island, Hamelin, Yaringa, Carbla and Murchison House (Cooper 1997). These were all originally developed as sheep stations for wool production, but have since been replaced with cattle and goats (McCluskey 2008). It wasn't until 1925-1927 that artesian bores were sunk to access the huge artesian water basin below, which had positive impacts on pastoralism and grazing. Some pastoral leases have been claimed for conservation estates.

#### 6.9 Mining and logging

#### 6.9.1 Guano

Guano mining was the first commercial operation in Shark Bay (Cooper 1997). Commercial mining was authorised in 1850 at Egg Island and islands in Freycinet Estuary (Stanbury 1986; DEC 2012), though legal and illegal mining had been occurring as early as 1847. The industry was overexploited and near exhausted by the end of the 1900s, though some mining still occurred up until 1915.

#### 6.9.2 Gypsum

Gypsum has been occasionally mined at Brown Inlet and Heirisson Prong and exported from Useless Loop by Shark Bay Salt Joint Ventures (Cooper 1997; McCluskey 2008; DEC 2012). Peron Peninsula was surveyed and drilled to reveal millions of tonnes of gypsum by another venture, but the mining project did not go ahead and leases obtained in 1984 have since been relinquished.

#### 6.9.3 Heavy mineral sands

Exploration licences have been used to assess resources of heavy mineral sands in Shark Bay, particularly on lands south of Nanga adjoining the SBWHA (DEC 2012). The largest deposit discovered in 2000 was an area known as Amy Zone, which is 35km long, 3km wide and 10-50m thick. Feasibility studies in 2003, 2009 and 2013 have revealed that the Zone can support high-volume, low-cost and long-life mining, with zircon being the main source of revenue (Gunson Resources Limited 2010), and project development is still underway.

#### 6.9.4 Oil and gas

The World Heritage listing of Shark Bay does not prevent mineral exploration and development, however, the proposals considered by the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) are not allowed to compromise the values that were used to establish the listing. Regions of the SBWHA that do exclude drilling and production are Hamelin Pool Marine Nature Reserve, eight Sanctuary zones and three Recreation zones, as well as six Special Purpose zones if activities would impact upon the conservation purpose (McCluskey 2008). As such, there have been no active petroleum tenements in Shark Bay for 30 years (DoF 2004; DEC 2012).

In 2002, Euro Pacific Energy's petroleum exploration tenement expired, which included an area extending from Bernier and Dorre Islands to the Carnarvon coastline. No field exploration took place and the tenement has not been renewed.

Two areas have been released for oil and gas exploration offshore of Carnarvon in the Southern Carnarvon Basin (Gaughan and Santoro 2019), but again, field operations have not begun.

Prior to this, in the 1950s, West Australian Petroleum Pty Ltd sank 18 exploration wells on Dirk Hartog Island (Playford and Johnstone 1959; DEC 2012), Oceania Petroleum sank one well in 1973 just onshore at Tamala, Pace Petroleum sunk one well in 1997 near Amy Zone and Magellam Petroleum Australia sank two wells bordering Hamelin Pool in 1968 (Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety 2019). Several more wells were sunk further inland outside of the SBWHA.

#### 6.9.5 Salt

Solar salt mining began in the 1960s in Useless Loop (Cooper 1997; DEC 2012). Shark Bay Salt (now Shark Bay Salt Joint Ventures) closed Useless Loop to the sea with an earthworks bar. More bars were constructed between 1973-1975, which caused conflict with fishers given Useless Loop and the Inlet were natural nurseries for fish. The government also leased out 12,000 hectares for brine concentration in Useless Inlet in 1967. Salt mining produced many local jobs which led to the establishment of a local township. Some fishermen transitioned across to salt work because of declining fish stocks and closures in the early 1970s.

Geraldton Salt Refiners began operations in 1980 with the purpose of refining salt from Shark Bay Salt Joint Ventures. The business was significantly sustained by the needs of Woodside for salt in their oil drilling practices. Salt mining also takes place at Lake McLeod in Carnarvon.

Salt mining operations are excluded from the SBWHA and are governed by the *Shark Bay Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act* (DEC 2012).

#### 6.9.6 Shell deposit extraction

Shell grit (*Fragum erugatum*) mining began in Shark Bay in the 1940s due to the masses of coquina shell deposits continually observed on shores (Cooper 1997; DEC 2012). Shell deposits are excavated and used in poultry farming and for extender and filler building materials. The consolidated shell has been extracted from quarries near L'Haridon Bight and Hamelin Pool Telegraph Station and has traditionally been used in building construction (DoF 2004; McCluskey 2008; DEC 2012). However, the coquina resource is limited and, therefore, regulated by Shire of Shark Bay and the *Hamelin Pool Common Management Plan 2001*.

#### 6.9.7 Sandalwood

Sandalwood harvesting began in 1860 and soon became a major commercial activity in Shark Bay (Cooper 1997; Edwards 1999). Cutting occurred on the Peron Peninsula, Wooramel River and on early pastoral stations around Shark Bay. Most of the sandalwood supply was exhausted by 1939 and only a few licensed cutters are now allowed.

## 7. Threats and external drivers

Big Lagoon, Shark Bay (Photo: Rory Chapple, DBCA)

#### 7.1 Climate change

#### 7.1.1 Observed trends in Shark Bay region

The annual averaged air temperature in the Shark Bay region has increased by ~1.0°C since 1910 and annual mean rainfall has decreased by 10-20mm per decade since 1970 (NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub 2018).

Sea surface temperatures along the WA coastline have increased by 1.2°C since 1960. Maximum rates of increase are typically observed during summer, which has been observed for locations in Shark Bay (NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub 2018). Two marine heatwaves have impacted upon the Shark Bay marine environment. The 1999 marine heatwave saw greater than average temperatures in the Shark Bay region from February through to September with the peak increase occurring in April. The second marine heatwave occurred in 2011 and peak temperature increases occurred in February for the Shark Bay region.

#### 7.1.2 Projections for Shark Bay

Climate change is the biggest threat facing Shark Bay marine and terrestrial environments and, furthermore, it threatens to degrade the unique values that designate Shark Bay as a World Heritage Area. Climate change projections and confidence ratings for Shark Bay as stated on the Climate Change in Australia government website and in the National Environmental Science Program (NESP) Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub report (2018) include:

- Increased average air temperatures in all seasons (very high confidence)
- More hot days and warm spells with a substantial increase in the temperature reached on hot days, the frequency of hot days, and the duration of warm spells (very high confidence)
- Decreasing winter and spring rainfall (high confidence). Rainfall changes in summer and autumn are not as clear
- More intense extreme short-duration rainfall (high confidence) and the wettest day of the year will get wetter

- Fewer but more intense tropical cyclones (medium confidence)
- A small winter decrease in wind later in the century
- A small increase in spring wind speeds (low confidence)
- Increased fire weather risk (low confidence)
- Increased potential evapotranspiration in all seasons (high confidence)
- Decreased humidity in winter and spring (high confidence) and in summer and autumn (medium confidence) later in the century
- Increased winter radiation (medium confidence) later in the century
- Rising mean sea level and increased height of extreme sea-level events (very high confidence)

The fluxes of Wooramel River flow and associated sediment transport has also been modelled under climate change scenarios given its potential to negatively impact Faure Sill and the stromatolites in Hamelin Pool. Projections include median increases in the duration of flood-flows of 5-11%, 9-21% and 15-33% for 2030, 2050 and 2070, respectively. Projections on future sediment yields requires further modelling.

#### 7.1.3 Climate Vulnerability Index

Climate Vulnerability Index (CVI) workshops were held to determine the extent to which climate change would impact on the outstanding universal value of the SBWHA and also to what extent climate change would impact on the economic, social and cultural dependency on the SBWHA. CVI is a rapid assessment tool that was developed specifically for World Heritage Properties (Day *et al.* 2020). The CVI assessment occurs in two stages:

1) Assessing the exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity of key World Heritage values to determine the Outstanding Universal Value Vulnerability. This occurred in a Shark Bay workshop held by the Shark Bay World Heritage Advisory Committee (SBWHAC), NESP in September 2018 (NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub 2018; Heron *et al.* 2020).  Assessing economic, social and cultural dependencies upon the SBWHA and their adaptive capacity to climate change to determine the Community Vulnerability. This occurred in a WAMSI/SBWHAC Perth workshop in June 2019 (Heron *et al.* 2020).

The assessments took place under the climate change scenario of:

- Extreme marine temperature events: five per decade (determined using coral report analysis for RCP8.5)
- Doubling of frequency of severe storms
- Air temperature increase of 1°C

These were identified as stressors that would have the greatest potential impact on Shark Bay's outstanding universal value (NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub 2018; Heron *et al.* 2020).

The adaptive capacity of the SBWHA to climate change, based on local management responses, scientific/technical support and effectiveness to address stressors, was rated as 'very low' for air temperature change, 'low' for storm intensity and frequency and 'very low' for extreme marine heat events. Overall, Shark Bay's outstanding universal value is considered to be highly vulnerable to climate change (NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub 2018; Heron *et al.* 2020).

At the stage two workshop considering economic, social and cultural implications, economic and social adaptive capacity was rated as low, and cultural adaptive capacity was rated as moderate. Overall, Community Vulnerability was considered high (Heron *et al.* 2020).

#### 7.2 Water quality

#### 7.2.1 Nutrients

Nutrient availability and fluxes in the water column examined for Shark Bay reveal that phosphorus is limited in hypersaline waters (Smith and Atkinson 1983; Smith and Atkinson 1984; Atkinson 1987; Pedretti et al. 1998). Nitrogen is not typically limited due to the level of nitrogen fixation occurring in the system. The balance of nutrient availability in the bay is particularly important to the expansive seagrass meadows, as high nutrient concentrations in the water column can stimulate the growth of algae and reduce the light available to seagrass for photosynthesis. Likewise, low nutrient availability in the sediments can limit seagrass growth and high nutrient concentrations can become toxic (Statton et al. 2012). Excessive nutrient loads and algal growth can also lead to deoxygenation of the water column and subsequent fish kills.

#### 7.2.2 Sedimentation

An increase in sedimentation in Shark Bay is likely to result from increased floodflow volumes from the Wooramel River. Such flooding events can cause increased sedimentation over seagrass meadows and also reduce photosynthesis due to reduced light levels. If flooding of the Wooramel River was to increase under future climate change projections, the increased sediment load could be expected to negatively impact the seagrass at Faure Sill and, in turn, impact upon ideal growth conditions for stromatolites in Hamelin Pool (Mpelasoka *et al.* 2012; Mpelasoka and Rustomji 2012).

#### 7.2.3 Heavy metals

Cadmium has been found to absorb onto iron oxide particles in the water column and subsequently be ingested by bivalves (Lawrance 1985; McConchie *et al.* 1988; Francesconi 1989; McConchie and Lawrance 1991).

#### 7.2.4 Oil spills

Shark Bay was included in a recent assessment of oil pollution risk for the Mid West coast of WA which, in general, has relatively less large vessel traffic compared to further north or south (Navigatus Consulting 2018). Shark Bay is considered to have 'low complexity' given the consistent seafloor depths and adequate sea room. The shorelines of Shark Bay were rated as having a 'low exposure' to oil, whereas waters offshore of Shark Bay had a more 'moderate exposure' to oil given the potential for large spills from oil tankers traversing the WA coastline. Exposure was included in the risk models along with other factors, such as protection priorities. Overall, the majority of the Shark Bay shoreline had a 'very low' risk of oil spill pollution. Portions of the shoreline that received a 'moderate' risk rating included the north and western margins of Dirk Hartog Island, which reflects the proximity to offshore transport routes.

There is potential for oil spills from recreational and commercial vessels as a result of damage, sinking, or collisions, though this is unpredictable and likely to be a very rare occurrence.

#### 7.3 Introduced marine pests and diseases

Tropical and temperate biotic provinces overlap at Shark Bay creating environmental conditions that could be conducive to the establishment of a wide range of introduced species.

Ten introduced species were detected from settlement plates placed around four locations in Shark Bay, and included eight bryozoans, one tunicate and one hydroid. Introduced species were also found in areas without commercial traffic and ballast water discharge, indicating that hull fouling of recreational boats may be one cause of introductions (Wyatt *et al.* 2005). In addition, three crustacean species and two barnacles have previously been identified for Shark Bay, while several more have been documented at some point for the Gascoyne region (Huisman *et al.* 2008). The Useless Loop Port is considered to have a low inoculation risk given the low risk rating of visiting vessels and the typical single, short visits to the port (Bridgwood and McDonald 2014). The temperature and salinity conditions of the port environment are considered potentially compatible with 19 introduced species, of which 10 present the greatest likelihood of infection and establishment.

#### 7.4 Other anthropogenic pressures

#### 7.4.1 Tourism

An increase in tourism in Shark Bay has the potential to impact on the marine environment through increasing waste production (including discharging untreated sewage from boats), boating activity and wildlife collisions, disturbance to marine wildlife, feeding of wildlife, and habitat degradation from anchoring. There is also potential to cause damage and degradation to coastal habitats and wildlife, such as dune vegetation, erosion and nesting areas.

DBCA is responsible for issuing permits, licences, leases and authorisations that help to alleviate pressures associated with tourism activities, such as licensing for fauna interactions (see section 8.1.4).

#### 7.4.2 Fishing pressure

Recreational and commercial fisheries are managed by DPIRD, and the status of fisheries operating in Shark Bay is assessed annually. Management measures are in place to reduce fishing pressure, prevent overfishing and ensure sustainability of stocks into the future. Pink snapper were fished to the brink of collapse inside Shark Bay in the late 1990s due mostly to recreational fishing. Fortunately, a combination of effective biological research and robust management of the snapper fishery has led to the recovery of the recreationally important stock (Christensen and Jackson 2014). Given the recovery, a code of conduct for recreational fishers in Shark Bay was released with the purpose of promoting sustainable practices and responsible fishing to minimise impact and prevent another decline (Recfishwest 2018).

#### 7.4.3 Coastal development

Shark Bay has a growing resident population and a growing number of domestic and international visitors. There is a strong focus on economic development which is promoted in the 2017 Shark Bay Investment Prospectus (Shire of Shark Bay 2017). Denham and Monkey Mia have received upgrades to jetties and boat ramps in a \$20 million public amenity and infrastructure investment. The beachfront Monkey Mia Dolphin Resort is currently undergoing a \$15 million redevelopment, which includes construction of a beachfront plaza.

In 2013, a feasibility study and economic/social impacts study were undertaken for a proposed new marina facility in Denham (Brighthouse Strategic Consultants 2013; Shire of Shark Bay 2013).

#### 7.4.4 Mining, oil and gas

The World Heritage listing of Shark Bay does not prevent mineral exploration and development, however, the proposals considered by the EPA are not allowed to compromise the values that were used to establish the listing (EPA WA 2003). EPA advice states:

"that there be a presumption against petroleum development activities within the Shark Bay World Heritage Property on the basis that these activities could not be carried out without significantly affecting the values for which the Property has been credited World Heritage status. This would not preclude the assessment of a petroleum proposal under Part IV of the Environmental Protection Act 1986, but the circumstances associated with the proposal would need to have been designated by the State to be of exceptional importance and of a strategic nature. Given the presumption against petroleum development activities within the Shark Bay World Heritage Property, there could be little justification for allowing the pre-requisites to development, that is, activities such as preliminary exploration, seismic survey and exploration drilling, to be carried out on targets within the Shark Bay World Heritage Property"

For scenarios where proposals may be considered, such as directly outside the World Heritage boundary, potential impacts such as underwater noise pollution and seismic impacts on zooplankton through to marine mammals, disturbance to benthic habitats from drilling or dredging, release of formation water, shipping and transport, and increased risks of oil spills would need to be assessed for their impact on fauna that move in and out of the SBWHA.

Regions of the SBWHA that do exclude drilling and production are Hamelin Pool Marine Nature Reserve, eight Sanctuary zones and three Recreation zones, as well as six Special Purpose zones if activities would impact upon the conservation purpose (McCluskey 2008).

# 8. Management and administrative agencies

#### 8.1 Conservation management

#### 8.1.1 Overview

DBCA is the primary management agency responsible for the implementation of state and national legislation and the day to day management of the SBWHA and Shark Bay marine reserves. DBCA is also tasked with responsibilities in Commonwealth waters through bilateral agreements (see EPBC Act 1999).

Of relevance to this document, DBCA is responsible for:

- Managing the marine estate (such as marine parks and reserves) under the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 (see section 9.2), Conservation and Land Management Regulations 2002, Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 and Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2018
- Managing the operational aspects of the SBWHA on behalf of the Commonwealth
- Overseeing the development and implementation of management plans
- Liaising with agencies, land owners and other parties to ensure that development and management activities do not threaten World Heritage values
- Consulting with agencies and the community to identify and regularly review priorities for the protection of World Heritage values
- Conducting or encouraging relevant research
- Distributing information and implementing educational activities and
- Reporting to the Australian Government

The Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER) is responsible for administering the Environmental Protection Act 1986 (see section 9.2). In addition, if an action has the potential to adversely impact on the SBWHA, then as required under the EPBC Act 1999, the action will need to undergo an environmental impact assessment and approval process as carried out by DWER.

#### 8.1.2 Management plan responsibilities

DBCA is responsible for implementing the following management plans in relation to Shark Bay:

- Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management
  Plan 1996-2006
- Shark Bay Terrestrial Reserves and Proposed Reserve Additions Management Plan 2012
- Shark Bay World Heritage Property Strategic Plan 2008-2020 (plus other State Government agencies)

#### 8.1.3 Managing and monitoring ecological assets within Shark Bay Marine Reserves

DBCA undertakes and facilitates marine research and monitoring in relation to ecological assets within the Shark Bay Marine Reserves. The broad objectives of marine research within Shark Bay marine reserves (and all WA marine parks and reserves) as per Kendrick *et al.* (2016) include:

- Determining biological, ecological and human use patterns and processes in marine ecosystems
- Improving the design and configuration of marine protected areas to protect the full range of ecosystems, at levels that ensure ecological viability and reflect the diversity of the system
- Determining ecological processes and assessing anthropogenic pressures relevant to managing threatened marine fauna

There have been 23 ecological assets/values identified for marine parks and reserves across WA (Kendrick *et al.* 2016), and those identified in the Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006 include:

- · Geomorphology
- · Sediment quality
- Water quality
- Microbial communities
- Seagrass communities
- Mangroves and saltmarshes
- Coral reef communities
- Finfish communities
- Dugong
- · Monkey Mia dolphins
- Macroalgal communities
- Invertebrate communities
- Cetaceans
- Marine turtles
- Sea snakes
- Seabirds

The most recent report on the ecological monitoring within Shark Bay marine reserves, as coordinated by the Marine Science Program, includes information on water quality, seagrass communities, mangroves, coral reef communities and finfish communities (DBCA 2019b).

The Conservation and Parks Commission is an independent authority and was formed from the amalgamation of two vesting authorities, the Marine Parks and Reserves Authority and the Conservation Commission. The Commission was established under the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 with a role to conserve WA's biological diversity and ensure ecologically sustainable management of the conservation estate. The Commission provides independent advice to the Minister and prepares management plans for vested land and waters under the control of the Commission. The predecessor, Marine Parks and Reserves Authority, undertook a 10 year audit and review of the Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006 in April 2010 (MPRA 2010). A key finding of the review was that the Management Plan was outdated and inadequate for management purposes and that an updated plan should be developed.

#### 8.1.4 Permits and licences

Of relevance to Shark Bay, DBCA issues licences, permits, leases and authorities under the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 and Biodiversity and Conservation Act 2016. Marine activities in Shark Bay that would require these permissions include:

- · Commercial operations
- · Commercial photography and filming
- Moorings in marine parks and reserves
- Native fauna licences
- Native flora licences
- Remotely piloted aircraft/drones

Additionally, authorisations are required if an action will take or disturb threatened fauna and/ or disturb a threatened ecological community.

Depending on the tenure, some of these permissions relate to the conservation estates under the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984, and some relate only to marine fauna and flora.

#### 8.2 Fisheries management

#### 8.2.1 Overview

Of relevance to this document, DPIRD is responsible for the management of recreational and commercial fishing, aquaculture and pearling activity across state and Commonwealth waters out to 200nm (Australian Fishing Zone). In particular, DPIRD:

 Manages fisheries, in accordance with the Aquatic Resources Management Act 2016 (see section 9.2), Fisheries Adjustment Schemes Act 1987, Fishing and Related Industries Compensation (Marine Reserves) Act 1997, Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006 and Shark Bay World Heritage Property Management Paper for Fish Resources

- Assesses aquaculture proposals in accordance with the environmental impact assessment process and procedures established under the Fish Resources Management Act 1994, including consideration of the impacts on World Heritage values under the EPBC Act 1999 (see section 9.3) and
- Regularly monitors and reports on the status of targeted fish species in Shark Bay

The major fishery resources found in Shark Bay and assessed under the Gascoyne Coast Bioregion include the Saucer Scallop Resource, Shark Bay Prawn Resource, Shark Bay Blue Swimmer Crab Resource, Gascoyne Demersal Scalefish Resource and Gascoyne Inner Shark Bay Scalefish Resource, Smaller fisheries that have licences to operate in Shark Bay include the Shark Bay Developmental Cockle Fishery, aquaculture of blacklip oyster (Pinctada margaritifera), the Marine Aquarium Fish Managed Fishery, West Coast Rock Lobster Fishery, commercial Abalone Managed Fishery and Specimen Shell Managed Fishery. The commercial and recreational operations for each of these fisheries is overseen and managed by DPIRD.

Since 1994, Shark Bay has been included in annual State of the *Fisheries and Aquatic Resources Reports* which includes status reports and accumulative data on fisheries and aquatic resources for the whole of Western Australia (e.g. Gaughan and Santoro 2019). These annual reports include updates on the fisheries operating in Shark Bay, including catch and landings for commercial and recreational fishing.

Ecologically sustainable development reporting has been carried out for the Shark Bay Prawn Fishery, Shark Bay Scallop Fishery and Marine Aquarium Fish Managed Fishery (Kangas *et al.* 2006a; Kangas *et al.* 2006c; Smith *et al.* 2010). Some fisheries in WA have been assessed and certified against Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) standards. The West Coast Rock Lobster Fishery was the world's first fishery to be certified, and became certified for the fourth time in 2017. The Shark Bay Prawn Fishery was granted MSC certification in 2015 after being assessed against the MSC standards (Kangas *et al.* 2015), and after previously being positively assessed against the Commonwealth Guidelines for Assessing the Ecologically Sustainable Management of Fisheries (Environment Australia 2002). The Shark Bay Snapper Fishery has previously been assessed against the Commonwealth Guidelines for Assessing the Ecologically Sustainable Management of Fisheries and was found to operate in accordance with those Guidelines (DEH 2004b). The Abalone Managed Fishery has also received MSC certification (Hart *et al.* 2017).

A series of fisheries research reports have been produced by DPIRD which complement annual reporting and management, and these are summarised together with scientific publications under section 3.6.

#### 8.2.2 Management plan responsibilities

Management of the fisheries occurring in Shark Bay are guided by a series of management papers including the Shark Bay Crab Managed Fishery Draft Management Plan 2015 (DoF 2015), Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery Bycatch Action Plan 2014 - 2019 (DoF 2014a), Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery Harvest Strategy 2014-2019 (DoF 2014b), Shark Bay Prawn and Scallop Fisheries Report (DoF 2010), Draft Aquaculture Plan for Shark Bay (DoF 2004), Marine Aquarium Fish Resource of Western Australia Harvest Strategy 2018 - 2022 (DPIRD 2018a), West Coast Rock Lobster Harvest Strategy and Control Rules 2014 - 2019 (DoF 2014c), Abalone Resource of Western Australia Harvest Strategy 2016 - 2021 (DoF 2017) and Specimen Shell Fishery Management Plan 1995. A shift to an Ecosystem Based Fisheries Management approach is detailed in Fletcher *et al.* (2016) which discusses how a single comprehensive harvest strategy can address all target species, sector allocations, economic, social and ecological objectives.

DPIRD also has responsibilities towards the:

- Shark Bay World Heritage Property Strategic Plan 2008-2020
- Fisheries Environmental Management Plan for the Gascoyne Region 2002
- Gascoyne Aquaculture Development
   Plan 1996

In 2000, a comprehensive Fisheries Environmental Management Review was undertaken for the Gascoyne region which included histories, descriptions and environmental considerations of the fisheries operating in Shark Bay, as well as legislative and administrative arrangements, stakeholder interests and environmental management issues (Shaw 2000; Shaw 2002).

#### 8.2.3 Permits and licences

Of relevance to Shark Bay, DPIRD issues licences, permits and leases under the Aquatic Resources Management Act 2016. Marine activities in Shark Bay that would require authorisation include:

- Commercial fishing
- Recreational fishing
- Fish processing
- Aquaculture

#### 8.3 Shark Bay World Heritage Advisory Committee

The SBWHAC was formed in 2012 following the amalgamation of the Shark Bay World Heritage Area Community Consultative Committee and Shark Bay World Heritage Property Scientific Advisory Committee.

The SBWHAC provides advice to the Minister of the Environment and to the National Environmental Protection Council (formerly Environmental Protection Heritage Council). Advice includes matters relating to:

- Protection, conservation, presentation and management of the SBWHA from the viewpoint of the community
- Research priorities which contribute to the protection and conservation of the SBWHA and understanding of its natural history

- New information or developments relevant to protection, conservation or presentation of the SBWHA
- The scientific basis of management principles and practices
- Legislative processes for environmental assessment and
- The maintenance of outstanding universal values and integrity of the SBWHA

#### 8.4 Local Government

The SBWHA is located in the Shire of Shark Bay and Shire of Carnarvon. The Shires are responsible for decision making and management in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995. The Shires in partnership with state and Commonwealth agencies are responsible for implementing policies to help protect and conserve World Heritage values. The Shire's responsibilities include:

- Managing shire reserves within the SBWHA
- Working with state government agencies and other key stakeholders to ensure SBWHA values are not compromised and
- Providing input into the management planning process for the SBWHA

Management plans under the responsibility of the Shire of Shark Bay include:

- Shire of Shark Bay Town Planning Scheme No. 4
- Shark Bay (Yandani Gutharragudu) Investment Prospectus 2017
- Shark Bay Strategic Community Plan
  2018-2028
- Shark Bay Corporate Business Plan 2019-2023
- Shark Bay Strategic Resource Plan 2019-2034
- Shark Bay Local Tourism Planning Strategy 2014

The Shire of Shark Bay (and surrounding Shires) also has some responsibilities towards the following regional plans:

- Gascoyne Regional Development Plan
  2010-2020
- Gascoyne Regional Tourism Strategy 2014
- Gascoyne Regional Planning and Infrastructure Framework 2015
- Roads 2030 Strategies for Significant Local Government Roads - Gascoyne Region 2013

#### 8.5 Adaptive management

The marine ecosystem of Shark Bay and the natural values that designate it a World Heritage Area are under threat from climate change. There is a need to understand how Shark Bay will adapt to ecosystem change and how adaptive management frameworks can incorporate ecosystem change. There are many definitions of adaptive management, though essentially it can be broken down to continually improving management practices when new knowledge is obtained. For Shark Bay following the 2011 marine heatwave, there is a need to develop rapid response plans and to understand the consequences of ecosystem change in order to better inform adaptive management.

The two primary state government agencies with management responsibilities in Shark Bay, DBCA and DPIRD, are currently working under an adaptive management framework that could benefit from understanding how Shark Bay will respond and adapt to ecosystem change.

The ecological monitoring carried out by DBCA in the Shark Bay marine reserves has provided benchmarks for which to assess the condition of ecological values over time (DBCA 2019b). DBCA states that

"The information in this report provides a benchmark assessment of the condition of key ecological values of the Shark Bay marine reserves and some of the pressures acting on them. The analyses and synthesis information provided here and in subsequent updated reports will inform adaptive management of the Shark Bay marine reserves by providing a knowledge-based understanding around key management objectives"

Two examples of ongoing adaptive management by DBCA include the provisioned dolphins off the shores of Monkey Mia and commercial operations in Red Cliff Bay. DBCA and predecessors have managed the provisioning of dolphins since 1996 and have adapted management based on updated science and reviews of the feeding program (e.g. Wilson 1996). Research by Bejder et al. (2006b) revealed that an increase in the number of tour operators, from one to two, offering marine mammal interactions corresponded to a significant average decline in dolphin abundance at Red Cliff Bay. Research such as this was used to inform management and led to the establishment of the Red Cliff Bay Marine Mammal Interaction Restriction Area, where a maximum of one commercial vessel is allowed a licence to enter the zone and conduct marine mammal interactions. The licence also states extra conditions, such as no feeding of marine mammals and speed restrictions (DBCA 2019a).

The EBFM framework implemented by DPIRD allows for the reassessment and amendment of risks to assets and issues based on the monitoring outcomes of the previous year (Fletcher *et al.* 2010). The annual State of the Fisheries reports use the EBFM approach to present assessments and risk status of assets (Gaughan and Santoro 2019).

An example of effective adaptive management by DPIRD and predecessors (before the implementation of EBFM) is that of pink snapper. When pink snapper were fished to the brink of collapse in the late 1990s, a series of adaptive management strategies and targeted research led to the recovery of spawning stocks (Jackson and Moran 2012). Long-term monitoring of recreational fishing in Shark Bay has been able to show the immediate response of fishers to these different adaptive management strategies (Wise *et al.* 2012). Today, seasonal closures, bag limits and minimum legal size limits are still used to manage pink snapper stocks in Shark Bay.

# 9. Tenure and legislation

Juvenile cardinal fish, Faure Sill (Photo: Rachel Austin)
### 9.1 Existing tenure

#### 9.1.1 State and Commonwealth waters

Western Australian state waters encompass the coastline out to three nautical miles, including estuaries and embayments, and are managed by the Western Australian Government and state legislation.

Commonwealth marine waters stretch from 3 to 200 nautical miles from the coast and are managed by the Australian Government and Commonwealth legislation.

### 9.1.2 Marine protected areas

#### 9.1.2.1 Shark Bay Marine Park (State)

The Shark Bay Marine Park was established in 1990 and encompasses 748,725 hectares which includes most of the waters from the inner gulfs. The Park is currently managed in accordance with the Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006. Four types of zoning are found within the Park and include:

- General Use Zone
- Sanctuary Zones
  - Disappointment Reach Sanctuary Zone
  - Gudrun Wreck Sanctuary Zone
  - Big Lagoon Sanctuary Zone
  - Sandy Point Sanctuary Zone
  - Surf Point Sanctuary Zone
  - Lharidon Bight Sanctuary Zone
  - Eighteen Mile Sanctuary Zone
  - Mary Anne Island Sanctuary Zone
- Special Purpose Zones
  - Wooramel Special Purpose Zone for seagrass protection
  - Gladstone Special Purpose Zone for dugong protection
  - Cape Peron Special Purpose Zone for wildlife viewing and protection
  - Big Lagoon Special Purpose Zone for nursery protection
  - Freycinet Special Purpose Zone for habitat protection
  - Boorabuggatta Special Purpose Zone for habitat protection

- Recreation Zones
  - Dubaut Inlet Recreation Zone
  - Monkey Mia Recreation Zone
  - Little Lagoon Recreation Zone

### 9.1.2.2 Hamelin Pool Marine Nature Reserve (State)

Hamelin Pool Marine Nature Reserve was established to protect the stromatolites in Hamelin Pool. The reserve was established in 1990 and spans 132,000 hectares, and is the only marine nature reserve in Western Australia. The reserve does not allow fishing, and boating is not permitted over stromatolites or within 300m of the shore. The reserve is currently managed in accordance with the Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006.

### 9.1.2.3 Shark Bay Marine Park (Commonwealth)

The Commonwealth Shark Bay Marine Park is one of 13 marine parks that form part of the Australian North-west Marine Parks Network. The Marine Park lies adjacent to the World Heritage Area and the state-managed Shark Bay Marine Park and covers 7443km<sup>2</sup>. The Marine Park is a Multiple Use Zone of class IUCN VI which means the purpose of the area is to conserve ecosystems and habitats together with cultural values and sustainable use of natural resources. The Marine Park allows activities such as general use, recreational fishing and commercial shipping, but requires authorisations for commercial fishing, aquaculture, pearling, tourism, mining, research and monitoring. Management of the Marine Park is in accordance with the Northwest Marine Parks Network Management Plan 2018.

#### 9.1.3 World Heritage Area

The SBWHA was inscribed on the World Heritage List in 1991. The SBWHA spans 22,000km<sup>2</sup> of which 66% is marine. The SBWHA is managed in accordance with the EPBC Act 1999 and the Shark Bay World Heritage Property Strategic Plan 2008-2020. See section 2 for more information on the SBWHA.

### 9.1.4 Terrestrial parks and reserves

The terrestrial parks and reserves are managed in accordance with the Shark Bay Terrestrial Reserves and Proposed Reserve Additions Management Plan 2012. The existing terrestrial parks and reserves falling within the Shark Bay World Heritage Area include:

- Francois Peron National Park
- Dirk Hartog Island National Park
- Shell Beach Conservation Park
- Monkey Mia Conservation Reserve
- Zuytdorp Nature Reserve
- · Bernier and Dorre Islands Nature Reserve
- Koks Island Nature Reserve
- Friday Island Nature Reserve
- Charlie Island Nature Reserve
- Freycinet Double Islands Nature Reserve

### 9.1.5 Pastoral leases

Pastoral leases make up 6%, or 131,732 hectares, of the SBWHA. Portions of pastoral lands have been relinquished and are now used for conservation purposes (232,750 ha) and proposed conservation reserves (80,015 ha). Pastoral leases are managed in accordance with the Land Administration Act 1997.

### 9.1.6 Native title

There are three Native Titles that exist within and around the SBWHA:

 Malgana Shark Bay People: granted Native Title in December 2018 which includes ~28,800km<sup>2</sup> across Shark Bay, the Shark Bay Marine Park, Dirk Hartog Island National Park, Edel Land Peninsula and Steep Point, the town of Denham, Peron Peninsula and some pastoral leases. The Malgana Aboriginal Corporation is responsible for the Native Title across this region

- Nanda People: granted Native Title in November 2018 which includes ~17,000km<sup>2</sup> encompassing the town of Kalbarri, Kalbarri National Park, the Zuytdorp Nature Reserve and the Toolonga Nature Reserve. The Nanda Aboriginal Corporation is responsible for the Native Title across this region
- Gnulli (Yinggarda, Baiyungu and Thalanyji People): granted Native Title in December 2019 which includes ~71,354km<sup>2</sup> across the Shires of Ashburton, Carnarvon, Exmouth and Upper Gascoyne Murchison and Shark Bay. The Yinggarda Aboriginal Corporation and Nganhurra Thanardi Garrbu Aboriginal Corporation are responsible for the Native Title across this region

### 9.2 State legislation

### 9.2.1 Conservation and Land Management Act 1984

The purpose of the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 is to "make better provision for the use, protection and management of certain public lands and waters and the flora and fauna thereof, to establish the Conservation and Parks Commission, to confer functions relating to the conservation, protection and management of biodiversity and biodiversity components, and for incidental or connected purposes".

### 9.2.2 Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016

The Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 "provides for the conservation and protection of biodiversity and biodiversity components in Western Australia, the ecologically sustainable use of biodiversity components in Western Australia, the repeal of the Wildlife Conservation Act 1950 and the Sandalwood Act 1929 and the consequential amendments to other Acts, and for related purposes".

The Act is supported by the Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2018.

### 9.2.3 Environmental Protection Act 1986

The Environmental Protection Act 1986 provides "for an Environmental Protection Authority, for the prevention, control and abatement of pollution and environmental harm, for the conservation, preservation, protection, enhancement and management of the environment and for matters incidental to or connected with the foregoing".

The Act is supported by the Guidance Statement for Assessment of Development Proposals in Shark Bay World Heritage Property No. 49 (2000).

### 9.2.4 Aquatic Resources Management Act 2016

The Aquatic Resources Management Act 2016 provides for "the ecologically sustainable development and management of the state's aquatic resources, the development of strategies and plans for the conservation of aquatic resources and the protection of aquatic ecosystems, the development and management of aquaculture that is compatible with the protection of aquatic ecosystems, the management of aquatic biosecurity, the repeal of the Fish Resources Management Act 1994 and the Pearling Act 1990, and consequential amendments to various other written laws, and for incidental and related purposes".

### 9.2.5 Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972

The Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 makes "provision for the preservation on behalf of the community of places and objects customarily used by or traditional to the original inhabitants of Australia or their descendants, or associated therewith, and for other purposes incidental thereto".

### 9.2.6 Shark Bay Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act 1983

The Shark Bay Solar Salt Industry Agreement Act 1983 ratifies "an agreement between the State of Western Australia and Agnew Clough Limited, Mitsui Salt Pty. Ltd., and Australian Mutual Provident Society with respect to the establishment and carrying on of a solar salt industry and other allied mining and ancillary industries".

### 9.2.7 Other State Acts

Other State Acts that have relevance to Shark Bay include:

- Agriculture and Related Resources
   Protection Act 1976
- Bush Fires Act 1954
- · Fisheries Adjustments Scheme Act 1987
- Fishing and Related Industries
   Compensation (Marine Reserves) Act 1997
- Heritage Act 2018
- Jetties Act 1926
- Land Administration Act 1997
- Local Government Act 1995
- Marine and Harbours Act 1981
- Marine Navigational Aids Act 1973
- Maritime Archaeology Act 1973
- Mining Act 1978
- Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982
- Planning and Development Act 2005
- Public Works Act 1902
- Shipping and Pilotage Act 1967
- Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945
- State Petroleum Act 1967
- State Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982
- Titles (Validation) and Native Title (Effect of Past Acts) Act 1995
- Western Australian Marine Act 1982
- Western Australian Tourism Commission Act 1985

### 9.3 Commonwealth legislation

### 9.3.1 Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (EPBC Act)

The EPBC Act provides protection and conservation for matters of national environmental significance, such as threatened species and ecological communities, migratory species, world heritage properties and heritage places. The EPBC Act also replaced the World Heritage Properties Conservation Act 1983. The objects of the Act are:

- a) to provide for the protection of the environment, especially those aspects of the environment that are matters of national environmental significance
- b) to promote ecologically sustainable development through the conservation and ecologically sustainable use of natural resources
- c) to promote the conservation of biodiversity
- d) to provide for the protection and conservation of heritage
- e) to promote a co-operative approach to the protection and management of the environment involving governments, the community, land-holders and indigenous peoples
- f) to assist in the co-operative implementation of Australia's international environmental responsibilities
- g) to recognise the role of Indigenous people in the conservation and ecologically sustainable use of Australia's biodiversity and
- h) to promote the use of Indigenous peoples' knowledge of biodiversity with the involvement of, and in cooperation with, the owners of the knowledge

### 9.3.2 Underwater Cultural Heritage Act 2018

The Underwater Cultural Heritage Act 2018 replaced the Historic Shipwrecks Act 1976 in July 2019. The Act provides protection for underwater cultural heritage in Australian waters, such as shipwrecks and aircraft remains.

The objects of the Act are:

- a) to provide for the identification, protection and conservation of Australia's underwater cultural heritage
- b) to enable the cooperative implementation of national and international maritime heritage responsibilities and
- c) to promote public awareness, understanding, appreciation and appropriate use of Australia's underwater cultural heritage

### 9.3.3 Native Title Act 1993

The Native Title Act 1993 recognises and protects native title and covers actions affecting native title, compensation for actions affecting native title and determination of native title existence.

The main objects of the Act are:

- a) to provide for the recognition and protection of native title
- b) to establish ways in which future dealings affecting native title may proceed and to set standards for those dealings
- c) to establish a mechanism for determining claims to native title and
- d) to provide for, or permit, the validation of past acts, and intermediate period acts, invalidated because of the existence of native title

### 9.3.4 Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006

The Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 replaced the Petroleum (Submerged Land) Act 1967 in July 2008 and outlines the agreement between Commonwealth and State Governments for exploiting offshore resources.

The objects of the Act are to provide an effective regulatory framework in offshore areas (from 3nm) for:

- a) petroleum exploration and recovery and
- b) the injection and storage of greenhouse gas substances

### 9.3.5 Fisheries Management Act 1991

The Fisheries Management Act 1991 defines the Australian Fishing Zone, outlines Statutory Fishing Rights, licences, permits and offences and also responsibilities towards ecologically sustainable development. The Australian Fisheries Management Authority (AFMA) was established under the Act. The objects of the Act are:

- a) implementing efficient and cost-effective fisheries management on behalf of the Commonwealth
- b) ensuring that the exploitation of fisheries resources and the carrying on of any related activities are conducted in a manner consistent with the principles of ecologically sustainable development (which include the exercise of the precautionary principle), in particular the need to have regard to the impact of fishing activities on non-target species and the long term sustainability of the marine environment
- c) maximising the net economic returns to the Australian community from the management of Australian fisheries
- d) ensuring accountability to the fishing industry and to the Australian community in AFMA's management of fisheries resources and
- e) achieving government targets in relation to the recovery of the costs of AFMA

In addition, the Minister, AFMA and Joint Authorities are to have regard to the objectives of:

- a) ensuring, through proper conservation and management measures, that the living resources of the AFZ are not endangered by overexploitation
- b) achieving the optimum utilisation of the living resources of the AFZ
- c) ensuring that conservation and management measures in the AFZ and the high seas implement Australia's obligations under international agreements that deal with fish stocks
- d) to the extent that Australia has obligations:
  - i. under international law or
  - ii. under the Compliance Agreement or any other international agreement

in relation to fishing activities by Australianflagged boats on the high seas that are additional to the obligations referred to in paragraph (c)—ensuring that Australia implements those first-mentioned obligations and

e) ensuring that the interests of commercial, recreational and Indigenous fishers are taken into account

but must ensure, as far as practicable, that measures adopted in pursuit of those objectives must not be inconsistent with the preservation, conservation and protection of all species of whales.

### 9.4 International treaties and agreements

#### 9.4.1 World Heritage Convention

The Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage, or World Heritage Convention, was established by UNESCO in 1972. The Convention promotes cooperation among countries to protect and preserve World Heritage Areas for future generations. Australia signed the Convention in 1974 and agreed to responsibility of protecting the values of these areas, such as the SBWHA.

### 9.4.2 Climate agreements

Australia is party to the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement. The Kyoto Protocol was entered into force in February 2005 and Australia ratified the agreement in December 2007. The aim of the Protocol was to set internationally binding emission reduction targets. The Paris Agreement was entered into force in November 2016 and Australia also ratified the agreement at the same time. The Agreement aims to prevent global temperatures reaching 2°C (ideally below 1.5°C) above preindustrial levels within this century. Australia has committed to the target of reducing emissions to 26-28% on 2005 levels by 2030.

### 9.4.3 International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships

The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) provides regulations to prevent pollution from vessels, whether that be from accidental pollution or routine operations. Australia is a party to the agreement and implements MARPOL through the Protection of the Sea (Prevention of Pollution from Ships) Act 1983 and the Navigation Act 2012.

### 9.4.4 United Nations Convention for the Law of the Sea

The United Nations Convention for the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) is an agreement that defines the rights and responsibilities of nations that use the world's oceans, and provides guidance on how to conduct business and manage the natural resources in the marine environment. Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZ) for coastal countries were established under UNCLOS, and Australia declared its EEZ in 1979.

### 9.4.5 CITES

Australia signed as a party to CITES (Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) in 1976 and upholds a list of CITES species under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999.* See section 9.5.3.1 for more information on the species from Shark Bay listed under CITES.

### 9.4.6 The Convention on Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna

Though not likely to be encountered within the SBWHA, southern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus maccoyii*, are afforded significant recognition by the Convention on Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna, due to it being a highly valuable and highly migratory species. The agreement is between Australia, Japan and New Zealand with the objective to conserve and sustain global stocks.

### 9.4.7 Migratory species

Australia is party to five agreements relating to migratory species and these are explained in more detail in section 9.5.3.

### 9.5 Listed species

### 9.5.1 Protected species (Commonwealth legislation)

The EPBC Act 1999 provides nationwide protection of the environment and conservation of biodiversity, including Commonwealth waters within the Exclusive Economic Zone exclusive of State managed waters (three nautical miles). Without a permit, it is illegal to kill, injure, take, trade, keep or move a member of a:

- Listed threatened species or ecological community
- Listed migratory species (see section 9.5.3.3)
- Listed marine species

If an action is likely to impact upon threatened species and ecological communities, then it must undergo an environmental assessment and approval process.

The EPBC Act 1999 also has a listing of 'Whales and other cetaceans', where all cetaceans are protected within the Australian Whale Sanctuary that encompasses all Australian waters. It is illegal to injure, take, trade, keep, move, harass, chase, herd, tag, mark or brand a cetacean without a permit.

The EPBC Protected Matters Search Tool was used to identify which listed species were occurring, or possibly occurring, in the Shark Bay region, and these are given in Table 3. Table 2 Commonwealth listed species under the EPBC Act 1999 occurring, or potentially occurring, within Shark Bay. Listings obtained from the EPBC Protected Matters Search Tool. Species are included here if they are categorised as migratory, marine, or threatened. Not all listings are considered threatened.

Species name	Common name	EPBC listing	Comment
	Fishes and sharks		
Campichthys galei	Gale's Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Choeroichthys suillus	Pig-snouted Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Festucalex scalaris	Ladder Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Filicampus tigris	Tiger Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Halicampus brocki	Brock's Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Haliichthys taeniophorus	Ribboned Pipehorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Hippocampus angustus	Western Spiny Seahorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Hippocampus histrix	Spiny Seahorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Hippocampus planifrons	Flat-face Seahorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Hippocampus trimaculatus	Three-spot Seahorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Lissocampus fatiloquus	Prophet's Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Nannocampus subosseus	Bonyhead Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Solegnathus lettiensis	Gunther's Pipehorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Solenostomus cyanopterus	Robust Ghostpipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Stigmatopora argus	Spotted Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Syngnathoides biaculeatus	Double-end Pipehorse	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Trachyrhamphus bicoarctatus	Bentstick Pipefish	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Carcharias taurus (west coast population)	Grey Nurse Shark (west coast population)	Vulnerable	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Carcharodon carcharias	Great White Shark	Vulnerable; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Rhincodon typus	Whale Shark	Vulnerable; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
	Marine/water birds		
Actitis hypoleucos	Common Sandpiper	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Anous stolidus	Common Noddy	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area

Species name	Common name	EPBC listing	Comment
	Marine/water birds		
Anous tenuirostris melanops	Australian Lesser Noddy	Vulnerable; Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Apus pacificus	Fork-tailed Swift	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Ardea alba	Great Egret	Marine	Breeding known to occur within area
Ardea ibis	Cattle Egret	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Arenaria interpres	Ruddy Turnstone	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Calidris acuminata	Sharp-tailed Sandpiper	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris alba	Sanderling	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Calidris canutus	Red Knot	Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris ferruginea	Curlew Sandpiper	Critically Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris melanotos	Pectoral Sandpiper	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris ruficollis	Red-necked Stint	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Calidris tenuirostris	Great Knot	Critically Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Catharacta skua	Great Skua	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Charadrius leschenaultii	Greater Sand Plover	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Charadrius ruficapillus	Red-capped Plover	Marine	Roosting known to occur within area
Charadrius veredus	Oriental Plover	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Chrysococcyx osculans	Black-eared Cuckoo	Marine	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Diomedea amsterdamensis	Amsterdam Albatross	Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Diomedea exulans	Wandering Albatross	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Fregata ariel	Lesser Frigatebird	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Gallinago megala	Swinhoe's Snipe	Marine; Migratory	Roosting likely to occur within area
Gallinago stenura	Pin-tailed Snipe	Marine; Migratory	Roosting likely to occur within area
Haliaeetus leucogaster	White-bellied Sea-Eagle	Marine	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Heteroscelus brevipes	Grey-tailed Tattler	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Himantopus himantopus	Pied Stilt	Marine	Roosting known to occur within area
Hirundo rustica	Barn Swallow	Marine	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Larus novaehollandiae	Silver Gull	Marine	Breeding known to occur within area

Species name	Common name	EPBC listing	Comment
	Marine/water birds		
Larus pacificus	Pacific Gull	Marine	Breeding known to occur within area
Limosa lapponica baueri	Bar-tailed Godwit	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Limosa lapponica baueri	Northern Siberian Bar-tailed Godwit	Critically Endangered	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Limosa limosa	Black-tailed Godwit	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Macronectes giganteus	Southern Giant Petrel	Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Macronectes halli	Northern Giant Petrel	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Merops ornatus	Rainbow Bee-eater	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Motacilla cinerea	Grey Wagtail	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Motacilla flava	Yellow Wagtail	Marine	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Numenius madagascariensis	Eastern Curlew	Critically Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Numenius minutus	Little Curlew	Marine; Migratory	Roosting likely to occur within area
Numenius phaeopus	Whimbrel	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Pandion haliaetus	Osprey	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Pluvialis squatarola	Grey Plover	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Pterodroma mollis	Soft-plumaged Petrel	Vulnerable; Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Puffinus carneipes	Flesh-footed Shearwater	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Puffinus pacificus	Wedge-tailed Shearwater	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Recurvirostra novaehollandiae	Red-necked Avocet	Marine	Roosting known to occur within area
Rostratula benghalensis (sensu lato)	Painted Snipe	Endangered; Marine	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Sterna anaethetus	Bridled Tern	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna bengalensis	Lesser Crested Tern	Marine	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna bergii	Crested Tern	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna caspia	Caspian Tern	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna dougallii	Roseate Tern	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna fuscata	Sooty Tern	Marine	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna nereis	Fairy Tern	Vulnerable; Marine	Breeding known to occur within area
Thalassarche carteri	Indian Yellow-nosed Albatross	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour may occur within area

Species name	Common name	EPBC listing	Comment
	Marine/water birds		
Thalassarche cauta	Shy Albatross	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Thalassarche impavida	Campbell Albatross	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Thalassarche melanophris	Black-browed Albatross	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Thalassarche steadi	White-capped Albatross	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour likely to occur within area
Tringa glareola	Wood Sandpiper	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
Tringa nebularia	Common Greenshank	Marine; Migratory	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Xenus cinereus	Terek Sandpiper	Marine; Migratory	Roosting known to occur within area
	Marine reptiles		
Aipysurus laevis	Olive Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Aipysurus pooleorum	Shark Bay Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Caretta caretta	Loggerhead Turtle	Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Chelonia mydas	Green Turtle	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Dermochelys coriacea	Leatherback Turtle	Endangered; Marine; Migratory	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour known to occur within area
Disteira kingii	Spectacled Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Disteira major	Olive-headed Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Emydocephalus annulatus	Turtle-headed Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Ephalophis greyi	North-western Mangrove Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Hydrophis elegans	Elegant Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Natator depressus	Flatback Turtle	Vulnerable; Marine; Migratory	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour known to occur within area
Pelamis platurus	Yellow-bellied Seasnake	Marine	Species or species habitat may occur within area
	Marine mammals		
Dugong dugon	Dugong	Marine; Migratory	Breeding known to occur within area
Pelamis platurus	Minke Whale	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Balaenoptera borealis	Sei Whale	Vulnerable; Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Balaenoptera edeni	Bryde's Whale	Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Balaenoptera musculus	Blue Whale	Endangered; Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Migration route known to occur within area

Species name	Common name	EPBC listing	Comment
	Marine reptiles		
Balaenoptera physalus	Fin Whale	Vulnerable; Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Delphinus delphis	Common Dolphin	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Eubalaena australis	Southern Right Whale	Endangered; Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Grampus griseus	Risso's Dolphin	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Megaptera novaeangliae	Humpback Whale	Vulnerable; Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Congregation or aggregation known to occur within area
Orcinus orca	Killer Whale	Whales and other Cetaceans; Migratory	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Pseudorca crassidens	False Killer Whale	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Stenella attenuata	Spotted Dolphin	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Tursiops aduncus	Indian Ocean Bottlenose Dolphin	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Tursiops truncatus s. str.	Bottlenose Dolphin	Whales and other Cetaceans	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area

### 9.5.2 Protected species (State legislation)

Protected species in Western Australian waters (within 3 nautical miles of the coast) are legislated by the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 and Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2018. These two documents replaced the Wildlife Conservation Act 1950 and the Sandalwood Act 1929 on 1 January 2019. The conservation categories for species include:

- Critically endangered (CR)- extremely high risk of extinction in the wild in the immediate future
- Endangered (EN)- very high risk of extinction in the wild in the near future
- Vulnerable (V)- high risk of extinction in the wild in the medium term
- Extinct (EX)- extinct in the wild and captivity
- Extinct in the wild (EW)- only existing in captivity, cultivation or as a naturalised population outside previous range
- Migratory species (MI)- species that visit Australia and Australian waters or those protected under international agreements
- Species of special conservation interest (conservation dependent fauna) (CD)species dependant on conservation to prevent a threatened status

- Other specially protected fauna (OS)needing special protection to ensure their conservation
- Priority 1: Poorly-known species (P1)known from a very small number of locations (5 or less) which appear to be under immediate threat. Further survey needed
- Priority 2: Poorly-known species (P2)known from a very small number of locations (5 or less) which tend to be on conservation managed lands, and appear to be under threat. Further survey needed
- Priority 3: Poorly-known species (P3)known from several locations and does not appear under imminent threat. Further survey needed
- Priority 4: Rare, Near Threatened and other species in need of monitoring (P4)adequately known but require regular monitoring

The DBCA NatureMap tool and most recent Threatened and Priority Fauna List were used to identify which conservation listed species were occurring in the Shark Bay region, and these are given in Table 3. Table 3 State listed species identified for Shark Bay as determined by DBCA NatureMap and Threatened and Priority Fauna List.

Scientific name	Common name	WA status
	Sharks	
Rhincodon typus	Whale shark	OS
	Birds	
Actitis hypoleucos	Common Sandpiper	MI
Amytornis textilis textilis	Western Grasswren	P4
Anous stolidus	Common Noddy	MI
Apus pacificus	Fork-tailed Swift	MI
Ardenna carneipes	Flesh-footed Shearwater, Fleshy-footed Shearwater	VU
Ardenna pacifica	Wedge-tailed Shearwater	MI
Arenaria interpres	Ruddy Turnstone	MI
Calamanthus campestris hartogi	Dirk Hartog Island Rufous Fieldwren	VU
Calidris acuminata	Sharp-tailed Sandpiper	MI
Calidris alba	Sanderling	MI
Calidris canutus	Red Knot	EN
Calidris ferruginea	Curlew Sandpiper	CR
Calidris melanotos	Pectoral Sandpiper	MI
Calidris ruficollis	Red-necked Stint	MI
Calidris subminuta	Long-toed Stint	MI
Calidris tenuirostris	Great Knot	CR
Charadrius dubius	Little Ringed Plover	MI
Charadrius leschenaultii	Greater Sand Plover, Large Sand Plover	VU
Charadrius mongolus	Lesser Sand Plover	EN
Charadrius veredus	Oriental Plover	MI
Chlidonias leucopterus	White-winged Black Tern, White-winged Tern	MI
Falco hypoleucos	Grey Falcon	VU
Falco peregrinus	Peregrine Falcon	OS
Fregata ariel	Lesser Frigatebird	MI
Gelochelidon nilotica	Gull-billed Tern	MI
Glareola maldivarum	Oriental Pratincole	MI
Hirundo rustica	Barn Swallow	MI
Hydroprogne caspia	Caspian Tern	MI
Leipoa ocellata	Malleefowl	VU
Limicola falcinellus	Broad-billed Sandpiper	MI
Limnodromus semipalmatus	Asian Dowitcher	MI
Limosa lapponica	Bar-tailed Godwit	MI (& VU or CR at subsp. Level)
Limosa limosa	Black-tailed Godwit	MI
Macronectes giganteus	Southern Giant Petrel	MI
Malurus lamberti bernieri	Shark Bay Variegated Fairy-wren	VU

Scientific name	Common name	WA status
	Birds	
Malurus leucopterus leucopterus	Dirk Hartog black and White Fairy-wren	VU
Numenius madagascariensis	Eastern Curlew	CR
Numenius minutus	Little Curlew, Little Whimbrel	MI
Numenius phaeopus	Whimbrel	MI
Oceanites oceanicus	Wilson's Storm-petrel	MI
Onychoprion anaethetus	Bridled Tern	MI
Oxyura australis	Blue-billed Duck	P4
Pandion cristatus	Osprey, Eastern Osprey	MI
Philomachus pugnax	Ruff (Reeve)	MI
Plegadis falcinellus	Glossy Ibis	MI
Pluvialis fulva	Pacific Golden Plover	MI
Pluvialis squatarola	Grey Plover	MI
Puffinus huttoni	Hutton's Shearwater	EN
Rostratula australis	Australian Painted Snipe	EN
Stercorarius antarcticus lonnbergi	Brown Skua, Subantarctic Skua	P4
Sterna dougallii	Roseate Tern	MI
Sterna hirundo	Common Tern	MI
Sternula albifrons	Little Tern	MI
Stipiturus malachurus hartogi	Dirk Hartog Island Emu-wren	VU
Thalassarche cauta cauta	Shy Albatross	VU
Thalassarche chlororhynchos	Atlantic Yellow-nosed Albatross	VU
Thalassarche chrysostoma	Grey-headed Albatross	VU
Thalasseus bergii	Crested Tern	MI
Tringa brevipes	Grey-tailed Tattler	MI & P4
Tringa glareola	Wood Sandpiper	MI
Tringa nebularia	Common Greenshank, Greenshank	MI
Tringa stagnatilis	Marsh Sandpiper, Little Greenshank	MI
Tringa totanus	Common Redshank, Redshank	MI
Xenus cinereus	Terek Sandpiper	MI
	Marine reptiles	
Caretta caretta	Loggerhead Turtle	EN
Chelonia mydas	Green Turtle	VU
Dermochelys coriacea	Leatherback Turtle	VU
Eretmochelys imbricata	Hawksbill Turtle	VU
	Marine mammal	
Dugong dugon	Dugong	OS
Eubalaena australis	Southern Right Whale	VU
Hydromys chrysogaster	Water-rat, Rakali	P4
Megaptera novaeangliae	Humpback Whale	CD
Neophoca cinerea	Australian Sea Lion	VU

### 9.5.3 International species agreements

### 9.5.3.1 CITES

Australia signed as a party to CITES (Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) in 1976 and upholds a list of CITES species under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999.* 

There are three levels of protection for CITES listed species:

• Appendix I: most endangered species and threatened with extinction. No trade allowed except for non-commercial purposes

- Appendix II: not currently threatened with extinction but may become so. Includes 'look alike species' and permits are needed for international trade
- Appendix III: species that are already regulated by a party to CITES, and of which require international support to ensure sustainability and legal trade

There are 2,428 species found in Australia that are listed as CITES species (<u>www.speciesplus.</u> <u>net/species</u>). Table 4 provides a list of CITES species occurring, or potentially occurring, in Shark Bay.

Scientific name	Common name	<b>CITES</b> listing
Balaenoptera borealis	Sei Whale	Appendix I
Balaenoptera edeni	Bryde's Whale	Appendix I
Balaenoptera musculus	Blue Whale	Appendix I
Balaenoptera physalus	Fin Whale	Appendix I
Caretta caretta	Loggerhead Turtle	Appendix I
Chelonia mydas	Green Turtle	Appendix I
Dermochelys coriacea	Leatherback Turtle	Appendix I
Dugong dugon	Dugong	Appendix I
Eretmochelys imbricata	Hawksbill Turtle	Appendix I
Eubalaena australis	Southern Right Whale	Appendix I
Megaptera novaeangliae	Humpback Whale	Appendix I
Natator depressus	Flatback Turtle	Appendix I
Carcharodon carcharias	Great White Shark	Appendix II
Delphinus delphis	Short-beaked Common Dolphin	Appendix II
Falco hypoleucos	Grey Falcon	Appendix II
Grampus griseus	Risso's Dolphin	Appendix II
Haliaeetus leucogaster	White-bellied Sea Eagle	Appendix II
Hippocampus angustus	Western Spiny Seahorse	Appendix II
Hippocampus histrix	Spiny Seahorse	Appendix II
Hippocampus planifrons	Flat-face Seahorse	Appendix II
Manta alfredi	Reef Manta Ray	Appendix II
Manta birostris	Giant Oceanic Manta Ray	Appendix II
Orcinus orca	Killer Whale	Appendix II
Pandion haliaetus	Eastern Osprey	Appendix II
Pseudorca crassidens	False Killer Whale	Appendix II
Rhincodon typus	Whale Shark	Appendix II
Scleractinia spp.	Scleractinian Corals	Appendix II
Stenella attenuata	Spotted Dolphin	Appendix II
Tursiops truncates s. str.	Bottlenose Dolphin	Appendix II
Tursiops aduncus	Indian Ocean Bottlenose Dolphin	Appendix II

Table 4 CITES listed species occurring, or potentially occurring, in Shark Bay.

### 9.5.3.2 International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling

Australia was a party to the International Convention for the Regulation of Whaling that was signed in 1946 which aimed to conserve and manage whale stocks and the whaling industry. Australia ceased whaling in 1979, including in Shark Bay, and continues to uphold the global moratorium on commercial whaling. All cetaceans are protected under the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999, and are offered protection within the Australian Whale Sanctuary which includes all waters within the Exclusive Economic Zone.

### 9.5.3.3 Migratory species agreements

Due to migratory species having the ability to traverse multiple countries, Australia is a cooperative party to five international migratory species agreements:

- Bonn Convention (also known as the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals): aims to conserve the habitat and migration routes of migratory species and provides the legal framework for coordinated conservation measures across migratory ranges
- CAMBA (China-Australia Migratory Bird Agreement): a bilateral migratory bird agreement with China since 1986 that

conserves and protects migratory birds and important habitats, as well as protects species from take or trade (some limited exceptions)

- JAMBA (Japan-Australia Migratory Bird Agreement): a bilateral migratory bird agreement with China since 1974 that conserves and protects migratory birds and important habitats, as well as protects species from take or trade (some limited exceptions)
- ROKAMBA (Republic of Korea-Australia Migratory Bird Agreement): a bilateral migratory bird agreement with the Republic of Korea since 2007 that conserves and protects migratory birds and important habitats, as well as protects species from take or trade (some limited exceptions)
- ACAP (Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels): aims to conserve albatrosses and petrels by coordinating international activities to mitigate threats to their populations

The EPBC Protected Matters Search Tool was used to identify which migratory species were listed for the Shark Bay region, and these are listed in Table 5. Table 5 Commonwealth listed migratory species identified for Shark Bay using the EPBC Protected Matters Search Tool.

Species name	Common name	Agreement	Comment
	Rays and sharks		
Manta alfredi	Reef Manta Ray	Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Manta birostris	Giant Manta Ray	Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Lamna nasus	Mackerel Shark	Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Carcharodon carcharias	Great White Shark	Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Rhincodon typus	Whale Shark	Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
	Marine/water birds		
Actitis hypoleucos	Common Sandpiper	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Anous stolidus	Common Noddy	CAMBA, JAMBA	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Apus pacificus	Fork-tailed Swift	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Arenaria interpres	Ruddy Turnstone	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Calidris acuminata	Sharp-tailed Sandpiper	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris alba	Sanderling	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Calidris canutus	Red Knot	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris ferruginea	Curlew Sandpiper	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris melanotos	Pectoral Sandpiper	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Calidris ruficollis	Red-necked Stint	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Calidris tenuirostris	Great Knot	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Charadrius Ieschenaultii	Greater Sand Plover	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Charadrius veredus	Oriental Plover	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Diomedea amsterdamensis	Amsterdam Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Diomedea exulans	Wandering Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Fregata ariel	Lesser Frigatebird	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Gallinago megala	Swinhoe's Snipe	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting likely to occur within area
Gallinago stenura	Pin-tailed Snipe	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA. Bonn	Roosting likely to occur within area

Species name	Common name	Agreement	Comment
	Marine/water birds		
Heteroscelus brevipes	Grey-tailed Tattler	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Limosa lapponica baueri	Bar-tailed Godwit	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Limosa limosa	Black-tailed Godwit	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Macronectes giganteus	Southern Giant Petrel	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Macronectes halli	Northern Giant Petrel	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Numenius madagascariensis	Eastern Curlew	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area
Numenius minutus	Little Curlew	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting likely to occur within area
Numenius phaeopus	Whimbrel	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Pandion haliaetus	Osprey	Bonn	Breeding known to occur within area
Pluvialis squatarola	Grey Plover	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Puffinus carneipes	Flesh-footed Shearwater	JAMBA, ROKAMBA	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Puffinus pacificus	Wedge-tailed Shearwater	JAMBA	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna anaethetus	Bridled Tern	CAMBA, JAMBA	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna bergii	Crested Tern	JAMBA	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna caspia	Caspian Tern	JAMBA	Breeding known to occur within area
Sterna dougallii	Roseate Tern	CAMBA, JAMBA	Breeding known to occur within area
Thalassarche carteri	Indian Yellow-nosed Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour may occur within area
Thalassarche cauta	Shy Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Thalassarche impavida	Campbell Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Thalassarche melanophris	Black-browed Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Thalassarche steadi	White-capped Albatross	Bonn, ACAP	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour likely to occur within area
Tringa glareola	Wood Sandpiper	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Tringa nebularia	Common Greenshank	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Species or species habitat known to occur within area

Species name	Common name	Agreement	Comment
	Marine/water birds		
Xenus cinereus	Terek Sandpiper	CAMBA, JAMBA, ROKAMBA, Bonn	Roosting known to occur within area
Caretta caretta	Loggerhead Turtle	Bonn	Breeding known to occur within area
Chelonia mydas	Green Turtle	Bonn	Breeding known to occur within area
Dermochelys coriacea	Leatherback Turtle	Bonn	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour known to occur within area
Natator depressus	Flatback Turtle	Bonn	Foraging, feeding or related behaviour known to occur within area
	Marine mammals		
Dugong dugon	Dugong	Bonn	Breeding known to occur within area
Balaenoptera borealis	Sei Whale	Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Balaenoptera edeni	Bryde's Whale	Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area
Balaenoptera musculus	Blue Whale	Bonn	Migration route known to occur within area
Balaenoptera physalus	Fin Whale	Bonn	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Eubalaena australis	Southern Right Whale	Bonn	Species or species habitat likely to occur within area
Megaptera novaeangliae	Humpback Whale	Bonn	Congregation or aggregation known to occur within area
Orcinus orca	Killer Whale	Bonn	Species or species habitat may occur within area

## 10. Research groups, data and monitoring programs

CRESSI

6

Dr. Simone Strydom assessing seagrass density and cover at DBCA long-term monitoring sites in March 2020 (Photo: DBCA)

SREE

### 10.1 Research groups and project websites

The below listed research groups have focused significant research efforts on the Shark Bay marine environment. The associated project websites contain a wealth of information, including access to scientific publications.

### 10.1.1 Seagrass Research-Kendrick Lab (UWA)

Seagrass Research focuses on the ecology, genetics and evolution, and restoration of benthic habitat forming species, particularly seagrasses, but also corals and macroalgae. Seagrass Research has been monitoring the recovery of seagrass meadows in Shark Bay after the 2011 marine heatwave, and in collaboration with the Shark Bay Malgana Indigenous community, is currently undertaking a project to help restore and assist the recovery of seagrass meadows in Shark Bay.

Project website: www.seagrassresearch.net

### 10.1.2 Shark Bay Ecosystem Research Project- Heithaus Lab (FIU)

The Shark Bay Ecosystem Research Project is an international collaboration of researchers focusing on the ecosystem processes and ecological interactions of marine life and habitats within Shark Bay. In particular, the project has provided the most detailed study of the ecological role of sharks in the world.

Project website: <u>http://faculty.fiu.</u> edu/~heithaus/SBERP/

### 10.1.3 Blue Carbon and Seagrass Research- Lavery Lab (ECU)

Blue Carbon Research documents the role of Shark Bay's seagrass ecosystems in capturing and storing atmospheric carbon dioxide and potential emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> to the atmosphere following disturbances such as the 2011 marine heatwave. Seagrass research is assessing the genetic variability of seagrasses in Shark Bay and its role in resilience and recovery potential of the meadows. Project website: <u>www.ecu.edu.au/schools/</u> <u>science/research-activity/centre-for-marine-</u> <u>ecosystems-research/research-themes/</u> <u>blue-carbon-and-paleo-reconstruction/related-</u> <u>content/lists/blue-carbon-stocks-and-losses-in-</u> <u>the-iconic-shark-bay-world-heritage-area</u>

### 10.1.4 The Shark Bay Dolphin Project

The Shark Bay Dolphin Project is a long-term study that was officially established in 1984. The project focuses on the wild population of bottlenose dolphins in the waters off Monkey Mia in the Eastern Gulf of Shark Bay, and has included research on their behaviour, ecology, genetics, development, communication, social structure, predators and prey. Celine Frere's Research Group also conducts research under the Project.

Project website: www.monkeymiadolphins.org

### 10.1.5 Shark Bay Dolphin Research

#### 10.1.5.1 Dolphin Alliance Project

The Dolphin Alliance Project investigates alliances among wild male bottlenose dolphins in the waters off Monkey Mia in the Eastern Gulf of Shark Bay. Dolphins have been observed since 1982, and the first discovery of alliances came in 1987 when adult males were observed swimming in pairs or trios to herd single females. Since then, there have been discoveries of male "super alliances" and juvenile male alliances.

Project website: <u>www.sharkbaydolphins.org/</u> <u>dolphin-alliance-project</u>

### 10.1.5.2 Dolphin Innovation Project

The Dolphin Innovation Project primarily operates out of Useless Loop in the Western Gulf of Shark Bay and was initiated in 2007. The project investigates tool use by wild bottlenose dolphins and has confirmed that dolphins learn tool use behaviours through cultural transmission.

Project website: <u>www.sharkbaydolphins.org/</u> <u>dolphin-innovation-project</u>

### 10.2 Databases and accessibility

A number of databases exist where data collected from Shark Bay is deposited and made freely available for other agencies and researchers to use (Table 6).

Table 6 Databases containing information and data relevant to Shark Bay.

Database	Website	Data access	Shark Bay data examples
Integrated Marine Observing System (IMOS)	http://imos.org.au/	Data freely available	SST and surface chlorophyll maps via OceanCurrent
Australian Ocean Data Network (AODN)	https://portal.aodn.org.au/	Metadata and/or data freely available	Physical and biological datasets North West Marine Research Inventory WAMSI Project No. 3.8
Australian Government	https://data.gov.au/	Data and/or metadata freely available	Metadata from research projects Maps
Marlin- CSIRO	www.marlin.csiro.au/	Metadata only	Oceanographic data Habitat maps
Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS)	<u>www.aims.gov.au/docs/</u> data/data.html	Metadata, free data ac- cess and restricted data access	Temperature logger data 2012-2014 Remote sampling of corals and fish Whale shark migration patterns
National Map	<u>https://nationalmap.gov.au/</u> about.html	Data freely available and restricted access	Bathymetry Satellite imagery Coastal elevation models Mangrove canopy cover
SeaMap Australia	https://seamapaustralia.org/	Data freely available	Benthic habitat maps
Department of Transport	www.transport.wa.gov.au/ imarine/	Data freely available and/ or restricted access	Nautical charts Tide, wave and weather data Geographic data
Digital Earth Australia- Geoscience Australia	www.ga.gov.au/dea	Data freely available	Intertidal digital elevation and extent models High and low tide composites Waterbodies
Open Data Cube	www.opendatacube.org	Data freely available	Satellite data
Coastal Oceanography	<u>http://anfog.ecm.uwa.edu.</u> au/Model/model.php	Data freely available. Contact: ivica.janekovic@uwa. edu.au	Real time data for: Wind, air temperature, precipitation, reflectivity, mean available convective potential energy Surface currents, sea temperature, salinity
Reef Life Survey	https://reeflifesurvey.com/	Data freely available	Fish and invertebrates Benthic photo quadrats Cryptic fish

### **10.3 Monitoring programs**

A list of current, or recently completed, monitoring programs underway in Shark Bay are given in Table 7. These monitoring programs are carried out by WA government departments and Commonwealth agencies.

Table 7 Current, or recently completed, monitoring programs in Shark Bay.

Agency	Data	Methods	Location	Time frame	Frequency	Contact	Comments		
Water quality									
DBCA	Seawater temperature	In-situ loggers, satellites	Redcliff Bay, Hamelin Pool, Denham, Sandy Point	1985- ongoing	Modelled in situ seawater temperature averaged twice weekly across nocturnal periods	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au			
DBCA/ RAC Monkey Mia Resort	Nitrogen (Total N and DIN)	Water samples at 1 m depth	Foreshore adjacent to Monkey Mia Resort	1989- ongoing	1989, 2001, 2002, 2004, 2005, 2009, 2010, 2012-14, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au			
DBCA/ RAC Monkey Mia Resort	Phosphates (Total P & orthophos- phate)	Water samples at 1 m depth	Foreshore adjacent to Monkey Mia Resort	1989- ongoing	1989, 2001, 2002, 2004, 2005, 2009, 2010, 2012-14, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au			
DBCA/ RAC Monkey Mia Resort	Pathogens (faecal <i>Enterococci</i> spp.)	Water samples at 1 m depth	Foreshore adjacent to Monkey Mia Resort	1989-ongoing	1989, 1990, 2001, 2002, 2004, 2005, 2010-14, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au			
BoM	Rainfall	Recorded from Denham	Denham	1945- ongoing	Annually				
Woorame	l and Gascoyne	river discharge							
DWER	River discharge		Eastern Gulf	1957-2019	Annually				
Sea level									
BoM	Sea level	Logging station	Carnarvon	1985-ongoing	Monthly recordings				
Atmospheric temperature									
BoM	Daily maximum atmospheric temperature (°C)	Weather station	Carnarvon, Denham	1945-ongoing (Car), 1988-ongoing (Den)	Daily				

Agency	Data	Methods	Location	Time frame	Frequency	Contact	Comments	
Groundwater availability								
BoM	Rainfall	Used as a surrogate for above and below ground water availability	Carnarvon, Denham, Useless Loop	1945-ongoing (Car), 1945-ongoing (Den), 1983- 2015 (Use)	Annually			
Seagrass	communities							
DBCA	Areal extent (total seagrass)	Landsat (30x30m) or Sentinel II (10x10m) imagery	Shark Bay	2010- ongoing	2014, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au	2002 comparative data available	
DBCA	Community composition	Benthic images from drop cameras/ 1 m height	Western Gulf, Peron, Monkey Mia, Eastern Gulf	2010- ongoing	2013 ,2016, 2018	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au	Monitoring sites < 8m depth. 1996 comparative data available	
DBCA	<i>P. australis</i> shoot density	20 x 20 cm quadrats at 1.5 m intervals along 3 x 10 m transects	Western Gulf, Peron, Monkey Mia, Eastern Gulf	2010- ongoing	2011, 2014, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au	Predominantly Western Gulf. Wooramel Bank difficult to access; only limited time- series data exist for these sites	
DBCA	<i>P. australis</i> canopy height	20 x 20 cm quadrats at 1.5 m intervals along 3 x 10 m transects	Western Gulf, Peron, Monkey Mia, Eastern Gulf	2010- ongoing	2011, 2014, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au	Predominantly Western Gulf. Wooramel Bank difficult to access; only limited time- series data exist for these sites	
DBCA	<i>P. australis</i> % cover	1 image, 1m above canopy at 1 m intervals along 3 x 10 m transects (30 images per site)	Western Gulf, Peron, Monkey Mia, Eastern Gulf	2010- ongoing	2011, 2014, 2016	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au		
DBCA	A. antarctica stem density	All stems counted in x3 randomly placed 20 x 20 cm quadrats per transect	Eastern Gulf, Western Gulf	2010- ongoing	2014, 2016, planned for March 2020	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au	Initial assessments only	
DBCA	<i>A. antarctica</i> # clusters per stem	1 randomly collected stem per meter (x10 stems per transect), # clusters counted per stem	Eastern Gulf, Western Gulf	2010- ongoing	2014, 2016, planned for March 2020	thomas. holmes@ dbca. wa.gov.au	Initial assessments only	

Agency	Data	Methods	Location	Time frame	Frequency	Contact	Comments	
Seagrass	communities							
DBCA	<i>A. antarctica</i> # leaves per cluster	1 randomly collected stem per meter (x10 stems per transect), # leaves counted per cluster (note: the same stem that is collected for # clusters per stem is used for # leaves per cluster; x30 stems collected per site total)	Eastern Gulf, Western Gulf	2010- ongoing	2014, 2016, planned for March 2020	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	Initial assessments only	
DBCA	<i>A. antarctica</i> canopy height	1 randomly collected stem per meter (x10 stems per transect), maximum extent measured from base to highest leaf tip (cm) per stem (note: the same stem that is collected for # clusters per stem is used for # leaves per cluster; x30 stems collected per site total)	Eastern Gulf, Western Gulf	2010- ongoing	2014, 2016, planned for March 2020	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	Initial assessments only	
Mangrove	S							
DBCA	Arial extent	ALSO AVINIR-2 and SPOT 6 satellite imagery (10-25 m pixel footprints), aerial imagery (0.5 m pixel footprints) and field surveys	Carnarvon coast region, Peron Peninsula, western edge of Western Gulf	2007-ongoing	2007, 2009, 2010, 2013, 2015	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au		
DBCA	Canopy density	ALSO AVINIR-2 and SPOT 6 satellite imagery and field measurements of projected foliage cover	Carnarvon coast region, Peron Peninsula, western edge of Western Gulf		2010, 2015	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au		
Coral reef communities								
DBCA	Coral cover	Benthic images and transects 1 m height (benthic video in 1996)	Western Gulf, east coast of Bernier and Dorre Islands	2011-ongoing	2010, 2011, 2013, 2015, 2018	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	1996 comparative data available	
DBCA	Community composition	Benthic images and transects 1 m height (benthic video in 1996)	Western Gulf, east coast of Bernier and Dorre Islands	2011-ongoing	2010, 2011, 2013, 2015, 2018	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	1996 comparative data available	

Agency	Data	Methods	Location	Time frame	Frequency	Contact	Comments		
Finfish communities									
DBCA	Target species abundance	stereo-DOV, belt transects, during winter in 2010/11 and summer in 2015/18. stereo- BRUV in 2018	Western Gulf, east coast of Bernier and Dorre Islands	2010- ongoing	2010, 2011, 2015, 2018	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	Sites located on coral dominated habitats		
DBCA	Community composition	stereo-DOV, belt transects, during winter in 2010/11 and summer in 2015/18. stereo- BRUV in 2018	Western Gulf, east coast of Bernier and Dorre Islands	2010- ongoing	2010, 2011, 2015, 2018	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	Sites located on coral dominated habitats		
DBCA	Species richness	stereo-DOV, belt transects, during winter in 2010/11 and summer in 2015/18. stereo- BRUV in 2018	Western Gulf, east coast of Bernier and Dorre Islands	2010- ongoing	2010, 2011, 2015, 2018	thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au	Sites located on coral dominated habitats		
Loggerhe	ad turtle tagging	g program							
DBCA/ Woodside	Body and carapace mea- surements, egg counts	Field measurements and tagging	Turtle Bay	1994- ongoing	Annually	tim. grubba@ woodside. com.au, thomas. holmes @dbca. wa.gov.au			
Prawns *									
DPIRD	Catch rates, size structure	Trawls	Denham Sound, central/ northern SB	1982- ongoing	Annually- November	mervi. kangas @dpird. wa.gov.au	Monitoring dates back to 1962 if include commercial and log book data. Data collection more compre- hensive in last 5 years		
DPIRD	Spawning and recruitment, sex ratios	Aboard commercial vessels using nets	Central SB, Eastern Gulf	2000- ongoing	Twice per year	mervi. kangas @dpird. wa.gov.au	Data collection more compre- hensive in last 5 years		
Scallops *									
DPIRD	Total counts, 0+, 1+ and adult counts, sub-samples of length frequency		Northern SB, Denham Sound	1982- ongoing	Annually- Nov; additionally Feb and June since 2011	mervi. kangas @dpird. wa.gov.au	Since 2011, temperature, salinity and ph have been measured in a subset of samples. Additional surveys since 2011 were multispecies focused		

Agency	Data	Methods	Location	Time frame	Frequency	Contact	Comments	
Crabs *								
DPIRD	Catch rates, sex, breeding condition, size composition	Scallop trawl surveys	Central SB, Western Gulf, Eastern Gulf	2002-ongoing	Annually in Nov; additionally Feb and June since 2011	mervi. kangas @dpird. wa.gov.au	Since 2011 surveys were expanded to monitor double the sites and include the Eastern Gulf. Monitoring dates back to 1989 if include commercial and log book data	
DPIRD	Catch rates, sex, breeding condition, size composition	Monitoring of commercial crab trap vessel data	Central and northern SB, Eastern Gulf	2000-2013	Almost monthly	mervi. kangas@ dpird. wa.gov.au	Ceased as trawl monitoring was more informative	
Finfish - S	napper							
DPIRD	Catch rates, sex, length frequency	lchthyoplankton surveys, trawl, trap, line fishing	Eastern & Western Gulfs	1997-2013	Mostly annual surveys	gary. jackson @dpird. wa.gov.au	NHT, FRDC funding. Focus - assessment of snapper stocks	
Finfish - G	irass emperor							
DPIRD	Catch rates, sex, length frequency	Traps, line fishing	Eastern & Western Gulfs	1999-2002	Mostly annual surveys	gary. jackson @dpird. wa.gov.au	FRDC Project 1999/152	
Finfish - B	aldchin							
Murdoch	Catch rates, sex, length frequency	Spear, line fishing	Eastern & Western Gulfs	Early 2000s		david.fair- clough @dpird. wa.gov.au	FRDC Project	
Finfish - Communities								
DPIRD	Community composition	Traps	Eastern & Western Gulfs	1999-2001		gary. jackson @dpird. wa.gov.au	NHT, Environmental, habitat data	
Recreational fishing								
DPIRD	Catch, effort, other	Boat ramp surveys	Monkey Mia, Denham, Nanga	1999-2010, 2016/17, 2018/19	Monthly	gary. Jackson @dpird. wa.gov.au	Most recent surveys RFIF funded	

\* Fisheries independent (standardised scientific survey at sea not affected by changes in fishing efficiency) data collected by Fisheries, DPIRD, as opposed to commercial data collected by commercial fishers

### 10.4 Metadata synthesis

A metadata synthesis was performed for 962 literature/data sources and is provided in the accompanying WAMSI Shark Bay metadata synthesis document found at <u>www.wamsi.org.au/shark-bay-literature-review</u>. Not all 962 sources were included in this literature review document as some sources were references only (e.g. no abstract, no document), in excess of already included sources, supplements or online datasets, however, they are included in the metadata synthesis. The aim of the synthesis was to capture as much metadata information as possible, particularly information on data formats, data availability, data repositories and metadata contacts. Where possible, the metadata included was sourced directly from researchers, however, this was not available from all the sources.

The majority of the research and data sources included in the metadata synthesis focused on ecological assets. Of those ecological assets, 177 outputs were for bottlenose dolphins and 130 outputs related to commercial fisheries. Microbialite communities, seagrass communities, marine turtles and elasmobranchs were also popular fields of study (Fig. 20). It should be noted that many research/data outputs were relevant to more than one ecological asset.



Figure 20 Common ecological assets researched at Shark Bay. 'Other' includes: recreational fisheries, seabirds, coral reef communities, ecological interactions, mangrove communities, sea snakes, water quality, algal communities, planktonic communities, hydrology, aquaculture, sediment quality, bathymetry, introduced species and sponges. An indication of the increase in literature outputs over time is given in Fig. 21. The majority of the literature outputs were scientific papers (~500) followed by reports (~110) (Fig. 22). DPIRD Fisheries (~121) and The University of Western Australia (~115) authored the most outputs, and several other national and international universities were relatively active in Shark Bay (Fig. 23).



Figure 21 Literature outputs for Shark Bay since 1949.



Figure 22 Categories of literature outputs used in the WAMSI Shark Bay Literature Review.



Australia Institute of Marine Science Australian National University Australian Venture Consultants Baas Becking Geobiological Lab Birdlife WA Birds Australia WA Inc British Museum of Natural History California Academy of Sciences Conservation Council WA Centre for Whale Research Columbia University Cornell College CRC for Sustainable Tourism Dalhousie University Damara WA De Montfort University Department of Agriculture DPLH\* DWER\* Ecocean Economic Research Associated Environment Australia FRDC Freie Universität Berlin Geological Survey of Canada Geological Survey of WA Geosciences Australia Griffith University IMAS

Kenyon College La Trobe University Macquarie University Massey University Montana State University Mote Marine Laboratory NASA Ames Research Center Northern Rivers College of Advanced Education Project Manta Queen's University Belfast Queens College Rangelands NRM Recfishwest Rick Scoones & Associates Smithsonian Institution Texas A&M University The Shire of Shark Bay The University of Adelaide The University of Hong Kong The University of Michigan The University of Tokyo Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology UMASS-Dartmouth University College London University of Bristol University of Calgary

JAMSTEC

University of California University of Cambridge University of Canberra University of Canterbury University of Carolina University of Colorado University of Florida University of Jordan University of Leeds University of Maryland University of Melbourne University of Michigan University of New England University of North Carolina University of Otago University of Queensland University of Rhode Island University of Southern California University of St Andrews University of Sydney University of Texas University of the Sunshine Coast University of Washington University of Technology Sydney VIMS WA Herbarium Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution Woodside Energy

Figure 23 Local, national and international institutions and agencies that have produced a literature output for Shark Bay. Only first author institutions details are included. \* includes all predecessors.

# 11. References

Acropora, Dirk Hartog Island (Photo: Rachel Austin) Abreu Araujo, T.A. (2015) Analytical modeling of conservation of mass and salt to quantify groundwater influx into Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Master's Thesis, University of Miami.

Ahearn, S.P. (2019) A Geochemical Description of Shark Bay's Hamelin Pool, WA. Master's Thesis, University of Miami, 149 pp.

Al-Qassab, S., Lee, W.J., Murray, S., Simpson, A.G.B., and Patterson, D.J. (2002) Flagellates from stromatolites and surrounding sediments in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Acta Protozoologica 41(2), 91-144.

Allen, M.A., Goh, F., Burns, B.P., and Neilan, B.A. (2009) Bacterial, archaeal and eukaryotic diversity of smooth and pustular microbial mat communities in the hypersaline lagoon of Shark Bay. Geobiology 7(1), 82-96. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4669.2008.00187.x.

Allen, M.A., Neilan, B.A., Burns, B.P., Jahnke, L.L., and Summons, R.E. (2010) Lipid biomarkers in Hamelin Pool microbial mats and stromatolites. Organic Geochemistry 41(11), 1207-1218. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.orggeochem.2010.07.007</u>.

Allen, S.J., Bejder, L., and Krützen, M. (2011) Why do Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) carry conch shells (*Turbinella* sp.) in Shark Bay, Western Australia? Marine Mammal Science 27(2), 449-454. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2010.00409.x</u>.

Allen, S.J., Bryant, K.A., Kraus, R.H.S., Loneragan, N.R., Kopps, A.M., Brown, A.M., Gerber, L., and Krützen, M. (2016) Genetic isolation between coastal and fisheryimpacted, offshore bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops* spp.) populations. Molecular Ecology 25(12), 2735-2753. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mec.13622</u>.

Anderson, P.K. (1982) Studies of dugongs at Shark Bay, Western Australia I. Analysis of population size, composition, dispersion and habitat use on the basis of aerial survey. Wildlife Research 9(1), 69-84. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/WR9820069</u>.

Anderson, P.K. (1986) Dugongs of Shark Bay, Australia seasonal migration, water temperature, and forage. National Geographic Research 2(4), 473-490.

Anderson, P.K. (1994) Dugong distribution, the seagrass Halophila spinulosa, and thermal environment in winter in deeper waters of eastern Shark Bay, WA. Wildlife Research 21(4), 381-387. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/ WR9940381</u>.

Anderson, P.K. (1995) Scarring and photoidentification of dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Aquatic Mammals 21, 205-212. Anderson, P.K. (1997) Shark Bay dugongs in summer. I: Lek mating. Behaviour 134(5-6), 433-462. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/156853997X00629</u>.

Anderson, P.K. (1998) Shark Bay dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) in summer. II: Foragers in a Halodule-dominated community. Mammalia 62(3), 409-425. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1515/mamm.1998.62.3.409</u>.

Anderson, P.K., and Anderson, P.K. (1982) Studies of dugongs at Shark Bay, Western Australia. II. Surface and subsurface observations. Australian Wildlife Research 9(1), 85-99. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/WR9820085</u>.

Anderson, P.K., and Robert, I.T.P. (1985) Predation on Dugongs: Attacks by Killer Whales. Journal of Mammalogy 66(3), 554-556. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.2307/1380933</u>.

Arias-Ortiz, A., Serrano, O., Masqué, P., Lavery, P.S., Mueller, U., Kendrick, G.A., Rozaimi, M., Esteban, A., Fourqurean, J.W., Marbà, N., Mateo, M.A., Murray, K., Rule, M.J., and Duarte, C.M. (2018) A marine heatwave drives massive losses from the world's largest seagrass carbon stocks. Nature Climate Change 8(4), 338-344. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/s41558-018-0096-y</u>.

Armstrong, A., Armstrong, A., Bennett, M., McGregor, F., Abrantes, K., Barnett, A., Richardson, A., Townsend, K., and Dudgeon, C. (2019) The geographic distribution of reef and oceanic manta rays (*Mobula alfredi* and *Mobula birostris*) in Australian coastal waters. Journal of Fish Biology. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14256</u>.

Atkinson, M.J. (1987) Low phosphorus sediments in a hypersaline marine bay. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 24(3), 335-347. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0272-7714(87)90054-0</u>.

Atkinson, M.J. (1990) Dynamics of phosphate in Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report on the France-Australe Bicentenary Expedition Committee. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.

Australian Venture Consultants (2016a) Aquaculture prospects – finfish species: A study of the commercial feasibility of aquaculture in the Pilbara-Gascoyne regions using a finfish species. Australian Venture Consultants. 67 pp.

Australian Venture Consultants (2016b) Edible oyster aquaculture in the Pilbara and Gascoyne regions of Western Australia: A preliminary feasibility assessment. Australian Venture Consultants. 88 pp.

- Awramik, S.M., and Riding, R. (1988) Role of algal eukaryotes in subtidal columnar stromatolite formation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 85(5), 1327-1329. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/</u> <u>pnas.85.5.1327</u>.
- Awramik, S.M., and Vanyo, J.P. (1986) Heliotropism in Modern Stromatolites. Science 231(4743), 1279-1281. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.231.4743.1279.
- Ayvazian, S., Chatfield, B., Gaughan, D., Keay, I., and Nowara, G. (2004) The age, growth, reproductive biology and stock assessment of grass emperor, *Lethrinus laticaudis* in Shark Bay, Western Australia. FRDC Project No. 1999/152. Department of Fisheries Research Division, Western Australia. 85 pp.
- Babilonia, J., Conesa, A., Casaburi, G., Pereira, C., Louyakis, A.S., Reid, R.P., and Foster, J.S. (2018) Comparative Metagenomics Provides Insight Into the Ecosystem Functioning of the Shark Bay Stromatolites, Western Australia. Frontiers in Microbiology 9, 1359-1359. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01359.
- Bach, L., and Burton, M. (2017) Proximity and animal welfare in the context of tourist interactions with habituated dolphins. Journal of Sustainable Tourism 25(2), 181-197. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2016.1195835</u>.
- Bacher, K. (2008) The evolutionary and ecological mechanisms underlying the rise of material culture in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Master's Thesis, University of Zurich, 154 pp.
- Bacher, K., Allen, S., Lindholm, A.K., Bejder, L., and Krützen, M. (2010) Genes or Culture: Are Mitochondrial Genes Associated with Tool Use in Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.)? Behavior Genetics 40(5), 706-714. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10519-010-9375-8.
- Baldwin, R., Hughes, G., and Prince, R. (2003) Loggerhead turtles in the Indian Ocean. In Loggerhead Sea Turtles. (Eds. BE Bolten and AB Witherington) pp. 218–234.
  Smithsonian Books: Washington, DC.
- Bancroft, K.P. (2009) Mapping the Coral Reef Communities of Shark Bay Marine Protected Areas: Data Collected during the February 2008 Field Survey. Marine Science Program Data Report Series, vol. 3. Department of Environment and Conservation. Kensington, Perth, Western Australia 45 pp.
- Bannister, J.L., and Hedley, S.L. (2001) Southern Hemisphere Group IV humpback whales: Their status from recent aerial survey. Memoirs of the Queensland Museum 47(2), 587-598.

- Barnes, R., and Davie, P.J. (2008) A new species of the sentinel crab *Macrophthalmus (Mareotis)* Barnes, 1967 (Crustacea: *Brachyura:* Macrophthalmidae) from Western Australia. *Zootaxa* 1807(1), 63-68. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.1807.1.4</u>.
- Barry, G., and Woelkerling, W.J. (1995) Non-geniculate species of Corallinaceae (Corallinales, Rhodophyta) in Shark Bay, Western Australia: biodiversity, salinity tolerances and biogeographic affinities. Botanica Marina 38(1-6), 135-150. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/</u> <u>botm.1995.38.1-6.135</u>.
- Bastow, T.P., Jackson, G., and Edmonds, J.S. (2002) Elevated salinity and isotopic composition of fish otolith carbonate: stock delineation of pink snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Biology 141(5), 801-806. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-002-0884-8</u>.
- Baudains, G. (1999) Population genetic structure of pink snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) in the Eastern Gulf of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Report for Natural Heritage Trust, Canberra. Fisheries WA, Perth. 25 pp.
- Bauld, J. (1984) Microbial mats in marginal marine environments: Shark Bay, Western Australia, and Spencer Gulf, South Australia. In Microbial Mats: Stromatolites. (Eds. HO Halvorson, Y Cohen and RW Castenholz) pp. 39–58. Alan R Liss: New York.
- Bauld, J., Chambers, L., and Skyring, G. (1979) Primary productivity, sulfate reduction and sulfer isotope fractionation in algal mats and sediments of Hamelin pool, Shark Bay, WA. Marine and Freshwater Research 30(6), 753-764. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF9790753</u>.
- Bauld, J., Favinger, J.L., Madigan, M.T., and Gest, H.
   (1986) Obligately halophilic *Chromatium vinosum* from Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Australia. Current Microbiology 14(6), 335-339. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BF01568700</u>.
- Bayliss, P., Raudino, H., Hutton, M., Murray, K., Waples, K., and Strydom, S. (2019) Modelling the spatial relationship between dugong (*Dugong dugon*) and their seagrass habitat in Shark Bay Marine Park before and after the marine heatwave of 2010/11. Report 2 to DBCA Marine Programme and National Environmental Science Programme. 55 pp.
- Bejder, L. (2005) Linking short and long-term effects of nature-based tourism on cetaceans. PhD Thesis, Dalhousie University, 174 pp.
- Bejder, L., and Samuels, A. (2003) Evaluating impacts of nature-based tourism on cetaceans. In Marine Mammals and Humans: Towards a sustainable balance. (Eds. N Gales, M Hindell and R Kirkwood) pp. 480.
  CSIRO Publishing.

Bejder, L., Samuels, A., Whitehead, H., and Gales, N. (2006a) Interpreting short-term behavioural responses to disturbance within a longitudinal perspective. Animal Behaviour 72(5), 1149-1158. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>anbehav.2006.04.003</u>.

Bejder, L., Samuels, A., Whitehead, H., Gales, N., Mann, J., Connor, R., Heithaus, M., Watson-Capps, J., Flaherty, C., and Krützen, M. (2006b) Decline in relative abundance of bottlenose dolphins exposed to long-term disturbance. Conservation Biology 20(6), 1791-1798. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00540.x.

Belicka, L.L., Burkholder, D., Fourqurean, J.W., Heithaus, M.R., Macko, S.A., and Jaffé, R. (2012) Stable isotope and fatty acid biomarkers of seagrass, epiphytic, and algal organic matter to consumers in a pristine seagrass ecosystem. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1085-1097. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf12027</u>.

Bell, S.Y., Fraser, M.W., Statton, J., and Kendrick, G.A. (2019) Salinity stress drives herbivory rates and selective grazing in subtidal seagrass communities. PLOS ONE 14(3), e0214308. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214308</u>.

Bellchambers, L., Sumner, N., and Melville-Smith, R. (2005)
 Development of stock allocation and assessment
 techniques in WA blue swimmer crab fisheries. FRDC
 Project No. 2001/068. Department of Fisheries,
 Research Division, Western Australia. 205 pp.

- Benthuysen, J., Feng, M., and Zhong, L. (2014) Spatial patterns of warming off Western Australia during the 2011 Ningaloo Niño: quantifying impacts of remote and local forcing. Continental Shelf Research 91, 232-246. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2014.09.014.
- Bentley, B.P., Haas, B.J., Tedeschi, J.N., and Berry, O. (2017) Loggerhead sea turtle embryos (*Caretta caretta*) regulate expression of stress response and developmental genes when exposed to a biologically realistic heat stress. Molecular Ecology 26(11), 2978-2992. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mec.14087</u>.

Berry, G., and Cannon, L. (1981) The life history of Sulcascaris sulcata (Nematoda: Ascaridoidea), a parasite of marine molluscs and turtles. International Journal for Parasitology 11(1), 43-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0020-7519(81)90024-2</u>.

Berry, P.F., and Playford, P.E. (1997) Biology of modern Fragum erugatum (Mollusca, Bivalvia, Cardiidae) in relation to deposition of the Hamelin Coquina, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 48(5), 415-420. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u><u>MF97005</u>. Bessey, C., Heithaus, M.R., Fourqurean, J.W., Gastrich, K.R., and Burkholder, D.A. (2016) Importance of teleost macrograzers to seagrass composition in a subtropical ecosystem with abundant populations of megagrazers and predators. Marine Ecology Progress Series 553, 81-92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps11790</u>.

Bichell, L.M.V., Krzyszczyk, E., Patterson, E.M., and Mann, J. (2018) The reliability of pigment pattern-based identification of wild bottlenose dolphins. Marine Mammal Science 34(1), 113-124. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mms.12440</u>.

Bierwirth, P., Lee, T.J., and Burne, R. (1993) Shallow seafloor reflectance and water depth derived by unmixing multispectral imagery. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing; (United States) 59, 331-338.

Binks, R.M., Byrne, M., McMahon, K., Pitt, G., Murray, K., and Evans, R.D. (2019) Habitat discontinuities form strong barriers to gene flow among mangrove populations, despite the capacity for long-distance dispersal. Diversity and Distributions 25(2), 298-309. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12851</u>.

Birdlife Western Australia (2018) Birdwatching around Shark Bay. Birdlife Western Australia. <u>https://www.sharkbay.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Birdlife-WA-Shark\_Bay-Birdwatching.pdf</u>.

Birds Australia Western Australia Inc. (2006) Birds of Shark Bay. Birds Australia Western Australia Inc. <u>https://cdn-sharkbaywa.pressidium.com/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2017/04/shark\_bay\_bird\_species\_list.pdf</u>.

Bizzozzero, M.R., Allen, S.J., Gerber, L., Wild, S., King, S.L., Connor, R.C., Friedman, W.R., Wittwer, S., and Krützen, M. (2019) Tool use and social homophily among male bottlenose dolphins. Proceedings: Biological Sciences 286(1904), 20190898-20190898. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.0898</u>.

Black, R., and Peterson, C.H. (1988) Absence of preemption and interference competition for space between large suspension-feeding bivalves and smaller infaunal macroinvertebrates. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 120(3), 183-198. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0022-0981(88)90001-9</u>.

Black, R., Robertson, A., Peterson, C., and Peterson, N. (1990) Fishes and benthos of near-shore seagrass and sand flat habitats at Monkey Mia, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe Biocentenary Expedition Committee, Perth: Western Australia Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson) pp. 245-261.

- Blair, D., and Limpus, C.J. (1982) Some Digeneans (Platyhelminthes) parasitic in the loggerhead turtle, *Caretta caretta* (L). In Australia. Australian Journal of Zoology 30(4), 653-680. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>ZO9820653</u>.
- Bouchet, P.J., Meeuwig, J.J., Huang, Z., Letessier, T.B., Nichol, S.L., Caley, M.J., Watson, R.A., and Bates, A. (2017) Continental-scale hotspots of pelagic fish abundance inferred from commercial catch records. Global Ecology and Biogeography 26(10), 1098-1111. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/geb.12619</u>.
- Bowdler, S. (1990a) Archaeological research in the Shark Bay region, Western Australia: an introductory account. In Research in Shrk Bay: Report to the France-Australe Bicentenary Expedition Commitee. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.
- Bowdler, S. (1990b) Before Dirk Hartog: Prehistoric Archaeoidgical Research in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Australian Archaeology 30(1), 46-57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03122417.1990.11681366.
- Bowdler, S. (1990c) The silver dollar site, Shark Bay: An interim report. Australian Aboriginal Studies(2), 60-63.
- Bowdler, S. (1995) The excavation of two small rockshelters at Monkey Mia, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Australian Archaeology 40. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03122417.1</u> <u>995.11681540</u>.
- Bowdler, S. (1999) Research at Shark Bay, WA and the nature of coastal adaptations in Australia. In Australian Coastal Archaeology. pp. 79-84. ANU E Press.
- Bowen, B.K. (1961) The Shark Bay fishery on snapper (*Chrysophrys unicolor*). Report No. 1. Fisheries Department, Western Australia. 18 pp.
- Braccini, M., and Taylor, S. (2016) The spatial segregation patterns of sharks from Western Australia. Royal Society Open Science 3(8), 160306-160306. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1098/rsos.160306</u>.
- Bray, R.A. (1990) Two new opecoelids (Digenea) in the flatfish *Pseudorhombus jenynsi* (Bleeker) from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Systematic Parasitology 15(1), 33-40. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00009916</u>.
- Bridgewater, P.B., and Cresswell, I.D. (1999) Biogeography of mangrove and saltmarsh vegetation: implications for conservation and management in Australia. Mangroves and Salt Marshes 3(2), 117-125. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1023/A:1009905127930</u>.

- Bridgwood, S., and McDonald, J. (2014) A likelihood analysis of the introduction of marine pests to Western Australian ports via commercial vessels. Fisheries Research Report No. 259. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 212 pp.
- Brighthouse Strategic Consultants (2013) Draft Report on the economic and social impacts of a proposed marina facility at Stella Rowley Drive, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Prepared for the Shire of Shark Bay and Department of Regional Development. 108 pp.
- Broadhurst, M.K., Kangas, M.I., Damiano, C., Bickford, S.A., and Kennelly, S.J. (2002) Using composite square-mesh panels and the Nordmøre-grid to reduce bycatch in the Shark Bay prawn-trawl fishery, Western Australia. Fisheries Research 58(3), 349-365. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/S0165-7836(01)00390-3</u>.
- Brown, P.H. (2001) Terrestrial Attributes of the Shark Bay World Heritage Property that give rise to its Outstanding Universal Value. Department of Environment and Heritage, Australia. 69 pp.
- Brown, R.G., and Woods, P.J. (1974) Sedimentation and tidal-flat development, Nilemah Embayment, Shark
  Bay, Western Australia. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western
  Australia. (Eds. BW Logan, JF Read, GM Hagan, P
  Hoffman, RG Brown, PJ Woods and CD Gebelein).
  American Association of Petroleum Geologists.
  http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/M22379C7.
- Bruce, E.M. (1997) Application of spatial analysis to coastal and marine management in the Shark Bay World Heritage Area, Western Australia. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Western Australia.
- Bruce, E.M., Eliot, I.G., and Milton, D.J. (1997) Method for assessing the thematic and positional accuracy of seagrass mapping. Marine Geodesy 20(2-3), 175-193. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01490419709388104.
- Bruce, L.C., and Imberger, J. (2009) The role of zooplankton in the ecological succession of plankton and benthic algae across a salinity gradient in the Shark Bay solar salt ponds. Hydrobiologia 626(1), 111-128. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s10750-009-9740-x</u>.
- Bufarale, G. (2014) Growth history of Faure Sill seagrass bank, Shark Bay, during changing sea levels. In Coast to Coast Conference. Mandurah, Western Australia.
- Bufarale, G., and Collins, L. (2015a) Mid-Late Holocene development of the mixed carbonate clastic system of the Faure Channel-Bank complex and Wooramel Delta (Shark Bay, Australia). In AAPG/SEG 2015 International Conference & Exhibition. Melbourne, Australia.

- Bufarale, G., and Collins, L.B. (2015b) Stratigraphic architecture and evolution of a barrier seagrass bank in the mid-late Holocene, Shark Bay, Australia. Marine Geology 359, 1-21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>margeo.2014.11.010</u>.
- Burbidge, A., and Fuller, P.J. (2000) The breeding seabirds of Shark Bay, Western Australia. CALM Science 3, 109-124.
- Burkholder, D.A., Fourqurean, J.W., and Heithaus, M.R. (2013a) Spatial pattern in seagrass stoichiometry indicates both N-limited and P-limited regions of an iconic P-limited subtropical bay. Marine Ecology Progress Series 472, 101-115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/ meps10042</u>.
- Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., and Fourqurean, J.W. (2012) Feeding preferences of herbivores in a relatively pristine subtropical seagrass ecosystem. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1051-1058. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/mf12029</u>.
- Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., Fourqurean, J.W., Wirsing, A., and Dill, L.M. (2013b) Patterns of top-down control in a seagrass ecosystem: could a roving apex predator induce a behaviour-mediated trophic cascade? Journal of Animal Ecology 82(6), 1192-202. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/1365-2656.12097</u>.
- Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., Thomson, J.A., and Fourqurean, J.W. (2011) Diversity in trophic interactions of green sea turtles *Chelonia mydas* on a relatively pristine coastal foraging ground. Marine Ecology Progress Series 439, 277-293. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/ meps09313</u>.
- Burling, M.C., Ivey, G.N., and Pattiaratchi, C.B. (1999) Convectively driven exchange in a shallow coastal embayment. Continental Shelf Research 19(12), 1599-1616. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0278-4343(99)00034-5</u>.
- Burling, M.C., Pattiaratchi, C.B., and Ivey, G.N. (2003) The tidal regime of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 57(5-6), 725-735. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0272-7714(02)00343-8</u>.
- Burne, R., and Hunt, G. (1990) 'The Geobiology of Hamelin Pool: Research Reports of the Baas Becking Geobiological Laboratory's Shark Bay Project.' Commonwealth of Australia 295.
- Burne, R., and Moore, L. (1987) Microbialites: Organosedimentary Deposits of Benthic Microbial Communities. Palaios 2, 241-254. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.2307/3514674.

- Burne, R.V., and Johnson, K. (2012) Sea-level variation and the zonation of microbialites in Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 994-1004. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12184</u>.
- Burns, B.P., Anitori, R., Butterworth, P., Henneberger, R., Goh, F., Allen, M.A., Ibañez-Peral, R., Bergquist, P.L., Walter, M.R., and Neilan, B.A. (2009) Modern analogues and the early history of microbial life. Precambrian Research 173(1), 10-18. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. precamres.2009.05.006</u>.
- Burns, B.P., Goh, F., Allen, M., and Neilan, B.A. (2004) Microbial diversity of extant stromatolites in the hypersaline marine environment of Shark Bay, Australia. Environmental Microbiology 6(10), 1096-1101. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00651.x</u>.
- Burton, C. (2001) Historical and recent distribution of humpback whales in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Memoirs of the Queensland Museum 47(2), 599-611.
- CALM (1993) Monkey Mia Reserve: Draft Management Plan. Deptartment of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia.
- CALM (1996) Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006. Report prepared for the National Parks and Nature Conservation Authority. 114 pp.
- CALM (2002a) Monkey Mia Visitor Feedback Program, May 2002. Deptartment of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia.
- CALM (2002b) Monkey Mia Visitor Feedback Program, October 2002. Deptartment of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia.
- CALM (2003) Monkey Mia Visitor Feedback Program, June 2003. Deptartment of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia.
- Cambridge, M.L., Fraser, M.W., Holmer, M., Kuo, J., and Kendrick, G.A. (2012) Hydrogen sulfide intrusion in seagrasses from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1027. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/MF12022</u>.
- Campbell, K. (2017) The influence of environmental variables on the fish species and assemblages of Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay World Heritage Area, Western Australia. Honours Thesis, Curtin University, 58 pp.
- Caputi, N. (1993) Aspects of spawner-recruit relationships, with particular reference to crustacean stocks: a review. Marine and Freshwater Research 44(4), 589-607. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF9930589.

- Caputi, N., de Lestang, S., Hart, A., Kangas, M., Johnston, D., and Penn, J. (2014a) Catch predictions in stock assessment and management of invertebrate fisheries using pre-recruit abundance- case studies from Western Australia. Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture 22(1), 36-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/106</u> <u>41262.2013.832144</u>.
- Caputi, N., Feng, M., Pearce, A., Benthuysen, J., Denham, A., Hetzel, Y., Matear, R., Jackson, G., Molony, B., Joll, L., and Chandrapavan, A. (2015) Management implications of climate change effect on fisheries in Western Australia: Part 1, Fisheries Research and Development Corporation project 2010/535. Fisheries Research Report No. 260. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 180 pp.
- Caputi, N., Fletcher, W.J., Pearce, A., and Chubb, C.F. (1996) Effect of the Leeuwin Current on the recruitment of fish and invertebrates along the Western Australian Coast. Marine and Freshwater Research 47(2), 147-155. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF9960147</u>.
- Caputi, N., Jackson, G., and Pearce, A. (2014b) The marine heatwave off Western Australia during the summer of 2010/11 – 2 years on. Fisheries Research Report No. 250. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 40 pp.
- Caputi, N., Kangas, M., Chandrapavan, A., Hart, A., Feng, M., Marin, M., and de Lestang, S. (2019) Factors affecting the recovery of invertebrate stocks from the 2011 Western Australian extreme marine heatwave. Frontiers in Marine Science 6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fmars.2019.00484</u>.
- Caputi, N., Kangas, M., Denham, A., Feng, M., Pearce, A., Hetzel, Y., and Chandrapavan, A. (2016) Management adaptation of invertebrate fisheries to an extreme marine heat wave event at a global warming hot spot. Ecology and Evolution 6(11), 3583-3593. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/ece3.2137</u>.
- Caputi, N., Pearce, A., and Lenanton, R. (2010) Fisheriesdependent indicators of climate change in Western Australia. Fisheries Research Report No. 213. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 36 pp.
- Caputi, N., Penn, J.W., Joll, L.M., and Chubb, C.F. Stockrecruitment-environment relationships for invertebrate species of Western Australia. In 'Proceedings of the North Pacific Symposium on Invertebrate Stock Assessment and Management', 1998. (Eds. GS Jamieson and A Campbell). pp. 247–255.
- Cawley, K.M., Ding, Y., Fourqurean, J., and Jaffé, R. (2012) Characterising the sources and fate of dissolved organic matter in Shark Bay, Australia: a preliminary study using optical properties and stable carbon isotopes. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1098-1107. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12028.

- Chandrapavan, A. (2018) Improving confidence in the management of the blue swimmer crab (*Portunus armatus*) in Shark Bay PART III: Proceedings of the Third National Workshop on Blue Swimmer Crab *Portunus armatus*. FRDC Project No. 2012/015.
  Fisheries Research Report No. 285 Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 88 pp.
- Chandrapavan, A., Caputi, N., and Kangas, M.I. (2019a) The decline and recovery of a crab population from an extreme marine heatwave and a changing climate. Frontiers in Marine Science 6, 510. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00510</u>.
- Chandrapavan, A., Kangas, M., and Caputi, N. (2019b) Understanding recruitment variation (including the collapse) of saucer scallop stocks in Western Australia and assessing the feasibility of assisted recovery measures for improved management in a changing environment. FRDC Project 2015/026. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia (in review).
- Chandrapavan, A., Kangas, M.I., Johnston, D., Caputi, N., Hesp, A., Denham, A., and Sporer, E. (2018)
  Improving confidence in the management of the blue swimmer crab (*Portunus armatus*) in Shark Bay. PART
  I: Rebuilding of the Shark Bay Crab Fishery. . FRDC
  Project No. 2012/015. Fisheries Research Report No. 283, Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 133 pp.
- Chandrapavan, A., Kangas, M.I., and Sporer, E.C. (2012a) Performance of square-mesh codends in reducing discards and by-catch in the Shark Bay scallop fishery. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1142-1151. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12069.
- Chandrapavan, A., Kangas, M.I., and Sporer, E.C. (2012b) Seasonal, Spatial, and Postharvest Variability in the Survival of Repeatedly Discarded Saucer Scallops in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Journal of Shellfish Research 31(4), 1161-1171. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.2983/035.031.0427</u>.
- Charlesworth, J.C., Watters, C., Wong, H.L., Visscher, P.T., and Burns, B.P. (2019) Isolation of novel quorumsensing active bacteria from microbial mats in Shark Bay Australia. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 95(4), fiz035. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiz035.
- Chilvers, B.L., Delean, S., Gales, N.J., Holley, D.K., Lawler, I.R., Marsh, H., and Preen, A.R. (2004) Diving behaviour of dugongs, *Dugong dugon*. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 304(2), 203-224. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2003.12.010.
Chirayath, V., and Earle, S.A. (2016) Drones that see through waves - preliminary results from airborne fluid lensing for centimetre-scale aquatic conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 26, 237-250. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2654</u>.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1954) Studies on the Ovaries of the Humback Whale, *Megaptera nodosa* (Bonnaterre), on the Western Australian Coast. Marine and Freshwater Research 5(1), 35-63. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1071/MF9540035</u>.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1955a) Aspects of Reproduction in the Male Humpback Whale, *Megaptera nodosa* (Bonnaterre). Marine and Freshwater Research 6(1), 1-29. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MF9550001</u>.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1955b) Puberty, Physical Maturity, and Relative Growth of the Female Humpback Whale, *Megaptera nodosa* (Bonnaterre), on the Western Australian Coast. Marine and Freshwater Research 6(3), 315-327. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MF9550315</u>.

 Chittleborough, R.G. (1957) An analysis of recent catches of humpback whales from the stocks in Groups IV and V.
 Prepared for the International Commission on Whaling.
 44 pp.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1958a) Australian catches of humpback whales 1957. Report No. 17. CSIRO Australian Division of Fisheries and Oceanography. 42 pp.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1958b) The Breeding Cycle of the Female Humpback Whale, *Megaptera nodosa* (Bonnaterre). Marine and Freshwater Research 9(1), 1-18. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/</u> MF9580001.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1959a) Determination of Age in the Humpback Whale, *Megaptera nodosa* (Bonnaterre). Marine and Freshwater Research 10(2), 125-143. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/MF9590125</u>.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1959b) Intermingling of two populations of humpback whales. Novsk Hvalfangsttid 48, 510-21.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1960) Australian catches of humpback whales 1959. Report No. 29. Marine Biological Laboratory, CSIRO Australian Division of Fisheries and Oceanography. 30 pp.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1962) Australian catches of humpback whales, 1961 Report No. 34. Marine Biological Laboratory, CSIRO Australian Division of Fisheries and Oceanography. 62 pp. Chittleborough, R.G. (1963) Australian catches of humpback whales, 1962. Report No. 35. Marine Biological Laboratory, CSIRO Australian Division of Fisheries and Oceanography. 32 pp.

Chittleborough, R.G. (1965) Dynamics of two populations of the humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae* (Borowski). Marine and Freshwater Research 16(1), 33-128. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MF9650033</u>.

Chivas, A., Torgersen, T., and Polach, H. (1990) Growth rates and Holocene development of stromatolites from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Australian Journal of Earth Sciences 37(2), 113-121. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1080/08120099008727913</u>.

Christensen, J. (2008) Shark Bay 1616-1991: the spread of science and the emergence of ecology in a World Heritage area. PhD Thesis, University of Western Australia, 320 pp.

Christensen, J. (2009) Shark Bay. In Historical Encyclopaedia of Western Australia. (Eds. J Gregory and J Gothard). The University of Western Australia Press, Crawley.

Christensen, J., and Jackson, G. (2014) Shark Bay Snapper: Science, Policy, and the Decline and Recovery of a Marine Recreational Fishery. In Historical Perspectives of Fisheries Exploitation in the Indo-Pacific. Vol. MARE Publication Series 12. (Eds. J Christensen and M Tull) pp. 251-268. Springer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8727-7\_13</u>.

Clough, J. (2011) Demersal fish assemblage in a unique subtropical embayment. Master's Thesis, University of Western, 37 pp.

Collins, L. (2012) Intertidal and Subtidal Microbialites in the Shark Bay World Heritage Area. Curtin University. 37 pp.

Collins, L., and Jahnert, R. (2014) Stromatolite research in the Shark Bay World Heritage Area. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 97, 189-219. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1002/2013TC003483</u>.

Collins, L.B., James, N.P., and Bone, Y. (2014) Carbonate shelf sediments of the western continental margin of Australia. Geological Society Memoir 41(1), 255-272. http://dx.doi.org/10.1144/M41.19.

Commonwealth of Australia (2017) Recovery Plan for Marine Turtles in Australia 2017-2027. Commonwealth of Australia. 154 pp.

Connor, R., C. (2004) Us against them: Alliances in animals. In The Encyclopedia of Animal Behavior. Vol. 3. (Ed. M Beckoff) pp. 983-985. Greenwood Press: Westport, Connecticut.

- Connor, R., C., Bejder, L., Randić, S., Heithaus, M., and Mann, J. (2010) The number of social relationships in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Ethology.
- Connor, R., C., and Krützen, M. (2003) Levels and patterns in dolphin alliance formation. In Animal Social Complexity: Intelligence, Culture, and Individualized Societies.
  (Eds. F de Waal and PL Tyack) pp. 115-120. Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Connor, R., C., and Mann, J. (2005) Rational dolphins: A walk on the wild side. In Rational Animals? (Eds. S Hurley and M Nudd) pp. 329-367. Oxford University Press.
- Connor, R., C., Richards, A., Smolker, R.A., and Mann, J. (1996) Patterns of female attractiveness in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins. Behaviour 133, 37-69. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1163/156853996X00026.
- Connor, R., and Mann, J. (2006) Social cognition in the wild: Machiavellian dolphins? In Rational Animals? (Eds. S Hurley and M Nudd) pp. 329-368. Oxford University Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/</u> acprof:oso/9780198528272.003.0016.
- Connor, R., Mann, J., and Watson-Capps, J. (2006a) A sex-specific affiliative contact behavior in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops* sp. Ethology 112(7), 631-638. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2006.01203.x</u>.
- Connor, R., and Vollmer, N. (2009) Sexual coercion in dolphin consortships: A comparison with chimpanzees. In Sexual coercion in primates: An evolutionary perspective on male aggression against females. (Eds. MN Muller and RW Wrangham) pp. 218-243. Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Connor, R., Wells, R., Mann, J., and Read, A. (2000a) The bottlenose dolphin: Social relationships in a fissionfusion society. In Cetacean societies: Field studies of whales and dolphins. (Eds. J Mann, R Connor, P Tyack and H Whitehead) pp. 91-126. University of Chicago Press.
- Connor, R., and Whitehead, H. (2005) Alliances II. Rates of encounter during resource utilization: a general model of intrasexual alliance formation in fission–fusion societies. Animal Behaviour 69(1), 127-132. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.02.022</u>.
- Connor, R.C. (2007) Dolphin social intelligence: complex alliance relationships in bottlenose dolphins and a consideration of selective environments for extreme brain size evolution in mammals. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 362(1480), 587-602. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/</u> <u>rstb.2006.1997</u>.

- Connor, R.C. (2010) Cooperation beyond the dyad: on simple models and a complex society. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365(1553), 2687-2697. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/</u> rstb.2010.0150.
- Connor, R.C. (2018) 'Dolphin Politics in Shark Bay: A Journey of Discovery.' Dolphin Alliance Project, Incorporated 352 pp.
- Connor, R.C., Cioffi, W.R., Randić, S., Allen, S.J., Watson-Capps, J., and Krützen, M. (2017) Male alliance behaviour and mating access varies with habitat in a dolphin social network. Scientific Reports 7, 46354. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep46354.
- Connor, R.C., and Heithaus, M.R. (1996) Approach by great white shark elicits flight response in bottlenose dolphins. Marine Mammal Science 12(4), 602-606. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.1996.tb00074.x.
- Connor, R.C., Heithaus, M.R., and Barre, L.M. (1999) Superalliance of bottlenose dolphins. Nature 397(6720), 571-572. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/17501</u>.
- Connor, R.C., Heithaus, M.R., and Barre, L.M. (2001) Complex social structure, alliance stability and mating access in a bottlenose dolphin 'super-alliance'. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 268(1464), 263-267. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1098/rspb.2000.1357</u>.
- Connor, R.C., Heithaus, M.R., Berggren, P., and Miksis, J.L. (2000b) "Kerplunking": Surface fluke-splashes during shallow-water bottom foraging by bottlenose dolphins. Marine Mammal Science 16(3), 646-653. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2000.tb00959.x</u>.
- Connor, R.C., and Krützen, M. (2015) Male dolphin alliances in Shark Bay: changing perspectives in a 30-year study. Animal Behaviour 103, 223-235. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.02.019</u>.
- Connor, R.C., Mann, J., Tyack, P.L., and Whitehead, H. (1998) Social evolution in toothed whales. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 13(6), 228-232. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/</u> S0169-5347(98)01326-3.
- Connor, R.C., Smolker, R., and Bejder, L. (2006b) Synchrony, social behaviour and alliance affiliation in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops aduncus*. Animal Behaviour 72(6), 1371-1378. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> anbehav.2006.03.014.
- Connor, R.C., and Smolker, R.A. (1990) Quantitative description of a rare behavioral event: A bottlenose dolphin's behavior toward her deceased offspring. In The bottlenose dolphin. pp. 355-360. Elsevier.

Connor, R.C., and Smolker, R.A. (1995) Seasonal changes in the stability of male-male bonds in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Aquatic Mammals 21, 213-216.

Connor, R.C., and Smolker, R.A. (1996) 'Pop' Goes the Dolphin: a Vocalization Male Bottlenose Dolphins Produce During Consortships. Behaviour 133(9-10), 643-662. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/156853996X00404</u>.

Connor, R.C., Smolker, R.A., and Richards, A.F. (1992a) Dolphin alliances and coalitions. In Coalitions and alliances in humans and other animals. Vol. 414. (Eds. F de Waal and A Harcourt) pp. 443.

Connor, R.C., Smolker, R.A., and Richards, A.F. (1992b) Two Levels of Alliance Formation Among Male Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 89(3), 987-990. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.3.987</u>.

Connor, R.C., and Smolker, R.S. (1985) Habituated dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in Western Australia. Journal of Mammalogy 66(2), 398-400. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.2307/1381260.

Connor, R.C., Watson-Capps, J.J., Sherwin, W.B., and Krützen, M. (2011) A new level of complexity in the male alliance networks of Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Biology Letters 7(4), 623-626. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1098/rsbl.2010.0852</u>.

Cooper, R.D. (1997) 'Shark Bay Legends.' L.J. Cogan: Geraldton, Western Australia 281 pp.

Cords, M., and Mann, J. (2014) Social conflict management in primates: Is there a case for dolphins? In Primates and Cetaceans: Field Research and Conservation of Complex Mammalian Societies. (Eds. J Yamagiwa and L Karczmarski) pp. 207-212. Springer. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/978-4-431-54523-1\_10</u>.

Coulson, P.G., Hesp, S.A., Potter, I.C., and Hall, N.G. (2005) Comparisons between the biology of two co-occurring species of whiting (Sillaginidae) in a large marine embayment. Environmental Biology of Fishes 73(2), 125-139. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10641-004-4568-8</u>.

Craine, M., Cheng, Y.W., Kangas, M., and Sporer, E.
(2005) Modelling the spatial distribution of the prawn fisheries in Shark Bay, Western Australia, by seasonal autoregressive moving average models. In Modelling Western Australian Fisheries with Techniques of Time Series Analysis: Examining Data from a Different Perspective. pp. 11. Department of Fisheries Research Division, Western Australian Marine Research Laboratories, Western Australia. D'Agostino, P.M., Woodhouse, J.N., Liew, H.T., Sehnal, L., Pickford, R., Wong, H.L., Burns, B.P., and Neilan,
B.A. (2019) Bioinformatic, phylogenetic and chemical analysis of the UV-absorbing compounds scytonemin and mycosporine-like amino acids from the microbial mat communities of Shark Bay, Australia. Environmental Microbiology 21(2), 702-715. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/1462-2920.14517</u>.

D'Anastasi, B.R., van Herwerden, L., Hobbs, J.A., Simpfendorfer, C.A., and Lukoschek, V. (2016a) Habitat and behavioural associations of *Aipysurus* group sea snakes in Western Australia. Interim report to Marine Species Conservation, Department of the Environment, Australian. 47 pp.

D'Anastasi, B.R., van Herwerden, L., Hobbs, J.A., Simpfendorfer, C.A., and Lukoschek, V. (2016b) New range and habitat records for threatened Australian sea snakes raise challenges for conservation. Biological Conservation 194, 66-70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2015.11.032</u>.

Daley, R., and van Putten, I. (2018) Improving confidence in the management of the blue swimmer crab (*Portunus armatus*) in Shark Bay. PART II: Socio-economic significance of commercial Blue Swimmer crabs in Shark Bay. PART II: Socio-economic significance of commercial blue swimmer crabs in Shark Bay., FRDC Project No. 2012/015. Fisheries Research Report No. 284, Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 48 pp.

Davies, G.R. (1970a) Algal-laminated sediments, Gladstone Embayment, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Carbonate Sedimentation and Environments, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Vol. 13. (Eds. BW Logan, GR Davies, JF Read and DE Cebulski) pp. 38. American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/ m13369c4</u>.

Davies, G.R. (1970b) Carbonate Bank Sedimentation, Eastern Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Carbonate Sedimentation and Environments, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Vol. 13. (Eds. BW Logan, GR Davies, JF Read and DE Cebulski) pp. 84. American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/ m13369c3</u>.

Davies, S.J.J.F., and Chapman, G.S. (1975) The status of birds on Peron Peninsula and Dirk Hartog Island, Shark Bay, WA. Emu 75(2), 55-61. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MU9750055</u>.

Day, J.C., Heron, S., F., and Markham, A. (2020) Assessing the climate vulnerability of the world's natural and cultural heritage. Parks Stewardship Forum 36(1), 144–153. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://escholarship.org/uc/ psf</u>.

- DBCA (2019a) Commercial Operator Handbook 2019. Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Western Australia. 165 pp.
- DBCA (2019b) Ecological monitoring in the Shark Bay marine reserves 2019. Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Western Australia. 92 pp.
- DEC (2008) Marine Turtle Recovery Plan for Western Australia. Department of Environment and Conservation, Western Australia. 67 pp.
- DEC (2012) Shark Bay Terrestrial Reserves and Proposed Reserve Additions. Management Plan No. 75. Department of Environment and Conservation and Climate Commission, Western Australia. 246 pp.
- DEH (2004a) Assessment of the Western Australian Beche-de-mer Fishery. Department of Environment and Heritage, Australia. 25 pp.
- DEH (2004b) Assessment of the Western Australian Shark Bay Snapper Fishery. Department of Environment and Heritage, Australia. 28 pp.
- Dell, J., and Cherriman, S. (2008) The birds of Faure Island, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Records of the Western Australian Museum Supplement No 75(55), 70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18195/issn.0313-</u> <u>122x.75.2008.055-070</u>.
- Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety, (2019) WA Onshore Petroleum Wells (DMIRS-025). <u>https://catalogue.data.wa.gov.au/dataset/wa-onshore-petroleum-wells-dmirs-025</u>.
- Department of Parks and Wildlife (2016) Guide to Aboriginal customary activities on Parks and Wildlife-managed lands and waters. Department of Parks and Wildlife, Western Australia. 20 pp.
- DiBattista, J.D., Travers, M.J., Moore, G.I., Evans, R.D., Newman, S.J., Feng, M., Moyle, S.D., Gorton, R.J., Saunders, T., and Berry, O. (2017) Seascape genomics reveals fine-scale patterns of dispersal for a reef fish along the ecologically divergent coast of Northwestern Australia. Molecular Ecology 26(22), 6206-6223. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mec.14352.
- Dill, L.M., Dill, E.S., and Charles, D. (2003a) Feeding preferences of the Monkey Mia dolphins: results from a simultaneous choice protocol. Marine Mammal Science 19(4), 650-660. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2003.tb01122.x</u>.
- Dill, L.M., Heithaus, M.R., and Walters, C.J. (2003b) Behaviorally mediated indirect interactions in marine communities and their conservation implications. Ecology 84(5), 1151-1157. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[1151:BMIIIM]2.0.</u> <u>CO:2</u>.

- DoF (2004) Draft Aquaculture Plan For Shark Bay. Fisheries Management Paper No. 171. Department of Fisheries, Western Australila. 130 pp.
- DoF (2010) Shark Bay Prawn and Scallop Fisheries. Fisheries Management Paper No. 235. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 152 pp.
- DoF (2014a) Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery bycatch action plan 2014 – 2019. Fisheries Management Paper No. 268. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 24 pp.
- DoF (2014b) Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery harvest strategy 2014 – 2019. Fisheries Management Paper No. 267. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 32 pp.
- DoF (2014c) West Coast Rock Lobster Harvest Strategy And Control Rules 2014 – 2019 Fisheries Management Paper No. 264. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 12 pp.
- DoF (2015) Shark Bay Crab Managed Fishery Draft Management Plan 2015 Fisheries Management Paper No. 275. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 40 pp.
- DoF (2017) Abalone Resource of Western Australia Harvest Strategy 2016 - 2021 Fisheries Management Paper No. 283. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 36 pp.
- Dowling, R. (1991) Tourism and the Natural Environment Shark Bay, Western Australia. Tourism Recreation Research 16(2), 44-48. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02508</u> 281.1991.11014625.
- DPIRD (2018a) Marine Aquarium Fish Resource of Western Australia Harvest Strategy 2018 – 2022. Fisheries Management Paper No. 292, Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 41 pp.
- DPIRD (2018b) Western Australian Sea Cucumber Resource Harvest Strategy 2018 – 2023. Fisheries Management Paper No. 287. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 30 pp.
- Dunlop, J.N. (2017) Sentinel seabirds: A guide to using marine birds to monitor marine ecosystems. Northern Agricultural Catchment Council Geraldton, Western Australia. 66 pp.
- Dunlop, R.W., and Jefferies, P.R. (1985) Hydrocarbons of the hypersaline basins of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Organic Geochemistry 8(5), 313-320. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0146-6380(85)90010-5</u>.

Dunphy-Daly, M.M., Heithaus, M., Wirsing, A.J., Mardon, J.S.F., and Burkholder, D.A. (2010) Predation risk influences the diving behavior of a marine mesopredator. The Open Ecology Journal 3(3), 8-15. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/1874213001003030008</u>.

Edgcomb, V.P., Bernhard, J.M., Summons, R.E., Orsi, W., Beaudoin, D., and Visscher, P.T. (2014) Active eukaryotes in microbialites from Highborne Cay, Bahamas, and Hamelin Pool (Shark Bay), Australia. The ISME Journal 8(2), 418-429. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.130</u>.

Edmonds, J.S., Francesconi, K.A., Healy, P.C., and White, A.H. (1982) Isolation and crystal structure of an arseniccontaining sugar sulphate from the kidney of the giant clam, *Tridacna maxima*. X-Ray crystal structure of (2 S)-3-[5-deoxy-5-(dimethylarsinoyl)-β-D-ribofuranosyloxy]-2-hydroxypropyl hydrogen sulphate. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 2989-2993.

Edmonds, J.S., Moran, M.J., Caputi, N., and Morita, M. (1989) Trace element analysis of fish Sagittae as an aid to stock identifications: Pink snapper (*Chrysophrys auratus*) in Western Australian waters. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 46(1), 50-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/f89-007</u>.

Edmonds, J.S., Stecks, R.A., Moran, M.J., Caputi, N., and Morita, M. (1999) Stock delineation of pink snapper and tailor from Western Australia by analysis of stable isotope and strontium/calcium ratios in otolith carbonate. Journal of Fish Biology 55, 243-259. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1999.tb00676.x.

Edwards, H. (1987) 'The remarkable dolphins of Monkey Mia.' Hugh Edwards: Swanbourne, Western Australia 110 pp.

Edwards, H. (1999) 'Shark Bay through four centuries 1616 to 2000: A World Heritage Area.' Shark Bay Shire: Perth, Western Australia 415 pp.

 El-Tabakh, M., Mory, A., Schreiber, B.C., and Yasin, R.
 (2004) Anhydrite cements after dolomitization of shallow marine Silurian carbonates of the Gascoyne Platform, Southern Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia. Sedimentary Geology 164(1), 75-87. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.sedgeo.2003.09.003.

Eliot, I., Gozzard, J., Eliot, M., Stul, T., and McCormack,
G. (2012) The coast of the Shires of Shark Bay to
Exmouth, Gascoyne, Western Australia: geology,
geomorphology & vulnerability. Prepared by Damara
WA Pty Ltd and Geological Survey of Western Australia
for the Department of Planning and the Department of
Transport, Western Australia. 365 pp.

Environment Australia (2002) Assessment of the Western Australia Shark Bay Prawn Trawl Fishery. Environment Australia. 25 pp.

EPA WA (1989) Disappearance of dolphins at Monkey Mia: findings of a preliminary investigation. Envionmental Protection Authority, Perth, Western Australia.

EPA WA (2003) A strategic assessment of the compatibility of petroleum industry activities with the environmental values and cultural uses of the Shark Bay World Heritage Area. Bulletin 1115. Environmental Protection Authority, Western Australia. 38 pp.

Evans, R., Ryan, N., Travers, M., Feng, M., Hitchen, Y., and Kennington, W. (2019) A seascape genetic analysis of a stress-tolerant coral species along the Western Australian coast. Coral Reefs 38(1), 63-78. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s00338-018-01751-y</u>.

Fairclough, D.V. (2005) The biology of four tuskfish species (*Choerodon*: Labridae) in Western Australia. PhD Thesis, Murdoch University, 204 pp.

Fairclough, D.V., Clarke, K.R., Valesini, F.J., and Potter, I.C. (2008) Habitat partitioning by five congeneric and abundant *Choerodon* species (Labridae) in a large subtropical marine embayment. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 77(3), 446-456. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.ecss.2007.10.004</u>.

Farmer, B.M. (2008) Comparisons of the biological and genetic characteristics of the Mulloway *Argyrosomus japonicus* (Sciaenidae) in different regions of Western Australia. PhD Thesis, Murdoch University, 217 pp.

Federal Court of Australia (2018) Oxenham on behalf of the Malgana People v State of Western Australia [2018] Federal Court of Australia. 91 pp.

Feng, M., McPhaden, M.J., Xie, S.-P., and Hafner, J. (2013) La Niña forces unprecedented Leeuwin Current warming in 2011. Scientific Reports 3(1), 1277-1277. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep01277</u>.

Feng, X., and Shinoda, T. (2019) Air-Sea Heat Flux Variability in the Southeast Indian Ocean and Its Relation With Ningaloo Niño. Frontiers in Marine Science 6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00266</u>.

Ferreira, L.C., Thums, M., Heithaus, M.R., Barnett, A., Abrantes, K.G., Holmes, B.J., Zamora, L.M., Frisch, A.J., Pepperell, J.G., Burkholder, D., Vaudo, J., Nowicki, R., Meeuwig, J., and Meekan, M.G. (2017) The trophic role of a large marine predator, the tiger shark *Galeocerdo cuvier*. Scientific Reports 7(1), 7641-14. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/s41598-017-07751-2</u>.

- Ferretti, F., Worm, B., Britten, G.L., Heithaus, M.R., and Lotze, H.K. (2010) Patterns and ecosystem consequences of shark declines in the ocean. Ecology Letters 13(8), 1055-1071. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01489.x</u>.
- Fisher, A., Wangpraseurt, D., Larkum, A.W.D., Johnson, M., Kühl, M., Chen, M., Wong, H.L., and Burns, B.P. (2019) Correlation of bio-optical properties with photosynthetic pigment and microorganism distribution in microbial mats from Hamelin Pool, Australia. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 95(1). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy219</u>.
- Fisheries Department (1949) Pearling-Sharks Bay-Pearl Shell Fishing. Report from Saville-Kent, addressed to Sir John Forrest, 10 May 1893. Fisheries Department file 202/1949, Acc 477 An 108/4, State Records Office of Western Australia.
- Fletcher, W., Shaw, J., Metcalf, S., and Gaughan, D. (2010) An Ecosystem Based Fisheries Management framework: the efficient, regional-level planning tool for management agencies. Marine Policy 34, 1226-1238. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2010.04.007</u>.
- Fletcher, W.J., Wise, B.S., Joll, L.M., Hall, N.G., Fisher, E.A., Harry, A.V., Fairclough, D.V., Gaughan, D.J., Travaille, K., Molony, B.W., and Kangas, M. (2016) Refinements to harvest strategies to enable effective implementation of Ecosystem Based Fisheries Management for the multisector, multi-species fisheries of Western Australia. Fisheries Research 183, 594-608. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.fishres.2016.04.014</u>.
- Ford, B.M., and Roberts, J.D. (2018) Latitudinal gradients of dispersal and niche processes mediating neutral assembly of marine fish communities. Marine Biology 165(5), 94. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-018-3356-5</u>.
- Ford, B.M., and Roberts, J.D. (2019) Evolutionary histories impart structure into marine fish heterospecific co-occurrence networks. Global Ecology and Biogeography 28, 1310-1324. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ geb.12934</u>.
- Ford, B.M., Stewart, B.A., and Roberts, J.D. (2017) Species pools and habitat complexity define Western Australian marine fish community composition. Marine Ecology Progress Series 574, 157-166. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/</u> <u>meps12167</u>.
- Foroughirad, V., Levengood, A.L., Mann, J., and Frère, C.H. (2019) Quality and quantity of genetic relatedness data affect the analysis of social structure. Molecular Ecology Resources. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13028</u>.

- Foroughirad, V., and Mann, J. (2013) Long-term impacts of fish provisioning on the behavior and survival of wild bottlenose dolphins. Biological Conservation 160, 242-249. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.01.001</u>.
- Fossa, A. (2017) 'Stories, Laughter and Tears Through Bygone Years in Shark Bay.' Lulu Press Inc: Barking, United Kingdom 120 pp.
- Fourqurean, J.W., Duarte, C.M., Kennedy, H., Marbà, N., Holmer, M., Mateo, M.A., Apostolaki, E.T., Kendrick, G.A., Krause-Jensen, D., McGlathery, K.J., and Serrano, O. (2012a) Seagrass ecosystems as a globally significant carbon stock. Nature Geoscience 5, 505. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/ngeo1477</u>.
- Fourqurean, J.W., Kendrick, G.A., Collins, L.S., Chambers, R.M., and Vanderklift, M.A. (2012b) Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus storage in subtropical seagrass meadows: examples from Florida Bay and Shark Bay. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 967. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12101</u>.
- Francesconi, K.A. (1989) Distribution of cadmium in the pearl oyster, *Pinctada albina albina* (Lamarck), following exposure to cadmium in seawater. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 43(2), 321. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01701765</u>.
- Franklyn QC, E.M. (2003) Aboriginal Fishing Strategy: Recognising the past, fishing for the future. Draft Report prepared by the Aboriginal Fishing Strategy Working Group for the Minister for Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. 149 pp.
- Fraser, M.W., Gleeson, D.B., Grierson, P.F., Laverock, B., and Kendrick, G.A. (2018) Metagenomic evidence of microbial community responsiveness to phosphorus and salinity gradients in seagrass sediments. Frontiers in Microbiology 9, 1703. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2018.01703</u>.
- Fraser, M.W., Kendrick, G.A., Grierson, P.F., Fourqurean, J.W., Vanderklift, M.A., and Walker, D.I. (2012) Nutrient status of seagrasses cannot be inferred from systemscale distribution of phosphorus in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1015. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12026</u>.
- Fraser, M.W., Kendrick, G.A., Statton, J., Hovey, R.K., Zavala-Perez, A., Walker, D.I., and Lee, J. (2014) Extreme climate events lower resilience of foundation seagrass at edge of biogeographical range. Journal of Ecology 102(6), 1528-1536. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12300</u>.
- Frère, C.H., Krützen, M., Kopps, A.M., Ward, P., Mann, J., and Sherwin, W.B. (2010a) Inbreeding tolerance and fitness costs in wild bottlenose dolphins. Proceedings: Biological Sciences 277(1694), 2667-2673. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0039</u>.

Frère, C.H., Krützen, M., Mann, J., Connor, R.C., Bejder, L., Sherwin, W.B., and Orians, G.H. (2010b) Social and genetic interactions drive fitness variation in a freeliving dolphin population. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107(46), 19949-19954. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1007997107</u>.

Frère, C.H., Krützen, M., Mann, J., Watson-Capps, J.J., Tsai, Y.J., Patterson, E.M., Connor, R., Bejder, L., and Sherwin, W.B. (2010c) Home range overlap, matrilineal and biparental kinship drive female associations in bottlenose dolphins. Animal Behaviour 80(3), 481-486. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.06.007</u>.

Frère, C.H., Krzyszczyk, E., Patterson, E.M., Hunter, S., Ginsburg, A., and Mann, J. (2010d) Thar she blows! A novel method for DNA collection from cetacean blow. PLOS ONE 5(8), e12299. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012299</u>.

Frère, C.H., Mann, J., Krützen, M., Connor, R.C., Bejder, L., and Sherwin, W.B. (2011) Nature and nurture: A step towards investigating their interactions in the wild. Communicative and Integrative Biology 4(2), 192-3. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4161/cib.4.2.14297</u>.

Fromont, J., Craig, R., Rawlinson, L., and Alder, J. (2005) Excavating sponges that are destructive to farmed pearl oysters in Western and Northern Australia. Aquaculture Research 36(2), 150-162. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/</u> j.1365-2109.2004.01198.x.

Fry, G.W. (1995) 'Shark Bay Days.' Hesperian Press: Victoria Park, Western Australia 88 pp.

Furuichi, T., Connor, R., and Hashimoto, C. (2013) Nonconceptive sexual interactions in monkeys, apes, and dolphins. In Primates and Cetaceans: Field Research and Conservation of Complex Mammalian Societies. (Eds. J Yamagiwa and L Karczmarski) pp. 385-408. Springer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-54523-1\_20</u>.

Gales, N., McCauley, R.D., Lanyon, J., and Holley, D. (2004) Change in abundance of dugongs in Shark Bay, Ningaloo and Exmouth Gulf, Western Australia: evidence for large-scale migration. Wildlife Research 31(3), 283-290. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/WR02073</u>.

Galezo, A.A., Krzyszczyk, E., Mann, J., and Barrett, L. (2018) Sexual segregation in Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins is driven by female avoidance of males. Behavioral Ecology 29(2), 377-386. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/</u> <u>beheco/arx177</u>. Garby, T.J., Walter, M.R., Larkum, A.W., and Neilan, B.A. (2013) Diversity of cyanobacterial biomarker genes from the stromatolites of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Environmental Microbiology 15(5), 1464-1475. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2012.02809.x.

Garcia, R.A., Fearns, P.R.C.S., and McKinna, L.I.W. (2014) Detecting trend and seasonal changes in bathymetry derived from HICO imagery: A case study of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Remote Sensing of Environment 147, 186-205. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2014.03.010</u>.

Gardner, M.J., Chaplin, J.A., Potter, I., Fairclough, D.V., and Jackson, G. (2017) The genetic structure of a marine teleost, *Chrysophrys auratus*, in a large, heterogeneous marine embayment. Environmental Biology of Fishes 100(11), 1411-1425. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10641-017-0652-8</u>.

Gaughan, D., Ranaldi, M., and Walting, J. (2002) Identifying nursery areas used by inner bay and oceanic pink snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) stocks in the Shark Bay region, in relation to the effect of prawn trawling on inner bay snapper stocks. FRDC Project Number 2001/061. Department of Fisheries Research Division Western Australian Marine Research Laboratories, Western Australia. 23 pp.

Gaughan, D.J., and Santoro, K. (2019) Status Reports of the Fisheries and Aquatic Resources of Western Australia 2017/18: The State of the Fisheries. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 246 pp.

Gerber, L., Connor, R.C., King, S.L., Allen, S.J., Wittwer, S., Bizzozzero, M.R., Friedman, W.R., Kalberer, S., Sherwin, W.B., Wild, S., Willems, E.P., and Krützen, M. (2019) Affiliation history and age similarity predict alliance formation in adult male bottlenose dolphins. Behavioral Ecology 31, 361–370. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/</u> <u>beheco/arz195</u>.

Gero, S., Bejder, L., Whitehead, H., Mann, J., and Connor, R.C. (2005) Behaviourally specific preferred associations in bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops* spp. Canadian Journal of Zoology 83(12), 1566-1573. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/ z05-155</u>.

Gershwin, L. (2014) Two new species of box jellies (Cnidaria: Cubozoa: Carybdeida) from the central coast of Western Australia, both presumed to cause Irukandji syndrome. Records of the Western Australian Museum 29, 10-19. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18195/issn.0312-3162.29(1).2014.010-019</u>.

Gibson, Q.A. (2006) Non-lethal shark attack on a bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops* sp.) calf. Marine Mammal Science 22(1), 192-198. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2006.00012.x</u>.

- Gibson, Q.A., and Mann, J. (2008) The size, composition and function of wild bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops* sp.) mother–calf groups in Shark Bay, Australia. Animal Behaviour 76(2), 389-405. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>anbehav.2008.01.022</u>.
- Gibson, Q.A., and Mann, J. (2009) Do sampling method and sample size affect basic measures of dolphin sociality? Marine Mammal Science 25(1), 187-198. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2008.00242.x</u>.
- Gilmour, J.P., Cook, K.L., Ryan, N.M., Puotinen, M.L., Green, R.H., Shedrawi, G., Hobbs, J.-P.A., Thomson, D.P., Babcock, R.C., Buckee, J., Foster, T., Richards, Z.T., Wilson, S.K., Barnes, P.B., Coutts, T.B., Radford, B.T., Piggott, C.H., Depczynski, M., Evans, S.N., Schoepf, V., Evans, R.D., Halford, A.R., Nutt, C.D., Bancroft, K.P., Heyward, A.J., and Oades, D. (2019) The state of Western Australia's coral reefs. Coral Reefs, 1-17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00338-019-01795-8.
- Giusfredi, P.E. (2014) Hamelin Pool Stromatolites: Ages and interactions with the depositional environment. Master's thesis, University of Miami, 115 pp.
- Goh, F., Allen, M.A., Leuko, S., Kawaguchi, T., Decho, A.W., Burns, B.P., and Neilan, B.A. (2009) Determining the specific microbial populations and their spatial distribution within the stromatolite ecosystem of Shark Bay. The ISME Journal 3(4), 383-396. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/ismej.2008.114</u>.
- Goh, F., Barrow, K.D., Burns, B.P., and Neilan, B.A. (2010) Identification and regulation of novel compatible solutes from hypersaline stromatolite-associated cyanobacteria. Archives of Microbiology 192(12), 1031-1038. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00203-010-0634-0</u>.
- Goh, F., Jeon, Y.J., Barrow, K., Neilan, B.A., and Burns, B.P. (2011) Osmoadaptive Strategies of the Archaeon *Halococcus hamelinensis* Isolated from a Hypersaline Stromatolite Environment. Astrobiology 11(6), 529-536. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ast.2010.0591</u>.
- Goh, F., Leuko, S., Allen, M.A., Bowman, J.P., Kamekura, M., Neilan, B.A., and Burns, B.P. (2006) *Halococcus hamelinensis* sp. nov., a novel halophilic archaeon isolated from stromatolites in Shark Bay, Australia. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 56(6), 1323-1329. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1099/ijs.0.64180-0</u>.
- Golubic, S. (1985) Microbial mats and modern stromatolites in Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Planetary Ecology; Proceedings of the Sixth International Symposium on Environmental Biogeochemistry. Santa Fe, New Mexico.
- Government of Western Australia (2019) Plan for our Parks. Government of Western Australia. 7 pp.

- Goy, J. (1990) Preliminary observations on the zooplankton of Shark Bay, Western Australia, with emphasis on medusae and description of a new rhizostome jellyfish (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). In Research in Shark Bay.
  Report of the France-Australe Bicentenary Expedition Committee. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson) pp. 107-113.
- Greenstein, B.J., and Pandolfi, J.M. (2008) Escaping the heat: range shifts of reef coral taxa in coastal Western Australia. Global Change Biology 14(3), 513-528. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01506.x.
- Gunson Resources Limited (2010) Coburn zircon project Definitive Feasibility Study results. Gunson Resources Limited. 9 pp.
- Hagan, G.M., and Logan, B.W. (1974) Development of Carbonate Banks and Hypersaline Basins, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. BW Logan, JF Read, GM Hagan, P Hoffman, RG Brown, PJ Woods and CD Gebelein). American Association of Petroleum Geologists. http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/M22379C2.
- Hagan, G.M., and Logan, B.W. (1975) Prograding tidal-flat sequences: Hutchison Embayment, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Tidal Deposits. pp. 215-222. Springer.
- Hagan, P. (2014) Internal fabrics and microbial precipitation in the stromatolites of Hamelin Pool, Western Australia. Master's thesis, University of Miami, 152 pp.
- Haig, J. (1965) The Porcellanidae (Crustacea, Anomura) of Western Australia with descriptions of four new Australian species. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 48(4), 97-118.
- Hall, N., and Watson, R. (2000) A spatial representation of the tiger prawn (*Penaeus esculentus*) fishery in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Fish Movement and Migration, 212-230.
- Hamilton, R., Borcuch, T., Allen, S., Cioffi, W., Bucci, V., Krützen, M., and Connor, R. (2019) Male aggression varies with consortship rate and habitat in a dolphin social network. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00265-019-2753-1.
- Hanson, C.E., Pattiaratchi, C.B., and Waite, A.M. (2005)
  Sporadic upwelling on a downwelling coast:
  Phytoplankton responses to spatially variable nutrient dynamics off the Gascoyne region of Western Australia.
  Continental Shelf Research 25(12), 1561-1582.
  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2005.04.003">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2005.04.003</a>.

Hanson, C.E., Waite, A.M., Thompson, P.A., and Pattiaratchi, C.B. (2007) Phytoplankton community structure and nitrogen nutrition in Leeuwin Current and coastal waters off the Gascoyne region of Western Australia. Deep-Sea Research Part II 54(8), 902-924. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.10.002</u>.

Harlin, M.M., Woelkerling, W.J., and Walker, D.I. (1985) Effects of a hypersalinity gradient on epiphytic Corallinaceae (Rhodophyta) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Phycologia 24(4), 389-402. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.2216/i0031-8884-24-4-389.1</u>.

Harris, D., Johnston, D., Sporer, E., Kangas, M., Felipe, N., and Caputi, N. (2012) Biology and management of a multi-sector blue swimmer crab fishery in a subtropical embayment-Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1165-1179. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/MF12038</u>.

Harris, D., Johnston, D., Sporer, E., Kangas, M., Felipe, N., and Caputi, N. (2014) Status of the Blue Swimmer Crab Fishery in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Fisheries Research Report No. 233. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 84 pp.

Harrison, A.J. (2005) 'Savant of the Australian Seas: William Saville-Kent and Australian Fisheries. Second Edition.' Tasmanian Historical Research Association: Hobart, Tasmania. Electronic text (14 parts).

Hart, A., Strain, L., Hesp, A., Fisher, E., Webster, F., Brand-Gardner, S., and Walters, S. (2017) Marine Stewardship Council Full Assessment Report Western Australian Abalone Managed Fishery. Western Australian Marine Stewardship Council Report Series No. 8. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 288 pp.

Hart, A.M., Murphy, D.M., Caputi, N., Hesp, S.A., and Fisher, E.A. (2018) Resource Assessment Report Western Australian Sea Cucumber Resource. Western Australian Marine Stewardship Council Report Series No. 12. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 89 pp.

Harvest Road Export Pty Ltd (2018) Applications for an aquaculture licence and lease. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development. 5 pp.

Hedley, S.L., Bannister, J.L., Bravington, M., Double, M., Du Fresne, S., Dunlop, R.A., Hodgson, A., Salgado Kent, C., and Smith, J. (2011a) Survey plans to estimate absolute abundance of Breeding Stock D humpback whales off Western Australia., Report to the International Whaling Commision. 10 pp. Hedley, S.L., Bannister, J.L., and Dunlop, R.A. (2011b)
Abundance estimates of Southern Hemisphere
Breeding Stock 'D' humpback whales from aerial and land-based surveys off Shark Bay, Western Australia,
2008. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management
3, 209-221.

 Hein, M., Winsborough, B., and Davis, J. (1993) Extracellular structures produced by marine species of Mastogloia.
 Diatom Research 8, 73-88. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02</u> 69249X.1993.9705240.

Heithaus, E.R., Heithaus, P.A., Heithaus, M.R., Burkholder, D., and Layman, C.A. (2011) Trophic dynamics in a relatively pristine subtropical fringing mangrove community. Marine Ecology Progress Series 428, 49-61. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps09052</u>.

Heithaus, M. (2001a) The biology of tiger sharks, *Galeocerdo cuvier*, in Shark Bay, Western Australia: sex ratio, size distribution, diet, and seasonal changes in catch rates. Environmental Biology of Fishes 61, 25-36. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1011021210685</u>.

Heithaus, M. (2004) Fish communities of subtropical seagrass meadows and associated habitats in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Bulletin of Marine Science 75(1), 79-99.

Heithaus, M. (2005) Habitat use and group size of pied cormorants (*Phalacrocorax varius*) in a seagrass ecosystem: possible effects of food abundance and predation risk. Marine Biology 147(1), 27-35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1534-0</u>.

Heithaus, M., and Dill, L.M. (2002) Food availability and tiger shark predation risk influence bottlenose dolphin habitat use. Ecology and Evolution 83, 480-491. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[0480:FAATSP ]2.0.CO;2.</u>

Heithaus, M., Dill, L.M., Marshall, G., and Buhleier, B. (2002a) Habitat use and foraging behavior of tiger sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) in a seagrass ecosystem. Marine Biology 140(2), 237-248. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/</u> s00227-001-0711-7.

Heithaus, M., Frid, A., and Dill, L.M. (2002b) Shark-inflicted injury frequencies, escape ability, and habitat use of green and loggerhead turtles. Marine Biology 140(2), 229-236. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-001-0712-6</u>.

Heithaus, M., Marshall, G.J., Buhleier, B., and Dill, L.M. (2001) Employing Crittercam to study habitat use and behavior of large sharks. Marine Ecology Progress Series 209, 307-310. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps209307</u>.

- Heithaus, M., and Vaudo, J.J. (2012) Predator-prey interactions. In The biology of sharks and their relatives, second edition. (Eds. JC Carrier, MR Heithaus and JA Musick) pp. 505-546. CRC Press.
- Heithaus, M., Wirsing, A., Frid, A., and Dill, L. (2007a) Behavioral Indicators in Marine Conservation: Lessons from a Pristine Seagrass Ecosystem. Israel Journal of Ecology and Evolution 53, 355-370. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1560/IJEE.53.3.355</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R. (2001b) Predator–prey and competitive interactions between sharks (order Selachii) and dolphins (suborder Odontoceti): a review. Journal of Zoology 253(1), 53-68. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/</u> <u>S0952836901000061</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R. (2001c) Shark attacks on bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops aduncus*) in Shark Bay, Western Australia: attack rate, bite scar frequencies, and attack seasonality. Marine Mammal Science 17(3), 526-539. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2001.tb01002.x.
- Heithaus, M.R., Alcoverro, T., Arthur, R., Burkholder, D.A., Coates, K.A., Christianen, M.J.A., Kelkar, N., Manuel, S.A., Wirsing, A.J., Kenworthy, W.J., and Fourqurean, J.W. (2014) Seagrasses in the age of sea turtle conservation and shark overfishing. Frontiers in Marine Science 1. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2014.00028</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2006) Does tiger shark predation risk influence foraging habitat use by bottlenose dolphins at multiple spatial scales? Oikos 114(2), 257-264. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.2006.0030-1299.14443.x</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., Vaudo, J.J., Worm, B., and Wirsing, A.J. (2010) Unraveling the ecological importance of elasmobranchs. In Sharks and their relatives II: Biodiversity, adaptive physiology, and conservation. (Eds. JC Carrier, MR Heithaus and JA Musick) pp. 611-637. CRC Press. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1201/9781420080483</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., Wirsing, A.J., Bejder, L., and Dill, L.M. (2005) Biology of sea turtles under risk from tiger sharks at a foraging ground. Marine Ecology Progress Series 288, 285-294. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps288285</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., Wirsing, A.J., Dill, L.M., Fourqurean, J.W., Burkholder, D., Thomson, J., and Bejder, L. (2007b) State-dependent risk-taking by green sea turtles mediates top-down effects of tiger shark intimidation in a marine ecosystem. Journal of Animal Ecology 76(5), 837-844. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01260.x</u>.

- Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., Wirsing, A.J., and Worm, B. (2008a) Predicting ecological consequences of marine top predator declines. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 23(4), 202-210. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.01.003</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Hamilton, I.M., Wirsing, A.J., and Dill, L.M. (2006) Validation of a randomization procedure to assess animal habitat preferences: microhabitat use of tiger sharks in a seagrass ecosystem. Journal of Animal Ecology 75(3), 666-676. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2006.01087.x</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., McLash, J.J., Frid, A., Dill, L.M., and Marshall, G.J. (2002c) Novel insights into green sea turtle behaviour using animal-borne video cameras. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 82(6), 1049-1050. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/</u> <u>S0025315402006689</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Vaudo, J.J., Kreicker, S., Layman, C.A., Krützen, M., Burkholder, D.A., Gastrich, K., Bessey, C., Sarabia, R., and Cameron, K. (2013) Apparent resource partitioning and trophic structure of large-bodied marine predators in a relatively pristine seagrass ecosystem. Marine Ecology Progress Series 481, 225-237. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps10235</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Wirsing, A., and Dill, L. (2012) The ecological importance of intact top-predator populations: a synthesis of 15 years of research in a seagrass ecosystem. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1039-1050. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12024</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Wirsing, A.J., Burkholder, D., Thomson, J., and Dill, L.M. (2009) Towards a predictive framework for predator risk effects: the interaction of landscape features and prey escape tactics. Journal of Animal Ecology 78(3), 556-62. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01512.x</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Wirsing, A.J., Dill, L.M., and Heithaus, L.I. (2007c) Long-term movements of tiger sharks satellitetagged in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Biology 151(4), 1455-1461. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0583-y</u>.
- Heithaus, M.R., Wirsing, A.J., Thomson, J.A., and Burkholder, D.A. (2008b) A review of lethal and non-lethal effects of predators on adult marine turtles. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 356(1-2), 43-51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2007.12.013</u>.
- Henderson, G. (1986) 'Maritime archaeology in Australia.' UWA Publishing: Perth, Western Australia 214 pp.
- Heron, S.F., Day, J.C., Cowell, C., Scott, P., Walker, D.I., and Shaw, J. (2020) Application of the Climate Vulnerability Index for Shark Bay, Western Australia. Western Australian Marine Science Institution, Western Australia. 77 pp.

Hesp, S., Caputi, N., Penn, J., Kangas, M., Sporer, E., Hogan, B., and Clement, J. (2017) Improving fleet efficiency to maximise economic yield in a Western Australian prawn fishery. Marine Policy 86, 82-93. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.09.006</u>.

Hesp, S.A., Hall, N.G., and Potter, I.C. (2004a) Size-related movements of *Rhabdosargus sarba* in three different environments and their influence on estimates of von Bertalanffy growth parameters. Marine Biology 144(3), 449-462. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-003-1217-2</u>.

Hesp, S.A., and Potter, I. (2003) Reproductive biology of *Rhabdosargus sarba* (Sparidae) in Western Australian waters, in which it is a rudimentary hermaphrodite. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 83, 1333-1346. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1017/S0025315403008786</u>.

Hesp, S.A., Potter, I., and Hall, N. (2004b) Reproductive biology and protandrous hermaphroditism in *Acanthopagrus latus*. Environmental Biology of Fishes 70, 257-272. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/</u> <u>B:EBFI.0000033344.21383.00</u>.

Hetzel, Y. (2014) Sea surface temperature variability along the Gascoyne and mid-west coast of Western Australia 2010-2013. In The marine heat wave off Western Australia during the summer of 2010/11 – 2 years on. (Eds. N. Caputi, G. Jackson and A. Pearce). Fisheries Research Report No. 250. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia, 40 pp.

Hetzel, Y., Pattiaratchi, C., and Lowe, R. (2013) Intermittent dense water outflows under variable tidal forcing in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Continental Shelf Research 66, 36-48. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>csr.2013.06.015</u>.

Hetzel, Y., Pattiaratchi, C., Lowe, R., and Hofmeister, R.
Bay-Ocean Exchange Processes in Shark Bay, Western Australia and Implications for Scallop Larval Survival.
In 'Proceedings of the 15th Physics of Estuaries and Coastal Seas (PECS) conference', 2010, Colombo, Sri Lanka. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/2.1.1184.6089</u>.

Hetzel, Y., Pattiaratchi, C., Lowe, R., and Hofmeister, R. (2015) Wind and tidal mixing controls on stratification and dense water outflows in a large hypersaline bay. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 120(9), 6034-6056. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/2015JC010733.

Hetzel, Y., Pattiaratchi, C., and Mihanović, H. (2018) Exchange flow variability between hypersaline Shark Bay and the ocean. Journal of Marine Science and Engineering 6(2), 65. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/</u> jmse6020065. Hetzel, Y.L. (2013) Mixing and transport processes in Shark Bay, Western Australia. PhD Thesis, University of Western Australia, 222 pp.

Hetzel, Y.L., Pattiaratchi, C., and Lowe, R. (2012) Understanding the Shark Bay Outflow through field experiments and numerical modelling. In Australian Coastal and Ocean Modelling and Observations Workshop (ACOMO) 2012. Canberra, Australia.

Hickman, C.S. (2003) Mollusc–microbe mutualisms extend the potential for life in hypersaline systems. Astrobiology 3(3), 631-644. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1089/153110703322610717.

Higham, J., and Bejder, L. (2008) Managing wildlifebased tourism: Edging slowly toward sustainability? Current Issues in Tourism 11(1), 75-83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2167/cit345.0</u>.

Hilmer, S., Algar, D., and Johnston, M. (2010) Opportunistic observation of predation of loggerhead turtle hatchlings by feral cats on Dirk Hartog Island, Western Australia. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 93(3), 141-146.

Hine, P., and Thorne, T. (2000) A survey of some parasites and diseases of several species of bivalve mollusc in northern Western Australia. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 40(1), 67-78. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/ dao040067</u>.

Hobday, A.J., Eric, C.J.O., Gupta, A.S., Benthuysen, J.A., Burrows, M.T., Donat, M.G., Holbrook, N.J., Moore, P.J., Thomsen, M.S., Wernberg, T., and Smale, D.A. (2018) Categorizing and naming marine heatwaves. Oceanography 31(2), 162-173. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2018.205</u>.

Hodgson, A. (2007) The distribution, abundance and conservation of dugongs and other marine megafauna in Shark Bay Marine Park, Ningaloo Reef Marine Park and Exmouth Gulf. Denham, Western Australia.
Department of Environment and Conservation, Western Australia. 47 pp.

Hodgson, A., Kelly, N., and Peel, D. (2013) Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) for surveying marine fauna: a dugong case study. PLOS ONE 8(11), e79556. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079556.

Hodgson, A., Marsh, H., Gales, N., Holley, D., and Lawler,
I.R. (2008) Dugong population trends across two
decades in Shark Bay, Ningaloo Reef and Exmouth Gulf.
Department of Environment and Conservation, Western
Australia. 38 pp.

- Hoffman, P. (1976) Stromatolite Morphogenesis in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Developments in Sedimentology 20(C), 261-271. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0070-4571(08)71139-7</u>.
- Holley, D.K. (2006) Movement patterns and habitat usage of Shark Bay dugongs. Master's Thesis, Edith Cowan University, 143 pp.
- Holley, D.K., Friedman, K., Reinhold, L., and Cowell, T.
  Implementation of a camera monitoring program for the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) rookery at Turtle Bay, Dirk Hartog Island, Shark Bay. In 'Proceedings of the First Western Australian Marine Turtle Symposium 28–29th August 2012', 2012, Perth, Western Australia. (Eds. RIT Prince, S Whiting, H Raudino, A Vitenbergs and K Pendoley).
- Holley, D.K., Lawler, I.R., and Gales, N.J. (2006) Summer survey of dugong distribution and abundance in Shark Bay reveals additional key habitat area. Wildlife Research 33(3), 243-250. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>WR05031</u>.
- Holyoake, C., Holley, D., Spencer, P.B., Salgado Kent, C., Coughran, D., and Bejder, L. (2013) Northernmost record of Shepherd's beaked whale (*Tasmacetus shepherdi*) – a morphological and genetic description from a stranding from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Pacific Conservation Biology 19, 169-174. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/pc130169</u>.
- Huisman, J., Kendrick, A., and Rule, M. (2015) Mangroveassociated macroalgae and cyanobacteria in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 98, 45-68.
- Huisman, J.M., De Clerck, O., Prud'homme Van Reine, W.F., and Borowitzka, M.A. (2011) Spongophloea, a new genus of red algae based on *Thamnoclonium* sect. *Nematophorae* Weber-van Bosse (Halymeniales).
  European Journal of Phycology 46(1), 1-15. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09670262.2010.507313</u>.
- Huisman, J.M., Jones, D.S., Wells, F.E., and Burton, T. (2008) Introduced marine biota in Western Australian waters. Records of the Western Australian Museum 25, 1-44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18195/issn.0312-3162.25(1).2008.001-044</u>.
- Huisman, J.M., Kendrick, G., Walker, D.I., and Coute, A. (1990)
  The marine algae of Shark Bay, Western Australia. In
  Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe
  Bicentenary Expedition Committee. (Eds. PF Berry,
  SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson) pp. 89-100. Western
  Australian Museum, Perth.

- Hunt, D.R., and D'Adamo, N. (1998) Flushing study of the Monkey Mia lagoon and adjacent waters, Western Australia, 19-23 April 1998. Data Report MMS/MW/ SBMP-13/98. Unpublished report. Marine Conservation Branch, Department of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia.
- Hutchins, B. (1990) Fish survey of South Passage, Shark Bay, Western Australia In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe Biocentenary Expedition Committee, Perth: Western Australia Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum: Perth.
- Hyndes, G.A., Heck, J.K.L., Vergés, A., Harvey, E.S., Kendrick, G.A., Lavery, P.S., McMahon, K., Orth, R.J., Pearce, A., Vanderklift, M., Wernberg, T., Whiting, S., and Wilson, S. (2016) Accelerating tropicalization and the transformation of temperate seagrass meadows. Bioscience 66(11), 938-948. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ biosci/biw111</u>.
- Izuno, G., Burne, R.V., and Batchelor, M.T. The Distribution and Morphological Variability of Hamelin Pool Stromatolites, Shark Bay, Western Australia–New Light on a Fifty-Year Old Riddle. In 'Geobiology of Stromatolites, International Kalkowsky-Symposium', 2008, Göttingen, Germany.
- Jackson, G. Evaluation of hatchery-based restocking of Shark Bay snapper (*Pagrus auratus*, Sparidae) as a potential management tool- the need for good science and a cautious aproach in a World Hertiage context. In 'Joint Workshop Proceedings- Enhancement of Marine and Freshwater Fisheries', 2000, Albury, NSW.
- Jackson, G. (2012) Silver Seabream ('Snapper')- *Pagrus auratus*. In Reef Fish Spawning Aggregations: Biology, Research and Management. Volume 35 of Fish & Fisheries Series. (Eds. Yvonne Sadovy de Mitcheson and Patrick L. Colin). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Jackson, G., Burton, C., Moran, M.J., and Radford, B. (2007) Distribution and abundance of juvenile pink snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, in the gulfs of Shark Bay, Western Australia, from trap surveys. Fisheries Research Report No. 161. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 36 pp.
- Jackson, G., and Cheng, Y.W. (2001) Parameter estimation with egg production surveys to estimate snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, biomass in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics 6(2), 243-257. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1198/108571101750524580</u>.

- Jackson, G., Cheng, Y.W., and Wakefield, C.B. (2012) An evaluation of the daily egg production method to estimate spawning biomass of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) in inner Shark Bay, Western Australia, following more than a decade of surveys 1997–2007. Fisheries Research 117-118, 22-34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>fishres.2010.12.009</u>.
- Jackson, G., Lenanton, R., Sumner, N., and Cribb, A. (2002)
   Research and management of snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, stocks in the inner gulfs of Shark Bay, Western Australia.
   In 3rd World Recreational Fishing Conference. Northen Territory, Australia.
- Jackson, G., and Moran, M. (2012) Recovery of inner Shark Bay snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) stocks: relevant research and adaptive recreational fisheries management in a World Heritage Property. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1180-1190. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>mf12091</u>.
- Jackson, G., Norriss, J.V., Mackie, M.C., and Hall, N.G. (2010) Spatial variation in life history characteristics of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) within Shark Bay, Western Australia. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 44(1), 1-15. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/00288331003641646</u>.
- Jackson, G., Ryan, K.L., Green, T.J., Pollock, K.H., and Lyle, J.M. (2016) Assessing the effectiveness of harvest tags in the management of a small-scale, iconic marine recreational fishery in Western Australia. ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil 73(10), 2666-2676. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsw093</u>.
- Jackson, G., Sumner, N., Cribb, A., and Norriss, J.V. (2005) Comparing conventional 'social-based' and alternative output-based management models for recreational finfish fisheries using Shark Bay pink snapper as a case study. FRDC Project No. 2003/066. Research Division, Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 80 pp.
- Jahnert, R., De Paula, O., Collins, L., Strobach, E., and Pevzner, R. (2012) Evolution of a coquina barrier in Shark Bay, Australia by GPR imaging: Architecture of a Holocene reservoir analog. Sedimentary Geology 281, 59-74. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sedgeo.2012.08.009</u>.
- Jahnert, R.J., and Collins, L.B. (2011) Significance of subtidal microbial deposits in Shark Bay, Australia. Marine Geology 286(1-4), 106-111. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>margeo.2011.05.006</u>.
- Jahnert, R.J., and Collins, L.B. (2012) Characteristics, distribution and morphogenesis of subtidal microbial systems in Shark Bay, Australia. Marine Geology 303-306, 115-136. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>margeo.2012.02.009</u>.

- Jahnert, R.J., and Collins, L.B. (2013) Controls on microbial activity and tidal flat evolution in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Sedimentology 60(4), 1071-1099. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1111/sed.12023</u>.
- Janik, V.M. (1999) Origins and implications of vocal learning in bottlenose dolphins. In Mammalian social learning: comparative and ecological perspectives. (Eds. HO Box and KR Gibson) pp. 308-326. Cambridge University Press.
- Jenner, K.C.S., Jenner, M.-N.M., and McCabe, K.A. (2001) Geographical and temporal movements of humpback whales in Western Australian waters. APPEA, 746-765. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/AJ00044.
- Jensen, M.P. (2010) Assessing the composition of green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) foraging grounds in Australasia using mixed stock analyses. PhD Thesis, University of Canberra Australia, 142 pp.
- John, J. (1990) The diatom flora of the microbial communities associated with stromatolites at Shark Bay, Indian Ocean, West Coast of Australia. In Ouvrage Dédie Á La Mémoire Du Professeur Henry Germain (1903-1989). (Ed. M Ricard) pp. 97-110. Koetz Scientific: Koenigstein.
- John, J. (1991) *Climaconeis stromatolitis*, a new species of diatom from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Diatom Research 6(1), 49-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/026924</u> <u>9X.1991.9705146</u>.
- John, J. (1993) Morphology and ultrastructure of the tubes of *Mastogloia cocconeiformis* (Bacillariophyta) from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Phycologia 32(5), 388-394. http://dx.doi.org/10.2216/i0031-8884-32-5-388.1.
- Johnson, A.J., Statton, J., Orth, R.J., and Kendrick, G.A. (2018) A sediment bioturbator bottleneck to seedling recruitment for the seagrass *Posidonia australis*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 595, 89-103. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.3354/meps12550</u>.
- Johnson, M.S., and Black, R. (1990) Genetic divergence of venerid clams in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Research in Shark Bay. In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe Bicentenary Expedition Committee.
  (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson) pp.
  159–168. Western Australian Museum: Perth.
- Johnson, M.S., Creagh. S., and Moran, M.J. (1986) Genetic subdivision of stocks of snapper, *Chrysophrys unicolor*, in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 37, 337-345. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF9860337.

- Johnstone, R.E. (1990) Mangroves and mangrove birds of Western Australia. In Records of the Western Australian Museum Supplement No. 32. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.
- Johnstone, R.E., Burbidge, A., and Stone, P. (2000) Birds of the southern Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia: Distribution, status and historical changes. Records of the Western Australian Museum Supplement 61, 371-448. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18195/issn.0313-122x.61.2000.371-448</u>.
- Joll, L., and Caputi, N. (1995a) Geographic variation in the reproductive cycle of the saucer scallop, *Amusium balloti*, (Bernardi, 1861)(Mollusca: -Pectinidae), along the Western Australian coast. Marine and Freshwater Research 46(4), 779-792. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u><u>MF9950779</u>.
- Joll, L.M., and Caputi, N. Environmental influences on recruitment in the saucer scallop (*Amusium balloti*) fishery of Shark Bay, Western Australia. In 'ICES Marine Science Symposia', 1995b. pp. 47-53.
- Jones, D.S. (1990a) Annotated checklist of marine decapod Crustacea from Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France–Australe Bicentenary Expedition Committee. Perth: Western Australian Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson) pp. 169-208. Western Australian Museum.
- Jones, D.S. (1990b) A guide to the shallow- water barnacles (Cirripedia: Lepadomorpha, Balanomorpha) of the Shark Bay area, Western Australia In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France–Australe Bicentenary Expedition Committee. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.
- Jones, J.B., and Creeper, J. (2006) Diseases of pearl oysters and other molluscs: a Western Australian perspective. Journal of Shellfish Research 25, 233-238. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.2983/0730-8000(2006)25[233:DOPOAO]2.0.</u> <u>CO;2</u>.
- Kangas, M., McCrea, J., Fletcher, W., Sporer, E., and Weir, V. (2006a) Shark Bay Prawn Fishery. ESD Report Series No. 3. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 128 pp.
- Kangas, M., and Morrison, S. (2013) Trawl impacts and biodiversity management in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 64(12), 1135-1155. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12292</u>.

- Kangas, M., Morrison, S., Unsworth, P., Lai, E., Wright, I., and Thomson, A. (2006b) Development of biodiversity and habitat monitoring systems for key trawl fisheries in Western Australia. Final report to Fisheries Research and Development Corporation on Project No. 2002/038. Fisheries Research Report No. 160. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 334 pp.
- Kangas, M., Sporer, E., Brown, S., Shanks, M., Chandrapavan, A., and Thomson, A. (2011) Stock assessment for the Shark Bay Scallop Fishery. Fisheries Research Report No. 226. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 76 pp.
- Kangas, M., Sporer, E., O Donoghue, S., and Hood, S. (2008) Co-management in the Exmouth Gulf Prawn Fishery with comparison to the Shark Bay prawn fishery. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper. 231 pp.
- Kangas, M., Sporer, M.I., Hesp, S.A., Travaille, K.L., Brand-Gardner, S.J., Cavalli, P., and Harry, A.V. (2015) Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery. Western Australian Marine Stewardship Council Report Series. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 320 pp.
- Kangas, M., Weir, V., Fletcher, W., and Sporer, E. (2006c) Shark Bay Scallop Fishery. ESD Report Series No. 2. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 104 pp.
- Kangas, M.I., Chandrapavan, A., Hetzel, Y.L., and Sporer, E.C. (2012) Minimising gear conflict and resource sharing issues in the Shark Bay trawl fisheries and promotion of scallop recruitment. Fisheries Research Report No. 229. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 136 pp.
- Kangas, M.I., and Thomson, A. (2004) Implementation and assessment of bycatch reduction devices in the Shark Bay and Exmouth Gulf trawl fisheries. FRDC Project No. 2000/189. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 70 pp.
- Karniski, C., Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2018) Senescence impacts reproduction and maternal investment in bottlenose dolphins. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 285(1883), 20181123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.1123.
- Karniski, C., Patterson, E.M., Krzyszczyk, E., Foroughirad, V., Stanton, M.A., and Mann, J. (2015) A comparison of survey and focal follow methods for estimating individual activity budgets of cetaceans. Marine Mammal Science 31(3), 839-852. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/mms.12198</u>.
- Kataoka, T., Masson, S., Izumo, T., Tozuka, T., and Yamagata, T. (2018) Can Ningaloo Niño/Niña Develop Without El Niño–Southern Oscillation? Geophysical Research Letters 45(14), 7040-7048. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1029/2018GL078188</u>.

Keighery, G., and Muir, W. (2008) Vegetation and vascular flora of Faure Island, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Records of the Western Australian Museum Supplement 75, 11-19. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.18195/ issn.0313-122x.75.2008.011-019</u>.

Kemper, C.M., Pemberton, D., Cawthorn, M., Heinrich, S., Mann, J., Wursig, B., Shaughnessy, P., and Gales, R. (2003) Aquaculture and marine mammals: co-existence or conflict? In Marine Mammals: Fisheries, Tourism and Management Issues. (Eds. N Gales, M Hindell and R Kirkwood) pp. 208–224. CSIRO Publishing.

Kendrick, A., Wilson, S., Holmes, T., Bobojcov, A., Barnes, P., Holley, D., Friedman, K., Rule, M., Mccarthy, A., Jennings, P., Waples, K., Halford, A., Stevens, D., Ossinger, S., Evans, M., Whiting, S., Quartermaine, T., Marshall, R., Dasey, M., and Holmes, J. (2016) Strategic marine ecological research priorities for CALM Act marine parks and reserves 2016–2021. Conservation Science Western Australia 10, 7. <u>https://www.dpaw.wa.gov.au/</u>

Kendrick, A.J., Huisman, J., and Rule, M.J. (2009) Marvellous mangroves. Department of Environment and Conservation, Western Australia. 4 pp.

Kendrick, G.A., Fourqurean, J.W., Fraser, M.W., Heithaus, M.R., Jackson, G., Friedman, K., and Hallac, D. (2012) Science behind management of Shark Bay and Florida Bay, two P-limited subtropical systems with different climatology and human pressures. Marine and Freshwater Research 63, 941-951. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/MF12280</u>.

Kendrick, G.A., Nowicki, R.J., Olsen, Y.S., Strydom, S., Fraser, M.W., Sinclair, E.A., Statton, J., Hovey, R.K., Thomson, J.A., Burkholder, D.A., McMahon, K.M., Kilminster, K., Hetzel, Y., Fourqurean, J.W., Heithaus, M.R., and Orth, R.J. (2019) A systematic review of how multiple stressors from an extreme event drove ecosystem-wide loss of resilience in an iconic seagrass community. Frontiers in Marine Science 6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fmars.2019.00455</u>.

Kendrick, G.A., Walker, D.I., and Huisman, J.M. (1990) Benthic macroalgae of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Botanica Marina 33(1), 47-54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/ botm.1990.33.1.47</u>.

Kendrick, G.A., Walker, D.I., and McComb, A.J. (1988) Changes in distribution of macro-algal epiphytes on stems of the seagrass *Amphibolis antarctica* along a salinity gradient in Shark Bay, Western Australia. *Phycologia* 27(2), 201-208. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2216/</u> i0031-8884-27-2-201.1. Kenneally, K.F. (1982) Mangroves of Western Australia. In Mangrove Ecosystems in Australia—Structure, Function and Management. (Ed. BF Clough) pp. 95-110. Australian National University Press: Canberra, Australia.

Kerford, M. (2005) The ecology of the bar bellied sea snake (*Hydrophis elegans*) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Master's Thesis, Simon Fraser University, 100 pp.

Kerford, M.R., Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2008) Danger on the rise: Diurnal tidal state mediates an exchange of food for safety by the bar-bellied sea snake *Hydrophis elegans*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 358, 289-294. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/</u> <u>meps07346</u>.

Kimmerer, W.J., McKinnon, A.D., Atkinson, M.J., and Kessell, J.A. (1985) Spatial distributions of plankton in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 36(3), 421-432. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF9850421</u>.

King, J.A. (2003) The fish fauna of two mangrove systems in the Eastern Gulf of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Honours Thesis, Murdoch University, 156 pp.

King, S.L., Friedman, W.R., Allen, S.J., Gerber, L., Jensen, F.H., Wittwer, S., Connor, R.C., and Krützen, M. (2018) Bottlenose dolphins retain individual vocal labels in multi-level alliances. Current Biology 28(12), 1993-1999. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.013</u>.

Kopps, A., M., Ackermann, C., Y., Sherwin, W., B., Allen, S., J., Bejder, L., and Krützen, M. (2014a) Cultural transmission of tool use combined with habitat specializations leads to fine-scale genetic structure in bottlenose dolphins. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281(1782), 20133245. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/</u> rspb.2013.3245.

Kopps, A.M., Krützen, M., Allen, S.J., Bacher, K., and Sherwin, W.B. (2014b) Characterizing the socially transmitted foraging tactic "sponging" by bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in the western gulf of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Mammal Science 30(3), 847-863. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mms.12089.

Kopps, A.M., and Sherwin, W.B. (2012) Modelling the emergence and stability of a vertically transmitted cultural trait in bottlenose dolphins. Animal Behaviour 84(6), 1347-1362. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>anbehav.2012.08.029</u>.

Krützen, M., Barré, L.M., Connor, R.C., Mann, J., and Sherwin, W.B. (2004a) 'O father: where art thou?'— Paternity assessment in an open fission–fusion society of wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Molecular Ecology 13(7), 1975-1990. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02192.x</u>.

- Krützen, M., Barré, L.M., Möller, L.M., Heithaus, M.R., Simms, C., and Sherwin, W.B. (2002) A biopsy system for small cetaceans: darting success and wound healing in *Tursiops* spp. Marine Mammal Science 18(4), 863-878. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2002.tb01078.x</u>.
- Krützen, M., Kreicker, S., MacLeod Colin, D., Learmonth, J., Kopps Anna, M., Walsham, P., and Allen Simon, J. (2014) Cultural transmission of tool use by Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) provides access to a novel foraging niche. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281(1784), 20140374. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.0374.
- Krützen, M., Mann, J., Heithaus, M.R., Connor, R.C., Bejder, L., Sherwin, W.B., and Marler, P. (2005) Cultural transmission of tool use in bottlenose dolphins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102(25), 8939-8943. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0500232102</u>.
- Krützen, M., Sherwin, W.B., Berggren, P., and Gales, N. (2004b) Population structure in an inshore cetacean revealed by microsatellite and mtDNA analysis: bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Mammal Science 20(1), 28-47. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2004.tb01139.x</u>.
- Krützen, M., Sherwin, W.B., Connor, R.C., Barré, L.M., Tom Van de, C., Mann, J., and Brooks, R. (2003) Contrasting relatedness patterns in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) with different alliance strategies. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 270(1514), 497-502. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2002.2229</u>.
- Krützen, M., Valsecchi, E., Connor, R.C., and Sherwin, W.B. (2001) Characterization of microsatellite loci in *Tursiops aduncus*. Molecular Ecology Notes 1(3), 170-172. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-8278.2001.00065.x</u>.
- Krzyszczyk, E. (2013) Age determination, life history and juvenile behavior in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in Shark Bay, Australia. PhD Thesis, Georgetown University, 188 pp.
- Krzyszczyk, E., Connor Richard, C., and Mann, J. (2013a) Sexspecific survival of bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay, Western Australia. In 20th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals. Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Krzyszczyk, E., Kopps, A.M., Bacher, K., Smith, H., Stephens, N., Meighan, N.A., and Mann, J. (2013b) A report on six cases of seagrass-associated gastric impaction in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Marine Mammal Science 29(3), 548-554. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/</u> j.1748-7692.2012.00579.x.

- Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2012) Why become speckled? Ontogeny and function of speckling in Shark Bay bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.)1. Marine Mammal Science 28(2), 295-307. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2011.00483.x</u>.
- Krzyszczyk, E., Patterson, E.M., Stanton, M.A., and Mann, J. (2017) The transition to independence: sex differences in social and behavioural development of wild bottlenose dolphins. Animal Behaviour 129, 43-59. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.04.011</u>.
- Lavery, P.S., Mateo, M.-Á., Serrano, O., and Rozaimi, M. (2013) Variability in the Carbon Storage of Seagrass Habitats and Its Implications for Global Estimates of Blue Carbon Ecosystem Service. PLOS ONE 8(9), e73748. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.</u> <u>pone.0073748</u>.
- Lawrance, L. (1985) The role of iron-oxides in the concentration of heavy metals in the marine sediment and biota of the Shark Bay area, Western Australia. Honours Thesis, University of Western Australia.
- Lee, H.H., Wallen, M.M., Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2019) Every scar has a story: age and sex-specific conflict rates in wild bottlenose dolphins. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 73(5). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s00265-019-2674-z</u>.
- Lek, E., Platell, M.E., Fairclough, D.V., Hall, N.G., and Potter, I.C. (2018) Diets of reef-dwelling labrids (*Choerodon* species) vary with body size, season and habitat: influence of foraging ability, specialization and opportunism. Journal of Fish Biology 92(4), 901-928. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13541</u>.
- Lenanton, R. (1969) Whiting fishery Shark Bay. Fishing Industry News Service, Western Australia. 9 pp.
- Lenanton, R., C. J. (1977) Fishes from the Hypersaline Waters of the Stromatolite Zone of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Copeia 1977(2), 387-390. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.2307/1443925.
- Lenanton, R., Caputi, N., Kangas, M., and Craine, M. (2009a) The ongoing influence of the Leeuwin Current on economically important fish and invertebrates off temperate Western Australia-has it changed? Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 92, 111-127.
- Lenanton, R., Joll, L., Penn, J., and Jones, K. (1991) The influence of the Leeuwin Current on coastal fisheries of Western Australia. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 74, 101-114. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1071/MF9960147</u>.

- Lenanton, R.C., Caputi, N., Kangas, M., and Craine, M. (2009b) The ongoing influence of the Leeuwin Current on economically important fish and invertebrates off temperate Western Australia - has it changed? Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 92, 111-111.
- Lenanton, R.C.J. (1970) The Biology of the Commercially Fished Whiting (*Sillago* Spp) in Shark Bay, W.A. Master's Thesis, The University of Western Australia.
- Lenanton, R.C.J. The Shark Bay beach seine and mesh net fishery: summary. In 'Fisheries Research Seminar', 1978, Carnarvon.
- Lester, R.J.G., Blair, D., and Heald, D. (1980) Nematodes from scallops and turtles from Shark Bay, Westren Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 31(5), 713-717. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF9800713.
- Lester, R.J.G., Thompson, C., Moss, H., and Barker, S.C. (2001) Movement and stock structure of narrowbarred Spanish mackerel as indicated by parasites. Journal of Fish Biology 59(4), 833-842. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2001.tb00154.x.
- Letessier, T.B., Bouchet, P.J., Reisser, J., and Meeuwig, J.J. (2015) Baited videography reveals remote foraging and migration behaviour of sea turtles. Marine Biodiversity 45(4), 609-610. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12526-014-0287-3</u>.
- Letessier, T.B., Meeuwig, J.J., Gollock, M., Groves, L., Bouchet, P.J., Chapuis, L., Vianna, G.M., Kemp, K., and Koldewey, H.J. (2013) Assessing pelagic fish populations: The application of demersal video techniques to the mid-water environment. Methods in Oceanography 8, 41-55. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>mio.2013.11.003</u>.
- Leuko, S., Goh, F., Allen, M., Burns, B., Walter, M., and Neilan, B. (2007) Analysis of intergenic spacer region length polymorphisms to investigate the halophilic archaeal diversity of stromatolites and microbial mats. Extremophiles 11(1), 203-210. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s00792-006-0028-z</u>.
- Leuko, S., Goh, F., Ibáñez-Peral, R., Burns, B., Walter, M., and Neilan, B. (2008) Lysis efficiency of standard DNA extraction methods for *Halococcus* sp. in an organic rich environment. Extremophiles 12, 301-8. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1007/s00792-007-0124-8</u>.
- Leuko, S., Neilan, B.A., Burns, B.P., Walter, M.R., and Rothschild, L.J. (2011) Molecular assessment of UVC radiation-induced DNA damage repair in the stromatolitic halophilic archaeon, *Halococcus hamelinensis*. Journal of Photochemistry & Photobiology, B: Biology 102(2), 140-145. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2010.10.002</u>.

- Leuko, S., Raftery, M.J., Burns, B.P., Walter, M.R., and Neilan, B.A. (2009) Global protein-level responses of *Halobacterium salinarum* NRC-1 to prolonged changes in external sodium chloride concentrations. Journal of Proteome Research 8(5), 2218-2225. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/pr800663c</u>.
- Limpus, C.J. (2002) Western Australian marine turtle review. Department of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia. 62 pp.
- Linke, T.E., Platell, M.E., and Potter, I. (2001) Factors influencing the partitioning of food resources among six fish species in a large embayment with juxtaposing bare sand and seagrass habitats. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 266, 193-217. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(01)00356-2.
- Logan, B.W. (1961) Cryptozoon and associate stromatolites from the Recent, Shark Bay, Western Australia. The Journal of Geology 69(5), 517-533. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1086/626769</u>.
- Logan, B.W. (1974a) Carbonate sediments of the west coast of Western Australia. Supplement 5. MacLeod Evaporite Basin. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. BW Logan, JF Read, GM Hagan, P Hoffman, RG Brown, PJ Woods and CD Gebelein). American Association of Petroleum Geologists.
- Logan, B.W. (1974b) Inventory of diagenesis in Holocenerecent carbonate sediments, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. BW Logan, JF Read, GM Hagan, P Hoffman, RG Brown, PJ Woods and CD Gebelein). American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1306/M22379C4</u>.
- Logan, B.W., and Cebulski, D.E. (1970) Sedimentary environments of Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Carbonate Sedimentation and Environments, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. Brian W. Logan, Graham R. Davies, James F. Read and DE Cebulski). American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1306/M13369C1</u>.
- Logan, B.W., Hoffman, P., and Gebelein, C.D. (1974a) Algal mats, cryptalgal fabrics, and structures, Hamelin Pool, Western Australia. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/M22379C3</u>.

- Logan, B.W., Read, J.F., and Davies, G.R. (1970) History of carbonate sedimentation, Quaternary Epoch, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Carbonate Sedimentation and Environments, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. Brian W. Logan, Graham R. Davies, James F. Read and DE Cebulski) pp. 38-84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/ M13369C2</u>.
- Logan, B.W., Read, J.F., Hagan, G.M., Hoffman, P., Brown, R.G., Woods, P.J., and Gebeelein, C.D. (1974b) Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir 22, 258. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1306/M22379</u>.
- Luketina, D.A., King, I.P., and Lyons, L.M. (1998) Monkey Mia: a hydrodynamic investigation. June 1998. University of New South Wales - Water Research Laboratory, Sydney. 218 pp. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4225/53/57a4295690633</u>.
- Mackie, M.C., Jackson, G., Tapp, N.E., Norriss, J.V., and Thomson, A. (2009) Macroscopic and microscopic description of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) gonads from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Fisheries Research Report No. 184. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 35 pp.
- Macqueen, R.W., Ghent, E.D., and Davies, G.R. (1974)
   Magnesium distribution in living and fossil specimens of the echinoid *Peronella lesueuri* Agassiz, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Journal of Sedimentary Research 44(1), 60-69. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1306/74D7297D-2B21-11D7-8648000102C1865D</u>.
- Makira, and Ecologia Environmental Consultants (1997) Aquaculture Planning in Western Australia Part B: Sites and Maps. Report prepared for The Aquaculture Development Council. 52 pp.
- Manlik, O., Krützen, M., Kopps, A.M., Mann, J., Bejder, L., Allen, S.J., Frère, C., Connor, R.C., and Sherwin, W.B. (2019) Is MHC diversity a better marker for conservation than neutral genetic diversity? A case study of two contrasting dolphin populations. Ecology and Evolution 9(12), 6986-6998. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5265</u>.
- Manlik, O., McDonald, J.A., Mann, J., Raudino, H.C., Bejder, L., Krützen, M., Connor, R.C., Heithaus, M.R., Lacy, R.C., and Sherwin, W.B. (2016) The relative importance of reproduction and survival for the conservation of two dolphin populations. Ecology and Evolution 6(11), 3496-3512. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2130</u>.
- Mann, J. (1997) Individual differences in bottlenose dolphin infants. Family Systems 4, 35-49.
- Mann, J. (1999) Behavioral Sampling for Cetaceans: A Review and Critique. Marine Mammal Science 15(1), 102-122. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.1999.</u> <u>tb00784.x</u>.

- Mann, J. (2006a) Report on the status of the Monkey Mia dolphin mothers and calves. Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Western Australia. 2 pp.
- Mann, J. (2006b) Sociosexual behaviour among Indian
   Ocean bottlenose dolphins and the development of male-male bonds. In Homosexual Behaviour in Animals:
   An Evolutionary Perspective. (Eds. P Vasey and V Sommer) pp. 107-130. Cambridge University Press.
- Mann, J., and Barnett, H. (1999) Lethal tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*i) attack on bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops* sp.) calf: Defense and reactions by the mother. Marine Mammal Science 15(2), 568-575. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.1999.tb00823.x</u>.
- Mann, J., Connor, R.C., Barre, L.M., and Heithaus, M.R. (2000a) Female reproductive success in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.): Life history, habitat, provisioning, and group-size effects. Behavioral Ecology 11(2), 210-219. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/beheco/11.2.210</u>.
- Mann, J., Connor, R.C., Tyack, P.L., and Whitehead, H. (2000b) 'Cetacean societies: field studies of dolphins and whales.' University of Chicago Press: Chicago, United States 448 pp.
- Mann, J., and Janik, V.M. (1999) Preliminary Report on Dolphin Habitat Use in Relation to Oyster Farm Activities in Red Cliff Bay, Shark Bay. Unpublished report to Department of Conservation and Land Management, and Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 7 pp.
- Mann, J., and Karniski, C. (2017) Diving beneath the surface: long-term studies of dolphins and whales. Journal of Mammalogy 98(3), 621-630. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyx036</u>.
- Mann, J., and Kemps, C. (2003) The effects of provisioning on maternal care in bottlenose dolphins. In Marine Mammals and Humans: Towards a sustainable balance. (Eds. N Gales, M Hindell and R Kirkwood) pp. 480.
  CSIRO Publishing.
- Mann, J., and Patterson, E.M. (2013) Tool use by aquatic animals. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 368(1630), 20120424. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0424.
- Mann, J., and Sargeant, B. (2003) Like mother, like calf: The ontogeny of foraging traditions in wild Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). In The Biology of Traditions: Models and Evidence. (Eds. D Fragaszy and S Perry) pp. 236-266. Cambridge University Press.
- Mann, J., Sargeant, B.L., and Minor, M. (2007) Calf Inspections of Fish Catches in Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops* Sp.): Opportunities for Oblique Social Learning? Marine Mammal Science 23(1), 197-202. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2006.00087.x.</u>

Mann, J., Sargeant, B.L., Watson-Capps, J.J., Gibson, Q.A., Heithaus, M.R., Connor, R.C., and Patterson, E. (2008)
Why do dolphins carry sponges? PLOS ONE 3(12), e3868. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003868</u>.

Mann, J., Senigaglia, V., Jacoby, A., and Bejder, L. (2018) A comparison of tourism and food-provisioning among wild bottlenose dolphins at Monkey Mia and Bunbury, Australia. In Tourism and Animal Welfare. (Eds. N Carr and D Broom). CABI Publishing: Oxfordshire, UK. http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/9781786391858.0085.

Mann, J., and Singh, L.O. (2015) Culture, diffusion, and networks in social animals. In Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences. (Eds. R Scott and S Kosslyn). John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, New Jersey.

- Mann, J., Smolker, R.A., and Smuts, B.B. (1995) Responses to calf entanglement in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins.
   Marine Mammal Science 11(1), 100-106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.1995.tb00280.x</u>.
- Mann, J., and Smuts, B.B. (1999) Behavioral development in wild bottlenose dolphin newborns (*Tursiops* sp.). Behaviour 136, 529-566. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1163/156853999501469.
- Mann, J., Stanton, M.A., Patterson, E.M., Bienenstock, E.J., and Singh, L.O. (2012) Social networks reveal cultural behaviour in tool-using dolphins. Nature Communications 3, 980. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>ncomms1983</u>.
- Mann, J., and Watson-Capps, J.J. (2005) Surviving at sea: ecological and behavioural predictors of calf mortality in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops* sp. Animal Behaviour 69(4), 899-909. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>anbehav.2004.04.024</u>.
- Mann, J., and Würsig, B. (2014) Observing and quantifying cetacean behavior in the wild: current problems, limitations, and future directions. In Primates and Cetaceans: Field Research and Conservation of Complex Mammalian Societies. (Eds. J Yamagiwa and L Karczmarski) pp. 335-344. Springer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-54523-1\_17</u>.

Mant, J., Moran, M., Newman, S., Hesp, S., Hall, N., and Potter, I. (2006) Biological characteristics and mortality of western butterfish (*Pentapodus vita*), an abundant bycatch species of prawn trawling and recreational fishing in a large subtropical embayment. Fishery Bulletin 104, 512–520.

Marriott, R., Jackson, G., Lenanton, R., Telfer, C., Lai, E., Stephenson, P., Bruce, C., Adams, D., Norriss, J., and Hall, N. (2012) Biology and stock status of inshore demersal scalefish indicator species in the Gascoyne Coast Bioregion. Fisheries Research Report No. 228. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 210 pp.

- Marsh, H., Eros, C., Corkeron, P., and Breen, B. (1999) A conservation strategy for dugongs: implications of Australian research. Marine and Freshwater Research 50(8), 979-990. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf99080</u>.
- Marsh, H., Prince, R.I.T., Saafeld, W.K., and Shepherd, R. (1994) The distribution and abundance of the dugong in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Wildlife Research 21(2), 149-161. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/WR9940149</u>.
- Marsh, L.M. (1990) Hermatypic corals of Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe Biocentenary Expedition Committee, Perth: Western Australia Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.

Martinez, E., and Orams, M.B. (2018) Review of the management of the Monkey Mia Provisioning Programme, Western Australia. Report prepared for the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Perth, WA. 144 pp.

Masini, R.J., Anderson, P.K., and McComb, A.J. (2001) A Halodule-dominated community in a subtropical embayment: physical environment, productivity, biomass, and impact of dugong grazing. Aquatic Botany 71(3), 179-197. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-</u> 3770(01)00181-4.

Matich, P., Heithaus, M.R., and Layman, C.A. (2010) Sizebased variation in intertissue comparisons of stable carbon and nitrogen isotopic signatures of bull sharks (*Carcharhinus leucas*) and tiger sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 67(5), 877-885. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/ F10-037</u>.

Matich, P., Heithaus, M.R., and Layman, C.A. (2011) Contrasting patterns of individual specialization and trophic coupling in two marine apex predators. Journal of Animal Ecology 80(1), 294-305. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01753.x</u>.

Mau, R., Halkyard, B., Smallwood, C., and Downs, J. Critical habitats and migratory routes of tagged loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) after nesting at Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia. In 'Proceedings of the First Western Australian Marine Turtle Symposium 28–29th August 2012', 2012, Perth, Western Australia. (Eds. RIT Prince, S Whiting, H Raudino, A Vitenbergs and K Pendoley).

Mazor, T., Pitcher, C., Ellis, N., Rochester, W., Jennings, S., Hiddink, J., McConnaughey, R., Kaiser, M., Parma, A., Suuronen, P., Kangas, M., and Hilborn, R. (2017) Trawl exposure and protection of seabed fauna at large spatial scales. Diversity and Distributions. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/ddi.12622</u>.

- McCluskey, P. (2008) Shark Bay World Heritage Property Strategic Plan 2008-2020. Department of Environment and Conservation, Western Australia and Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Australia. 111 pp.
- McConchie, D., and Lawrance, L. (1991) The origin of high cadmium loads in some bivalve molluscs from Shark Bay, Western Australia: a new mechanism for cadmium uptake by filter feeding organisms. Archives of Environmental Contamination and toxicology 21(2), 303-310. <u>http://dx.doi.org/doi.org/10.1007/BF01055350</u>.
- McConchie, D., Mann, A., Lintern, M., Longman, D., Talbot, V., Gabelish, A., and Gabelish, M. (1988) Heavy metals in marine biota, sediments and waters from the Shark Bay area, Western Australia. Journal of Coastal research, 37-58.
- McGann, S. (1999) Wilyah Miah: an archaeological study of the history of the Shark Bay pearling industry 1850-1930. Master's Thesis, University of Western Australia, 234 pp.
- McGuiness, V., Rodger, K., Pearce, J., Newsome, D., and Eagles, P.F.J. (2016) Short-stop visitation in Shark Bay World Heritage Area: an importance–performance analysis. Journal of Ecotourism 16(1), 24-40. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14724049.2016.1194850.
- McKinna, L., Garcia, R.A., and Fearns, P. (2012) Determining inherent optical properties, bathymetry and benthic types using HICO imagery within northeast and western Australia HICO User's Annual Report, August 2. Remote Sensing and Satellite Research Group, Curtin University of Technology. 21 pp.
- McLeod, P., and McGinley, C. (1994) Economic Impact Study: Commercial Fishing in Western Australia. Economic Research Associates. 83 pp.
- McMahon, K., Statton, J., and Lavery, P.S. (2017a) Seagrasses of the northwest of Western Australia: biogeography and considerations for dredging-related research. Report of Theme 5 - Project 5.1.2 prepared for the Dredging Science Node, Western Australian Marine Science Institution, Perth, Western Australia. 39 pp.
- McMahon, K.M., Evans, R.D., van Dijk, K.-J., Hernawan, U., Kendrick, G.A., Lavery, P.S., Lowe, R., Puotinen, M., and Waycott, M. (2017b) Disturbance is an important driver of clonal richness in tropical seagrasses. Frontiers in Plant Science 8, 2026. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2017.02026</u>.
- McMillan, C., Young, P.C., Cambridge, M.L., Masini, R.J., and Walker, D.I. (1983) The status of an endemic Australian seagrass, *Cymodocea angustata* Ostenfeld. Aquatic Botany 17(3), 231-241. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(83)90059-1</u>.

- Miketa, M., Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2017) Behavioral responses to fishing line entanglement of a juvenile bottlenose dolphin in Shark Bay, Australia. Matters. http://dx.doi.org/10.19185/matters.201711000011.
- Miketa, M.L. (2018) Social and behavioral responses to environmental stressors in bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay, Australia. PhD Thesis, Georgetown University, 179 pp.
- Miketa, M.L., Patterson, E.M., Krzyszczyk, E., Foroughirad, V., and Mann, J. (2018) Calf age and sex affect maternal diving behaviour in Shark Bay bottlenose dolphins. Animal Behaviour 137, 107-117. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.12.023</u>.
- Miller, K., Depczynski, M., Cappo, M., Wakeford, M., Speed, C., Stowar, M., Colquhoun, J., Tinkler, P., Cheal, A., Fisher, R., Johansson, C., Noble, M., and Radford, B. (2015)
  Ningaloo and Outer Shark Bay Environmental Baseline Survey 2014. Report prepared for Woodside Energy Ltd. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Perth, Western Australia. 125 pp.
- Mitchell, R.W.D., Baba, O., Jackson, G., and Isshiki, T. (2008) Comparing management of recreational *Pagrus* fisheries in Shark Bay (Australia) and Sagami Bay (Japan): Conventional catch controls versus stock enhancement. Marine Policy 32(1), 27-37. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.marpol.2007.04.003</u>.
- Moore, J.A., Bellchambers, L.M., Depczynski, M.R., Evans, R.D., Evans, S.N., Field, S.N., Friedman, K.J., Gilmour, J.P., Holmes, T.H., Middlebrook, R., Radford, B.T., Ridgway, T., Shedrawi, G., Taylor, H., Thomson, D.P., and Wilson, S.K. (2012) Unprecedented mass bleaching and loss of coral across 12 degrees of latitude in Western Australia in 2010-11. PLOS ONE 7(12), e51807. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051807</u>.
- Moore, R. (1994) The management of the Western Australian pearling industry, 1860 to the 1930s. The Great Circle 16(2), 121-138.
- Moran, M. (1987) Tagging confirms separate stocks of snapper in Shark Bay region. FINS 20(4), 3-8.
- Moran, M., Burton, C., and Caputi, N. (1999) Sexual and local variation in head morphology of snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, Sparidae, in the Shark Bay region of Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 50(1), 27-34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF98031</u>.
- Moran, M., and Kangas, M. (2003) The effects of the trawl fishery on the stock of pink snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, in Denham Sound, Shark Bay. Fisheries Research Bulletin No. 31. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 52 pp.

- Moran, M., Stephenson, P., Gaughan, D., Tapp, N., and Moore, J. (2005) Minimising the cost of future stock monitoring, and assessment of the potential for increased yields from the oceanic snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, stock off Shark Bay. FRDC Project No. 2000/138. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 50 pp.
- Moran, M.J., Burton, C., and Jenke, J. (2003) Long-term movement patterns of continental shelf and inner gulf snapper (*Pagrus auratus*, Sparidae) from tagging in the Shark Bay region of Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 54, 913-922. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/MF03012</u>.
- Moran, M.J., and Jenke, J. (1989) 'Effects of fish trapping on the Shark Bay snapper fishery.' Fisheries Research Branch, WA Marine Research Laboratories, Fisheries.
- Moriarty, D. (1983) Bacterial biomass and productivity in sediments, stromatolites, and water of Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Geomicrobiology Journal 3(2), 121-133. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1080/01490458309377790</u>.
- Morris, T., Visscher, P., O'Leary, M., Fearns, P., and Collins, L. (2019) The biogeomorphology of Shark Bay's microbialite coasts. Earth-Science Reviews 205, 102921. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>earscirev.2019.102921</u>.
- Morse, K. (1988) An archaeological survey of midden sites near the Zuytdorp Wreck, Western Australia. The Bulletin of the Australian Institute for Maritime Archaeology 12(1), 37-40.
- Morton, B. (2000) The biology and functional morphology of *Fragum erugatum* (Bivalvia: Cardiidae) from Shark Bay, Western Australia: the significance of its relationship with entrained zooxanthellae. Journal of Zoology 251(1), 39-52. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2000.</u> <u>tb00591.x</u>.
- Morton, B. (2003) Observations on the feeding behaviour of *Nassarius clarus* (Gastropoda: Nassariidae) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Molluscan Research 23(3), 239-249. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MR03008</u>.
- Mpelasoka, F., Rustomji, P., and Vanderklift, M. Implications of changes in Wooramel River flow regime to the Stromatolites and Faure Sill in Shark Bay northwest Western Australia. In 'Hydrology and Water Resources Symposium', 2012.
- Mpelasoka, F.S., and Rustomji, P. (2012) Projections of streamflow and sediment yield responses of the Wooramel River to global warming scenarios. CSIRO, Australia. 40 pp.

- MPRA (2010) Shark Bay Marine Reserves Management Plan 1996-2006: report on ten-year audit and review. Marine Parks and Reserves Authority, Australia. 45 pp.
- Mueller, U., Bloom, L., Kangas, M., and Caputi, N. (2008a)
   King prawn catch by grade category from an economic and a stock management perspective. In geoENV
   VI–Geostatistics for Environmental Applications. pp. 103-113. Springer.
- Mueller, U., Bloom, L., Kangas, M., Caputi, N., and Tran, T. (2005) The delineation of fishing times and locations for the Shark Bay scallop fishery. In Geostatistics for Environmental Applications. pp. 87-98. Springer.
- Mueller, U., Dickson, J., Kangas, M., and Caputi, N. (2008b) Geostatistical modelling of the scallop density distribution in Shark Bay. Geostats 2008, 971-980.
- Mueller, U., Kangas, M., and Caputi, N. Saucer scallop abundance hotspots and distribution patterns before and after an extreme heatwave event in Shark Bay Western Australia. In '12th International Conference on Geostatistics for Environmental Applications', 2018.
- Mueller, U., Kangas, M., Dickson, J., Denham, A., Caputi, N., Bloom, L., and Sporer, E. (2008c) Spatial and temporal distribution of western king prawns (*Penaeus latisulcatus*), brown tiger prawns (*Penaeus esculentus*), and saucer scallops (*Amusium balloti*) in Shark Bay for fisheries management. No. 072980657X, FRDC project ; No. 2005/038. Edith Cowan University.
- Mueller, U., Kangas, M., Dickson, J., and Sporer, E. (2007) Simulation of the scallop density distribution in Shark Bay from survey data: A case study. Journal of Shellfish Research 26(4), 1328-1328.
- Mueller, U., Kangas, M., Sporer, E., and Caputi, N. (2012) Variability in the spatial and temporal distribution of the saucer scallop, *Amusium balloti*, in Shark Baymanagement implications. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1152-1164. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MF12051</u>.
- Nahas, E.L. (2004) Physical processes controlling circulation and frontal zones in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Master's Thesis, The University of Western Australia, 94 pp.
- Nahas, E.L., Jackson, G., Pattiaratchi, C.B., and Ivey, G.N.
  (2003) Hydrodynamic modelling of snapper *Pagrus auratus* egg and larval dispersal in Shark Bay, Western Australia: reproductive isolation at a fine spatial scale.
  Marine Ecology Progress Series 265, 213-226.
  http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps265213.

- Nahas, E.L., Pattiaratchi, C.B., and Ivey, G.N. (2005) Processes controlling the position of frontal systems in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 65(3), 463-474. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.ecss.2005.06.017</u>.
- Nater, A., Kopps, A.M., and Kruetzen, M. (2009) New polymorphic tetranucleotide microsatellites improve scoring accuracy in the bottlenose dolphin *Tursiops aduncus*. Molecular Ecology Resources 9(2), 531-534. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2008.02246.x</u>.
- Navigatus Consulting (2018) Western Australia Marine Oil Pollution Risk Assessment: Midwest Zone Report Prepared for Department of Transport, Western Australia. 63 pp.
- Nelson, T.M., Apprill, A., Mann, J., Rogers, T.L., and Brown, M.V. (2015) The marine mammal microbiome: current knowledge and future directions. Microbiology Australia 36(1), 8-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MA15004</u>.
- Nelson, T.M., Wallen, M.M., Bunce, M., Oskam, C.L., Lima, N., Clayton, L., and Mann, J. (2019) Detecting respiratory bacterial communities of wild dolphins: implications for animal health. Marine Ecology Progress Series 622, 203-217. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps13055</u>.
- NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub (2018) Climate change and the Shark Bay World Heritage Area: foundations for a climate change adaptation strategy and action plan Report No. 7, NESP Earth Systems and Climate Change Hub, Australia. 53 pp.
- Nicholson, K., Bejder, L., Allen, S.J., Krützen, M., and Pollock, K.H. (2012) Abundance, survival and temporary emigration of bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) off Useless Loop in the western gulf of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1059-1068. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MF12210</u>.
- Nitschke, C.R., Hourston, M., Udyawer, V., and Sanders, K.L. (2018) Rates of population differentiation and speciation are decoupled in sea snakes. Biology Letters 14(10), 20180563. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2018.0563.
- Norman, B.M., Liebsch, N., and Morgan, D.L. Residency times and movement patterns of whale sharks, *Rhincodon typus*, along the Western Australian coast. In 'Sharks International', 2014, Durban.
- Norman, B.M., Reynolds, S., and Morgan, D.L. (2016) Does the whale shark aggregate along the Western Australian coastline beyond Ningaloo Reef? Pacific Conservation Biology 22(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/pc15045.

- Norriss, J., Jackson, G., and Wright, I. (2006) Comparing fishery-independent measures of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) abundance in inner Shark Bay; daily egg production method vs. mark-recapture. In Monitoring Fish Stocks and Aquatic Ecosystems. Australian Society for Fish Biology Workshop Proceedings. (Eds. MJ Phelan and H Bajhau) pp. 112. Darwin, Northern Territory.
- Norriss, J.V., and Jackson, G. (2002) Identifying the developmental stages of preserved eggs of snapper, *Pagrus auratus*, from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Fisheries Research Report No. 142. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 29 pp.
- Norriss, J.V., Moran, M., and Jackson, G. (2012) Tagging studies reveal restricted movement of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) within Shark Bay, supporting finescale fisheries management. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1191-1199. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>mf12077</u>.
- Nott, J. (2011) A 6000 year tropical cyclone record from Western Australia. Quaternary Science Reviews 30(5), 713-722. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>quascirev.2010.12.004</u>.
- Nowicki, R., Heithaus, M., Thomson, J., Burkholder, D., Gastrich, K., and Wirsing, A. (2019) Indirect legacy effects of an extreme climatic event on a marine megafaunal community. Ecological Monographs 89(3), e01365-n/a. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1365</u>.
- Nowicki, R.J., Thomson, J.A., Burkholder, D.A., Fourqurean, J.W., and Heithaus, M.R. (2017) Predicting seagrass recovery times and their implications following an extreme climate event. Marine Ecology Progress Series 567, 79-93. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps12029</u>.
- O'Leary, M.J., Hearty, P.J., and McCulloch, M.T. (2008) U-series evidence for widespread reef development in Shark Bay during the last interglacial. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 259(4), 424-435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2007.10.022.
- Olson, E.L., Salomon, A.K., Wirsing, A.J., and Heithaus, M.R. (2012) Large-scale movement patterns of male loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in Shark Bay, Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1108-1116. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12030</u>.
- Ong, J.J.L., Rountrey, A.N., Black, B.A., Nguyen, H.M., Coulson, P.G., Newman, S.J., Wakefield, C.B., Meeuwig, J.J., and Meekan, M.G. (2018) A boundary current drives synchronous growth of marine fishes across tropical and temperate latitudes. Global Change Biology 24(5), 1894-1903. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14083.

- Orams, M.B. (1997) Historical accounts of human-dolphin interaction and recent developments in wild dolphin based tourism in Australasia. Tourism Management 18(5), 317-326. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0261-</u> 5177(96)00022-2.
- Pacioni, C., Trocini, S., Heithaus, M., Burkholder, D., Thomson, J., Warren, K., and Krützen, M. Preliminary Assessment of the Genetic Profile of the Western Australian Loggerhead Turtle Population using Mitochondrial DNA. In 'Proceedings of the First Western Australian Marine Turtle Symposium 28–29th August 2012', 2012, Perth, Western Australia. (Eds. RIT Prince, S Whiting, H Raudino, A Vitenbergs and K Pendoley).
- Pagès, A., Grice, K., Ertefai, T., Skrzypek, G., Jahnert, R., and Greenwood, P. (2014a) Organic geochemical studies of modern microbial mats from Shark Bay: Part I: Influence of depth and salinity on lipid biomarkers and their isotopic signatures. Geobiology 12(5), 469-487. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gbi.12094</u>.
- Pagès, A., Grice, K., Welsh, D.T., Teasdale, P.T., Martin, J.V.K., and Greenwood, P. (2015) Lipid Biomarker and Isotopic Study of Community Distribution and Biomarker Preservation in a Laminated Microbial Mat from Shark Bay, Western Australia. Microbial Ecology 70(2), 459-472. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00248-015-0598-3</u>.
- Pagès, A., Welsh, D.T., Teasdale, P.R., Grice, K., Vacher, M., Bennett, W.W., and Visscher, P.T. (2014b) Diel fluctuations in solute distributions and biogeochemical cycling in a hypersaline microbial mat from Shark Bay, WA. Marine Chemistry 167, 102-112. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.marchem.2014.05.003</u>.
- Palmisano, A.C., Summons, R.E., Cronin, S.E., and Des Marais, D.J. (1989) Lipophilic pigments from cyanobacterial (blue-green algal) and diatom mats in Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Journal of Phycology 25(4), 655-661. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/</u> j.0022-3646.1989.00655.x.
- Pan Holdings Pty Ltd (2017) Applications for the variation of an Aquaculture licence. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 4 pp.
- Papineau, D., Walker, J.J., Mojzsis, S.J., and Pace, N.R. (2005) Composition and Structure of Microbial Communities from Stromatolites of Hamelin Pool in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(8), 4822-4832. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1128/AEM.71.8.4822-4832.2005</u>.

- Parsons, M.J., Fenny, E., Lucke, K., Osterrieder, S., Jenkins, G., Saunders, B.J., Jepp, P., and Parnum, I.M. (2017) Imaging marine fauna with a Tritech Gemini 720i sonar. Acoustics Australia 45(1), 41-49. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40857-016-0076-1</u>.
- Parsons, M.J., Holley, D., and McCauley, R.D. (2013) Source levels of dugong (*Dugong dugon*) vocalizations recorded in Shark Bay. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 134(3), 2582-2588. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1121/1.4816583</u>.
- Parsons, M.J., Lewis, P., Longbottom, S., McCauley, R.D., and Fairclough, D. Dhu they or don't they? A study of sound production by three fish species of commercial and recreational importance in Western Australia. In 'Acoustics 2012: Acoustics, Development and the Environment', 2012a.
- Parsons, M.J., Parnum, I.M., Allen, K., McCauley, R.D., and Erbe, C. (2014) Detection of sharks with the Gemini imaging sonar. Acoustics Australia 42(3), 185-190.
- Parsons, M.J.G., Fairclough, D.V., and McCauley, R.D. (2015) Passive acoustic techniques to monitor aggregations of sound producing fish species. Curtin University. 160 pp.
- Parsons, M.J.G., Holley, D., and McCauley, R.D. Passive acoustic detection of Shark Bay dugongs (*Dugong dugon*). In 'Proceedings of Acoustics', 2012b, Fremantle. Western Australia.
- Patterson, E.M. (2012) Ecological and life history factors influence habitat and tool use in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). PhD Thesis, Georgetown University, 170 pp.
- Patterson, E.M., Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2016) Agespecific foraging performance and reproduction in tool-using wild bottlenose dolphins. Behavioral Ecology 27(2), 401-410. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ arv164</u>.
- Patterson, E.M., and Mann, J. (2011) The ecological conditions that favor tool use and innovation in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). PLOS ONE 6(7), e22243. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0022243</u>.
- Patterson, E.M., and Mann, J. (2015) Cetacean Innovation. In Animal Creativity and Innovation. (Eds. A Kaufman and J Kaufman) pp. 73-120. Elsevier. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/b978-0-12-800648-1.00004-8</u>.
- Pattiaratchi, C., and Hetzel, Y.L. (2018) Shark Bay: changes in Oceanography. Presentation for the Adapting to ecosystem change in the Shark Bay World Heritage Site. WAMSI/UWA workshop.

- Pattiaratchi, C., and Woo, M. (2009) The mean state of the Leeuwin Current system between North West Cape and Cape Leeuwin. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 92, 221.
- Paxton, C., Hedley, S., and Bannister, J. (2011a) Group IV Humpback whales: their status from aerial and landbased surveys off Western Australia, 2005. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management Special Issue 3, 223-234.
- Paxton, C., Hedley, S.L., and Bannister, J.L. (2011b) Group IV humpback whales: Their status from aerial and landbased surveys off Western Australia, 2005. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management, 223-234.
- Pearce, A., Lenanton, R., Jackson, G., Moore, J., Feng, M., and Gaughan, D. (2011) The "marine heat wave" off Western Australia during the summer of 2010/11.
  Fisheries Research Report No. 222. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 40 pp.
- Pedretti, Y.M., Paling, E.I., D'Adamo, N., and Bancroft, K.P. (1998) Baseline water quality survey of the Cape Peron-Monkey Mia region of the Shark Bay World Heritage Area: Autumn 1998. Field data report MMS/MW/SBMP - 12/1998. Marine Conservation Branch. Department of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia. 172 pp.
- Penn, J. (1975) The influence of tidal cycles on the distributional pathway of *Penaeus latisulcatus* Kishinouye in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine and Freshwater Research 26(1), 93-102. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/MF9750093</u>.
- Penn, J., Caputi, N., and Hall, N. (1995) Stock-recruitment relationships for the tiger prawn (*Penaeus esculentus*) stocks in Western Australia. ICES Marine Science Symposia 199, 320-333.
- Penn, J.W. (1980) Spawning and fecundity of the Western King Prawn, *Penaeus latisulcatus* Kishinouye, in Western Australian waters. Marine and Freshwater Research 31(1), 21-35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MF9800021</u>.
- Peterson, C.H. (1991) Intertidal zonation of marine invertebrates in sand and mud. American Scientist 79(3), 236-249.
- Peterson, C.H., and Black, R. (1987) Resource depletion by active suspension feeders on tidal flats: influence of local density and tidal elevation. Limnology and Oceanography 32(1), 143-166. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.4319/lo.1987.32.1.0143</u>.

- Peterson, C.H., and Black, R. (1988) Responses of growth to elevation fail to explain vertical zonation of suspensionfeeding bivalves on a tidal flat. Oecologia 76(3), 423-429. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00377038.
- Peterson, C.H., and Black, R. (1991) Preliminary evidence for progressive sestonic food depletion in incoming tide over a broad tidal sand flat. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 32(4), 405-413. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1016/0272-7714(91)90052-D</u>.
- Pitcher, R., Rochester, W., Dunning, M., Broadhurst, M., Noell, C., Tanner, J., Kangas, M., Newman, S., Semmens, J., and Rigby, C. (2019) Putting potential environmental risk of Australia's trawl fisheries in landscape perspective: exposure of seabed assemblages to trawling, and inclusion in closures and reserves. FRDC Project No 2016-039. CSIRO Oceans & Atmosphere, Brisbane, Australia. 71 pp.
- Platell, M.E., Ang, H.P., Hesp, S.A., and Potter, I.C. (2007) Comparisons between the influences of habitat, body size and season on the dietary composition of the sparid *Acanthopagrus latus* in a large marine embayment. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 72(4), 626-634. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2006.11.026</u>.
- Playford, P. (1979) Environmental controls on the morphology of modern stromatolites at Hamelin Pool, Western Australia. Western Australian Geological Suvrey Annual Report. 73-76 pp.
- Playford, P. (2013) Recent mega-tsunamis in the Shark Bay, Pilbara and Kimberley areas of Western Australia. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Western Australia 97, 173–188.
- Playford, P.E. (1990) Geology of the Shark Bay area, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe Biocentenary Expedition Committee, Perth: Western Australia Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.
- Playford, P.E., Cockbain, A., Berry, P., Roberts, A., Haines, P., and Brooke, B. (2013) 'The geology of Shark Bay.' Geological Survey of Western Australia: Bulletin 146 299 pp.
- Playford, P.E., and Cockbain, A.E. (1976) Modern Algal Stromatolites at Hamelin Pool, A Hypersaline Barred Basin in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Developments in Sedimentology 20(C), 389-411. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0070-4571(08)71147-6</u>.
- Playford, P.E., and Johnstone, M.H. (1959) Oil exploration in Australia. Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists 43(2), 397-433.

Powell, S.N., Wallen, M.M., Bansal, S., and Mann, J. (2018) Epidemiological investigation of tattoo-like skin lesions among bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay, Australia. Science of the Total Environment 630, 774-780. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.02.202.

Powell, S.N., Wallen, M.M., Miketa, M.L., Krzyszczyk, E., Foroughirad, V., Bansal, S., and Mann, J. (2019) Sociality and tattoo skin disease among bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay, Australia. Behavioral Ecology. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/beheco/arz207</u>.

Preen, A. (1998) Marine Protected Areas and Dugong Conservation Along Australia's Indian Ocean Coast. Environmental Management 22(2), 173-181. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s002679900094</u>.

Preen, A.R., Marsh, H., Lawler, I.R., Prince, R.I.T., and Shepherd, R. (1997) Distribution and abundance of dugongs, turtles, dolphins and other megafauna in Shark Bay, Ningaloo Reef and Exmouth Gulf, Western Australia. Wildlife Research 24(2), 185-208. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1071/WR95078</u>.

Price, R.M., Skrzypek, G., Grierson, P.F., Swart, P.K., and Fourqurean, J.W. (2012) The use of stable isotopes of oxygen and hydrogen to identify water sources in two hypersaline estuaries with different hydrologic regimes. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 952-966. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12042.

Prince, R.I.T. (1994) Shark Bay World Heritage Area: an important loggerhead nesting site. Marine Turtle Newsletter 67, 5-6.

Prince, R.I.T. Marine turtle conservation: the links between populations in Western Australia and the Northern Australian Region—people and turtles. In 'Proceedings of the Marine Turtle Conservation and Management in Northern Australia Workshop', 1997, Northern Territory University, Darwin. pp. 93-99.

Raidal, S.R., and Prince, R.I.T. (1996) First confirmation of multiple fibropapillomas in a Western Australian green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*). Marine Turtle Newsletter 74, 7-9.

Randić, S. (2008) Spatial analysis of the distribution and home ranges of male bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay, Australia. Master's Thesis, University of Massachusetts Dartmouth, 78 pp.

Randić, S., Connor Richard, C., Sherwin William, B., and Krützen, M. (2012) A novel mammalian social structure in Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.): complex male alliances in an open social network. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 279(1740), 3083-3090. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/</u> <u>rspb.2012.0264</u>. Rankin, R.W., Mann, J., Singh, L., Patterson, E.M., Krzyszczyk, E., and Bejder, L. (2016a) The role of weighted and topological network information to understand animal social networks: a null model approach. Animal Behaviour 113, 215-228. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>anbehav.2015.12.015</u>.

Rankin, R.W., Nicholson, K.E., Allen, S.J., Krützen, M., Bejder, L., and Pollock, K.H. (2016b) A Full-Capture Hierarchical Bayesian Model of Pollock's Closed Robust Design and Application to Dolphins. Frontiers in Marine Science 3(25). http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00025.

Rasheed, M., Wild, C., Franke, U., and Huettel, M. (2004) Benthic photosynthesis and oxygen consumption in permeable carbonate sediments at Heron Island, Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 59(1), 139-150. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ecss.2003.08.013</u>.

Read, J.F. (1974a) Carbonate bank and wave-built platform sedimentation, Edel Province, Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. BW Logan, JF Read, GM Hagan, P Hoffman, RG Brown, PJ Woods and CD Gebelein). American Association of Petroleum Geologists. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1306/M22379C1</u>.

Read, J.F. (1974b) Carbonate sediments of the west coast of Western Australia. Supplement 3. Calcrete Soils (Depuch Formation) Facies Development and Stratigraphic Relationships. In Evolution and Diagenesis of Quaternary Carbonate Sequences, Shark Bay, Western Australia. (Eds. BW Logan, JF Read, GM Hagan, P Hoffman, RG Brown, PJ Woods and CD Gebelein).

Reark Research (1995) A Summary Report of the Findings of the Shark Bay Visitor Survey. Reark Research, Subiaco, WA.

Recfishwest (2018) Code of conduct for recreational fishing in Shark Bay. Recfishwest. 17 pp.

Reid, R.P., James, N.P., Macintyre, I.G., Dupraz, C.P., and Burne, R.V. (2003) Shark Bay stromatolites: Microfabrics and reinterpretation of origins. Facies(49), 299-324. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10347-003-0036-8</u>.

Reinhold, L. (2015) Absence of ingested plastics in 20 necropsied sea turtles in Western Australia. Marine Turtle Newsletter(144), 13.

Reinhold, L., and Whiting, A. (2014) High-density loggerhead sea turtle nesting on Dirk Hartog Island, Western Australia. Marine Turtle Newsletter 141, 7-10.

- Reinhold, M., Wong, H.L., MacLeod, F.I., Meltzer, J., Thompson, A., and Burns, B.P. (2019) The Vulnerability of Microbial Ecosystems in a Changing Climate: Potential Impact in Shark Bay. Life 9(3), 71. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.3390/life9030071</u>.
- Reynolds, S.D., Norman, B.M., Beger, M., Franklin, C.E., Dwyer, R.G., and Hawkes, L. (2017) Movement, distribution and marine reserve use by an endangered migratory giant. Diversity and Distributions 23(11), 1268-1279. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12618.
- Richards, A.F. (1996) Life history and behavior of female dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. PhD Thesis, The University of Michigan, 226 pp.
- Rova, A., Mori, G., and Dill, L.M. One fish, two fish, butterfish, trumpeter: Recognizing fish in underwater video. In 'MVA2007 IAPR Conference on Machine Vision Applications', 2007, Tokyo, Japan.
- Rule, M.J., Kendrick, A.J., and Holley, D. (2014) Spatial variation in the morphology of monospecific stands of the western white mangrove *Avicennia marina* var. *marina* in Shark Bay Marine Park. Conservation Science Western Australia 9(2), 215-225.
- Ruvindy, R., White Iii, R.A., Neilan, B.A., Burns, B.P., and Pacific Northwest National Lab, R.W.A. (2016) Unravelling core microbial metabolisms in the hypersaline microbial mats of Shark Bay using highthroughput metagenomics. The ISME Journal 10(1), 183-196. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.87</u>.
- Ryan, K., G. Hall, N., Lai, E., Smallwood, C., Taylor, S., and Wise, B. (2015) State-wide survey of boat-based recreational fishing in Western Australia 2013/14.
  Fisheries Research Report No. 268. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 208 pp.
- Ryan, K., Wise, B., G. Hall, N., Pollock, K., H. Sulin, E., and Gaughan, D. (2013) An integrated system to survey boat-based recreational fishing in Western Australia 2011/12. Fisheries Research Report No. 249. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 168 pp.
- Ryan, K.L., Hall, N.G., Lai, E.K., Smallwood, C.B., Taylor, S.M., and Wise, B.S. (2017) Statewide survey of boat-based recreational fishing in Western Australia 2015/16. Fisheries Research Report No. 287. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 205 pp.
- Salgado Kent, C., Jenner, K.C.S., Jenner, M.-N., Bouchet, P., and Rexstad, E. (2012) Southern Hemisphere Breeding Stock D humpback whale population estimates from North West Cape, Western Australia. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 12, 29-38. http://dx.doi.org/10.31230/osf.io/m94xh.

- Samuels, A., Bejder, L., Constantine, R., and Heinrich, S.
  (2003) A review of swimming with wild cetaceans with a specific focus on the Southern Hemisphere. In Marine Mammals and Humans: Towards a sustainable balance.
  (Eds. N Gales, M Hindell and R Kirkwood) pp. 480.
  CSIRO Publishing.
- Sargeant, B.L., and Mann, J. (2007) Defining and detecting innovation: Are cognitive and developmental mechanisms important? Behavioral and Brain Sciences 30, 423-424. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/</u> <u>S0140525X07002373</u>.
- Sargeant, B.L., and Mann, J. (2009) From social learning to culture: Intrapopulation variation in bottlenose dolphins.
   In The Question of Animal Culture. (Eds. BG Galef Jr. and KN Laland) pp. 152-173. Harvard University Press.
- Sargeant, B.L., Mann, J., Berggren, P., and Krützen, M. (2005) Specialization and development of beach hunting, a rare foraging behavior, by wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Canadian Journal of Zoology 83(11), 1400-1410. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/z05-136</u>.
- Sargeant, B.L., Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Mann, J. (2006) Can environmental heterogeneity explain individual foraging variation in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.)? Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 61(5), 679-688. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00265-006-0296-8</u>.
- Schafer, L.N., Platell, M.E., Valesini, F.J., and Potter, I. (2002) Comparisons between the influence of habitat type, season and body size on the dietary compositions of fish species in nearshore marine waters. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 278, 67-92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(02)00337-4</u>.
- Scott, E.M., Mann, J., Watson-Capps, J.J., Sargeant, B.L., and Connor, R.C. (2005) Aggression in bottlenose dolphins: Evidence for sexual coercion, male-male competition, and female tolerance through analysis of tooth-rake marks and behaviour. Behaviour 142(1), 21-44. http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/1568539053627712.
- Segal, R.D., Waite, A.M., and Hamilton, D.P. (2006) Transition from planktonic to benthic algal dominance along a salinity gradient. Hydrobiologia 556(1), 119-135. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-005-0916-8.
- Segal, R.D., Waite, A.M., and Hamilton, D.P. (2009) Nutrient limitation of phytoplankton in solar salt ponds in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Hydrobiologia 626(1), 97-109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-009-9739-3.
- Semeniuk, C.A., and Dill, L.M. (2004) Cost/benefit analysis of group and solitary resting in the cowtail stingray, *Pastinachus sephen*. Behavioral Ecology 16(2), 417-426. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ari005</u>.

Semeniuk, C.A., and Dill, L.M. (2006) Anti-predator benefits of mixed-species groups of cowtail stingrays (*Pastinachus sephen*) and whiprays (*Himantura uarnak*) at rest. Ethology 112(1), 33-43. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2006.01108.x</u>.

Semeniuk, V. (1994) Predicting the effect of sea-level rise on mangroves in northwestern Australia. Journal of Coastal Research 10(4), 1050-1076.

Sentance, A., and Rowe, B. (2016) Gascoyne Aboriginal
 Land and Sea Management Strategy: A collaborative
 regional approach to Aboriginal socio-economic
 development and environmental management.
 Aboriginal Biodiversity Conservation Foundation. 26 pp.

Serrano, O., Lavery, P., Duarte, C., Kendrick, G.A., Calfat, A.M., York, P.H., Steven, A.D., and Macreadie, P.I. (2016a) Can mud (silt and clay) concentration be used to predict soil organic carbon content within seagrass ecosystems? Biogeosciences 13, 4915–4926. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-4915-2016</u>.

Serrano, O., Lavery, P.S., López-Merino, L., Ballesteros, E., and Mateo, M.A. (2016b) Location and Associated Carbon Storage of Erosional Escarpments of Seagrass *Posidonia* Mats. Frontiers in Marine Science 3(42). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00042</u>.

Serrano, O., Lovelock, C.E., B. Atwood, T., Macreadie, P.I., Canto, R., Phinn, S., Arias-Ortiz, A., Bai, L., Baldock, J., Bedulli, C., Carnell, P., Connolly, R.M., Donaldson, P., Esteban, A., Ewers Lewis, C.J., Eyre, B.D., Hayes, M.A., Horwitz, P., Hutley, L.B., Kavazos, C.R.J., Kelleway, J.J., Kendrick, G.A., Kilminster, K., Lafratta, A., Lee, S., Lavery, P.S., Maher, D.T., Marbà, N., Masque, P., Mateo, M.A., Mount, R., Ralph, P.J., Roelfsema, C., Rozaimi, M., Ruhon, R., Salinas, C., Samper-Villarreal, J., Sanderman, J., Sanders, C.J., Santos, I., Sharples, C., Steven, A.D.L., Cannard, T., Trevathan-Tackett, S.M., and Duarte, C.M. (2019) Australian vegetated coastal ecosystems as global hotspots for climate change mitigation. Nature Communications 10(1), 4313. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/</u> s41467-019-12176-8.

Serrano, O., Serrano, E., Inostroza, K., Lavery, P.S., Mateo, M.A., and Ballesteros, E. (2017) Seagrass Meadows Provide 3D Habitat for Reef Fish. Frontiers in Marine Science 4(54). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/</u> <u>fmars.2017.00054</u>.

Serventy, D.L. (1972) The shearwaters of Shark Bay, WA. Emu 72(4), 175-177. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/</u> <u>MU972175</u>.

Sharara, H., Singh, L., Getoor, L., and Mann, J. (2009) The dynamics of actor loyalty to groups in affiliation networks. In 2009 International Conference on Advances in Social Network Analysis and Mining. pp. 101-106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/asonam.2009.27</u>.

- Shaw, J. (2000) Fisheries Environmental Management Review- Gascoyne Region. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 229 pp.
- Shaw, J. (2002) Fisheries Environmental Management Plan for the Gascoyne Region- Draft Report June 2002.
   Fisheries Management Paper No. 142. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 65 pp.
- Shire of Shark Bay (2013) Business Case Proposal for Shark Bay Marina Feasibility Study Department of Regional Development, Western Australia. 108 pp.
- Shire of Shark Bay (2017) Shark Bay (Yandani Gutharraguda) Investment Prospectus. Shire of Shark Bay. 28 pp.
- Shire of Shark Bay (2019) Aboriginal Heritage. Shire of Shark Bay. <u>https://www.sharkbay.org/culture-history/</u> <u>aboriginal-heritage/</u>.
- Simpfendorfer, C.A., Goodreid, A.B., and McAuley, R.B. (2001) Size, sex and geographic variation in the diet of the tiger shark, *Galeocerdo cuvier*, from Western Australian waters. Environmental Biology of Fishes 61(1), 37-46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1011021710183</u>.

Sinclair, E.A., Cambridge, M.L., and Kendrick, G.A. (2019) First report of hybridization in the seagrass genus *Posidonia* (Posidoniaceae). Aquatic Botany 156, 10-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2019.03.004.

- Sinclair, E.A., Statton, J., Hovey, R., Anthony, J.M., Dixon, K.W., and Kendrick, G.A. (2016) Reproduction at the extremes: pseudovivipary, hybridization and genetic mosaicism in *Posidonia australis* (Posidoniaceae). Annals of Botany 117(2), 237-247. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcv162</u>.
- Skyring, G.W. (1984) Sulfate reduction in marine sediments associated with cyanobacterial mats in Australia. In Microbial Mats: Stromatolites (Eds. HO Halvorson, Y Cohen and RW Castenholz) pp. 265–274. Alan R Liss: New York.

Skyring, G.W., and Bauld, J. (1990) Microbial mats in Australian coastal environments. In Advances in microbial ecology. pp. 461-498. Springer.

Slack-Smith, R.J. (1978) Early history of the Shark Bay prawn fishery, Western Australia. Fisheries Research Bulletin No. 20. Western Australian Marine Research Laboratories, Western Australia. 40 pp.

Slack-Smith, S.M. (1990) The bivalves of Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report on the France-Australe Bicentenary Expedition Committee. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.

- Slack-Smith, S.M. (2008) Ecology of the whelk *Nassarius clarus* in Shark Bay Marine Park. Western Australian Museum.
- Smallwood, C., Ryan, K., and Tate, A. (2017) Weight-length summaries for Western Australian fish species derived from surveys of recreational fishers at boat ramps.
   Fisheries Research Report No. 278. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 151 pp.
- Smallwood, C.B., and Gaughan, D.J. (2013) Aerial surveys of shore-based recreational fishing in Carnarvon and Shark Bay: June to August 2012. Fisheries Research Report No. 243. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 44 pp.
- Smith, A., Newsome, D., Lee, D., and Stoeckl, N. (2006a) The role of wildlife icons as major tourist attractions: Case studies: Monkey Mia dolphins and Hervey Bay whale watching. No. 1920704655, CRC for Sustainable Tourism. 166 pp.
- Smith, A.J., Lee, D., Newsome, D., and Stoeckl, N. (2006b) Production and Consumption of Wildlife Icons: Dolphin Tourism at Monkey Mia, Western. In Tourism, consumption and representation: Narratives of place and self. (Eds. K Meethan, A Anderson and S Miles) pp. 113-139. CAB International, Kings Lynn, United Kingdom.
- Smith, A.J., and Newsome, D. (2004) An investigation into the concept of and factors leading to impact creep and its management. CRC for Sustainable Tourism. 80 pp.
- Smith, H., Samuels, A., and Bradley, S. (2008) Reducing risky interactions between tourists and free-ranging dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.) in an artificial feeding program at Monkey Mia, Western Australia. Tourism Management 29(5), 994-1001. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>tourman.2008.01.001</u>.
- Smith, K., Lewis, P., Brown, J., Dowling, C., Howard, A., Lenanton, R., and Molony, B. (2013) Status of nearshore finfish stocks in southwestern Western Australia Part 2: Tailor. Fisheries Research Report No. 247. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 112 pp.
- Smith, K.A., Newman, S.J., and Cliff, G.M. (2010) Marine Aquarium Fish Managed Fishery. ESD Report Series No. 8. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 104 pp.
- Smith, L. (1974) The sea snakes of Western Australia (Serpentes: Elapidae, Hydrophiinae), with a description of a new subspecies. Records of the Western Australian Museum 3, 93-110.

- Smith, S.V., and Atkinson, M.J. (1983) Mass balance of carbon and phosphorus in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Limnology and Oceanography 28(4), 625-639. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4319/lo.1983.28.4.0625</u>.
- Smith, S.V., and Atkinson, M.J. (1984) Phosphorus limitation of net production in a confined aquatic ecosystem. Nature 307(5952), 626-627. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/307626a0</u>.
- Smolker, R., and Pepper, J.W. (1999) Whistle Convergence among Allied Male Bottlenose Dolphins (Delphinidae, *Tursiops* sp.). Ethology 105(7), 595-617. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1046/j.1439-0310.1999.00441.x</u>.
- Smolker, R., and Richards, A. (1988) Loud sounds during feeding in Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins. In Animal Sonar. pp. 703-706. Springer.
- Smolker, R., Richards, A., Connor, R., Mann, J., and Berggren, P. (1997) Sponge carrying by dolphins (Delphinidae, *Tursiops* sp.): A foraging specialization involving tool use? Ethology 103(6), 454-465. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1997.tb00160.x</u>.
- Smolker, R.A., Mann, J., and Smuts, B.B. (1993) Use of signature whistles during separations and reunions by wild bottlenose dolphin mothers and infants. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 33(6), 393-402. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/BF00170254</u>.
- Smolker, R.A., Richards, A.F., Connor, R.C., and Pepper, J.W. (1992) Sex differences in patterns of association among Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphins. Behaviour 123(1-2), 38-69. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/156853992X00101</u>.
- Speed, C.W., Babcock, R.C., Bancroft, K.P., Beckley, L.E., Bellchambers, L.M., Depczynski, M., Field, S.N., Friedman, K.J., Gilmour, J.P., Hobbs, J.-P.A., Kobryn, H.T., Moore, J.A.Y., Nutt, C.D., Shedrawi, G., Thomson, D.P., and Wilson, S.K. (2013) Dynamic Stability of Coral Reefs on the West Australian Coast. PLOS ONE 8(7), e69863. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069863.
- Stanbury, M. (1986) Historic sites in Shark Bay. Prepared for the Shark Bay Study Group 1986 by the Department of Maritime Archaeology Western Australian Maritime Museum. 9 pp.
- Stanton, M.A., Gibson, Q.A., and Mann, J. (2011) When mum's away: a study of mother and calf ego networks during separations in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.). Animal Behaviour 82(2), 405-412. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.05.026</u>.
- Stanton, M.A., and Mann, J. (2012) Early social networks predict survival in wild bottlenose dolphins. PLOS ONE 7(10), e47508. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.</u> <u>pone.0047508</u>.

- Stanton, M.A., and Mann, J. (2014a) Shark Bay bottlenose dolphins: A case study for defining and measuring sociality. In Primates and Cetaceans: Field Research and Conservation of Complex Mammalian Societies. (Eds. J Yamagiwa and L Karczmarski) pp. 115-126. Springer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-54523-1\_6</u>.
- Stanton, M.A., and Mann, J. (2014b) Social network analysis: applications to primate and cetacean societies.
  In Primates and Cetaceans: Field Research and Conservation of Complex Mammalian Societies. (Eds. J Yamagiwa and L Karczmarski) pp. 345-354. Springer. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-54523-1\_18.
- Statton, J., Dixon, K.W., Hovey, R.K., and Kendrick, G.A. (2012) A comparative assessment of approaches and outcomes for seagrass revegetation in Shark Bay and Florida Bay. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 984. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12032</u>.
- Statton, J., Gustin-Craig, S., Dixon, K.W., and Kendrick, G.A. (2015) Edge Effects along a Seagrass Margin Result in an Increased Grazing Risk on *Posidonia australis* Transplants. PLOS ONE 10(10), e0137778. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137778</u>.
- Statton, J., McMahon, K., Lavery, P., and Kendrick, G.A. (2018) Determining light stress responses for a tropical multi-species seagrass assemblage. Marine Pollution Bulletin 128, 508-518. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>marpolbul.2018.01.060</u>.
- Stephenson, P., and Jackson, G. (2005) Managing depleted snapper stocks in inner Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Assessment and management of new and developing fisheries in data-limited situations. (Eds. G.H. Kruse, V.F. Gallucci, D.E. Hay, R.I. Perry, R.M. Peterman, T.C. Shirley, P.D. Spencer, B. Wilson and D. Woodby) pp. 31-50.
- Stephenson, P.C., Edmons, J.S., Moran, M.J., and Caputi, N. (2001) Analysis of stable isotope ratios to investigate stock structure of red emperor and Rankin cod in northern Western Australia. Journal of Fish Biology 58(1), 126-144. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2001.tb00503.x</u>.
- Stirling, C., Esat, T., McCulloch, M., and Lambeck, K. (1995) High-precision U-series dating of corals from Western Australia and implications for the timing and duration of the Last Interglacial. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 135(1-4), 115-130. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0012-821X(95)00152-3</u>.
- Stoeckl, N., Smith, A., Newsome, D., and Lee, D. (2005) Regional economic dependence on iconic wildlife tourism: case studies of Monkey Mia and Hervey Bay. Journal of Tourism Studies 16(1), 69.

- Storr, G.M. (1985) Birds of the Gasgoyne Region Western Australia. Records of the Western Australian Museum. Supplement No. 21, 65.
- Storr, G.M. (1990) Birds of Shark Bay, Western Australia. In Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe Biocentenary Expedition Committee, Perth: Western Australia Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR Wilson). Western Australian Museum.
- Strickland, K., Levengood, A., Foroughirad, V., Mann, J., Krzyszczyk, E., and Frère, C.H. (2017) A framework for the identification of long-term social avoidance in longitudinal datasets. Royal Society Open Science 4(8), 170641. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsos.170641</u>.
- Strydom, S., Murray, K., Wilson, S., Huntley, B., Rule, M., Heithaus, M., Bessey, C., Kendrick, G.A., Burkholder, D., Holmes, T., Fraser, M.W., and Zdunic, K. (2020) Too hot to handle: unprecedented seagrass death driven by marine heatwave in a World Heritage Area. Global Change Biology. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15065</u>.
- Sumner, N., and Malseed, B. (2001) A 12-month survey of recreational fishing in Shark Bay during 2000-2001.
   Report to Natural Heritage Trust by Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 32 pp.
- Sumner, N., and Malseed, B. (2002) Quantification of changes in recreational catch and effort on inner Shark Bay snapper species following implementation of responsive management changes. Project No. 2000/139. Department of Fisheries, Western Australia. 50 pp.
- Sumner, N.R., Williamson, P.C., and Malseed, B.E. (2002) A 12 month survey of recreational fishing in the Gascoyne bioregion of Western Australia during 1998-99.
   Fisheries Research Report No. 139. Deptartment of Fisheries, Western Australia 54 pp.
- Suosaari, E.P., Awramik, S.M., Reid, R.P., Stolz, J.F., and Grey, K. (2018) Living Dendrolitic Microbial Mats in Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Geosciences 8(6), 212. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/geosciences8060212</u>.
- Suosaari, E.P., Reid, R.P., and Andres, M.S. (2019a) Stromatolites, so what?! A tribute to Robert N. Ginsburg. The Depositional Record 5(3), 486-497. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/dep2.72</u>.
- Suosaari, E.P., Reid, R.P., Araujo, T.A.A., Playford, P.E., Holley, D.K., McNamara, K.J., and Eberli, G.P. (2016a) Environmental pressures influencing living stromatolites in Hamelin Pool, Shark Bay, Western Australia. Palaios 31(10), 483-496. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2110/ palo.2016.023</u>.

- Suosaari, E.P., Reid, R.P., Oehlert, A.M., Playford, P.E., Steffensen, C.K., Andres, M.S., Suosaari, G.V., Milano, G.R., and Eberli, G.P. (2019b) Stromatolite provinces of Hamelin Pool: physiographic controls on stromatolites and associated lithofacies. Journal of Sedimentary Research 89(3), 207-226. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2110/jsr.2019.8</u>.
- Suosaari, E.P., Reid, R.P., Playford, P.E., Foster, J.S., Stolz, J.F., Casaburi, G., Hagan, P.D., Chirayath, V., Macintyre, I.G., Planavsky, N.J., and Eberli, G.P. (2016b) New multi-scale perspectives on the stromatolites of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Scientific Reports 6, 20557. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/srep20557</u>.
- Tapp, N. (2003) Do size differences of juvenile snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) in two regions of Shark Bay, Western Australia, reflect different environmental conditions. Master's Thesis, Edith Cowen University, 97 pp.
- Taylor, S.M., Steffe, A.S., Lai, E.K.M., Ryan, K.L., and Jackson, G. (2018) A survey of boat-based recreational fishing in inner Shark Bay 2016/17. Fisheries Research Report No. 291. Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 87 pp.
- Tedeschi, J., Kennington, W., Berry, O., Whiting, S., Meekan, M., and Mitchell, N. (2015a) Increased expression of Hsp70 and Hsp90 mRNA as biomarkers of thermal stress in loggerhead turtle embryos (*Caretta caretta*). Journal of Thermal Biology 47, 42-50. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.11.006</u>.
- Tedeschi, J.N. (2015) Assessing the resilience of sea turtle embryos to extreme temperatures. PhD Thesis, The University of Western Australia, 166 pp.
- Tedeschi, J.N., Kennington, W.J., Tomkins, J.L., Berry, O., Whiting, S., Meekan, M.G., and Mitchell, N.J. (2016) Heritable variation in heat shock gene expression: A potential mechanism for adaptation to thermal stress in embryos of sea turtles. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 283(1822), 20152320. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2320.
- Tedeschi, J.N., Mitchell, N.J., Berry, O., Whiting, S., Meekan, M., and Kennington, W.J. (2015b) Reconstructed paternal genotypes reveal variable rates of multiple paternity at three rookeries of loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in Western Australia. Australian Journal of Zoology 62(6), 454-462. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1071/Z014076</u>.
- Thomas, L., Kennington, W.J., Evans, R.D., Kendrick, G.A., and Stat, M. (2017) Restricted gene flow and local adaptation highlight the vulnerability of high-latitude reefs to rapid environmental change. Global Change Biology 23(6), 2197-2205. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ gcb.13639</u>.

- Thomas, L., Stat, M., Evans, R.D., and Kennington, W.J. (2016) A fluorescence-based quantitative real-time PCR assay for accurate *Pocillopora damicornis* species identification. Coral Reefs 35(3), 895-899. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s00338-016-1430-3</u>.
- Thomson-Dans, C. (2008) 'Shark Bay: Twin bays on the edge.' Department of Environment and Conservation: Western Australia 152 pp.
- Thomson, J.A., Burkholder, D., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2009) Validation of a rapid visual-assessment technique for categorizing the body condition of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) in the field. Copeia 2009(2), 251-255. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1643/CE-07-227</u>.
- Thomson, J.A., Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., Fourqurean, J.W., Fraser, M.W., Statton, J., and Kendrick, G.A. (2015a) Extreme temperatures, foundation species, and abrupt ecosystem change: an example from an iconic seagrass ecosystem. Global Change Biology 21(4), 1463-1474. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12694</u>.
- Thomson, J.A., Cooper, A.B., Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2012a) Heterogeneous patterns of availability for detection during visual surveys: spatiotemporal variation in sea turtle dive-surfacing behaviour on a feeding ground. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 3(2), 378-387. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00163.x</u>.
- Thomson, J.A., Cooper, A.B., Burkholder, D.A., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2013) Correcting for heterogeneous availability bias in surveys of long-diving marine turtles. Biological Conservation 165, 154-161. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.06.005</u>.
- Thomson, J.A., Gulick, A., and Heithaus, M.R. (2015b) Intraspecific behavioral dynamics in a green turtle *Chelonia mydas* foraging aggregation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 532, 243-256. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/</u> <u>meps11346</u>.
- Thomson, J.A., and Heithaus, M.R. (2014) Animal-borne video reveals seasonal activity patterns of green sea turtles and the importance of accounting for capture stress in short-term biologging. Journal of experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 450, 15-20. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jembe.2013.10.020</u>.
- Thomson, J.A., Heithaus, M.R., Burkholder, D.A., Vaudo, J.J., Wirsing, A.J., and Dill, L.M. (2012b) Site specialists, diet generalists? Isotopic variation, site fidelity, and foraging by loggerhead turtles in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Ecology Progress Series 453, 213-226. http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps09637.

Thomson, J.A., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2011) Informing the interpretation of dive profiles using animal-borne video: a marine turtle case study. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 410, 12-20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2011.10.002</u>.

Tong, S.M. (1997) Heterotrophic flagellates from the water column in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Biology 128(3), 517-536. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s002270050118</u>.

Tourism Research Australia (2018) Shark Bay Local Government Area Profiles 2018. Australian Trade and Investment Commision. 4 pp.

Tourism WA (2018) Shire of Shark Bay Visitor Factsheet-Three year average 2015/2016/2017. Tourism WA-Strategy and Research. 6 pp.

Travers, M., and Potter, I. (2002) Factors influencing the characteristics of fish assemblages in a large subtropical marine embayment. Journal of Fish Biology 61(3), 764-784. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2002.tb00910.x.

Trayler, K., and Shepherd, R. (1993) Water Quality at Monkey Mia, Shark Bay. CALM Landnote 1/93 Department of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia. 10 pp.

Trocini, S., Bradley, S., O'Hara, A.J., Robertson, I., and Warren, K. (2008) Factors affecting hatching and emergence success at two important Loggerhead Turtle (*Caretta caretta*) nesting beaches in Western Australia. In 28th Annual Sea Turtle Symposium. Loreto, Baja California Sur, México.

Tsai, Y.-J.J., and Mann, J. (2012) Dispersal, philopatry, and the role of fission-fusion dynamics in bottlenose dolphins. Marine Mammal Science 29(2), 261-279. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2011.00559.x</u>.

Tyne, J.A. (2008) Does sponge distribution lead to sponging behaviour by bottlenose dolphins in Shark Bay? Honours Thesis, Murdoch University, 127 pp.

Tyne, J.A., Loneragan, N.R., Kopps, A.M., Allen, S.J., Krützen, M., and Bejder, L. (2012) Ecological characteristics contribute to sponge distribution and tool use in bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops* sp. Marine Ecology Progress Series 444, 143-153. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/</u> meps09410.

Tyne, J.A., Loneragan, N.R., Krtzen, M., Allen, S.J., and Bejder, L. (2010) An integrated data management and video system for sampling aquatic benthos. Marine and Freshwater Research 61(9), 1023-1028. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF09240</u>. Udyawer, V., and Heupel, M.R. (2017) Spatial and temporal patterns in sea snake populations on the North West Shelf. . Report to the National Environmental Science Programme, Marine Biodiversity Hub. Australian Institute of Marine Science. 27 pp.

Unno, J., and Semeniuk, V. (2009) The habitats of the Western Australian soldier crab *Mictyris occidentalis* Unno 2008 (Brachyura: Mictyridae) across its biogeographical range. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 92, 289.

Urbis (2019) Shark Bay: business and economic conditions survey. Prepared for the Shire of Shark Bay. 42 pp.

van Aswegen, M., Christiansen, F., Symons, J., Mann, J., Nicholson, K., Sprogis, K., and Bejder, L. (2019) Morphological differences between coastal bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops aduncus*) populations identified using non-invasive stereo-laser photogrammetry. Science Reports 9(1), 12235. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48419-3</u>.

Vaudo, J.J., and Heithaus, M. (2011a) High trophic level consumers: elasmobranchs. In Tretise on estuarine and coastal science. Volume 6: Trophic relationships of coastal and estuarine ecosystems. (Eds. E Wolanski and D McLusky) pp. 203-225. Elsivier, Inc. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374711-2.00617-3</u>.

Vaudo, J.J., and Heithaus, M.R. (2009) Spatiotemporal variability in a sandflat elasmobranch fauna in Shark Bay, Australia. Marine Biology 156(12), 2579-2590. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-009-1282-2.

Vaudo, J.J., and Heithaus, M.R. (2011b) Dietary niche overlap in a nearshore elasmobranch mesopredator community. Marine Ecology Progress Series 425, 247-260. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps08988</u>.

Vaudo, J.J., and Heithaus, M.R. (2012) Diel and seasonal variation in the use of a nearshore sandflat by a ray community in a near pristine system. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1077-1084. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF11226</u>.

Veron, J.E.N., and Marsh, L.M. (1988) 'Hermatypic corals of Western Australia: records and annotated species list.' Perth : Western Australian Museum 148 pp.

Vollmer, N.L., Hayek, L.-A.C., Heithaus, M.R., and Connor, R.C. (2015) Further evidence of a context-specific agonistic signal in bottlenose dolphins: the influence of consortships and group size on the pop vocalization. Behaviour 152(14), 1979-2000. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1163/1568539X-00003311</u>.

- WA Department of Health (2016) Marine Biotoxin Monitoring and Management Plan 2016. Department of Health, Western Australia. 21 pp.
- WAFIC (2018) WAFIC 2017/2018 Annual Report. Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. 60 pp.
- Wakefield, C.B., Moran, M.J., Tapp, N.E., and Jackson, G.
  (2007) Catchability and selectivity of juvenile snapper (*Pagrus auratus*, Sparidae) and western butterfish (*Pentapodus vitta*, Nemipteridae) from prawn trawling in a large marine embayment in Western Australia. Fisheries Research 85(1-2), 37-48. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2006.11.037</u>.
- Walker, D., and McComb, A. (1990) Salinity response of the seagrass *Amphibolis antarctica* (Labill.) Sonder et Aschers.: an experimental validation of field results. Aquatic Botany 36(4), 359-366. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/0304-3770(90)90052-M</u>.
- Walker, D., and Woelkerling, W.J. (1988) Quantitative study of sediment contribution by epiphytic coralline red algae in seagrass meadows in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Marine Ecology Progress Series 43, 71-77. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.3354/meps043071</u>.
- Walker, D.I. (1985) Correlations between salinity and growth of the seagrass *Amphibolis antarctica* (labill.) Sonder & Aschers., In Shark Bay, Western Australia, using a new method for measuring production rate. Aquatic Botany 23(1), 13-26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(85)90017-8</u>.
- Walker, D.I. (1989) Seagrass in Shark Bay, the foundations of an ecosystem. In Biology of seagrasses: a treatise on the biology of seagrasses with special reference to the Australian Region. (Eds. AWD Larkum, AJ McComb and SA Shepherd) pp. 182-211. Elsevier: Amsterdam.
- Walker, D.I. (1990) Seagrass in Shark Bay, WA. In
   Research in Shark Bay: Report of the France-Australe
   Biocentenary Expedition Committee, Perth: Western
   Australia Museum. (Eds. PF Berry, SD Bradshaw and BR
   Wilson). Western Australian Museum.
- Walker, D.I., Kendrick, G.A., and McComb, A.J. (1988) The distribution of seagrass species in Shark Bay, Western Australia, with notes on their ecology. Aquatic Botany 30(4), 305-317. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0304-3770(88)90063-0</u>.
- Walker, D.I., Kendrick, G.A., Vanderklift, M., Fraser, M.,
  Statton, J., Grol, M., and Fourqurean, J. (2012) Project
  4a: Caring for Our Country: Shark Bay Effects of Rising
  Water levels on the Faure Sill and Stromatolites. Report
  for WAMSI "Caring for our Country" Project. 59 pp.

- Walker, D.I., and McComb, A.J. (1985) Decomposition of Leaves from *Amphibolis antarctica* (Labill.) Sonder et Aschers. and *Posidonia australis* Hook. f. the Major Seagrass Species of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Botanica Marina 28(9), 407-414. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1515/botm.1985.28.9.407</u>.
- Walker, D.I., and McComb, A.J. (1988) Seasonal variation in the production, biomass and nutrient status of *Amphibolis antarctica* (Labill.) Sonder ex Aschers. and *Posidonia australis* Hook.f. in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Aquatic Botany 31(3), 259-275. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0304-3770(88)90016-2</u>.
- Wallen, M.M., Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2017) Mating in a bisexually philopatric society: bottlenose dolphin females associate with adult males but not adult sons during estrous. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 71(10). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00265-017-2380-7</u>.
- Wallen, M.M., Patterson, E.M., Krzyszczyk, E., and Mann, J. (2016) The ecological costs to females in a system with allied sexual coercion. Animal Behaviour 115, 227-236. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.02.018</u>.
- WATC (1988) Shark Bay Visitor Survey, Final Results. Western Australian Tourism Commission, Perth, Western Australia.
- Watson-Capps, J.J., and Mann, J. (2005) The effects of aquaculture on bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops* sp.) ranging in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Biological Conservation 124(4), 519-526. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.03.001</u>.
- Wells, F.E., Rose, R.A., and Lang, S. (1985) An analysis of benthic marine invertebrate communities in subtidal seagrass and sand habitats in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Records of the Western Australian Museum 12(1), 47-56.
- Whitaker, K., and Johnson, M.S. (1998) Population genetic structure of *Pagrus auratus* in the Western Gulf of Shark Bay, Western Australia. Unpublished report to Natural Heritage Trust. Department of Fisheries Western Australia. 39 pp.
- White, R.A., Wong, H.L., Ruvindy, R., Neilan, B.A., and Burns, B.P. (2018) Viral communities of Shark Bay modern stromatolites. Frontiers in Microbiology 9, 1223-1223. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01223</u>.
- White, W., Hall, N., and Potter, I. (2002) Size and age compositions and reproductive biology of the nervous shark *Carcharhinus cautus* in a large subtropical embayment, including an analysis of growth during preand postnatal life. Marine Biology 141(6), 1153-1164. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-002-0914-6.

White, W.T., Platell, M.E., and Potter, I.C. (2004) Comparisons between the diets of four abundant species of elasmobranchs in a subtropical embayment: implications for resource partitioning. Marine Biology 144(3), 439-448. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-003-1218-1</u>.

White, W.T., and Potter, I.C. (2004) Habitat partitioning among four elasmobranch species in nearshore, shallow waters of a subtropical embayment in Western Australia. Marine Biology 145(5), 1023-1032. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1386-7</u>.

Whitehead, H., and Connor, R. (2005) Alliances I. How large should alliances be? Animal Behaviour 69(1), 117-126. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.02.021.

Wild, S., Allen, S.J., Krützen, M., King, S.L., Gerber, L., and Hoppitt, W.J.E. (2019a) Multi-network-based diffusion analysis reveals vertical cultural transmission of sponge tool use within dolphin matrilines. Biology Letters 15(7), 20190227. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2019.0227.

Wild, S., Krützen, M., Rankin, R.W., Hoppitt, W.J.E., Gerber, L., and Allen, S.J. (2019b) Long-term decline in survival and reproduction of dolphins following a marine heatwave. Current Biology 29(7), 239-240. <u>http://dx.doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.02.047</u>.

 Williams, A., Moran, M., Caputi, N., and Walters, C.
 (1993) Didymozoid trematode infection of snapper, *Pagrus auratus* (Sparidae), off Western Australia: parasite population biology and fishery implications. Fisheries Research 16(2), 113-129. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1016/0165-7836(93)90047-B</u>.

Wilson, B. (1996) Supplementary review of dolphin management at Monkey Mia. Report submitted to the Department of Conservation and Land Management, Western Australia. 8 pp.

Wirsing, A.J., Abernethy, R., and Heithaus, M.R. (2008a) Speed and maneuverability of adult loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) under simulated predatory attack: do the sexes differ? Journal of Herpetology 42(2), 411-414. http://dx.doi.org/10.1670/07-1661.1.

Wirsing, A.J., Cameron, K.E., and Heithaus, M.R. (2010) Spatial responses to predators vary with prey escape mode. Animal Behaviour 79(3), 531-537. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.12.014</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., Crane, K., Heithaus, M.R., Charles, D., and Dill, L.M. (2004) Pilot study of loggerhead turtles in the Shark Bay World Heritage Area: movements and community based conservation. Department of the Environment and Heritage, Canberra. 20 pp. Wirsing, A.J., and Heithaus, M.R. (2009) Olive-headed sea snakes *Disteria major* shift seagrass microhabitats to avoid shark predation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 387, 287-293. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3354/meps08127</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., and Heithaus, M.R. (2012) Behavioural transition probabilities in dugongs change with habitat and predator presence: implications for sirenian conservation. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1069-1076. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/MF12074.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2006) Tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) abundance and growth in a subtropical embayment: evidence from 7 years of standardized fishing effort. Marine Biology 149(4), 961-968. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0278-4</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2007a) Can measures of prey availability improve our ability to predict the abundance of large marine predators? Oecologia 153(3), 563-568. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s00442-007-0769-0</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2007b) Can you dig it? Use of excavation, a risky foraging tactic, by dugongs is sensitive to predation danger. Animal Behaviour 74(4), 1085-1091. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> anbehav.2007.02.009.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2007c) Fear factor: do dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) trade food for safety from tiger sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*)? Oecologia 153(4), 1031-1040. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00442-007-0802-3</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2007d) Living on the edge: dugongs prefer to forage in microhabitats that allow escape from rather than avoidance of predators. Animal Behaviour 74(1), 93-101. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2006.11.016.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., and Dill, L.M. (2011) Predatorinduced modifications to diving behavior vary with foraging mode. Oikos 120(7), 1005-1012. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18844.x</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., Heithaus, M.R., Frid, A., and Dill, L.M. (2008b) Seascapes of fear: evaluating sublethal predator effects experienced and generated by marine mammals. Marine Mammal Science 24(1), 1-15. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2007.00167.x</u>.

Wirsing, A.J., and Ripple, W.J. (2011) A comparison of shark and wolf research reveals similar behavioral responses by prey. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9(6), 335-341. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/090226</u>.

- Wise, B.S., Telfer, C.F., Lai, E.K.M., Hall, N.G., and Jackson, G. (2012) Long-term monitoring of boat-based recreational fishing in Shark Bay, Western Australia: providing scientific advice for sustainable management in a World Heritage Area. Marine and Freshwater Research 63(11), 1129-1141. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/mf12054</u>.
- Wong, H.L., Ahmed-Cox, A., and Burns, B.P. (2016) Molecular Ecology of Hypersaline Microbial Mats: Current Insights and New Directions. Microorganisms 4(1), 6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/</u> <u>microorganisms4010006</u>.
- Wong, H.L., Smith, D.-L., Visscher, P.T., and Burns, B.P. (2015) Niche differentiation of bacterial communities at a millimeter scale in Shark Bay microbial mats. Scientific Reports 5(1), 15607. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ srep15607</u>.
- Wong, H.L., Visscher, P.T., White, R.A., Smith, D.-L., Patterson, M.M., Burns, B.P., and Pacific Northwest National Lab, R.W.A. (2017) Dynamics of archaea at fine spatial scales in Shark Bay mat microbiomes. Scientific Reports 7(1), 46160-46160. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ srep46160</u>.
- Wong, H.L., White, R.A., Visscher, P.T., Charlesworth, J.C., Vázquez-Campos, X., and Burns, B.P. (2018) Disentangling the drivers of functional complexity at the metagenomic level in Shark Bay microbial mat microbiomes. The ISME Journal 12(11), 2619-2639. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0208-8</u>.

- Woo, M., Pattiaratchi, C., and Schroeder, W. (2006) Summer surface circulation along the Gascoyne continental shelf, Western Australia. Continental Shelf Research 26(1), 132-152. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. csr.2005.07.007</u>.
- Wood, D.E. (2019) Modern benthic foraminifera of Carbla Beach, Shark Bay, Western Australia: population ecology and taphonomy. Honours Thesis, Smith College Northampton, 90 pp.
- Wyatt, A.S., Hewitt, C.L., Walker, D.I., and Ward, T.J. (2005) Marine introductions in the Shark Bay World Heritage Property, Western Australia: a preliminary assessment. Diversity and Distributions 11(1), 33-44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1366-9516.2005.00109.x</u>.
- Zhang, N., Feng, M., Hendon, H.H., Hobday, A.J., and Zinke, J. (2017) Opposite polarities of ENSO drive distinct patterns of coral bleaching potentials in the southeast Indian Ocean. Scientific Reports 7(1), 2443. <u>http://dx.doi.</u> <u>org/10.1038/s41598-017-02688-y</u>.
- Zinke, J., Gilmour, J.P., Fisher, R., Puotinen, M., Maina, J., Darling, E., Stat, M., Richards, Z.T., McClanahan, T.R., and Beger, M. (2018) Gradients of disturbance and environmental conditions shape coral community structure for south-eastern Indian Ocean reefs. Diversity and Distributions 24(5), 605-620. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/ddi.12714</u>.





Better science **Better decisions** 

Indian Ocean Marine Research Centre The University of Western Australia Fairway Entrance 4, Crawley WA 6009 (61 8) 6488 4570 info@wamsi.org.au www.wamsi.org.au

